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				Western Union Telegraph Office

				Deadwood, SD

				October 1, 1890

				08:29 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Albert Winfield poured a fresh cup of coffee from a copper pot. He set the pot back on an iron potbelly stove and took a sip of the coarse, steaming brew. The Western Union telegraph operator was a slight man with short brown hair beneath a flat-topped navy cap. Above the visor brim was the tin logo of the Western Union Telegraph Company. Winfield set his coffee cup on his desk, facing the large storefront window of the Western Union office. Winfield gazed onto Deadwood’s Main Street as the town began its day. A mustachioed middle-aged man with greasy salt-and-pepper hair and a dark frock coat spotted Winfield through the window, smiled, and waved. Winfield returned the wave. The man continued walking up the street, out of Winfield’s view. 

				Winfield pulled out his chair and sat at his desk. Telegraphy apparatus accessorized the desk: a telegraph key, electric sounder, batteries, and thick cloth-covered wire. Winfield reached for the telegraph key. He clicked  entering the Morse code for “CQ” to check the line and let others on the Western Union network know Deadwood’s Western Union office was open for business. 

				Winfield waited, watching the key. Moments later, a response clicked from the apparatus:

				CQ

				Winfield looked up. The man with the salt-and-pepper hair ran past Winfield’s window. The man’s former smiling expression had contorted to panic. He was running for his life. 

				Gunshots echoed down Main Street. Winfield spilled his coffee on his shirt and vest. He heard screams mixed with rapid-fire gunshots coming from the southwest end of the street. Dozens of men and women ran past his window, then hundreds. Winfield got up from his desk and ran to the front door.

				As he stepped out of his office, a man collided with him, knocking him down. Winfield’s hat flew off his head and was crushed under the boot of the fleeing man. The man didn’t bother to apologize as he fled in terror. 

				Winfield looked up and watched with astonishment as thousands of Lakota warriors adorned with war paint and feathers filled the streets. They rode down Main Street at a full gallop, firing their rifles and screaming terrifying war cries. 

				Suddenly, a hand rose from the front center of the advancing horde, and the horses slid to a collective stop in the thoroughfare, throwing up a cloud of dust from beneath their hooves. Through the clearing dust, Winfield saw a tall, beautiful native woman rising to stand on the back of a white Mustang in the front center of the native army.

				“People of Deadwood,” the woman shouted in perfect English, “the Lakota people reclaim the land that was stolen from them. We have killed your army. No one is coming to save you.

				“You have five minutes to leave town. Anyone remaining in five minutes will be killed. Leave now or die!”

				Winfield scrambled to his feet and began to run, joining the thousands of townspeople in full panic, running for their lives down Main street away from the marauding warriors. 

				Winfield had run a hundred yards when he stopped midstream in the human current washing him out of town. In the face of his terror, he reminded himself of his responsibilities. People crashed into Winfield, screaming at him. He weaved between scrambling bodies to the side of Main Street, then worked his way back to his office, hugging the fronts of stores and offices to minimize his body’s resistance against the human surge. 

				Winfield threw open the door of his office and lunged inside. He reached for the telegraph key on his desk and rapid-fire clicked a Morse distress signal:

				CQD CQD

				Deadwood. Indian attack. Thousands of warriors. Townspeople ordered to leave town or die. Must evacuate.

				Winfield grabbed a leather briefcase and bolted through the door, rejoining the diaspora that whisked him out of town. 
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				Gem Saloon

				Deadwood, SD

				October 1, 1890

				08:47 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika Wise peeked into a wooden crate in the storeroom behind the bar. She pulled a handful of wood wool packing from a crate, exposing several brown whiskey bottles. She pulled one out.

				“The good stuff,” she said, smiling. “Here you are.”

				At that moment, she felt the floor vibrate. She heard a deep hum accompany the vibration. It took a moment for her mind to connect the sensation she was feeling with its cause. She dropped the bottle and wheeled toward the door. She burst through the door, just in time to see Kyle, Padma, and Hoover disappear into a blinding white light.

				“No!” she screamed.

				She stared at the empty space where the three had stood moments earlier. 

				“No!”

				Annika turned to see Sitting Bull, nodding at the vacant space, seemingly satisfied that his vision of the messiah’s departure had been fulfilled. He seemed moved by the power and beauty of the supernatural event. 

				Sitting Bull glanced at Annika.

				“My eagle feather completed the messiah’s plumage,” said Sitting Bull in Lakota.

				Annika did not understand.

				“Are you leaving too?” asked Sitting Bull. 

				Sitting Bull stared at the mute Annika, then turned toward the saloon exit. 

				Annika held her hands to her face. Her hands were shaking. Though she had known fear in combat, the feeling shrieking uncontrollably through her body was alien. Annika’s body trembled with panic with the bolt of realization that she was trapped in time.

				“Wait!” she cried to Sitting Bull. 

				“Help me!”

				Sitting Bull stopped and turned. He examined Annika with his leathered deadpan face. His expression was flat.

				“Please!”

				Sitting Bull reached out a weathered brown hand. He made a single gesture with his fingertips for Annika to join him, then turned toward the exit. Annika leapt over the bar. Out of the corner of her eye, she noticed Kyle’s backpack sitting on the bar. She grabbed it and followed Sitting Bull through the swinging saloon doors.
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				Pier 39

				San Francisco, CA

				October 1, 1890

				09:45 Hours

				Timeline 003

				William Randolph Hearst piloted his 50-foot wooden speedboat, the Aquila, toward his private dock at the end of San Francisco’s Market Street. His deep olive Barbour waxed canvas slicker shielded him from the morning fog and occasional cold-water churn from the highspeed bay crossing. Hearst waved to the dockhands. He took in a deep breath, smelling the mix of cold seawater and dead fish. 

				The polished mahogany boat’s deep-throated engine rumbled and belched exhaust smoke from 12 vertical brass pipes protruding from the deck aft of Hearst’s cockpit. As Hearst edged the boat toward the pier, a man wearing a navy and white striped shirt and P-coat jumped onboard and tossed bow and stern ropes to another man on the pier. The men lashed the ropes to lanyards as Hearst emerged from the boat. As Hearst switched the Aquila’s engine off, the rumble of the motor was replaced with seagull calls and foghorns. 

				The dockworkers noticed that Hearst’s thin lips stretched slightly upward at the corners of his mouth, the only indication that the young newspaper publisher was in a good mood. Only 30 minutes earlier, Hearst had kissed his partner, Tessie Powers, goodbye at his waterfront home in Sausalito. The combination of morning sex with Tessie and a romp on the fastest boat on the Pacific coast brought the approximation of a smile to his face.

				Hearst stepped onto the dock. At 6'3", the 27 year old towered over the dockworkers. He removed his rain slicker, revealing a pinstriped frock coat, a crisp white shirt with a banker’s tab collar, and a puff burgundy tie tucked beneath a vest. He strolled to a horse-drawn carriage waiting for him near the dock. The driver opened the carriage door.

				“Good morning, Mr. Hearst,” called a voice from inside the carriage.


				“Good morning, Elvis,” replied Hearst as he climbed into the cab where Elvis Whorf, his editor, was waiting for him. Heart looked at Elvis quizzically. It was unusual for his staff to meet him at the dock. Elvis was holding a piece of paper in his hand.

				“Good morning, Elvis,” said Hearst. “What brings you here this morning?”

				Elvis handed him a telegram. “News from the Dakotas.”

				Hearst read Winfield’s telegram. His expression turned grim.

				“This must be a mistake,” Hearst said. “Have there been additional communications?”

				“No sir. We have made four separate attempts to communicate with the Western Union office. There is no response. We fear the worst.”

				The carriage lurched as it began driving down Market Street toward Hearst’s Examiner newspaper building. Hearst and Elvis heard the ringing bell of a passing cable car and the clip clop of horse hooves as other carriages passed along the busy thoroughfare. 

				“The Indians are on the brink of extinction,” Hearst said. “There is no possibility that a credible attack could be mounted against a major town.”

				Elvis nodded, “Yes sir, though we’ve heard the rumors…”

				“…of the Indian messiah?” Hearst said. “Poppycock!”

				“Yes, Mr. Hearst,” said Elvis. “It does seem the stuff of fantasy, and yet we have this telegram, and the telegraph operator is no longer at his post.”

				Hearst paused, considering the telegram in his hands as well as the implications.

				“Mr. Hearst, isn’t your father’s gold mine in Deadwood?”

				“The Homestake Mine, yes,” replied Hearst. “The world’s largest.”

				“Sir, if the Indians have captured the mine, what of your planned acquisition of New York Journal?”

				Hearst refused to consider the possibility that Indians had overrun Deadwood and the crown jewel in the Hearst family’s mining empire. The Homestake Mine, one of three mines owned by Hearst’s father, George, yielded well over half the family’s income. Hearst’s ambitions as a newspaper magnate were entirely dependent on the flow of gold from the mine into the family coffers.

				Hearst shoved the thought out of his mind. 

				The carriage pulled to a stop in front of the San Francisco Examiner building at the corner of Third and Market streets.

				“It’s a prank,” Hearst declared. “At best, a ragtag band of starving redskins stirring up a temporary disruption in the town.”

				“The telegram reports ‘thousands,’” said Elvis.

				“Impossible,” dismissed Hearst. “And yet, this hoax presents the perfect opportunity for the Examiner. Regardless of whether what lies in Deadwood is a maelstrom or a tempest in a teapot, the Examiner will report it as the unconscionable savage scourge our readers demand.”

			

			
				“We must assemble a team and dispatch them at once to Deadwood. We must beat the other papers, do you hear, Elvis? At once!”


				“Yes sir. At once, Mr. Hearst.”
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				Rapid City, SD

				October 2, 1890

				08:15 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Jack Edwards, Frederic Remington, and Ambrose Bierce stepped off the overnight train from San Francisco in Rapid City. Steam vented from the mighty black locomotive as it came to a rest after its trek through the hills. Bedlam greeted the trio at the train station—refugees from Deadwood, along with hundreds of Rapid City locals fleeing the Indian scourge.

				The three Examiner newspapermen fought their way through the crowds to find porters that would haul their luggage. Having no luck, Edwards held aloft a handful of ten-dollar bills.

				“Twenty dollars to carry our luggage!”

				Men instantly swarmed the trio. Jack pointed at three beefy men and pointed to the luggage, parked beside the train’s berth. 

				The three men proceeded to the train station’s packed ticket window and shoved their way to the front of the mob. A clerk with a brown mustache, wire-rim glasses, a flat-topped conductor’s hat, and a frazzled expression looked up from his desk.

				“We require three tickets to Deadwood,” Edwards said.

				“Mister, this ain’t no time for jokes,” the clerk replied.

				“Sir, I assure you, I am not joking. I wish to purchase three tickets to Deadwood.”

				“Mister, there ain’t no trains to Deadwood. Ain’t you heard? The redskins have taken over the whole goddamned town! Thousands of ’em! There ain’t no trains to Deadwood. You best be gettin’ out of here directly before them injuns decide to pay Rapid City a visit.”

				Edwards was frustrated. He and his team had very specific instructions from Mr. Hearst to investigate and report the situation at Deadwood, including the condition of the family’s Homestake Mine. He had been handed a fortune in cash and told to “spare no expense” to uncover the truth at Deadwood. Edwards turned back to the clerk.

				“I will pay handsomely to charter a train to Deadwood,” Edwards told him.

				“Mister, I don’t care if you pay handsome, good-looking, or downright gorgeous, ain’t no one crazy enough to drive a train to Deadwood. It just ain’t gonna…”

				Edwards took a stack of bills out of his bag and dumped $1,000 on the counter—enough to buy a house. The clerk looked at the money, looked at Edwards, looked at the money again, then looked at Edwards.

				“‘Gorgeous’ just might get the job done after all,” said the clerk. “Wait here.”

				Within half an hour, the clerk had rounded up a train crew of two, promising to pay them $200 a piece to take a train to Deadwood. The two big men wore blue and white striped bib overalls over sweat-stained cotton work shirts, with matching striped engineer’s hats. Wilted scarves were tied around their necks. 

				One of the engineers, a big man in overalls with a mess of curly red hair erupting from beneath his hat, extended his hand to Edwards. Beefy sideburns burnished a freckled face that was red from the sun. “Patrick English,” the engineer said. “You gentlemen really want to go to Deadwood?”

				“I am Mr. Jack Edwards of the San Francisco Examiner,” Edwards said, shaking the engineer’s hand. “Yes, we have orders from Mr. William Randolph Hearst himself to report the truth from Deadwood.”

				“The injuns are scalping men, women, and children,” English 
replied.

				Edwards looked at his two companions and turned back to English. “We have our orders.”

				“We’ll take you a couple miles south of Deadwood and drop you there. That’s the best we can do.”

				“Very well,” Edwards said.

				“All aboard,” said English.

				“How long will it take?” asked Edwards.

				“About an hour,” replied English. “We’ll drop you a little south of the Homestake Mine—that is, if the injuns ain’t sacked it yet.”

				The men climbed aboard a one-car passenger train. Their porters stowed their luggage.

				Onboard, Bierce and Remington turned to Edwards.

				“Is this really a wise idea?” asked Bierce.

				“This doesn’t sound like the ragtag band Willy said it was,” said Remington. Remington had seen his share of Lakota warriors in the course of illustrating the Indian Wars. 

				“We shall see what lies at the end of this ride,” replied Edwards.

			

			
				The train chugged through the lush green hills, belching black smoke from the stack and venting steam from the drivetrain pistons. 

				The train slowed. Edwards unclasped the silver cover of his brass pocket watch. The watch read 9:17. The train slowly chugged to a halt. The men heard steam hiss from the engine. A few moments later, the engineer bounded into the passenger car.

				“This is the end of the line, gentlemen,” said English.

				The engineer unloaded the men’s luggage, then turned to them.

				“Well, gentlemen,” English said, grasping the brim of his engineer’s cap, “good luck.”

				He climbed back aboard the train engine, shaking his head. The men watched as the piston pulled the wheels of the giant iron engine slowly into reverse. The engine gained speed, belching smoke and steam as it chugged away. It rounded a bend, disappearing from view and leaving the men alone. Remington and Bierce looked uneasily at Edwards.

				“This was an idiotic idea,” said Bierce.

				Edwards picked up his leather bag and began walking north on the railroad tracks. Remington shrugged, picked up his bag and followed him. Bierce watched the two men as they walked away. 

				“Curses!” he said, picking up his bag and trotting to catch up with his companions. 
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				Deadwood, SD

				October 2, 1890

				10:13 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika and Sitting Bull stood in the middle of Deadwood’s cobblestone Main Street thoroughfare. They watched as hundreds of Lakota warriors celebrated their victory over the whites. Warriors fired their rifles into the air, smashed store windows, and ransacked businesses.

				Annika was animated, shouting something at Sitting Bull. He didn’t understand her. 

				Sitting Bull grabbed a brave by the arm as the warrior ran past.

				“Yes, Tatanka?” asked the warrior.

				“Find Chatan,” replied Sitting Bull in Lakota. “Bring him here now.”

				Sitting Bull faced Annika and raised his hand. Annika stopped talking.

				A few minutes later, a young brave appeared. He was tall and lanky, bare-chested, with a single feather piercing black hair pulled into a ponytail. 

				“Yes, Tatanka?” said Chatan.

				“What is the woman saying?” asked Sitting Bull.

				Chatan turned to Annika. “I speak English. Tatanka wishes to know what you want.”

				“Tell Tatanka that we must secure the goldmine south of town. It’s our only hope to hold the town!”

				Chatan translated. Sitting Bull stared deadpan at Annika, then turned to the mayhem, pondering how to get his warriors’ attention. He pointed at Annika’s MP7 submachine gun, gesturing for her to hand it to him.

				Annika looked uncomfortable about giving up her sidearm. When Sitting Bull gestured again, she unholstered it, released the safety and handed it to him. Sitting Bull pointed the gun into the air and fired.

				The nearest warriors stopped shooting and looked at Sitting Bull holding the strange weapon. Sitting Bull gestured for them to approach. 

				“I have something to say,” said Sitting Bull. “Bring the others.”

				The warriors on horseback galloped to gather the other braves. Within minutes, Sitting Bull, Annika, and Chatan were surrounded by hundreds of Lakota warriors. Sitting Bull handed the gun back to Annika. 

				“Send war parties to the mine south of town,” said Sitting Bull. “Secure it. Wait for me.”

				The warriors shouted out orders to each other, then hundreds turned and galloped their horses out of town at breakneck speed, whooping and leaving a cloud of dust in their wake. 

				Sitting Bull turned to Annika and spoke. Chatan translated.

				Tatanka asks if you have a horse.

				Annika looked around the chaotic Main Street for the horse she had rode in on. 

				“I did have a horse,” Annika said. “I seem to have lost it.”

				Chatan translated. Sitting Bull shook his head and sighed. He pointed to a white Mustang tied in front of Gem Saloon. The calm stallion seemed oblivious to the mayhem around him. 

				“Pegasus!” Annika exclaimed. 

				“Red Star’s horse,” Chatan said. 

				“Poor horse!” said Annika. “He’s been tied up all night without food or water!”

				“Tatanka says to tend to your horse, then we’ll go to the mine.”

				“OK,” said Annika as she turned toward Pegasus. Sitting Bull called after her.

				“What?” asked Annika.

				“Tatanka says, don’t lose your horse,” said Chatan.
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				Lead, SD

				October 2, 1890

				10:15 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Edwards, Bierce, and Remington walked north along the railroad tracks between two tree-covered hills. A cool fall breeze and birdsong swept through the pass.

				Bierce smiled, enjoying the verdant scenery. “It’s quite a contrast with the San Franciscan metropolis.” 

				Remington, who had spent years illustrating western life in the Dakotas, agreed. “It’s good to see land that the hand of man has not yet spoiled.”

				The men rounded a bend. The landscape changed instantly.

				“Like this, for example,” deadpanned Remington. 

				A chaotic complex of enormous rust-painted buildings with steep slanted roofs sprawled before them over several square miles. Tracks for mine cars and small gauge rail ran atop tall wooden trestles, connecting the buildings and mines. 

				The men beheld George Hearst’s Homestake Mine, the world’s largest gold mine.

				The hills surrounding the mine were a pocked brown, their trees mowed down for mine structures and fuel. Mountains of spent gold ore were piled near the buildings. The stench of chemicals, sodium cyanide, and sulfuric acid wafted from toxic waste slurry that flowed down a hill from one of the buildings, joining a creek below the complex. 

				The stark contrast of Hearst’s train wreck of commerce against the natural landscape that lay behind the men hit them like a thunderbolt. 

				Edwards attempted to refocus the men’s attention on their mission. He pointed at a building several hundred yards directly ahead of them.

				“The rail tracks go into that building,” he said. “Let’s see where they go.”

				The men plodded toward the building. Bierce switched his leather bag to his left hand, giving his right a rest.

			

			
				“The mine is abandoned,” observed Remington. 

				Bierce and Remington exchanged worried glances. 

				The hulking building grew larger as they approached. Fifty yards from the building’s arched railroad entrance, the men stopped.

				“Do you hear that?” asked Edwards.

				The men listened.

				“I don’t hear anything,” said Remington.

				Edwards shook his head. “I could have sworn I heard horse hooves.”

				The men continued toward the building. 

				Suddenly, a Lakota war yell shrieked, echoing against the buildings and hills. The men startled, scanning for the source of the terrifying sound. A chorus of hundreds of war cries erupted, instantly filling the silence with the song of terror. 

				An army of painted warriors galloped toward the trio from all directions. Within seconds, the men were surrounded by Lakota braves. Though terrified, Bierce was awestruck by the warriors in their brilliant war paint and feathers. Their horses, also adorned with paint, some with feathers in their manes, snorted at the three white men. 

				One of the warriors, bare-chested except for a bone shield, wore a feather in each of his two braids. He pointed his rifle at Edwards’ face. He shouted at Edwards in Lakota.

				Edwards raised his hands. “I don’t understand you!”

				The brave yelled at Edwards again. 

				“I’m sorry! I don’t understand!”

				The warrior pointed to two other warriors and spoke, directing them to his captives. The two warriors dismounted. One stood in front of Edwards and yelled at him in Lakota while motioning toward the ground. When Edwards tried to reply, the brave hit him in the gut with the butt of his rifle, doubling Edwards over. The brave then grabbed him by the shoulder and forced him to his knees. The other warrior motioned for the other two men to follow suit. Bierce and Remington instantly dropped to their knees. 

				The warriors bound the men’s wrists with leather straps and tied leather leashes around their necks. Three of the warriors each took a leash, pulling the trio to their feet. The warriors wheeled their horses and trotted off with their scrambling captives in tow. Twenty warriors escorted the trio as they rode north. 
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				Lead, SD

				October 2, 1890

				10:35 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika, Chatan, and Sitting Bull rode their horses with a Lakota war party alongside railroad tracks leading south from Deadwood. 

				“Why did the Messiah abandon you?” asked Sitting Bull.

				Annika’s face scrunched into a child’s frightened scowl. “I don’t know.”

				“Did you offend her?”

				“I thought we were OK. I don’t know.”

				“You cannot return to your home?”

				Annika fought back tears. “No. I’m trapped here.”

				“You have no tribe here?”

				Annika shook her head. “No. I am alone.”

				Sitting Bull turned to examine Annika. Annika did not meet his stare.

				“Do you know what the whites will do?” asked Sitting Bull.

				Annika wiped away a tear, regaining her composure. “Well, we killed 5,000 Army soldiers and captured one of their cities and their largest goldmine. I think they’re going to be pretty pissed.”

				“Pissed?” asked Chatan, struggling with the translation.

				“Angry,” clarified Annika. “The whites will be very angry. 

				They will return with an army. They will try to take Deadwood back.”


				Sitting Bull’s expression was grim. 

				“Do you have medicine to stop the whites?” he asked. Sitting Bull never fully understood Annika’s role in the troika of magical beings that included the messiah. 

				Annika shook her head as she assessed the situation.

				“We have favorable terrain and numbers,” she began, 

				“but they have artillery.”

				She continued to brainstorm. “It will take some time for them to recoup their losses and form an army. We can place IEDs in the mountain passes and build fortifications in the meantime.”

				“IEDs?” asked Chatan.

				“Bombs. Explosives,” replied Annika. 

				“We also still have chemical weapons.”

				Chatan looked at Annika, confused.

				“Poison gas. 

				We can hold them for a while,” Annika concluded. “A year. Maybe two.”

				They rounded a bend. Sitting Bull gasped at the sight of the immense mine complex sprawled before him, with its enormous rust buildings, the surrounding denuded hills, and the stench of the lethal ore processing cocktail chemicals that flowed into the creek. 

				“This cannot stand,” said Sitting Bull.

				The riders heard a roar rise from the mine. Chatan pointed toward a slanted mine shaft opening where dozens of Lakota warriors were assembled.

				The warrior assembly parted to allow the trio to approach the shaft. A warrior at the mine entrance fired a shot into the dark shaft. The shot ricocheted off the shaft walls as the other warriors howled in approval. When he saw Sitting Bull, he lowered his rifle and turned to face him. The man was in his thirties, with fierce dark eyes and high cheekbones. He wore his hair in two braids tied with leather strips. A bone choker was tied around his neck, matching the breast plate against his bare chest that flowed into fringed buckskin pants. A small wooden shield was bound to his left arm. The shield depicted a black bird with stars against an olive and gold background. Four feathers adorned the war shield.

				“That is One Bull,” Chatan whispered to Annika. “He is Tatanka’s nephew and adopted son. He will probably become a chief soon.

				“That shield he carries,” Chatan added. “It belongs to Tatanka. One Bull carried it into the Battle of Little Big Horn. His brother, White Bull, killed General Custer.”

				“What is this?” asked Sitting Bull.

			

			
				“Tatanka, we have found whites in this cave. We will kill them.”

				Chatan translated for Annika.

				One Bull aimed his rifle again.

				“No!” shouted Annika as One Bull squeezed the trigger, upsetting his aim. His shot went wide, ricocheting off the shaft walls. 

				One Bull was incensed. “We’re not going to spare your brothers. We will kill them all!” The warriors raised their rifles and whooped in approval.

				“Listen to me!” Annika shouted. “We won the battle, but the war has just begun. The white army will return. They prize this mine more than anything. They will do whatever it takes to take it back. We need the gold from this mine to buy armaments, supplies, and ammunition. 

				And we need the whites to mine the gold.”

				“We cannot trust the whites!” shouted One Bull.

				“You wanna mine gold?” asked Annika. One Bull was silent.

				“Anyway, you don’t have to trust the whites,” replied Annika. “The whites work for you. You are their masters.”

				The alien thought fired through One Bull’s mind, instantly changing his expression from rage to surprise. The Lakota had been oppressed by the whites for so long that the notion of flipping the power relationship was inconceivable. One Bull gave the thought a moment to sink in. He turned to his fellow warriors. They nodded their approval at the notion of white slaves.

				One Bull turned back to Annika. “So I am your master too?”

				Annika drew her MP7 and pointed its laser sight on One Bull’s chest. 

				“Not for long,” she replied. 

				One Bull touched the brilliant red laser point with his finger, then locked eyes with Annika. A tense moment passed, then One Bull erupted in laughter, diffusing the stare down. The other warriors joined him. Sitting Bull nodded. Annika smiled and holstered her weapon. 

				“Anyway, I’m only half white,” Annika said. 

				She dismounted her horse and walked to the shaft entrance.

				“You can come out now!” she shouted into the mine. “These warriors will not harm you.”

				She waited a few moments, then called again.

				“You can’t stay in the mine forever. The Lakota have a proposal. We wish to parlay with you. You will not be harmed.”

				Annika looked at her chronograph. Ten minutes had passed. The mine was silent. Annika’s patience was spent. 

				“You have one minute to come out. If you’re not out by then, we’ll come in and kill each and every one of you,” she shouted. “Come out now or die!”

				Chatan translated. The warriors grunted in approval.

				Faces began to emerge from the mine’s darkness, first dozens, then hundreds. The men were filthy. Some wore tattered overalls. Others wore cotton shirts and pants, brown with dirt. 

				A man at the head of the column appeared to be the leader. Green eyes shown from a grimy face beneath a brown slouch hat. He wore a bushy brown mustache, matching his overgrown eyebrows. He squinted in the sunlight. He examined the armed warriors with a wary expression. 

				Annika extended her hand to the man. “My name is Annika Wise. Pleased to meet you.”

				The man looked at the petite half-Asian woman’s hand with confusion. “You’re in charge?” he asked.

				Annika glanced at Sitting Bull. “He’s in charge. I am here to negotiate on behalf of the Lakota people.”

				“Are you their prisoner?” asked the man.

				“No.”

				“Then what are you?”

				Chatan translated for Sitting Bull.

				Annika looked at Sitting Bull, perplexed. She realized she didn’t know what she was. She began to open her mouth to attempt a response. Sitting Bull interrupted her. 

				The Lakota warriors gasped, then turned to face Annika. One Bull’s expression was shock. Annika looked at Chatan. His eyes bulged with surprise.

				“What did he say?” asked Annika.

				“Tatanka says that you are his daughter,” replied Chatan.

				Annika looked at the man and shrugged. “I’m his daughter.”

				The man cautiously extended his hand to Annika. “James Grace. Pleased to make your acquaintance.” 

				As they shook hands, whoops erupted in the distance. A war party of Lakota warriors approached on horseback, dragging the three Hearst reporters behind their horses.

				The swarm of warriors surrounding the mine parted for their incoming compadres. They slid their horses to a halt before Sitting Bull.

				“Tatanka!” shouted the lead rider. “We have captured these whites. What do you wish to do with them?”

				Annika examined the three captives, prone on the ground, bleeding, their clothes torn and covered with dirt. One looked up from the ground. Annika gasped. 

				“Are you Frederic Remington?” she asked.

				“I am,” Remington replied. “Have we met?”

				Annika ignored him, concealing her astonishment. “Who are you?” she asked the next man. 

			

			
				“My name is Jack Edwards,” the man replied.

				“I don’t know you,” Annika said.

				“And you?”

				“My name is Ambrose Bierce.”

				Annika shook her head in amazement. “Get up.”

				The men slowly rose to their feet.

				“Why are you here?” Annika asked.

				The men were silent for a moment, looking at each other.

				“We were sent here by our employer, Mr. Hearst,” replied Edwards.

				“William Randolph Hearst?” asked Annika.

				“Yes,” replied Edwards. “We are here to investigate stories of the Indian takeover of Deadwood.”

				“As well as the takeover of the Hearst Homestake Mine?”

				“Yes,” replied Edwards.

				“Well, as you can see, the stories are true,” said Annika.

				“So it would appear,” said Bierce. 

				“Who are you, madam?” asked Remington. “Are you the Indian messiah?”

				“No,” replied Annika. “She is…not here.”

				“But she is real?” asked Remington.

				Annika nodded. “Yes.”

				Annika turned to Sitting Bull. “Tatanka, these are reporters who work for the owner of this mine. I have an idea. It may buy us some time.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Standing Rock Reservation

				South Dakota

				October 7, 1890

				12:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The trio of reporters rode horses east over the grassy plain toward Sitting Bull’s village at the intersection of the Grand and Missouri rivers. A flatbed wagon trailed behind the journalists, carrying their trunks. The men rode with a scout they had hired in Rapid City. The scout wore head-to-toe fringed buckskin, with long blond hair flowing from beneath a brown slouch hat with one brim pinned to the side. He wore a van dyke beard and long sideburns.

				Annika had convinced Sitting Bull to set the men free in order to report a much bigger story at the Standing Rock Reservation.

				“If you want to see the messiah’s power, go to Standing Rock,” Annika told them. 

				The men were weary from the journey. After being attacked by an army of marauding Lakota warriors, they rode horseback for two days through Lakota reservation territory. No railroad tracks had yet been laid on Lakota land. 

				“How much further?” asked Edwards.

				The scout pointed past a series of plateaus, a few miles ahead.

				“Just past them buttes,” he said.

				Remington noticed something odd about one of the buttes. Scorched black marks streaked from its plateau.

				“You see that?” asked Remington. “Sir…Scout…is that normal?”

				The scout looked and spat on the ground. “No sir. I’ve rode these parts for years. Ain’t never seen that before.”

				“Let’s investigate,” said Edwards. 

				As the party approached the butte, they saw items littering the ground—shredded fragments of uniforms, wagon parts, ammunition.

				Edwards gasped. Fifteen feet in front of him was the torso of a soldier. Decomposing, the former artilleryman gave off a terrible stench. 

				“Good God!” exclaimed Bierce. 

				The men rode on past other remnants of the blast that had destroyed the Hotchkiss gun perch on the plateau above. They found twisted remains of two of the four Hotchkiss guns lying on the ground, along with body parts strewn across the plain.

				When they reached the opposite side of the butte, they saw a horse lying on the ground, bloated, eyes bulging, mouth gaping as though screaming. The horse’s neck was slit. As the men drew closer, they saw the body of a Lakota warrior wearing a bowler hat, his head resting on the horse’s belly. Both were long dead, decomposing. Flies buzzed the carcasses. 

				Edwards noticed a strange object in the warrior’s hand.

				“What is that?” he asked.

				The scout dismounted and bent down over Takoda’s remains. He plucked the wireless detonator from Takoda’s hand. He examined the strange object. It was strong and lightweight, made of a material which he had never seen before. He pressed a large button on the box. A brilliant red light lit up. The scout dropped the box.

				“Jesus!” he said. “What in the Sam Hill is that?”

				“Hand it to me,” ordered Edwards. The scout obliged. Edwards examined the strange device and handed it to Remington.

				“What do you make of this?” Edwards asked.

				Remington shook his head. “There’s something very wrong about this…all of it. This isn’t the product of a rogue war party raid. There is a much greater design at work.”

				“Perhaps there is some truth to the rumors of the Indian messiah,” said Bierce.

				The scout spat on the ground. 

				Before witnessing the mighty Indian army firsthand near Deadwood, all three had dismissed the rumors as absurdity. Now, seeing the carnage at the butte, combined with the recovery of the strange object, they chilled with the possibility that some terrible power might be at work on the Indian frontier.

				The breeze shifted, wafting from the east. The men inhaled a terrible stench. They looked at each other.

				“I fear the worst is yet to come,” said Bierce.

				The men continued their ride east. They saw the Missouri River ahead, with its Grand River tributary paralleling their course on the right. Blocking the view of the rivers’ intersection was an enormous convex timber wall. The cottonwood limbs were charred black. 

				To their left, across a creek, were hundreds of canvas tents. An American flag with 13 stripes and 43 stars flapped lazily in the breeze. They saw Wagons, ammunition crates, cook pots hanging over extinguished fires—everything they would expect to see in a military camp, with one exception.

			

			
				“Where are the soldiers?” asked Edwards.

				The men drove their horses across the creek. They dismounted and began searching the camp. The tents were empty. All the soldiers’ personal effects were precisely where they had left them days before.

				“It is a ghost camp!” exclaimed Bierce.

				“Lord almighty!” said the scout. “I ain’t never seen nothin’ like this.”

				Edwards surveyed the creek. Near its intersection with the Missouri River, he thought he spotted something.

				“Over there,” he said.

				The men approached. Lying on the ground were the remains of General Nelson Miles and his staff. General Miles lay on his back in his dress uniform. Shocked eyes bulged from his bloated face, which decomposition had painted a ghoulish blue-green hue. His mouth was frozen into the look of a scream.

				The men gasped at the sight of the general of America’s mightiest army reduced to such a wretched state. 

				“There isn’t a mark on these men,” observed Remington.

				“What dark magic killed these men?” asked Bierce. “And where are the rest of the soldiers?”

				The men turned to look at the charred timber fortress in the distance across the creek. 

				“We should not go in there,” warned the scout, shaking his head. “We should not go in there!”

				The journalists shared the scout’s instincts. Those warnings of self-preservation conflicted with their awareness that the scoop of a lifetime awaited them behind the timber wall.

				“I have to know,” said Edwards, mounting his horse. “You men are welcome to stay.”

				Remington and Bierce looked at each other. Remington cursed, shook his head and mounted his horse. Bierce followed suit. 

				The scout watched the men as they rode toward the creek. 

				“Goddammit!” the scout said as he mounted his horse. He drew his pistol and followed the men toward the wall.

				As they closed on the barricade, the men smelled the burnt cottonwood. The scout pointed toward a generous opening in the wall to the left of center. He noted that there was a similar opening on the right.

				“This don’t make no sense at all,” the scout said. “Fortifications don’t have unlocked doors.”

				“Whoever built this wanted the Army to enter,” deduced Remington. 

				“The Black Widow’s web,” said Bierce. “She is beckoning us.”

				The men looked at each other.

				“That is certainly helpful, Ambrose,” snarked Remington.

				“Let’s not disappoint her,” said Edwards as he rode toward the opening. 

				He peered inside the charred fortress. He faced another burnt cottonwood wall. He turned right and rode along the inner corridor. The other men rode behind him in single file. Edwards came upon an opening in the inner wall. The other men watched as he turned left to enter it.

			

			
				As the other men reached the opening, they found themselves facing yet another burnt timber wall. Overhead sunlight contrasted with the wall shadows. Remington was the second man to pass. He looked right and left. Edwards was to his left, walking his horse down the corridor. Remington and the others followed him. 

				Edwards saw daylight stream through another opening.

				This is it, he thought. 

				The other men closed on Edwards as he approached the opening. As they turned the corner, the vision and stench hit the men like a sledgehammer.

				“My good lord!” exclaimed Bierce.

				The scout leaned over and vomited. 

				“Lord almighty!” he gasped. “Lord almighty!”

				The men beheld a sea of death. The rotting remains of thousands of soldiers and horses carpeted the ground over 100 yards, all the way to the Missouri and Grand rivers bordering the carnage. The wooden skeletons of hundreds of denuded tipis fashioned a macabre infrastructure to the ghastly scene.

				“What terrible evil is this?” asked Bierce. “What unspeakable black magic? The savages have conjured Satan himself from the very pits of hell!”

				Remington reached into his saddlebag and retrieved a sketchpad and charcoal. He began to sketch the scene.

				“What in God’s name are you doing?” asked the scout. 

				“I am doing my job, sir,” replied Remington.

				“This ain’t a Goddamned picture show!” shouted the scout. “This is hallowed ground!”

				Remington ignored him. 

				The scout pointed his pistol at Remington and cocked the hammer. “You stop that! You stop that right now!” 

				The scout’s hand was shaking. Remington stopped sketching and looked at the scout. 

				“Mr. Johnson,” said Edwards, “let’s you and I leave so we can plan our way forward in a more level place. We will need to find a telegraph office where we can report our findings to Mr. Hearst. Does this sound like a sensible plan to you?”

				“Yes,” said the scout, badly wanting an excuse to leave. “Yes, I concur. Yours sounds like a proper plan.” 

				“Come, then,” said Edwards as he walked his horse back through the inner wall opening, making eye contact with Remington and Bierce on his way out. The two men nodded. The scout followed Edwards. Remington resumed his sketch. Bierce pulled out a notebook and began writing. 
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				October 8, 1890

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				“Extra! Extra!” shouted the paperboy at the corner of Market and 3rd. “Indians massacre the Army!”

				Men crowded around the teenager, buying up copies of the Examiner as quickly as the boy could hand them out. Within minutes, the paperboy was sold out.

				A businessman scanned the front page:

				The Horror!


				An Examiner Exclusive!

				10,000 brave American soldiers slaughtered by savage Indians in Standing Rock, SD.

				Examiner newsmen Jack Edwards, Ambrose Bierce, and Frederic Remington were the first to arrive at the scene of an unspeakable carnage on the western frontier, where our reporters discovered the bodies of thousands of United States cavalrymen and infantrymen dead at the Sioux Indian reservation at Standing Rock, SD. 

				At the “Massacre at Grand River,” our intrepid reporters described a grisly landscape of countless scores of soldiers’ bodies. The desecrated remains of our country’s finest young men were left to rot by ruthless savages on the South Dakota plains whilst their murderers fled to murder, rape, and plunder in the town of Deadwood, SD, where they are presently holed up. 

				The massacre is reported to be the devil’s work of the Indian “messiah,” who is said to use satanic rituals and other unspeakable dark arts to annihilate her enemies. The messiah is reported to be impervious to bullets. 
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				Human sacrifices in Deadwood

				Reliable sources report that decent, law-abiding citizens of Deadwood are being sacrificed at primitive rituals by bloodthirsty savage Indians. Sources report that Christian women are stripped of their clothing and crudely fondled by the savages before being put to death. Men, women, and children are burned alive at the stake in the town’s Main Street, where redskins dance with glee as their innocent victims scream in agony with their dying breaths. 

				The sacrifices of Christians are reported to have been ordered by the malevolent Indian messiah, who demands the grisly rituals in order to replenish her cache of black magic, which was exhausted at the Massacre of Grand River. 

				The future intentions of the messiah and her ruthless band of savages are not known at this time. Our nation’s military generals are holding emergency meetings in the nation’s capital to plan the Army’s response to the extraordinary threat. Citizens of the Dakotas are advised to evacuate the region. Our brave Examiner reporters, first on the scene, will continue to report the latest news from the American wilderness via the Examiner’s modern electronic telegraphy. 
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				Sophie’s Kitchen 

				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				October 8, 1890

				08:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika, Sitting Bull, and Chatan sat at a window table in the abandoned dining room at the Martin and Mason Hotel on Main Street. The kitchen had been ransacked by the Lakota army, leaving few scraps behind to eat. The three munched on beef jerky that Annika had found in a cupboard. Annika looked at her last strip of jerky. 

				“It looks like I’m going to need to resort to my survival training,” she said.

				“Do you know how to hunt?” asked Sitting Bull.

				“Yes,” Annika said, “though I prefer making reservations for dinner.”

				“Reservations?” asked Chatan, struggling with the translation.

				“I like restaurants,” she said.

				“So do the mine workers,” she added. “The miners are going to need the conveniences they are accustomed to. They’ll need meals, clothes, hardware, medicine, alcohol, companionship. They won’t stay without a town to support them.

				“We need the mine to buy what we need to defend this land, and we need the miners to mine and process the gold.”

				“The mine is a wound inflicted on the earth,” said Sitting Bull. “It is an obscenity.”

				“I understand,” said Annika, “but we need the gold to survive.”

				Sitting Bull shook his head. “It is a devil’s bargain. The mine is the focal point of the white’s avarice. It is the wellspring of evil. Destruction and death will flow from the ground with the gold.”

				“That’s true, but I don’t know how to defend the land without it.”

				Sitting Bull frowned, considering Annika’s words.

				“What are you suggesting?” he asked.

				Annika sighed. “I suggest we invite the townspeople back to Deadwood.”

				Sitting Bull’s eyes went wide.

				“We just got rid of the whites! You want to invite them back?”

				“I do. Lure them back with gold. Prohibit them from owning firearms. Put Lakota in charge of law enforcement.”

				Sitting Bull shook his head. “My people will object.”

				“I understand,” Annika said. “If someone has a better plan, I’d love to hear it. There is absolutely no possible way we will keep this land without weapons. We need money to buy weapons. We need gold for money. We need miners for gold. We need a town for the miners.”

				“I will speak to the council,” said Sitting Bull. “They will not like it.”

				“Are you having second thoughts about adopting me?” asked Annika.

				“The fact that your words are unpleasant does not make them less true,” said Sitting Bull.

				“Why did you adopt me, anyway?”

				“You will need my name and status in order to get things done,” said Sitting Bull. “You need to be able to act on my behalf, even when I am not present. You have fought for the Lakota people. I am trusting that you will continue to do so.”

				“So, it wasn’t because you felt sorry for me? It’s OK to say that you felt a little sorry for me.”

				Chatan translated Sitting Bull’s short response.

				“Tatanka says you talk too much,” Chatan said. 
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				Black Hills, SD

				February 12, 1906

				08:42 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika peered through her binoculars from her hilltop perch at the narrow pass some 4,000 feet below. Snow fell from grey skies. Her breath was white frost beneath the binoculars. An auburn fox fur coat protected her from the cold. The black and silver strands of her aging ponytail flowed from beneath a fox fur hat. Though her coat and hat were from the early 20th century, the black tactical operator gloves that held her military binoculars were from the year 2008.

				Sitting Bull lay next to her on the hilltop, scanning the mountain pass. A buffalo cape was wrapped around his shoulders. The old chief wanted to be with his braves in the battle below, though Annika and his fellow tribespeople had convinced the 75-year-old legend not to ride into battle one more time.

				In the pass below, hundreds of Lakota warriors appeared to be in headlong retreat, galloping their horses into the pass. The U.S. cavalry was in hot pursuit. The cavalry soldiers’ homogenous flying navy winter capes with gold trim on their bay quarter horses contrasted with the Lakota warriors’ rainbow assortment of colors adorning their wild mustangs. 

				Through her binoculars, Annika saw two cannon flashes from a distant army mountain perch. 

				“Get down, Tatanka,” Annika said in Lakota.

				The two hugged the ground as two artillery shells blasted the hillside, showering the pass with rocks.

				Annika picked up a wooden stick with a red flag and waved it to a gun crew on the neighboring hilltop. The Lakota gun crew fired the two surviving Hotchkiss guns salvaged from the Grand River battle, raking the cavalry soldiers with grapeshot. Dozens of soldiers and horses fell to the ground. Screams echoed off the hillsides, mingling with the smoke that filled the chasm.

				Three more Army artillery guns fired in the distance. Explosions blew craters out of the hillside where the Hotchkiss gun crew stood. One member of the crew tumbled down the sheer hillside with the crashing rock. 

				Annika picked up a green flag and waved it.

				The war cries of thousands of Lakota warriors filled the rock corridors of the pass as they rode onto the battlefield. Their fellow warriors had successfully baited the cavalry into the narrow pass. The remaining cavalry soldiers saw the screaming painted wall of warriors galloping toward them. A bugle call signaled the better side of valor as the cavalrymen turned and beat a hasty retreat. 

				The pass erupted in whoops and war cries as the warriors celebrated yet another victory against the white army. Annika and Sitting Bull didn’t join the celebration. They looked at each other, mirroring each other’s grim expressions. Annika rolled over on her back, watching the snowflakes descend lazily from the sky. She felt the wet frozen flakes as they landed gently on her face.

				“It’s been a miracle that we’ve been able to hold them off for 16 years,” said Annika in fluent Lakota. “We won’t be able to hold them off for much longer. They’re getting stronger and they have more and better weapons. We’ve been able to buy small arms, but they have artillery. They’re relentless. It’s only a matter of time.”

				Sitting Bull studied his adopted daughter.

				“You are confused,” the old chief said.

				“I don’t believe I am,” replied Annika. “I know my opponent. I know their numbers, their weapons.”

				“You are confused,” Sitting Bull repeated.

				Annika rolled on her side, looking at Sitting Bull. “Tatanka, they have a limitless supply of men, guns, and ammunition. They have artillery. Their weapons become more advanced and more lethal every year. We have the advantage of the terrain, motivated warriors, and modern strategy and tactics, but that will only get us so far.”

				Sitting Bull raised a finger and touched Annika on her forehead. “Your mind and your spirit are encumbered by details.”

				“Sure they are,” replied Annika. “The details that will get us killed.”

				“The details will not save us,” said Sitting Bull.

				“Then what will?”

				“You need a vision.”

				“What?”

				“You need a vision. From the Sun Dance.”

				Annika’s eyes went wide, “You’re not serious.”

				Sitting Bull’s expression didn’t budge.

				“I thought women weren’t permitted to perform the Sun Dance.”

			

			
				“That is my decision,” said the chief.

				Annika gasped. Sitting Bull was serious. She was fully aware of the enormous honor she was being offered, as well as its horror. She was also aware of its excruciatingly painful futility. Despite the agony and the uselessness of the ancient ritual, Annika couldn’t turn away from any opportunity to prove her ability to do anything a man could do. Nor could she disappoint her Lakota father. 

				She glanced at her chest. “I think my boobs are already too small.”


				Sitting Bull let out a rare laugh.
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				February 14, 1906

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				“Extra! Extra!” shouted the paperboy at the corner of Market and 3rd. “Indians defeat army troops again!”

				An Examiner Exclusive!

				Indians Again Defeat Hapless Army in Battle.

				DEADWOOD, February 14—The United States Army was once again defeated in battle in an engagement in the Black Hills of South Dakota. Over 1,000 cavalry, infantry, and artillery troops were no match for the Indians, under the joint command of the renegade Chief Sitting Bull and his strange companion, Annika “Oriental Annie” Wise. 

				The army’s commander, General Armstrong Bruester, committed a series of blundering errors, allowing his troops to be baited into a mountain pass, where they were trapped and needlessly slaughtered by the wily savages. The battle marks the sixth straight defeat of the United States Army in the 16 years since the Sioux Indians murdered as many as 20,000 troops in the infamous Massacre of Grand River. 

				The Examiner calls for the immediate removal of the hopelessly inept General Bruester and the instatement of competent and professional leadership over our valiant soldiers in order to vanquish the murderous heathen from these United States. 
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				Deadwood, SD

				February 21, 1906

				14:06 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika sat in sweltering darkness. Sweat dripped from her hair onto her shoulders and trickled down her arms, where salt water diluted blood from 99 cuts in her arms. The rose fluid pooled in her loincloth, her only article of clothing. 

				Annika shifted her lotus position on the bed of sage upon which she sat. Outside the sweat lodge, she heard Yellow Bird singing to a single drumbeat. 

				Annika clutched her combat knife in her hand, raising the knife to make the 100th and final cut on her forearm. She stroked the flat edge of the knife along the previous cuts on her arm. The knife edge skipped the ragged edges of her knife wounds. 

				Her body gave up an exasperated sigh. She fought back tears. Her breathing labored against heat, exhaustion, and pain. 

				While the purpose of the sweat lodge rite of Inipi was to purify Annika and prepare her for her vision quest in the Sun Dance, she knew the ritual would leave her neither purified nor envisioned. She didn’t seek a glimpse into the cosmos. Her mission was to endure a barbaric ritual to prove herself in a man’s world—again. 

				Annika took a breath and drew the knife swiftly against her arm, slicing the final cut.

				The lodge flap was flung open. The bracing cold air hit her wet body like a steel hammer. The frigid air flushed her lungs. Annika looked at Yellow Bird as he peered into the sweat lodge. He nodded at her. She nodded in return and rose from the sage bed.

				Annika emerged from the sweat lodge into a cold, overcast day in a forest clearing a mile from Deadwood in a tipi village the townspeople had nicknamed “Lakotawood.” Hundreds of Lakota were gathered around the ritual site. Sixteen years had passed since the last Sun Dance, when Sitting Bull chased the vision of the messiah. Back then, the audience had viewed the chief with awe, hoping to experience his rebirth viscerally in their own bodies and souls.

				Today, the onlookers viewed the tiny Asian-white woman’s vision quest as an oddity, an unnatural circus freak show from which they could not look away. The fact that Annika would be denied a vision was a foregone conclusion. The only remaining question was whether or not she would survive the excruciating ritual. 

				Annika followed Yellow Bird to the Sun Dance pole. The frigid air chilled her sweaty skin and soaked loincloth. She clenched her fists, fighting shivers as they racked her body. Though she was freezing, Annika walked upright to the pole, her arms at her sides. She knew what the audience had come to see. She wasn’t going to give them the satisfaction of showing weakness. 

				Annika’s eyes met Sitting Bull’s. He was standing among the onlookers. Annika knew the stoic expression on her adopted father’s leather face well enough to see worry seeping through its cracks. 

				Yellow Bird stepped over an arc of boulders that formed the circumnavigation of the circle around the Sun Dance pole, a shaved cottonwood tree with two leather straps tied to it. He stopped in front of the pole and brushed it with sage. He then turned to face Annika. 

				Yellow Bird held up two pieces of sharpened bone, approximately five inches long. He looked into Annika’s eyes. She nodded for him to continue. 

				Yellow Bird inserted the first bone into Annika’s chest, just above the curve of her breast. She did not wince as the bone was driven through the flesh, the tip emerging a couple of inches away from where it was inserted. Annika’s expression was of misery. 

				I don’t believe in visions, she thought. I don’t believe in the Sun Dance. This is just a stupid horrible thing I have to do to prove I’m just as tough as a man. It’s a just a horrible thing I have to do so I don’t disappoint Tatanka. I have to stand here, naked in the cold with my arms cut up, and have this witch doctor stick bones in my tits!

				Yellow Bird placed the loops of the leather straps around the bone tips protruding from Annika’s chest. A dozen drummers began beating their drums in tandem as Yellow Bird sang. Annika pulled hard against the leather straps, pulling her flesh away in peaks. At half the weight of the men who normally performed the Sun Dance, she was unable to gain traction with her bare feet to pull away with the force needed to tear the bones away from her chest. She grunted in pain and frustration as she tried to dig in her bare heels and pull against the straps, only to slide back toward the pole. The crowd murmured and pointed at Annika. Annika looked back at the audience with exasperation, then looked at the bones in her chest, blood weeping from the incisions. She wanted to scream at the crowd. 

				You motherfuckers! she thought. If it weren’t for me, you’d be starving on your fucking reservation! If it weren’t for me, you would have been slaughtered a dozen times by the army! 

				Annika mustered her strength and tried leaping backwards, only to rebound comically back toward the cottonwood pole. The audience of Lakota tribespeople laughed. Tears streamed down Annika’s cheeks as she howled in pain and humiliation. 
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				Deadwood, SD

				February 21, 1906

				16:35 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The sun’s orange disk, muted through the murky clouds, was low in the sky. The few remaining onlookers tugged their coats close in the cold. Most had left to prepare dinner. Annika hung limp from the leather straps, her feet dragging the ground. The drumming was subdued. Yellow Bird’s singing was soft and hoarse. He turned to Sitting Bull for guidance. After a moment, Sitting Bull made a slicing motion with his hand. The drummers stopped.

				Annika’s head snapped up. She rose to her feet and turned to face Sitting Bull. Blood trails ran from her chest into her loin cloth. Her eyes met her adopted father. He shook his head and stepped toward her. She held up her hand to stop him, then pointed at the perimeter boulder at his feet. Sitting Bull shook his head. Annika pointed again at the boulder and made a feeble gesture with her hand for Sitting Bull to bring her the stone. Sitting Bull sighed and picked it up. He carried it to Annika. She extended her shredded, blood-soaked arms. Sitting Bull placed the boulder gently in her arms. Annika clutched the heavy rock. Sitting Bull saw her legs shaking. He turned to Yellow Bird and the drummers and nodded. The drummers beat their drums loud and fast as Yellow Bird sang. 

				Annika turned back to face the pole, then stepped back until the leather thongs were almost taut. Her body tremored with exhaustion and cold. The course boulder was impossibly heavy in her weakened arms.

				Tears flowed down her cheeks. She gasped a fearful cry, then screamed full throated and flung herself backward. The added weight of the boulder caused the bones to rip from Annika’s breasts. She felt her sternum and ribs crack as the boulder pounded her chest as she hit the ground on her back. 

				Annika opened her eyes. She saw the overcast sky. She tilted her head up to see the boulder resting on her bloody abdomen. 

				“No fucking vision,” she said. “All that for nothing.”

				She sat up. The boulder rolled into her lap. She noticed that everyone was gone. She was alone in the Sun Dance circle.

				How long have I been out? she wondered. The least they could have done is take me out of the fucking cold.

				She felt a tug on her chest. She looked down to see that the bones were still in her breasts, with the leather thongs attached. The straps were slack, then pulled taut. Annika looked up. A giant pair of white marble hands held the opposite ends of the straps. It was a statue, 30 feet high, of a man wearing a top hat, morning coat, bow tie, waistcoat, and formal trousers. The man had a long face and wore a bushy mustache. The statue leaned to look at Annika then smiled fiendishly as he tugged the straps, jerking Annika to her feet. The statue moved Annika from left to right with the thongs, twisting her like a puppet. Annika struggled uselessly to break free. The statue opened and closed its mouth vertically like a nutcracker, substituting a macabre clacking sound for laughter. 

				The statue gave the leather thongs a pull, launching Annika hundreds of feet into the air. From that vantage, she could see that the statue was not alone. Thousands of statues of soldiers populated the landscape. In the distance, Annika could see a beautiful blue water ocean bay. 

				The statue dangled Annika before his face, making its clacking laugh from its disjointed jaw. Annika glanced down. She still held the boulder in her arms. She picked it up with her hands and held it up over her head, grinning back at the statue before hurling the boulder at the colossus’ feet. As it struck the statue, its expression morphed to surprise, then terror as fractures rippled through its face. The ground shook violently, crumbling all the statues to rubble in a cloud of dust. 

				Annika opened her eyes to see Sitting Bull’s worried face hovering over her. 

				“Fuck!” Annika said. “It worked.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Martin and Mason Hotel 

				Deadwood, SD

				February 23, 1906

				11:31 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika opened her eyes. She saw a small grey cat on the windowsill next to her bed. The cat looked at Annika, then swatted at the gauzy drapes as they moved in the breeze. 

				Annika reached feebly for the cat. It stayed seated on the windowsill out of reach, watching her.

				Annika strained to sit up in her bed. Pain wracked her chest, which was bound in bloodstained cloth bandages. A young Lakota woman assisted Annika, taking her arm and placing her hand on her back.

				“You should lie still,” a Lakota woman, White Deer, said.

				“Mr. Grace is coming,” replied Annika, wincing in pain.

				“Our greatest warriors take days to recover from the Sun Dance,” replied White Deer.

				“They’re not women.”

				White Deer looked at Annika, stunned at the audacity of her slight. She laughed out loud, covering her mouth.

				“Would you please bring me paper and a pencil?” Annika asked.

				White Deer turned to leave.

				“Oh, one more thing,” said Annika. “Would you ask the kitchen for some scraps…for the cat?”

				“Ma’am?” asked White Deer.

				“I want to feed the cat,” Annika said.

				White Deer turned and shook her head as she exited the room, a third-story flat at Deadwood’s Martin and Mason Hotel. Annika looked out the window at Main Street below. Much had changed since the Lakota’s audacious charge down that thoroughfare 16 years earlier. The street looked much as it did the day before the attack, with shops and businesses open and citizens walking the street. 

				As part of the uneasy arrangement brokered by Annika, a Lakota named Crow Foot, Sitting Bull’s son, was made the town’s sheriff. He and his Lakota deputies found law enforcement to be relatively easy, as firearms other than those belonging to Annika and the chiefs were now outlawed in town. 

				Annika offered enormous sums of gold as incentives to lure businessmen back to town. Now, Main Street bustled once again with whites and Chinese, along with Lakota. Restaurants, banks, laundries, opium dens, and brothels operated much in the way they had before, with the exception that the town’s Chinese population had exploded. An unexpected consequence of “Oriental Annie’s” exploits on the frontier was that the Chinese Exclusion Act of 1882 had been made permanent. Talks of possible Chinese internment had flared up in congress. Anti-Chinese rhetoric was now a staple of political stump speeches. 

				Harassment and racist attacks on Chinese Americans had forced them out of their homes to make the trek to the home of the Chinese messiah in Deadwood. After welcoming the first waves of Chinese refugees, Annika became conditioned to the surprised expressions she received from the new arrivals dressed their long Changchun shirts, Xiao Mao skullcaps, and hair braided into long queues. Annika, a half-Chinese wearing western dress, hardly resembled the caricature in Hearst’s racist cartoons, nor did she speak Mandarin. 

				Annika had knocked down the walls of the adjoining rooms on the third floor to create a flat. Sitting Bull and his wives occupied the second floor. Some Lakota lived in town. Others lived in Lakotawood. 

				Annika gasped as she struggled to sit up against the brass headboard of her bed. 

				White Deer reappeared with paper, pencil, a wooden bed tray, and a saucer with meat scraps. She sat the tray astride Annika’s legs and the saucer on the windowsill. The cat began eating.

				“Mr. Grace is downstairs,” White Deer said.

				“Please send him in.”

				Moments later, James Grace appeared in the doorway, holding his felt slouch hat penitently. He wore dirty trousers stuffed into leather work boots. His pants were strapped up with suspenders over a striped collarless shirt.

				Grace gasped when he saw Annika, in small measure because of her bloody bandages, though primarily because of her immodest dress, attired in nothing above the waist but the bandages.

				“Ma’am,” said Grace. “Do you require help with your person?”

				Annika managed a smile for Grace, who had gained her trust over years managing the Homestake Mine.

				“No, Mr. Grace, thank you,” replied Annika. “I need to ask you to do something for me.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

			

			
				“Of course, anything, ma’am.”

				“Come here,” Annika said, gesturing. “Please sit.”

				Grace picked up a chair and sat next to Annika. 

				Annika scribbled on the paper. She handed it to Grace.

				“I need you to go to San Francisco,” she said. “Take this to the San Francisco Examiner. I wish to place this as a full-page advertisement. I would like it to run every day until April 18.”

				Grace looked at the paper. His expression turned to shock. He unconsciously began stroking his bushy long salt-and-pepper mustache with his free hand. 

				“Ma’am?”

				“I know what I’m doing,” said Annika. “Take as much gold as you need.”

				Annika reached for Grace’s hand. He raised his to meet hers. Annika took his hand and squeezed it.

				“This is very important, James. You have helped me more than you know over the years. Can I trust you to do this for me?”

				“Of course, ma’am. It is a privilege. You can count on me, ma’am.” 
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				Deadwood, SD

				February 27, 1906

				13:17 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika rode Pegasus bareback through the forest near Deadwood toward the creek bordering Lakotawood. She held Pegasus’ reins in one hand and a rolled newspaper in the other. Crisp spring air breezed through the forest, whose trees sprouted fresh green leaves. Annika emerged from the trees at a clearing on the bank. Sitting Bull sat on his favorite boulder, looking at the water moving carelessly downstream.


				Annika slid off Pegasus’ back. She draped his reins across his neck and walked to Sitting Bull’s boulder, sitting down next to him. They sat silently, watching the water pass.

				“You are not at peace,” said Sitting Bull in Lakota.

				“Are you saying that because you sense something is wrong, or because you know I’m never at peace,” asked Annika.

				“Yes,” replied Sitting Bull.

				Annika unrolled a copy of the Examiner, showing Sitting Bull a cartoon depicting Annika being celebrated by a band of Indians. Annika’s caricature was drawn with stereotyped slanted eyes and buck teeth, wearing a cone rice hat and clothing that looked like pajamas. Her Lakota worshippers were drawn with bulging eyes and goofy expressions.
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				“It doesn’t look like you,” said Sitting Bull.

				“I’m half Chinese. Hearst took out the white half,” said Annika.

				Sitting Bull shook his head. “The whites are consumed with nonsense. They have no idea what is important.” 

				He pointed to the flowing water.

				“This is important.”

				He touched a green tree leaf resting on the boulder. The leaf was curved, holding a large bead of water within its concave edges.

				“This is important,” he said. 

				Sitting Bull touched the cartoon. “This is not important.”

				“It’s another man,” replied Annika. “Another bully.”

				Sitting Bull took inventory of his daughter’s hurt. “He’s another fool. There are so many. 

				A fool’s verdict is meaningless.”

				Sitting Bull turned to Annika, smiling. “My verdict, however, is another matter.” 

				“So, you’re not a fool?” Annika asked.

				Sitting Bull raised his eyebrows at Annika’s impudence. Annika laughed.

				“Not today,” he replied. “But the day is not finished.”

				Annika heard Pegasus’ hooves clopping on the boulder. Pegasus nudged Annika’s back with his nose. She turned and scratched his head between his ears. Pegasus lowered his head, softening his eyelids.

				“Does he like me?” asked Annika. “I can’t tell with horses. They aren’t like dogs or cats.”

				“I have no idea if he likes you or not,” said Sitting Bull. 

				“Horses are prey animals,” he said. “They don’t think as we predators do. They look to the leader of their herd for direction in order to survive.”

				“They look to their humans for the same.”

				“It doesn’t matter whether your horse likes you. What matters is that he trusts you,” said Sitting Bull. 

				“There is nothing more important to a horse.

				“Or a human.”
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				09:30 Hours

				February 28, 1906

				James Grace stepped off a cable car onto the cobblestones of Market Street in front of the San Francisco Examiner building. He carried a leather bag with some personal effects and the piece of paper with Annika’s scribbled advertisement. It was gorgeous day, with blue skies and a cool bay breeze wafting down Market Street. A mix of horse-drawn and horseless carriages made their way up and down the busy thoroughfare, interrupted by the occasional cable car and its clanging brass bell. Mustached men wearing frock coats and bowler hats walked briskly to and from business appointments. 

				A uniformed man in front of the building opened a heavy bronze and glass door for Grace and motioned him inside. 

				Inside the lobby, polished dark wood pillars ascended to a ceiling thirty feet high, where large square, copper-embossed tiles were recessed into dark wood beams that crisscrossed the space. The floor was polished red marble. White curtains filtered the outdoor light from large windows.  

				Grace approached a large wood reception desk. A man in his forties, with thinning salt-and-pepper hair and a thin mustache, wearing a black coat and tie, looked up from the desk.

				“I have an appointment.” Grace paused. 

				“With Mr. Hearst.”

				The uniformed man eyed Grace closely. Grace wore the cheap suit of a labor foreman, dirty from three days’ travel. 

				“Your name?”

				“James Grace.”

				The man looked at his appointment book. His expression morphed from incredulity to surprise when he saw Grace’s name in the book, along with a comment from WR Hearst:

				Extend every courtesy!

				“Of course, Mr. Grace,” said the man, signaling to another man standing nearby. 

				“This is Mr. Robertson. He will escort you to Mr. Hearst’s office straight away.”
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				William Randolph Hearst’s Office

				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				09:35 Hours

				February 28, 1906

				Timeline 003

				The elevator opened onto William Randolph Hearst’s top-floor office. Mr. Robertson pulled open the elevator gate door and gestured for Grace to enter. 

				Grace stepped off the elevator onto an enormous crimson, gold, and orange Persian rug that filled the entire 80-foot by 40-foot office. Deep sunken octagon caissons in the wood coffer ceiling gave Grace the sense of entering a colossal beehive. A fiery glow emitted from angled hanging light fixtures of yellow frosted glass encased in bronze neoclassical frames.

				One of the long walls was a bookcase, filled with books in burgundy, olive, and gold leather covers. It faced a wall where tightly measured light entered through window openings exposed by gaps in heavy gold curtains with tassels. 

				Between the windows hung Luc Olivier Merson’s painting, Rest on the Flight into Egypt, depicting an imagined way point in the odyssey of the Holy Family, where they sleep by a sphinx in a desolate desert landscape. Mary and child slumber nestled between the man-lion’s paws, while Joseph lays blankets at the statue’s base. Their unsaddled donkey stands nearby, head lowered, with a hind leg bent in repose. 
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				Beneath the painting was a walnut sideboard, bookended with two ancient Greek vases. They were black, with scenes portrayed in burnt orange. One vase depicted two lovers in coitus. The other vase depicted the suicide of Ajax. 

				At the far end of the large room, W.R. Hearst rose from behind an enormous walnut Baroque desk carved with cherubim in high relief. Matching period dark wood chairs with spiral legs were parked around a walnut table in front of the desk. 

				Hearst bounded toward Grace, extending his hand. To Grace, the six-foot-five man looked like a giant.

				“Mr. Grace,” said Hearst as he shook his guest’s hand. “Or should I say, ‘Mr. McParland.’ It is indeed a pleasure to finally meet you in person.”

				“Likewise, Mr. Hearst. It has been a great privilege serving your family over the years.”

				Hearst gestured for his guest to take a seat at the table. 

				“How many years has it been?” asked Hearst.

				“Your father engaged my services in 1878, shortly after I completed my assignment in Pennsylvania.”

				“Ah, yes, that Molly McGuire business,” said Hearst. “That was splendid work.”

				“Thank you, sir. Very kind.”

				“And you have worked all these years at Homestake without arousing suspicion?”

				“Yes sir. No one knows my true identity as a Pinkerton agent under your employ. I have earned the complete trust of Miss Annika Wise.”

				“Oriental Annie, eh?”

				“Yes sir. Half oriental. Half white.”

				“Mongrel,” said Hearst. “The situation at Deadwood is most peculiar. Tell me—why are the savages in league with the half-breed woman?”

				“The Sioux say she assisted their messiah in defeating the Army and capturing Deadwood in 1890. They say she appeared out of thin air, just like their messiah.”

				“Poppycock,” said Hearst.

				“Yes sir, though the cause of the Army’s destruction is still unknown. And there was the strange device your men recovered near the Sioux village.”

				“There’s something else,” said Grace. “She carries an unusual firearm. It’s unlike any weapon I’ve ever seen. It can fire 1,000 bullets per minute.”

			

			
				“Impossible!”

				“Yes sir, but I’ve seen it with my own eyes. She says it was manufactured in Germany.”

				“Most strange.” Hearst paused. 


				“So, Mr. McParland, I am very curious as to what brings you to our fair city.”

				Grace reached into his bag and retrieved Annika’s ad. He handed it to Hearst.

				“Miss Wise sent me here to place this full-page advertisement in the San Francisco Examiner.”

				Hearst unfolded the paper and read it. He looked at Grace.

				“What in God’s name is this? Has the woman lost her mind?”

				Grace pulled a canvas sack out of his bag and placed it on the coffee table. He opened it and dumped the contents, 10 pounds of gold nuggets, onto the table. 

				“She instructed me to run the advertisement every day for the next 45 days.”

				“And pay for it with my gold,” said Hearst.

				“Yes sir.”

				Hearst looked at the ad, thinking.

				“I believe my readers will find this very entertaining.”
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				08:00 Hours

				March 1, 1906

				Timeline 003

				The full-page ad in the San Francisco Examiner blared:
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				Examiner Exclusive! Oriental renegade extorts the city of San Francisco. 

				$100,000 REWARD for the capture of “Oriental Annie”

				SAN FRANCISCO, March 1—Annika Wise, also known as “Oriental Annie,” leader of the murderous band of Sioux Indians who have terrorized the frontier of South Dakota, has issued an audacious ultimatum to the citizens of San Francisco: Turn over the federal storehouse of arms and ammunition at the Presidio, or face annihilation on the morning of April 18 at 5:12 AM. Oriental Annie has placed advertisements exclusively in the Examiner, signaling her threat to the innocent men, women, and children of San Francisco. 

				The slaughter of innocents is nothing new to the renegade Chinawoman, after her murder of 30,000 valiant Army troops at the Massacre of Grand River and the subsequent sacrifice of women and children at savage Indian rituals in Deadwood, SD.

				Local officials interpreted Oriental Annie’s advertisement as an act of desperation, as the United States Army closes in for the kill at the fugitive’s hideout in Deadwood, SD. Though the Chinawoman and her bloodthirsty savage allies have dealt the Army a series of defeats in past skirmishes, military experts deduce that Annie’s attempt to extort arms can mean nothing other than that her cache of weapons is depleted. 

				Since the illegal and depraved capture of Deadwood in 1890, Oriental Annie and her band of cutthroat savages have roamed the South Dakota Black Hills with impunity—murdering, raping, and performing human sacrifices of women and children in primitive native rituals. Human blood is known to be a staple of the redskin diet. 

				Military generals are in consultation with the nation’s highest authorities, making plans for the final assault on the fugitive’s wilderness hideout, in order to bring the outlaw to justice and exterminate her murdering cohorts. 
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				San Francisco Grand Opera House

				Mission Street

				San Francisco, CA

				April 17, 1906

				20:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Enrico Caruso walked onstage in front of red velvet curtains to thunderous applause. He wore a brown flamenco-style jacket with heavy gold embroidery, matching trousers, and tasseled boots for his role, the Spanish corporal Don Jose in Carmen. Hidden under his gold cummerbund was a .38 caliber pistol, purchased specifically for his visit to what he perceived to be the wild west American city of San Francisco.

				Caruso stood in the stage lights, bathed in the audience’s adoration. He put his hand over his heart, smiled broadly and mouthed, “Grazie.” 

				The crowd quieted.

				“Thank you, citizens of San Francisco. I am humbled by your generosity,” began Caruso in Italian-accented English. “Before we begin this evening’s performance of Carmen, I have been asked to speak to you regarding the strange circumstances in which your beautiful city finds itself this evening.

				“It is my understanding that your city is scheduled to be destroyed tomorrow morning.”

				The audience laughed with Caruso.

				“I wanted you to know that I, for one, believe that I will find the city alive and well tomorrow when I awake.”

				The audience applauded.

				“However, even so, I make a promise to you, citizens of San Francisco. Even though the city will still be standing tomorrow, I promise to play the role of Don Jose this evening as though it is my very last performance!”

				The audience sprang to its feet, applauding wildly, with shouts of “Bravo!” as Caruso waved and strode to the curtain wings. 
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				The Palace Hotel

				Suite 580

				San Francisco, CA

				April 18, 1906

				05:11 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Enrico Caruso slept soundly in his room at San Francisco’s Palace Hotel. Twenty of the fifty framed portraits of himself that the tenor had brought to San Francisco sat on the mantle of an English marble fireplace, which nested the glowing, crackling embers of the previous night’s fire. Forty pairs of boots were arranged neatly upon Turkish carpets in the California laurel-paneled room. 

				Caruso’s previous evening’s performance had been flawless. Though reporters were readying reviews that skewered his leading lady, Caruso’s own reviews were triumphant. 

				Clutching a Persian bedspread close, Caruso dreamt he was on an ocean liner making the Atlantic crossing home to Naples. He clutched the deck rails at night, watching the dark ocean swells rise and fall, foam cresting at their tips. 

				Suddenly, the black seas turned rough. The swells grew mightily in size, pitching the ship dangerously. 

				Caruso opened his eyes. The French chandeliers of his hotel room were swaying. His framed photographs fell from the fireplace mantle, smashing against the floor. The floor rocked beneath the bed. He heard screams in the hallway, along with crashing furniture and cracking plaster moldings. 

				Caruso’s door flew open. His valet, Martino, blew into the room. Martino was covered with white plaster, looking more like an apparition than a human. Caruso clutched his bedspread and screamed.

				“Mio Dio!”

				“Senior Caruso!” replied Martino, “Are you injured?”

				Caruso, realizing that the ghost standing before him was actually his valet, gasped in relief.

				“Martino! Mio Dio! What has happened?”

				“It’s the witch, Senior!” replied Martino. “She has destroyed the city, exactly as she said she would!”

				“What time is it?” asked Caruso.

				“5:12,” replied Martino. “Precisely when the sorceress said she would destroy the city.”

				“Dear God!” cried Caruso. “What shall we do?”

				“We must leave!” cried Martino. “At once!”

				As Martino scrambled to set out clothes for Caruso and begin packing his many trunks, Caruso got out of his bed and walked to the bay window. He noticed one of his framed photographs on the floor. It was a picture of him with Theodore Roosevelt, autographed by the president. Caruso picked it up off the floor and clutched it to his chest as he looked out the window.

				Cracks ruptured the street below. While many buildings still stood, others had collapsed into rubble. Power lines were twisted and sparking. Water gushed from broken pipes under the street. Puffs of smoke began to rise from buildings in the distance.
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				395 Hayes Street

				San Francisco, CA

				April 18, 1906

				06:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				“Martin!” Kathleen O’Connor called to her husband. “Martin O’Connor, come here this instant!”

				Martin O’Connor emerged from the bedroom of the couple’s apartment on the third floor of the Victorian house. The strapping man, with dark hair parted in the middle, pulled his suspenders up over a white linen shirt. He drew his hand instinctively over a bushy mustache. He observed his wife stuffing wood into their iron stove in the kitchen. 

				“What are ya doin’, Kate?” asked Martin.

				“I’m makin’ your breakfast. That’s what I’m doin’!” replied Kathleen.

				“I’m goin’ out,” replied Martin. “There’s people that need help.”

				“Martin O’Connor! You’re not goin’ anywhere until you’ve had your breakfast! The good Lord spared our house from that Chinese witch for a reason!”

				“The good Lord spared our house for breakfast?”

				Kathleen smacked an iron pan on the stove top. “Mary and Joseph! Who knows when you’ll eat again in this catastrophe! There’s a sorceress straight from hell out there somewhere! She destroyed our city! The whole world is comin’ apart!

				“My man is not goin’ out without breakfast and that’s the end of it!”

				Kathleen buried her face in her hands and began to cry. Martin realized that his wife was desperately attempting to regain her bearings of normalcy in a city that had been rattled to its bedrock. He put his hands on her shoulders.

				“There, there, love,” Martin said softly. “You’re absolutely right. We should have breakfast.”

				Kathleen picked up her apron and wiped her eyes, dismissing her feelings with the tears.

				“Well, sit down then, and I’ll serve it up.”

				Martin sat down at the small wooden table and stuffed a cloth napkin into his collar. He picked up a fork in one hand and a knife in the other and parked them at attention on the table. The couple could hear shouts and screams of people in the street below.

				“What are we havin’ for breakfast?” asked Martin, ignoring the cries. 

				Kathleen sniffed. “Ham and eggs.”

				“My favorite!” said Martin.

				The couple believed that their house had miraculously survived the massive quake that tossed it an hour earlier. They were unaware that their brick chimney had collapsed and lay in rubble on the roof. As the fire in the iron stove grew, dark smoke began to fill the kitchen. 

				“Douse the fire, Kate!” yelled Martin.

				Kathleen ran to the sink with a pot and turned the faucet. 

				“There’s no water!” she cried.

				Smoke and sparks poured from the chimney flume into the kitchen. The iron skillet with the ham slices set alight. Kathleen fanned the fire with a towel, trying to douse the flames. In moments, the wallpaper burst into flames.

				“Kate! Our home is lost!” Martin shouted, grabbing his wife by the shoulders. “We must get out now!”

				Moments later, the couple emerged from a cloud of dark smoke billowing from the downstairs front door onto the shattered street. A crowd of stunned onlookers had gathered in front of the house.

				The crowd startled as they heard a shrill steam whistle from down the street, followed by horse hooves clapping the cobblestone pavement. A pot-bellied brass steam fire engine approached, pulled by a team of three white horses at a full gallop. An engineer in a navy tunic and flat-top brimmed hat held the reins as the engine sped to the fire. The fire company’s dog, a Dalmatian, ran in front of the engine, barking for people to clear the way.

				A horse-drawn wagon filled with firemen wearing slickers and leather firemen’s helmets followed the engine. Ladders were attached to the sides of the wagon. 

				The firemen leapt out as the engine and wagon pulled to a stop in front of the house.

				“God be praised!” cried Kate. “Please save our home!”

				“Yes ma’am,” replied one of the engineers as he pulled a hose from the engine. “We will do our best!”

				The firemen pulled the large hoses to a corner fire hydrant, connected them, then cranked the hydrant’s valve with a large wrench. 


			

			
				“Ready!” yelled a fireman holding the hose nozzle at the base of the house. “Crank the hydrant!”

				“I cranked it!” yelled the fireman at the hydrant. “There’s no water!”

				The firemen looked at each other in horror.

				“The mains are broken!” shouted one of the firemen.

				At that moment, the house shuddered. A colossal pillar of flame erupted from the house as the fire touched a broken gas main. Flaming shards fell from the house onto the street below. The firemen watched helpless as the fire moved down the block in minutes, engulfing dozens of wooden Victorian homes. 

				“The Chinese witch has doomed us all!” screamed Kate.

				The terrified men and women nodded their heads.

				“Kill them!” shouted Martin. “Kill them all!”

				The mob shouted in affirmation and began marching northeast toward Chinatown. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Bush Street and Grant Avenue

				San Francisco, CA

				April 18, 1906

				10:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				By the time the mob had reached Chinatown, it numbered over 1,000. As they approached, they saw a company of Army soldiers standing ready, rifles and cannons aimed at the Grant Avenue Dragon’s Gate entrance to Chinatown. The soldiers were eyeing hundreds of Chinese men, women, and children as they fled down Grant Avenue toward the soldiers to escape fires. A general stood in front of the soldiers. He surveyed the scene with his hands folded behind his back. He was slight in stature, sporting a red van dyke beard, a double-breasted navy tunic with two columns of brass buttons, gold-rimmed shoulder epaulets, and a kepi cap.

				“Kill them!” shouted Kate O’Connor at the Army commander. “Their Chinese witch destroyed our city!”

				“That is my intention, Madam,” replied Brigadier General Frederick Funston, commander of the Presidio of San Francisco.

				Without authority, General Funston had declared martial law in San Francisco at 6:15AM, ordering the Twenty-Second Infantry, stationed at Fort McDowell on Angel Island, into the city. General Funston had ordered his troops to use lethal force to maintain order. Armed infantry and artillery companies swarmed the city. Troops had shot hundreds of citizens to death, adding a third element of terror to the earthquake and rampaging fires. His victims included innocent homeowners attempting to salvage belongings from their homes. 


				Now, the general was determined to rout out what he determined to be the evil at the root of the destruction of his beloved city. 


				“Ready arms!” Funston shouted.

				The soldiers snapped up their M1903 Springfield rifles, pointed at the Chinese running toward them.

				“Aim,” shouted Funston.

				The Chinese men and women leading the evacuation waved their hands at the soldiers. 

				“Don’t shoot!” they yelled. 

				Their children watched their parents, then mimicked them, waving their hands, smiling and giggling.

				“Fire!” ordered Funston.

				Screams erupted from the crowd as a volley of gunfire knocked down a dozen Chinese. The crowd turned and fled toward the fire, snapping up crying children from the street.

				“Fire at will!” ordered Funston. “Artillery, open fire.”

				Buildings exploded and burst into flames as two M1902 field guns opened fire. The mob roared its approval. Debris rained on the fleeing Chinese as they sought cover in the smoke. The soldiers operated the bolts on their carbines and fired repeatedly into the crowd. By the time the crowd had disappeared into the conflagration, over 100 Chinese men, women, and children lay dead or dying on the avenue before them. 
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				Sausalito, CA

				April 18, 1906

				15:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				W.R. Hearst peered at San Francisco through a brass telescope from the balcony of his Sausalito hilltop home.

				“Good God!” he cried. “Good God!”

				The city was a hellish inferno. The “Ham & Eggs” fire had spread to San Francisco’s palatial city hall, engulfing it in flames, before proceeding east to newspaper row, consuming the buildings headquartering the city’s three major newspapers, the Chronicle, The Call, and Hearst’s Examiner. It destroyed the “fireproof” Palace Hotel before joining with other fires to form a colossal pyrrhic tower that reached 100 feet into the sky. Though the winds were calm, the fire inhaled gale force wind into it. Firefighters, left without water to fight the blaze, were powerless to stop the fires, which were swelled by gas from ruptured mains. Though the Army had attempted to create firebreaks with explosives and artillery, they had only succeeded in starting new fires. 

				There was a knock at the front door. Hearst opened it. His editor, Elvis Whorf, stood before him. Whorf’s suit was disheveled. His face was streaked with soot.

				“Elvis!” Hearst exclaimed. “My God!”

				“Mr. Hearst,” acknowledged Whorf.

				The two men stared at each other for a moment. Hearst was stupefied. Whorf looked expectant. 

				“May I come in?” asked Whorf, breaking the silence.

				“Oh, yes, of course, please,” replied Hearst. 

				“May I offer you a drink?” 

				“Very kind, thank you.”

				Hearst poured Scotch into a crystal rock glass and handed it to Whorf. Hearst gestured for Whorf to take a seat. Whorf sat and took a sip from his glass, attempting to compose himself.

				“Mr. Hearst, the Examiner building is lost. The city is lost. Thousands are dead. I don’t know how many of our staff have perished.”

				“My God!” repeated Hearst. “My God! She did it. The witch destroyed the city.”

				“Yes sir.”

				“How in God’s name? What hellish powers does this demon command?”

				Whorf sat silent, looking at his drink.

				“What shall we do?” asked Hearst.

				“I met with the management of the Oakland Tribune. They have graciously agreed to allow us to set up a temporary office in their building.

				“Notifying the surviving staff will be difficult,” Whorf added, looking into his glass. 

				“I must do something,” Hearst said, springing to his feet. “I must act!”

				Whorf watched Hearst as he walked to his desk, pulled a sheet of stationery from a drawer and began scribbling a note with a fountain pen.

				I have a Pinkerton agent in Deadwood STOP We must meet immediately at my office at the Oakland Tribune STOP Please advise when I can expect you STOP

				William Randolph Hearst

				Hearst folded the stationery and inserted it into an envelope. He handed it to Whorf.

				“Take this to Western Union. This must be telegraphed to Secretary of War Taft at once.”

				“Yes sir.”

				As Whorf set down his drink, there was another knock at the door. When Hearst opened it, a young uniformed Western Union agent stood before him, wearing a navy coat and a flat-topped cap with a brim.

				Hearst was confused. “I don’t understand. How did you know to come?”

				The agent looked at Hearst with confusion. “Sir?”

				The agent handed Hearst a telegram envelope. “Telegram for you, Mr. Hearst.”

				Hearst took the envelope and opened it. 

				I will meet you at the Oakland Tribune building on April 25th at 9:00AM.

				Grace

				A bolt of terror fired through Hearst. His agent knew where Hearst’s new offices would be before he had told a soul. He handed the telegram to Whorf, poured himself another drink, and sat down, staring out the bay window at the burning city across the water. 
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				Sophie’s Kitchen 

				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				April 20, 1906

				08:15 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika looked out the window at Main Street. She sat at a table by the window in the dining room of the hotel where she lived. The table was covered with a blue and white checkered tablecloth. Annika wore her trademark black military utility pants and a black sweater. 

				One hand propped up her chin. The other stroked her chest unconsciously. Her wounds had healed, though she still ached from the trauma. The vision had exacted a toll on the warrior.

				She watched the passersby without seeing them. She thought about the trouble that was coming. It was difficult to fully fathom the country’s reaction to the notion that a single person was responsible for the unimaginable destruction and suffering that had been inflicted on San Francisco. It was dark magic beyond comprehension. Once the shock and horror had passed, what would they do?

				“Miss Wise, would you like some coffee?”

				Annika looked up. A beautiful woman smiled down at her. The woman was tall, with blond hair in a French twist hairdo. She wore a blue dress beneath her apron. Annika noticed that the woman wore a pearl choker—an unusual accessory for a waitress. 

				“Uh, yes. Thank you,” replied Annika.

				Annika watched the waitress as she filled Annika’s cup with coffee from a blue speckled enamel pot. 

				“Are you new here?” asked Annika.

				“I am. Just started yesterday. My name is Anaïs.”

				“Annika.”

				“I know, Miss Wise. Everyone around here knows who you are. I think everyone in the country knows who you are.”

				“I think I put the ‘notorious’ in ‘notoriety,’” replied Annika.

				Anaïs laughed. Annika noticed that Anaïs had unusually perfect teeth, surrounded by full lips. Anaïs seemed out of place to Annika. 

				“Where are you from?” asked Annika.

				“That’s a long story,” replied Anaïs.

				“Maybe you’ll tell me some time.”

				“I’d like that, doll,” said Anaïs with a wink.

				“Miss Wise?” 

				Annika turned. James Grace was standing at the table, hat in hand. Annika hadn’t noticed him approach.

				“Mr. Grace. Please sit,” Annika said.

				“I’ll leave you two,” said Anaïs, smiling. “I’ll come check on you directly.”

				Anaïs turned and strode away. Annika gazed in her wake as Grace pulled a chair across from Annika. He placed a newspaper on the table. Annika took it. 

				She recognized the front page. It was a one-of-a-kind joint issue published by San Francisco’s three newspapers, The Call, the Chronicle, and the Examiner. 

				The title blared: “Earthquake and Fire: San Francisco in Ruins” 

				[image: 11.jpg]


				Annika noticed one difference between this edition and the newspaper of her memory. A subheadline had been added to this version.

				“$1 Million Bounty for the Capture of Annika Wise”

				She folded the newspaper and looked up at Grace. She could see he was nervous.

				“Did you send the telegram to Hearst?” she asked.

				“Yes ma’am. Yesterday, as you instructed. I’ll leave tomorrow for San Francisco.”

				“Good,” Annika said, sipping her coffee.

				“Miss Wise?”

				“Yes?”

			

			
				“How did you do that, Miss Wise?”

				Annika shook her head. “You wouldn’t believe me if I told you.”

				Grace looked at Annika. Annika tried to read his face. She couldn’t. To her, his face had turned to stone. Dark eyes stared at her beneath unkempt salt-and-pepper eyebrows. His bushy mustache covered most of his mouth. To Annika, he looked like a confused dog.

				“Daughter.”

				Sitting Bull stood over the table, glaring at Grace. Annika noticed that he was wearing his felt brimmed hat with a monarch butterfly pinned to it. His long braids fell against a store-bought flannel shirt hanging over fringed buckskin pants and boots.

				“I was just leaving,” said Grace, eyeing Sitting Bull as he slid out of his chair. Sitting Bull took his seat, watching Grace as he exited the hotel.

				“Not all whites are evil,” said Annika.

				“That one is,” replied Sitting Bull.

				“He’s never given me a reason not to trust him.”

				“The day he does will be a day too late.”

				Sitting Bull turned to face Annika. “They will come for you. I am worried for my daughter.”

				“I’m worried for your daughter too,” replied Annika.

				“I will assign more warriors to you for protection.”

				“There are already four protecting me day and night. And I’m not entirely defenseless you know,” Annika said, patting her MP7 machine gun on her thigh.

				Sitting Bull shook his head. “Something is wrong.”

				“What do you mean?” Annika asked.

				Sitting Bull got up from his chair and turned to leave. “Something is wrong,” he repeated. 
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				Sophie’s Kitchen

				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				April 20, 1906

				22:20 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika walked down the darkened stairs of the hotel from her flat to the dining room below. She stood at the base of the stairs. The dining room was dark. She sighed and turned to go back upstairs when she heard a sound in the kitchen. The swinging doors of the kitchen opened and Anaïs emerged carrying a lamp. She saw Annika and startled.

				“Jesus!” Anaïs shouted.

				She put her hand on her chest. “You scared me,” she said, laughing.


				“I’m so sorry,” Annika said.

				“I was just going home,” Anaïs said. “Did you need anything, Miss Wise?”

				Annika hesitated. “No. I’m fine. I don’t want to hold you up.”

				“It’s really no bother,” Anaïs replied.

				“You’ve had a long day.”

				Anaïs looked at Annika, smiling. “How ’bout I buy you a drink?”

				Annika smiled. “A drink sounds perfect.”

				“Have a seat. I’ll be right back.”

				Annika sat in a far corner of the dining room, out of sight of the front window. Anaïs emerged from the kitchen with a whiskey bottle and two shot glasses and her lamp. She set the lamp and the glasses on the table, uncorked the bottle, and poured the whiskey. 

				She sat down and hoisted her glass to Annika. Moving orange light from the lamp cast against Annika’s face. 

				“Here’s to you, Miss Wise,” Anaïs said, smiling, 

				Annika picked up her glass. “Please call me Annika.”

				Anaïs leaned in with her elbows on the table. “All right, then. Here’s to you, Annika.”

				Annika returned Anaïs’ smile and downed her drink. Anaïs refilled her glass.

				“So, Annika, you look like a gal who needs to talk.”

				Annika looked at her glass, twisting the glass between the palms of her hands.

				“I do,” she said nodding. “I don’t think I realized how much I needed to until…”

				“Until we met?”

				Annika nodded. “It’s weird. I’ve been fine talking with men all these years. I haven’t sought out girlfriends. Then I see you and all of a sudden there’s years of stuff inside that wants to come out. I don’t understand it.”

				Annika took another drink. Anaïs refilled her glass. 

				“What needs to come out?”

				“Big stuff. Little stuff.” Annika said. “Menopause. I can’t talk with Sitting Bull or Mr. Grace about menopause. 

				And I would like to tell someone about my life.”

				Anaïs refilled Annika’s glass.

				“Are you lonely, Annika?”

				Annika’s head snapped up. “How did you know I needed you to ask me that?”

				“I can’t imagine what it must be like, being you, Annika. Running this town. A woman in a man’s world. Staring down the most powerful men in the world.”

				Anaïs shook her head. “I can’t imagine it.”

				Annika’s face scrunched. Tears began to flow down her face. She wiped them away.

				“What the fuck is wrong with me?”

				Anaïs took her hand. Annika gripped it.

				“I’ve had to be strong for so long,” Annika said, crying.

				“Do you need a hug, doll?”

				Annika nodded. Anaïs rose from her chair and kneeled next to Annika’s chair. Annika wrapped her arms around the beautiful woman and cried into her shoulder. She felt Anaïs’ slender hands against her back.

			

			
				“You’re not alone anymore, Annika.” Anaïs said softly. “You’ll never be alone again.”

				Anaïs kissed Annika on the cheek. Annika liked the feeling of the warm, full lips. 

				“I’m weak with you,” Annika said. “I’ve never been weak with anyone before. I don’t know you. I don’t know if I can trust you. What’s wrong with me?”

				“There’s no way to know whether or not you can trust me,” said Anaïs. “Right about now, it’s smart for you to not trust anyone. 

				There are a lot of people who want to see you dead.”

				Their eyes met, holding the sudden cold moment in midair. The caring warmth in Anaïs’ face had drained, leaving grave seriousness. In the dancing lamplight, Anaïs’ face seemed to age. 

				Anaïs got up and reached for Annika’s hand. 

				“Doll, I’m going to tuck you in, then I’m going home.”

				Annika reached for Anaïs’ hand, feeling the effects of the alcohol. “OK. You can tuck me.”

				Anaïs laughed.

				“Jesus! I’m sorry,” Annika said. “I’ve had too much to drink. I think you’re a bad influence.”

				“C’mon,” Anaïs said, taking Annika’s hand. 

				Anaïs led Annika upstairs to Annika’s flat. She reached for the light switch.

				“That’s OK,” Annika said. “The lamp light is fine. I’m…a little shy.”

				Annika unfastened her gun belt and unholstered her MP7, setting it on her nightstand. She then peeled off her clothes while Anaïs turned down the bed. Annika climbed in. Anaïs lay the covers on her up to her chest and sat on the bed, looking into Annika’s eyes. 


				Anaïs took the covers and began to pull them down.

				“Don’t,” said Annika.

				“It’s OK, doll,” said Anaïs.

				Anaïs pulled down the sheets to reveal Annika’s scarred breasts. She stroked one of the jagged scars. 

				“So much pain,” Anaïs said. “So much courage.”

				Annika grasped Anaïs’ hand.

				“Stay with me tonight,” said Annika.

				Anaïs kissed Annika. Annika loved the feeling of her warm lips. 

				“Not on the first date, doll,” Anaïs said, smiling. 

				Anaïs got up from the bed, picking up her lamp and turning for the door.

				“Will there be a second date?” asked Annika as Anaïs opened the 
door.


				Anaïs flashed a grand smile. “Count on it.”

				“Sweet dreams.”

				Anaïs closed the door. Annika smiled in the darkness.

				“Wow,” she said with a sigh. 

				Downstairs, Anaïs exited the hotel, smiling at four Lakota warrior guards outside.

				“Hanhepi wašté,” she said to the men, wishing them “good night” in Lakota. They nodded in return. 
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				The Oakland Tribune Building

				Oakland, CA

				April 25, 1906

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				James Grace, aka James McParland, ascended in the elevator to the Examiner’s temporary offices in the Oakland Tribune building. The elevator operator halted the elevator on the sixth floor and pulled the metal grate door open, then slid the outer door, gesturing Grace onto the floor. 

				The new makeshift headquarters of the Examiner was a work in progress, with rows of desks of typing reporters, editors, and secretaries, who were yelling and dashing across the room with draft stories to assemble the next day’s edition.

				A view of the smoldering city could be seen across the bay through floor-to-ceiling warehouse-style framed windows. 

				A man looked up from his reception desk at Grace—the same man who had greeted him skeptically the previous month.

				“Mr. Grace. Mr. Hearst is expecting you. Come with me.”

				The man got up from his desk and escorted Grace to an office at the back of the room. He knocked on the door and opened it a crack.


				“Mr. Hearst? Mr. Grace is here to see you,” He said.

				Grace heard Hearst’s voice from inside the room. He opened the door for Grace to enter, closing it behind him. 

				Inside the room were Hearst and three other men. Two wore frock coats. The third wore an Army lieutenant general’s dress uniform. Grace instantly recognized one of the men as William Howard Taft, the country’s secretary of war. Another man faced away from Grace, looking out the window at San Francisco. 

				The office was cramped and spartan compared with Hearst’s former office, with only enough room for a wooden desk for Hearst and a small conference table and chairs, parked on a Persian rug that left much of the room’s concrete floor bare.

				“Mr. McParland,” said Hearst, extending his hand. “May I introduce Secretary Taft?”

				“A pleasure, sir.”

				“And this is General Adna Chaffee. General Chaffee is the Army’s chief of staff.”

				Hearst turned to the man at the window. “And I have the great honor of introducing President Roosevelt.” 

				Grace stifled a gasp as Theodore Roosevelt turned and strode to Grace, grasping his hand firmly.

				“Mr. President,” said Grace. “This is indeed an honor.”

				“McParland,” acknowledged Roosevelt.

				“Gentlemen,” said Hearst, gesturing the men to sit.

				“First, Mr. McParland, you requested this meeting via your telegram. Why have you come?”

				“Miss Wise asked me to deliver another advertisement,” Grace said, pulling a hand-written piece of paper from his briefcase. He handed it to Hearst.

				“It is similar to the previous one,” continued Grace, “with the exception that this time she threatens to destroy the state of California if her demands are not met by the deadline.”

				Hearst read the paper, then handed it to Taft. The men were grim.

				“Mr. McParland,” said Taft. “How did she do it?”

				“How did she destroy San Francisco? I don’t know, sir. I asked her. She told me I wouldn’t believe it.”

				“Did you observe her that day? Did she do anything out of the ordinary?” asked Taft.

				“No sir. I observed nothing peculiar. She conducted herself according to her normal daily routine.”

				“She did not operate any weapons or unusual machinery?”

				“No sir.”

				“Mystic or occultist rituals or incantations?” 

				“No sir.”

				“Does she worship Satan?”

				“No sir, though she does not attend church services.”

				“Does the woman trust you?”

				“Yes sir. I have gained her trust.”

				“Mr. McParland,” said Roosevelt, “until the 18th of April, I did not believe it possible for there to be an event or occurrence that was beyond the abilities of our most learned men of science to posit a theory, at a minimum, as to its cause. The mere possibility that someone purporting to be human could wreak destruction on such an immense scale would have been incomprehensible to the point of insanity. I see the destruction across the bay, and yet I still cannot comprehend it.

			

			
				“This, Mr. McParland, is now a matter that threatens the very security of the United States of America. Our people are terrified. It appears they have ample reason to be. Whether by some lethal invention we cannot understand, or by the Devil’s own hand, this nation’s citizens cannot sleep soundly as long as a person wields such power, and wields it to destroy.

				“Mr. McParland, I believe you may be this country’s only hope. It is imperative that this woman be captured or killed. Capture is preferable, of course, in order that we may interrogate and examine her in order to understand the nature of her power. Do you believe it is possible to abduct Annika Wise?”

				Grace thought for a moment.

				“Difficult, but not impossible,” he said. 

				“She is under heavy guard at all times. Four Lakota braves guard her person day and night. At night, she sleeps on the top floor of the Martin and Mason Hotel. Her rapid-fire side arm is on her nightstand.

				“Additionally, Sitting Bull sleeps on the second floor. 

				We would require the element of surprise. As I said, it is difficult, but not impossible.”

				“The reward for her capture is one million dollars,” said Taft.

				Grace nodded. “I would need to bring six Pinkerton men with me. They would need to be disguised as miners so as not to arouse suspicion.”

				“If you can transport her to Sioux Falls, we can meet you there with a battalion of mounted cavalry,” said General Chaffee.

				Grace nodded, then rose. The other men rose from their chairs.

				“Have your men await my arrival in Sioux City on the 4th of May. Good day, gentlemen.”
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				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				April 30, 1906

				21:15 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika walked up the stairs to her flat with Sitting Bull. 

				“Are you being careful?” asked Sitting Bull as they paused on the landing outside his second-floor door. 

				“Yes, Tatanka, always,” Annika replied. “Your guards are at the front door, and I always have my gun at my side.”

				“And you have me,” Sitting Bull said. “No one will get past the second floor.”

				Annika hugged Sitting Bull, straining to reach to kiss him on the cheek.

				“I love you, Tatanka.”

				“I love my daughter,” he said. 

				Annika pulled away and climbed the extra flight of stairs to her 3rd floor flat.

				Inside, she unfastened her gun belt as always, placing her submachine gun on the nightstand. She undressed and pulled a nightgown over her head. Though she hated wearing it, night sweats were coming more frequently.

				Getting old sucks, she thought. 

				Annika turned out the lamp, then lay in bed, thinking about Anaïs. She had not come to work that day, and Annika’s hopeful anticipation was replaced with a hollow worrying sadness. She tried to dismiss the pit in her stomach as a symptom of love sickness.

				Three floors below, James Grace walked down Main Street toward the hotel. The four Lakota warriors stood outside the front door. 

				“I have just returned from Oakland. I must see Miss Wise now.”

				As one of the warriors shook his head and waved Grace away, the Pinkerton agents rounded both corners of the hotel with knives drawn. As the warriors turned to face them, the agents stabbed the two closest. As Red Shirt turned, Grace plunged his knife into him. The men swarmed and stabbed the remaining warrior. 

				The agents quickly dragged the warriors around the corner from the hotel and deposited their bodies in the shadows. They then entered the hotel’s front door. 

				Inside, the hotel dining room was dark. They lit a lamp and quietly began ascending the stairs, with Grace in the lead. 

				Sitting Bull opened his eyes. He sprang from his bed in his nightshirt. He pulled his knife from his scabbard and went to the door, listening. He heard a creak on the stairs and burst through the door, startling the Pinkerton agents. He stabbed one agent on the second-floor landing, then hurled himself at two men coming up the stairs, knocking them down the stairs. He stabbed another agent at the base of the stairs and reached for a third before he felt an icy steel blade pierce his back below the ribs as Grace stabbed him. Sitting Bull lunged for the third agent before Grace smacked him on the back of his head with the butt of his Colt 45 revolver. 

				Grace looked at his remaining four agents.

				“She’ll be waiting for us. Draw your weapons. Shoot to maim, not to kill, understood?”

				The men nodded. Grace waved them upstairs with his Colt revolver. The five men reclimbed the stairs up to the third-floor landing. When all were assembled, Grace nodded at one of his agents. When the agent kicked open the door, he was met with a blast of gunfire in the darkness from Annika’s submachine gun. The rapid-fire muzzle flashes strobed blinding light in the dark, illuminating staccato images of Annika in her nightgown.

				The agent fell backwards, knocking another agent down. Annika fired again, spraying the landing with bullets and killing a second agent. Grace and his two remaining agents huddled behind the two fallen bodies and fired, hitting Annika in the leg and her gun arm. She fell to the floor, dropping her gun. When she reached for it, Grace stomped on her arm, breaking it. As Annika yelled in pain, Grace hit her hard with his gun butt on the back of her head. Annika’s body went limp. 

				Grace turned to his remaining men. “Are you injured?”

				The men looked at each other and shook their heads. 

				“Smith, get the wagon. O’Malley, carry her downstairs. Hurry!”

				One of the agents picked up Annika and slung her over his shoulder. Grace picked up her MP7 machine gun. As the men made it downstairs, Smith pulled up with a buckboard wagon pulled by a team of four horses.

				O’Malley tossed Annika into the wagon bed. 

				“Shackle her,” said Grace.

				O’Malley climbed in the wagon and locked iron cuffs onto Annika’s wrists and ankles. The cuffs were chained to iron eye bolts on the wagon bed floor. 

			

			
				Grace took the reins, sitting between the two agents on the buckboard. He released the brakes and slapped the reins to drive the horses forward into the night. 

				“We did it!” exclaimed Smith once the men had cleared the city limits. “We captured Oriental Annie! We captured the witch!”

				“At a cost,” said Grace. 

				“Yes. Regrettable,” said Smith. “Good men.”

				“Does this mean the one million is split three ways?” asked O’Malley. 

				“Four of your brothers in arms are still warm lying in their own blood, and you’re already counting your reward,” admonished Grace. 

				The men were silent as the wagon drove down the Black Hills road in darkness, lit only by a quarter moon. 

				“Anyway, we’re not home free. When those redskins see what we did to Sitting Bull, they’ll come for us,” said Grace. “We’ve got to put a hundred miles between us and Deadwood before sunrise. If they catch us, they’ll skin us alive.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Jackson County, SD

				May 1, 1906

				11:11 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika groaned as the buckboard hit a rock in the dirt road. Her nightgown was stained red with blood from her wounds. Her head throbbed from her cracked skull. The buckboard’s wooden wheels telegraphed every bump, rock, and divot in the road into jarring pain in her head, leg, and arm. 

				She opened her eyes to the piercing sun. She shut them tight.

				The Pinkerton agents had made good time. They had stopped briefly in Wall, South Dakota, to water and feed the horses, stock food, and refill their canteens before setting out again east toward Sioux Falls.

				“At this rate, we’ll arrive at Sioux Falls before the Army does,” said Grace. 

				The men drove through miles of flat grassland. 

				“Is our prisoner still alive?” asked Grace.

				Smith turned to look at Annika in the back of the wagon. With his rifle barrel, he poked her right forearm, bent grotesquely from the break. Annika cried in pain.

				“You’re not so tough anymore, are you witch?” said Smith, jabbing Annika’s injured arm again. Annika cried out.

				He turned to face forward. “Still alive.”

				“Good,” said Grace. “If she shows up dead, there’s no reward.”

				The men passed a white Mustang munching on scrub grass. 

				O’Malley noticed something in the distance in the middle of the road.

				“What’s that?” he asked. 

				“Is that a person?” asked Smith. 

				As they drove closer, the shape of a human became clear. 

				“That’s a woman,” said O’Malley, “and she’s…”

				“Buck naked,” said Smith.

				The wagon came to a stop in front of Anaïs. The statuesque blond woman stood before the men in the middle of the road, her only stitch of apparel a single string of pearls wrapped closely around her neck, like a choker. Her hands were behind her back.

				“Howdy boys,” she said, smiling. “I seem to have lost my clothes.”

				“I know you,” said Grace. “You’re that gal from the hotel dining room.”

				“You have an excellent memory, Mr. Grace.”

				“What in blazes are you doing out here? Put some darn clothes on!”

				“Perhaps one of you strong men could help me find them,” Anaïs said, smiling, hands behind her back, rubbing her thighs together.

				“Stay where you are,” said Grace to his men. “We’ve got orders.”

				“Fuck orders!” said Smith.

				Grace pulled his pistol and pointed it at Anaïs. “Show your hands!”

				Anaïs smiled coyly, slowly removing one hand from behind her back. She held it up in the air. She paused for a couple of seconds, then slowly removed her other hand from behind her back and held it in the air.

				“Please don’t shoot me, kind sir,” Anaïs said, hands above her head. “As you can see, I am completely defenseless.”

				“If I may, sir,” Anaïs continued, reaching for a hair pin in her French twist. She pulled it, allowing her long blond hair to fall on her shoulders. She shook her hair.

				“That’s better, don’t you think?” asked Anaïs. “Aren’t you strong men going to keep me company?”

				Grace scanned the horizon for trouble, then holstered his gun. Smith and O’Malley jumped out of the wagon.

				“Wait!” said Anaïs, holding up a finger. “There is but one rule. The first man to undress may have me first.”

				Anaïs watched, smiling and laughing as clothes flew off Smith and O’Malley. 

				“You men get back in the wagon!” shouted Grace.

				“You queer?” asked O’Malley.

				“I am not queer!” protested Grace. “I like women! I’ve been with lots of women!”

				O’Malley pulled his trousers off a second before Smith.

				“I win!” shouted O’Malley.

			

			
				“That’s right, Mr. O’Malley,” Anaïs said. “You win.”

				“Hang on a minute,” O’Malley said. “How do you know my name?”

				“That’s not all I know about you, Mr. O’Malley,” said Anaïs. “I also know the day you died.”

				Anaïs reached behind her back, where a single strand of pearls descended down her back, clasped to an MP7 submachine gun. She snatched the gun, shattering the necklace. In blaze of gun fire, she killed Smith and O’Malley, then trained the gun on Grace as he reached for his pistol. 

				“Don’t,” she said. 

				“Mr. Grace, take off your gun belt very slowly and throw it on the ground.”

				Grace glared at Anaïs as he followed her orders.

				“Now get off that wagon. Walk to the back. Move! 

				Give me the key to the shackles, please.”

				Grace reached into his pocket and handed Anaïs the key.

				“Thank you,” she said, before shooting him in the knee. Grace screamed and collapsed to the ground, writhing in pain.

				Anaïs climbed into the wagon and released Annika from her shackles. She cradled Annika’s head in her arms.

				“Oh, my poor doll,” Anaïs said. “Look what these fuckers have done to you.”

				Annika feebly wrapped her uninjured arm around Anaïs. She began to cry.

				“I’m going to take care of you, doll,” said Anaïs. “Do you understand?”

				Anaïs reached for a canteen and gave Annika sips of water. Annika whispered something.

				“What, doll?” asked Anaïs, leaning close to Annika’s face.

				“Second date?” whispered Annika.

				Anaïs laughed as Annika managed a smile. 

				“Well, you got me naked this time,” Anaïs said.

				“You’re hot,” Annika said feebly. Anaïs laughed and kissed Annika on the forehead.

				“Doll, I need to bandage those wounds and get you back to Deadwood.”

				Annika nodded. 

				Anaïs gently lay Annika down, jumped off the back of the wagon, and hurried to a rock behind which she had stashed a carpetbag with her clothes and supplies. She gathered the dead Pinkerton agents’ clothes and tossed them and the bag into the wagon bed. 

				Anaïs began climbing into the wagon, then stopped, hopped down, kicked Grace’s injured knee, then resumed her climb into the wagon. Grace screamed in pain. 

				“You fucking cunt!” Grace shouted.

				“Oh, you have no idea,” said Anaïs from the wagon bed. “Just you wait, darlin’. The best is yet to come.”

				Anaïs bandaged Annika’s gunshot wounds, then looked for materials for a splint. She aimed her gun at the buckboard wall and fired, splintering several pieces of wood. She picked two planks and bracketed Annika’s bent forearm with them. Her arm was purple and bloated with swelling.

				“Doll, this is going to hurt,” Anaïs said. “I’ll be as gentle as I can.”

				Annika nodded as Anaïs wrapped bandages around the splinted arm. Annika gritted her teeth.

				“You are so brave,” Anaïs said. 

				Anaïs piled the agents’ clothes into a makeshift bed. Annika tried to pull herself up with her good arm and leg to lean up against the wagon siding.

				“You want to sit up, doll?” asked Anaïs.

				Annika nodded. Anaïs re-piled the clothes into a padded seat for Annika, then helped her onto it. She sat with her back against the forward wagon bed wall, facing the rear of the wagon. 

				“Here’s your canteen,” said Anaïs, placing the canteen by Annika’s good arm. “We’ve got a long drive in front of us.”

				“But the good news is that there’s entertainment.”

				Anaïs pulled her blue dress from the carpetbag and slid it on, then slung her MP7 over her shoulder.

				Pegasus walked up to the wagon, leaning his head over the side to look at Annika. Annika touched his nose.

				“You good boy,” she said. “Thank you for coming to rescue me.”

				Anaïs pulled a halter and lead rope from her bag and put the halter on Pegasus, then tied the lead rope to an end corner of the wagon.

				“Is he OK?” asked Annika. “I’ve never ridden him this far before.”

				“Doll, our options are down to bad and worse,” said Anaïs. “We’ll stop and water and feed him on the way back. The good news is that he won’t have anyone riding him on the return trip. I hope he can make the journey.”

				“Please hang on, you good boy!” Annika cried. Pegasus looked at Annika.

				Anaïs pulled a rope from the bag and threw it off the back of the wagon. She fished in the bag and retrieved a plastic zip tie and hopped onto the ground. 

				She turned to Grace, who was lying on his back, holding his knee.

				“Turn over. Hands behind your back,” Anaïs ordered.

				“Fuck you!” Grace yelled. “You gonna shoot me again?”

				“Nope,” Anaïs said. “I’ve wasted too many bullets on you already.”


			

			
				Anaïs kicked Grace in his side, breaking ribs. Grace screamed and cursed.

				“I’m defenseless!” yelled Grace.

				“You’re also a slow learner,” Anaïs said, kicking Grace in his ribs again. He screamed and gasped for air. 

				“I can do this all day, darlin’,” said Anaïs.

				Grace rolled over and placed his hands behind his back. Grace gasped from the pain of his compressed rib cage as it shifted his injured ribs. Anaïs placed the plastic zip tie cuff over his wrists and pulled them tight. She then picked the rope off the ground and tied one end around Grace’s neck. The other end she tied to the rear corner of the wagon opposite Pegasus. Pegasus lowered his head and pinned his ears as he looked at Grace.

				Anaïs kneeled at Grace’s head. “There might just be hope for you yet, Mr. McParland.”

				“How do you know my identity?” asked Grace.

				“You’d be amazed at what I know about you,” replied Anaïs. “There’s just one thing I don’t know. I’m curious to know if your pride is worth your life. Beg for your life and I might just let you live. This is a one-time offer and it will not be repeated.”

				“See you in Hell, cunt,” replied Grace.

				Anaïs smiled as she rose to her feet. “Goodbye, Mr. McParland.”

				Anaïs climbed into the front seat, setting her carpetbag at her feet. She noticed Annika’s MP7 gun, which Grace had captured. She grabbed it and stuffed it into her bag. She released the brake and drove the horses forward, turning the wagon back toward Deadwood.

				Annika watched as Grace dragged behind the wagon. He tried to use his remaining good leg to turn onto his side to protect his injured knee and broken ribs. The sandpaper sound of his body dragging against the dirt road was punctuated by grunts or screams as his body hit a hollow or rock in the road. Pegasus pinned his ears and snorted at the strange sight as he trotted behind the wagon.

				After being dragged the first mile, Grace began pleading for his life. Somewhere along the second mile, his head smacked a rock and his body went limp. Over the next 50 miles, his clothes tattered and shredded from his body, except for his boots. Then his skin was sanded away, and his muscles began to flay from their bones. A trail of flesh, organs, and body parts were left along the wagon’s path, attracting scavenger birds. 

				“Wow,” Annika said with a hoarse voice. “She was right about the entertainment.”

				Anaïs pulled the buckboard into Deadwood shortly before midnight. As she approached the Martin and Mason Hotel, she saw hundreds of Lakota men and women gathered outside. Some sang softly as muted drums beat a somber rhythm. 

				She braked the wagon, jumped out and ran to the back to help Annika. She picked up Annika and set her on the edge of the buckboard, then hopped out and picked her up.

				“Doll, I’m going to put you in your bed, then I’m going to get the doctor for you and tend to your horse.”

				“What’s going on here?” asked Annika.

				“Annika, the Pinkerton agents stabbed Tatanka. I don’t know if he survived.”

				Annika began to cry. “I need to know.”

				Anaïs carried Annika to Sitting Bull’s second-floor apartment. Annika knocked on the door with her uninjured hand. 

				Sitting Bull’s wife, Seen-By-The-Nation, opened the door. She stared at Annika and Anaïs and gestured for them to enter.

				Sitting Bull was lying in his bed, his eyes closed. He was surrounded by his wives, grown children, and other family members. Yellow Bird waved burning sage and sang softly. 

				A Lakota chief approached. Annika recognized Sitting Bull’s adopted son, One Bull. He held up his hand to block Anaïs and Annika from entering. He shouted at Seen-By-The-Nation.

				“She is not welcome here!”

				“Hello brother,” said Annika.

				“Don’t use words you don’t understand,” replied One Bull. “You killed my father. You are no sister to me.”

				One Bull’s brother, Chief White Bull, interjected.

				“She is Tatanka’s daughter,” he said. “She has a right to be here.”

				“She is not his daughter!” shouted One Bull. “She is not Lakota! She is a half breed mongrel! She disgraces this sacred place with her presence.”

				“You were both adopted by Tatanka!” shouted Seen-By-The-Nation. “She is no less Tatanka’s child than you are. You do not decide who honors Tatanka!”

				“Excuse me,” said Anaïs in Lakota. “She’s getting heavy. May I please set her down somewhere?”

				Sitting Bull’s children and other wives joined the squabble. They were startled by a gunshot. They turned to see Sitting Bull holding a Colt revolver, pointed at the ceiling, smoke wafting from the barrel. 

				“It’s my funeral!” shouted Sitting Bull as he placed the gun on his nightstand. The room went quiet.

				Sitting Bull gestured for Annika. 

				Seen-By-The-Nation set a chair next to the bed. Anaïs placed Annika in the chair.

				“I waited for you,” Sitting Bull said.

				“I’m so sorry, Father,” Annika said, crying. 

				Sitting Bull reached for Annika’s hand. She grasped his hand.

			

			
				“I hope you find the peace I never could, Daughter,” Sitting Bull said. 

				“I wouldn’t know peace if I saw it.”

				Sitting Bull managed a smile. He closed his eyes and died.

				Annika cried. One Bull stepped up and spat at Annika’s feet.

				“You killed him!” he said.

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				May 2, 1906

				11:22 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika opened her eyes. She was in her bed. The grey cat sat at the foot of her bed, watching her.

				Annika looked out the window at Main Street below. The town bustled as usual on a sunny day.

				“Welcome back, doll.” 

				Startled, Annika turned her head. Anaïs smiled at her from her bedside chair. 

				“How do you feel?” 

				“Groggy,” Annika said. “Sore. My head is pounding.”

				Anaïs nodded. “You’re very lucky to be feeling anything at all.”

				“I wouldn’t be if you hadn’t come along.”

				Annika tried to push herself up on the headboard. Her right arm was immobilized. She pulled the covers away to reveal a plaster cast on her arm. 

				“The doctor and I fixed you up,” Anaïs said. “We pulled lead out of your arm and leg and set your broken bone. You were a mess.”

				“Is Pegasus OK?” Annika asked.

				“He’s fine. He’s eating grass and bossing the other horses around as usual.”

				“Good boy.”

				Anaïs reached into a white and blue ceramic basin on the bedside table and lifted a washcloth from the water. She wrung the excess water into the basin and applied the cold towel to Annika’s head. 

				“That feels good,” Annika says.

				Anaïs smiled at her.

				Annika tried to get up again. 

				“I need to get up,” she said.

				“There’s no place else you need to be right now,” Anaïs said. “I’m taking care of everything…including you.”

				Annika flopped back on the bed. “I’m not used to being cared for. It feels…strange.”

				“Does it feel bad?” asked Anaïs.

				“No,” Annika replied. “Just strange. I don’t know if I can trust it.”

				“What if you didn’t have a choice?” Anaïs asked, stroking Annika’s hair.

				Annika looked into Anaïs’ beautiful eyes. “Then, I guess I might as well enjoy it.”

				Anaïs smiled and kissed Annika on her forehead. Annika closed her eyes, drifting off to the loving touch. 

				Annika’s eyes snapped open. 

				“Where did you find my MP7?” she asked. “And how did you know how to use it?”

				Anaïs unslung her MP7 from her shoulder and set it on Annika’s lap. 

				“This is your MP7,” said Anaïs.

				Anaïs reached into her carpetbag and retrieved the other MP7, setting it next to the first gun.

				“So is this one,” she said.

				Annika gasped. “You’re from the future!”

				Anaïs nodded. “Yup.”

				“Did General Craig send you?” 

				“No, doll. You sent me.”

				“I’m confused,” said Annika.

				“It’s going to get more confusing,” said Anaïs.

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				May 10, 1906

				10:48 Hours

				Timeline 003

				A soft breeze lapped the gauzy window shades in Annika’s hotel flat on a sunny day. Brazilian soprano Abigail Parecis strolled through “Parecis Por Um Beijo” on the Victrola. 

				Annika and Anaïs lay in bed, embraced. The grey cat lay on the end of the bed swatting at the lovers’ feet beneath the covers. They could hear conversation, laughing, and clinking dishes from the downstairs dining room.

				Anaïs kissed Annika. Annika loved the feeling of Anaïs’ warm, full lips on hers. She grabbed Anaïs’ head with her uncast arm and pulled her face close, returning the kiss. 

				“I’ve never been with a woman before,” said Annika.

				“Me neither,” said Anaïs.

				Annika looked at Anaïs, surprised. 

				“I assumed you had,” said Annika. “You’re so good at this.”

				“Good at what?” asked Anaïs, smiling.

				She reached between Annika’s legs. “Good at this?”

				Annika gasped. “Yes, dammit! Good at that.”

				Anaïs kissed Annika deeply as she stroked her. Annika groaned into Anaïs’ kisses. Suddenly, Annika arched her back.

				“Shit! Shit! Shit!” Annika shouted at the top of her lungs.

				The sounds from downstairs dining room went silent. 

				“The walls aren’t soundproof, doll,” said Anaïs, laughing.

				“I can’t help it,” Annika said, panting. “You are fucking amazing! 

				How many is that? I’ve lost count.”

				Anaïs kissed Annika. “I don’t think they make numbers that big.”

				The couple cuddled. Annika stroked a ragged scar that crossed Anaïs’ neck. The scar had been previously hidden by Anaïs’ pearl choker.

				“What happened here?” Annika asked.

				Anaïs covered the scar with her hand. “It was something that happened when I was a teenager. 

				I don’t like to talk about it.”

				Annika moved Anaïs’ hand and kissed the scar. Anaïs closed her eyes arched her head back on the pillow.

				“You’re the most beautiful woman I know,” she said.

				“Thank you, doll,” Anaïs said, kissing Annika. “It’s not as though I have much competition here in Deadwood.”

				Abigail Parecis’ performance drew to a close. The Victrola needle scratched at the end of the record. Anaïs got out of bed and picked the turntable arm off the record. 

				“So, did you bring anything else with you from the future besides my gun?” asked Annika.

				“Uh huh,” replied Anaïs, smiling. 

				Anaïs walked to her carpetbag in the corner of the room. She bent over and reached into it as Annika watched, her head propped on her hand.

				“God you’ve got a nice ass,” said Annika. 

				Anaïs smiled over her shoulder at Annika and retrieved a vinyl record and a small paper object from the bag. She placed the record on the Victrola, then handed the joint to Annika. She burst out laughing.

				“Got a light?” asked Anaïs, as AC/DC’s “Back in Black” blared from the Victrola horn.

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				May 10, 1906

				13:17 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika and Anaïs sat in the dining room, eating a late breakfast. A black velvet choker tied in a bow behind Anaïs’ neck accessorized her favorite blue dress and hid her scar. 

				“I’ve got serious munchies,” said Annika, stuffing scrambled eggs into her mouth. 

				Anaïs smiled. 

				“So, exactly what the fuck are we going to do?” asked Annika. “Now that we’ve destroyed San Francisco, they’re going to throw the planet at us.”

				“What’s this ‘we’ stuff, Kemosabe?” asked Anaïs. “You blew up San Francisco. I had nothing to do with it.”

				“Bitch,” replied Annika.

				Anaïs winked as she sipped her coffee. 

				A plump middle-aged woman approached, holding a blue enamel coffee pot. She wore a high-collar white pleated blouse with a dark grey wool skirt. Her salt-and-pepper hair was worn in a bun.

				“More coffee, Miss Wise?” she asked.

				“Please,” said Annika.

				The woman turned to Anaïs. “Would I be correct in my assumption that you are no longer employed at this establishment?”

				“Yes, Mrs. Richardson,” replied Anaïs. “I am very sorry I did not formally tender my resignation.”

				“Hmph,” said Mrs. Richardson, eyeing the couple. “I just don’t know what’s happening to this world anymore.”

				She walked away, shaking her head. Annika and Anaïs smiled mischievously at each other.

				“Seriously,” Annika said, “do you have any advice from my future self? Apparently, I survived this catastrophe.”

			

			
				“It would appear so,” said Anaïs.

				“The battle will come in about six months,” Anaïs continued. “They will have four corps. 100,000 men, give or take.”

				“So, they will only outnumber us by a factor of 50 times.”

				Anaïs nodded. “Yup.”

				“That assumes the Lakota stick around,” Annika said. “I don’t know what they’ll do now that Tatanka is gone.”

				“Most will stay,” Anaïs said. “Some will move on.”

				“So, what other advice did you bring from my future self,” asked Annika.

				“You were vague about what happens next,” said Anaïs. “I always wondered why. My mission is to protect you. Beyond that, you seemed to want the future past to play out without your help. I’ve wondered whether you might have wanted it to turn out differently.”


				Annika sipped her coffee, considering Anaïs’ words.

				“Wait,” Annika said. “I just thought of something. You have a transponder, right? We can just go back to the future.”

				“I’m afraid not, doll,” said Anaïs. “We’ve figured out how to send people through time, but we haven’t perfected bringing them back yet.”

				“I see,” said Annika. 

				“It would be pretty bad form to abandon these people, anyway,” she continued.

				“There is a sliver of good news,” said Anaïs. “There are reinforce-
ments.”


				“What reinforcements?”

				“Think about what’s happening in America right now,” said Anaïs. “It’s the women’s suffrage movement. A whole bunch of people think you’re the most powerful person on Earth, and you happen to be a woman.”

				“You’re suggesting we recruit an army of women?”

				“I am.”

				Annika laughed. “I love it!”

				“Also, you still have the laptop Kyle Mason left behind, right?” asked Anaïs.

				“Somewhere. I had forgotten about it.” 

				“That laptop has blueprints of every invention that is to come,” said Anaïs. “Six months isn’t enough time to make an atomic bomb from scratch, but this won’t be the last fight. There will be others. Your only advantage will be technology.”

				“You mean ‘our’ only advantage, right?”

				Anaïs smiled. “Yes, doll. I meant ‘our’ advantage.”

				“Hang on a minute,” said Annika. “Something just occurred to me. If you knew the future, why didn’t you show up to save the day before they kidnapped me?”

				“That was the plan,” replied Anaïs. “They showed up a day early.”

				Their eyes met. Annika’s jaw dropped. 

				“That means…” Annika said.

				“…the future is not set in stone,” said Anaïs. “Butterfly effect. Some subtle occurrence changed the day the Pinkerton agents arrived. Probably something I did slightly differently when I arrived.”

				“What do you mean, something you did ‘differently’?” asked Annika. 


				The door of the hotel flew open and Chatan ran in.

				“Miss Annika, come quick!” 

				Annika and Anaïs got up from the table and ran after Chatan down Main Street. He led them to the train station, where steam and smoke puffed from an iron engine.

				“Look!” Chatan said, pointing at several railway cars. Some were flatcars hauling wooden crates and objects covered with canvas wraps. Chatan leapt on one of the cars and pulled off one of the wraps, revealing a cannon. 

				Annika laughed. “That is an M1906 field gun.”

				“There are hundreds of rifles in the crates,” said Chatan. “Maybe thousands!”

				“It looks like California got the message,” observed Anaïs.

				“That’s not all that San Francisco sent,” said Chatan.

				He pointed to dozens of box cars. He walked to one and pulled the sliding door open. 

				Staring back at the trio were hundreds of Chinese men, women, and children, packed into the car. 

				“Oh my God,” said Annika.

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Chinatown

				Deadwood, SD

				May 10, 1906

				17:22 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The sun was low in the sky as Annika and Anaïs walked among thousands of Chinese refugees on Main Street in Deadwood’s Chinatown district. Many sat on the ground or on wooden crates. The town’s Chinese American residents tended to the refugees, dolling out rice and tea to the elderly, many of whom faced their new home with blank stares, not comprehending why or even how they were uprooted from their home by the bay.

				The youngest children cried, while some played amidst the new adventure, running and weaving between islands of huddled people. 

				Some of Deadwood’s Caucasian residents aided the relief effort, bringing food and blankets. A contingency from  Lakotawood also brought food and offered lodging to the newcomers. 

				In the midst of the diaspora, one man stood out to Annika and Anaïs. He sat on a crate of oranges in the center of Main Street, seemingly unaffected by the calamity around him. He appeared to be in his fifties, dressed almost regally in a long Tang jacket with a changshan shirt. The oversized padded sleeves on his jacket were turned back to reveal his hands. One hand held a blue and white rice-grain porcelain tea cup. A ring of polished dark wooden Mala beads hung from his wrist. The other hand held a rolled-up copy of an old Harper’s Weekly magazine. A black silk cap covered his head. 

				As Annika and Anaïs approached the man, he took a sip from his teacup, then spoke.

				“You must be Annika Wise,” the man said in perfect English.

				Annika and Anaïs stopped in their tracks.

				“You look different than the newspapers’ cartoons of you,” the man said. “You’re not true Chinese.” 

				“The artist who drew those has never seen me,” said Annika.

				“That’s one thing we have in common,” said the man. “The people who caricature our likenesses don’t actually know what we look like.”

				“You are the reason we’re here,” the man said. “We have nowhere else to go. Our choices were to flee San Francisco for our lives or stay and be slaughtered. Many of us were slaughtered anyway.”

				“I’m sorry,” said Annika.

				The man nodded. “Yes.”

				“As much as we appreciate the fact that an Oriental is the most powerful person on Earth, we rather wish you had given greater thought to the implications of your choices.

				“I cannot begin to understand the power you wield,” the man continued. “Our culture fantasizes dragons to explain our fates, though I have never met one in person. Until now.

				“I am bitter,” said the man. “I am also awestruck.”

				The man stood up from his orange crate and bowed to Annika.

				He unrolled the magazine in his hand, the May 26, 1877, edition of Harper’s Weekly. 


				“This will need to suffice in place of a calling card,” the man said, handing the magazine to Annika. “You see, I was not afforded the opportunity to leave San Francisco with anything other than the clothes on my back.”

				Annika took the magazine, opened to a nearly full-page image of a younger version of the man sitting before them, in similar attire, sitting sideways in a velvet chair, legs crossed casually, one arm resting on the chair’s back. The man’s name was Wong Ching Foo.
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				“Yesterday, I was someone,” said Wong. “Today, I am no one. 

				I am destitute. I require employment. How may I be of service to ‘Oriental Annie’? Your laundry, perhaps?”

				Annika fought her shame for the damage she had caused Wong and the thousands of others for claiming credit for the destruction of San Francisco. 

				“I don’t know how you may be of service to me,” Annika said. “What skills do you have?”

				“I am a Buddhist,” Wong said. “I am a writer and orator. I am a revolutionary.”

			

			
				“Anything else?” asked Annika.

				Wong thought for a moment.

				“Come to think of it, there is just one more thing,” he said. 

				Wong held out the teacup and dropped it. He spun in place, catching the cup on the toe of his black qiancengdi cloth shoe, embroidered with a flying dragon. He flipped the cup into the air spun in place again, this time extending a leg like a fluttering pinwheel arm, tapping the cup in midair to Annika with a roundhouse kick. Annika snatched the cup with one hand. 

				“I can fight,” Wong said.

				“Mr. Wong,” Annika said, “I believe I have a job for you.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Raymond House, Room 311

				Vassar College

				Arlington, NY

				May 13, 1906

				13:54 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Edith Clarke read an advertisement in Vassar College’s student newspaper, The Miscellany News:

				The ad featured the Timeline 001 1943 image of Rosie the Riveter, an image previously unknown in 1906. Adjacent to Rosie’s voice bubble containing the words “We Can Do It!” was the text: 

				Women!

				Rise up!

				There is a place where you are fully appreciated.

				It’s a place where you are equal.

				You are welcome in Deadwood, South Dakota.

				Join your sisters!

				[image: 12a.jpg]


				Edith gasped. She had never before seen anything so audacious in a newspaper. Everything about the ad—the bare-armed woman flexing her bicep, the notion that women could be equal at a time when they didn’t even have the right to vote. It was incredible!

				Edith set down the newspaper on her dormitory room desk and looked out the third-story window onto rain falling on a manicured green lawn punctuated with trees. The campus had originally been barren of trees until students planted the first in 1868, a swamp white oak. Now, the campus was resplendent with oaks, elms, maples, and beeches. 


				Edith heard the rain tap against her windowpane and watched the droplets roll down. She thought about her place at Vassar. Against the wishes of her relatives, the pretty 23 year old had spent her inheritance on tuition at the women’s college. Longing to study engineering, Edith was instead forced to settle for math and astronomy, as engineering was not an option for women at Vassar in the early 20th century. Being denied her career choice because she was born female was a nettle in her side. 

				She picked up the newspaper again, staring at the defiant bare-armed woman. She set the newspaper on her bed, pulled her suitcase from the closet, and began packing. 
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				24 Rue de la Glacière

				Paris, France

				May 13, 1906

				20:11 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Marie Curie held papers in each of her hands. In one hand was an advertisement in Paris’ Le Temps newspaper. It featured the same defiant Rosie the Riveter image, with the call to action translated into French:

				Femmes!

				Soulevez-vous!

				Rejoignez vos sœurs du Dakota du Sud dans la lutte!

				Venez à Deadwood, Dakota du Sud, un endroit où vous serez les égales des hommes et serez appréciées a votre juste valeur.

				Vous êtes les bienvenues à Deadwood, Dakota du Sud aux États-Unis d’Ameriqie!

				In Marie’s other hand was a letter from the Sorbonne, a formal offer to take her husband Pierre’s academic post. His professorship had been vacant since he was killed the previous month as he crossed the Rue Dauphine at night in heavy rain and was struck by a six-ton horse-drawn carriage, fracturing his skull. Marie knew Pierre likely wasn’t paying attention when he crossed the street. His mind was invariably someplace other than where his body happened to be at any particular time. 

				Marie crumpled the offer letter in her hand. Tears flowed down her cheeks. Her husband’s passing had crushed her spirit. Marie and Pierre had been inseparable, both as man and wife and as professional partners jointly discovering two new elements, Radium and Polonium, and along with them the concept of radioactivity. Radioactivity turned physics on its head, completely upending the bedrock beliefs that atoms were the universe’s most elementary particles and that they were absolutely stable. The Curies had proven that atoms could, in fact, be unstable and divisible. The discovery netted the Curies a Nobel Prize, though Marie had been initially omitted from recognition. After a complaint by Swedish mathematician and member of the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences, Magnus Gösta Mittag-Leffler, Marie’s name was added to the nomination. Marie subsequently became the first woman to win the prize. 

				At the awards ceremony, the president of the Swedish Academy rendered his final verdict on Marie’s contribution, trivializing it with a Biblical quote: “It is not good that man should be alone, I will make a helpmeet for him.”

				Marie looked out the window at the dark Rue de la Glacière below her windowsill. It was another rainy night. It seemed to Marie as though the rain would never cease. She set the crumpled offer letter on her desk and picked up a vial of Radium salts sitting on the desk. She kept the vial on her nightstand when she slept, enjoying its green fairy-like glow.

				She looked at the glowing vial. She knew that the Sorbonne’s prestigious offer of professorship only existed because of her husband. She knew that she would never have received the Nobel Prize had she not been married to Pierre. She also knew that, even after all the couple had accomplished, the university still had yet to provide them with an adequate laboratory for their research. Without Pierre, without a man, the odds of getting a state-of-the-art lab to continue her work was all but hopeless. 

				She tossed the offer letter into the waste bin. She looked at the Le Temps ad.

				“We can do it,” Marie said in English. 
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				President’s Office

				White House

				Washington, DC

				May 13, 1906

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				President Roosevelt stared down the length of a dark walnut wood conference table bordered by generals who mirrored his grim visage. Rows of doubled-breasted brass buttons gleamed on the generals’ blue tunics and reflected off the table.

				Large Greek revival crown molding blocks thrust from the ceiling corners, seeming to amplify the room’s gravity. The men felt the added weight of pressure on their epaulets.

				The moldings’ eggshell color descended into the walls, which were covered by paintings. A life-sized Gilbert Stuart portrait of George Washington hung on the wall behind Roosevelt. A large fireplace faced the president at the end of the table. 

				A grandfather clock ticked away the time. 

				Roosevelt glanced at a painting on the wall to his right, Frederic Remington’s “Charge Up San Juan Hill,” depicting Roosevelt and his Rough Riders’ pivotal battle of the Spanish-American War. His gaze moved to the man seated to his right, William Howard Taft.
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				Roosevelt held a large envelope in his hand.

				“Gentlemen, I received this in the mail yesterday.”

				Roosevelt opened the envelope and slid out a photograph of the grisly remains of James McParland. Scribbled on the photograph in Anaïs’ hand:

				Recognize your Pinkerton man? Don’t come back.

				The president held up the photograph for the generals to see. Even the most battle-hardened could not squelch a gasp at the gruesome carcass that was once James McParland. 

				“Good God, gentlemen!” exclaimed Roosevelt, holding the photograph. “What monstrous evil is at work here? Evil that can annihilate our army at Standing Rock. Evil that can destroy San Francisco. And this!

				“This Annika Wise is Satan incarnate! Gentlemen, this cannot stand! What is your plan to purge this unspeakable malevolence from our day?” 

				Army Chief of Staff General Adna Chaffee turned to the president. Dark brown eyes peered from beneath bushy salt-and-pepper eyebrows. His matching mustache covered his upper lip. 

				“Mr. President,” General Chaffee began. “I have assumed personal responsibility for this operation. We are in the process of assembling an army of four corps—100,000 fighting men. This includes 69,000 soldiers from the Army, 8,000 from the Marines, and an additional 35,000 from the Navy.”

				“The Navy?” Roosevelt said. “I was under the impression that South Dakota was landlocked.” 

				“It is, Mr. President,” replied Chaffee. 

				“Mr. President, our brave sailors are champing at the bit to get into this fight,” interjected Admiral Charles Jackson Train. “Put guns in their hands and you will find they are perfectly capable of shooting Indians and Orientals.” 

				“Our army of 100,000 will be the largest assembled in our country’s history,” said Chaffee. “We will outnumber the savages by 50 times. They have no hope of survival. We will kill them all.” 

				President Roosevelt nodded his head. “Bully.”

				Roosevelt turned again to the Remington painting of his Rough Riders charging San Juan Hill. 

				“General Chaffee, you will have 1,000 additional fighting men at your disposal,” said Roosevelt. “I will be recalling the Rough Riders regiment for one last battle.”

				The generals gasped. “Mr. President!” exclaimed General Chaffee. “We cannot, in good conscience, place you in harm’s way!”

				Roosevelt waved his hand. “General Chaffee, I have made my decision. My own conscience does not permit so many men to ride into danger while I sit idly by in the comparative luxury of this White House. When the order to attack is given, I will be on the field of battle with my fellow soldiers.”
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				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				May 22, 1906

				12:14 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika cut into her lunch, a pork chop, in the dining room at her usual table by the window. She looked up and down Main Street, wondering why Anaïs hadn’t joined her, as the couple always took their meals together. 

				She saw Anaïs run by the window. The front door swung open and Anaïs entered. She was breathing heavily; her eyes were wide. A strand of her long blond hair had come out of place from her normally perfect French Twist do, landing instead on her forehead, between her eyes. She blew it off her face. 

				“What’s up?” asked Annika.

				“Some responders to our advertisements have arrived on the noon train,” said Anaïs.

				“How many?”

				“Pretty much all of them, it looks like.”

				Annika raised her eyebrows, tossed her checkered napkin on her plate, and followed Anaïs out the door. 

				The pair ran north on Main Street to Deadwood’s train station, an orange-bricked building with two large tin signs on its shingled roof, one for the North-Western Train Line logo emblazoned on a red disk, the other reading, “Fremont Elkhorn & Missouri Valley Passenger Station.” 

				Behind the station sat a hulking black iron locomotive hissing steam and smoke. Dozens of passenger cars trailed behind the train engine. Hundreds of women in long Victorian dresses filed off the cars, congregating in front of the station, where Annika and Anaïs stood. The women eyed the petite half-Asian woman wearing men’s clothes. One tiny dark-haired woman in her thirties, wearing a white shirtwaist blouse and full-length skirt, rushed toward Annika, extending her hand.

				“Pardon me,” the woman said in a British accent. “Would you be Annika Wise?”

				“I’m Annika Wise,” Annika responded, extending her hand. 

				“It is my great honor to meet you, Miss Wise,” the woman responded, clasping Annika’s hand in a vigorous shake. “My name is Edith Garrud. My friends and I have just arrived from England.”

				“Finally, there’s someone in town even shorter than I am,” said Annika. “That’s quite a grip you have, Edith.”

				“Oh, dear! My apologies!” said Edith. “I admit to being a bit of a tomboy. I practice jiu-jitsu. I lead the bodyguard unit for our sister suffragettes in England. The papers back in London call it ‘suffrajitsu.’ Rather clever. I thought my services might be of use to you.”

				Edith paused, looking Annika from head to toe.

				“I must say, Miss Wise…” began Edith.

				“Annika, please.”

				“Of course. I must say, Annika, you don’t look a thing like the newspaper drawings of you.”

				“I get that a lot,” said Annika.

				Edith reached for two other women. “Please allow me to introduce some of my companions. This is Sylvia Pankhurst. She is the daughter of Emmeline Pankhurst, the mother of our suffragette movement in England.”

				“It is an honor,” said Sylvia, a woman in her forties with long sandy-colored hair, full lips, and sad eyes.

				“And this is someone I met during the journey. This is yet another Edith—Edith Clarke. Edith is only 23. She quit school at Vassar to join you. It appears Edith is quite the mathematics wizard. She wants to be an engineer.”

				“Oh, and speaking of wizards…come here, dear.”

				Edith reached for another woman standing nearby with two girls. She held the hand of the younger of the two, a toddler. The woman wore a black dress and a dour expression. Her unstyled hair was brushed back and parted on the side.

				“This extraordinary woman is Marie Curie! She won the Nobel Prize!”

				“It is a great honor to meet you,” said Annika, reaching to shake Marie’s hand.

				“A pleasure,” Marie said.

				“The poor dear lost her husband in an accident recently,” said Edith.

				“I’m terribly sorry,” Annika said. Marie stared at Annika.

				“I’m afraid Marie speaks very little English,” said Edith. “She speaks Polish and French. I speak a little French, so we managed to communicate along the journey.”

				“I am very interested in your research regarding radioactivity,” Annika said to Marie. “There is an application which I would very much like to discuss with you.”

				Edith Garrud began to translate into broken French. Anaïs interrupted with perfect French.

				“Impressive,” said Edith. 

				A surprised look crossed Marie’s face.

				“Marie says she would very much enjoy such a conversation,” said Anaïs. “She says she has given much thought to applications for radioactivity. She’s thought about the possibility of using it for medical science.”

			

			
				“I was actually thinking of something a little less…constructive,” Annika said.

				Marie looked confused.

				Anaïs touched Annika on the arm, nodding toward the last railroad car, from which several African American women exited. 

				“Excuse me, ladies,” said Annika. “Please wait here and we’ll find places for you to bed down for the evening.”

				Annika and Anaïs walked quickly toward the last train car. They met a couple, a woman in her forties with a man in his fifties. The man wore a navy pinstripe suit and a tie. His hair was greying and thin, and he wore a salt-and-pepper mustache. Heavy eyelids sat atop discerning eyes. His expression was cordial, yet reserved, as though prepared for whatever may come. 

				The woman wore a shirtwaist blouse of fine embroidered handkerchief linen, flowing into a long dark skirt. Under her straw hat were large brown eyes, a wide nose, full lips, and a defiant chin.

				“My name is Annika Wise,” Annika said, extending her hand. “This is my partner, Anaïs.”

				“Ida Wells,” the woman responded. “It is a pleasure to meet you.”

				She gestured to the man next to her. “This is my husband, Ferdinand Lee Barnett. He is an attorney.”

				“A pleasure,” Ferdinand said, shaking hands with Annika and Anaïs.

				Ida extended a newspaper turned to a page with the Rosie the Riveter ad.

				“We read your advertisement with great hope,” said Ida. “It says that Deadwood is a place where women are fully appreciated and equal.

				“We are curious—does that egalitarianism extend to colored women, or is it the sole providence of whites?”

				“It does indeed extend to women of color. You are most welcome here,” said Annika. “As are you, Mr. Barnett.”

				Ida looked at Annika quizzically. “Women of color? I’ve never before heard that term.”

				“I think you’ll find that Annika is just full of surprises,” said Anaïs, smiling. “C’mon, let’s get you settled.”
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				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				May 30, 1906

				13:17 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika and Anaïs stood over a large map resting on two dining room tables that had been pushed together in the former hotel dining room, now converted into a war room. Small blocks of wood, painted red and navy blue, were sprinkled strategically across the map. Annika, wearing a black tank top and her matching black combat pants, crossed her arms across her chest, scowling at the map, shaking her head. Anaïs wore her favorite blue dress. 

				“It’s one thing to defend one mountain pass against a few thousand troops,” Annika said. “Defending a dozen passes against 100,000 is…”

				“Challenging,” said Anaïs.

				Annika nodded. “Yep. Challenging.

				“Our advantages are terrain and tactics,” Annika continued. “Early 20th-century Army tactics aren’t much evolved from the Civil War. Their generals find guerilla tactics to be…uncivilized. They’ll line up their soldiers for us to mow down.”

				“Considerate,” said Anaïs.

				“Mow down with what, though?” asked Annika. “San Francisco didn’t give us any machine guns.”

				“They exist,” said Anaïs. “The Army has a few dozen British Maxim machine guns, though they’re unwieldy to transport in these mountain passes. If we can use some of that billion dollars in gold ore we’re sitting on to buy some, we can set up nests in these passes.”

				Anaïs placed blue blocks on several passes on the map.

				“This narrow pass is ideal for mines,” said Annika, pointing at the map. “The combination of mines, machine guns, and artillery firing grapeshot might cut their numbers in half. That brings the ratio down to about twenty-to-one.

				“The challenge is that there are a dozen passes bordering Deadwood. How do we entice the Army to use the one we like?”

				“There is one thing we have that the Army doesn’t,” said Anaïs.

				“What’s that?”

				“Telephones.”

				Annika flashed a smile. “I can’t believe I didn’t think of that! They don’t have modern command, control, and communications. Their troops will be separated by mountains. It will be next to impossible for them to communicate with their troops spread out across the battle theater. They have telegraph, but they’ll only be able to run lines to a small handful of positions over a mile or two, at best.” 

				Annika pointed to several points on the map. “If we can run phone lines to these positions, we can make troop adjustments in real time.”

				Annika placed her hands on her head and interlocked her fingers, stretching. 

				“You should shave your pits, doll,” said Anaïs.

				Annika dropped her arms. “Oh, I’m sorry! Does it bother you?”

				Anaïs raised her eyebrows. 

				“Doll, have you talked with the chiefs?” asked Anaïs. 

				“No. Not yet,” said Annika. “I’ve been procrastinating.”

				“Things have changed since Sitting Bull died,” said Anaïs. “You had carte blanche while he was alive. Now that he’s gone, the council will want to dictate what happens on their land.”

				“I know that,” said Annika. “Like I said, I’ve been putting it off. I’ll talk with White Bull.”

				The couple was quiet, staring at the map. 

				Annika broke the pause. “I wish we had aircover.”

				“There are Wright Flyers,” said Anaïs, “though they’re still primitive. There’s one possibility, but it’s a long shot.”

				“What’s that?”

				Anaïs’ face scrunched. She grabbed her abdomen.

				“What’s wrong?” asked Annika.

				Anaïs bent over and vomited on the dining room floor. Annika ran around the table to Anaïs’ side, placing her hand on her back.

				“I’ll get Doctor McCoy,” Annika said.

				“It’s Doctor McKay,” Anaïs said, gasping, her eyes closed. “He doesn’t understand why you keep calling him that.”

				“Whatever-the-fuck his name is, I’ll get him.”

				Annika turned to leave.

				“No, wait,” Anaïs said, straightening up.

			

			
				“Doll, I need to tell you something,” Anaïs said.

				“What?”

				Anaïs took a breath. “I’m pregnant.”

				Annika’s jaw dropped, stunned.

				“I was waiting for the right time to tell you,” said Anaïs, filling the silence. “The time never seemed quite right. Or, maybe I’m a coward.”

				“You took on three armed Pinkerton agents single-handed to rescue me,” said Annika. “The coward excuse is bullshit!”

				“Doll…” Anaïs began.

				“You’re pregnant?” Annika asked. “We’re fucking! I thought we were a couple!”

				“We are, doll.”

				“How can you keep that from me? You know everything about me! You’re gonna have a baby and you hide that from me?”

				Anaïs reached for Annika. “Please, doll! I love you!”

				“Fuck you!” Annika shouted. “Fuck you and your fucking secrets!” 

				Annika stormed to the dining room front door. “I’m going out. Pack your things. By the time I get back, I want you and your shit out of my apartment and out of my life!”

				Anaïs cried as Annika slammed the door behind her. 
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				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				May 30, 1906

				14:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika opened the door to her flat. Anaïs was packing clothes into her carpet bag sitting on the bed. 

				“I’m sorry,” Anaïs said. “I’m almost done. I’ll be gone in just a minute.”

				Annika sighed. Anaïs could see that her face was red and swollen.

				“Please don’t go,” Annika said. Anaïs stopped packing and looked up. 

				“I’m sorry,” Annika said. “I’m so sorry for saying those things to you. I was horrible to you.”

				Annika buried her face in her hands, crying.

				“I’ve lost myself in you,” she said. “This isn’t me. Weak. Crying over my lover. 

				I’m lost…in you.”

				Annika took a deep breath. Tears ran down her cheeks.

				“I love you. 

				There’s nothing I can do about that. Hurt me. Don’t hurt me. It doesn’t matter. I love you no matter what. I’m pathetic.”

				Anaïs took Annika’s face in her hands and kissed her. Annika’s lips were warm and salted from her tears. She looked into Annika’s eyes.

				“I love you, doll,” Anaïs said. “Completely.”

				Annika wrapped her arms around Anaïs and cried aloud. Tears flowed down Anaïs’ face. Anaïs stroked the back of Annika’s head.

				“I’m lost in you too,” Anaïs said.

				“No, you’re not,” Annika cried. “You’re not lost. I’ve always been the strong one, but I’m like a child with you. I don’t understand it. Why can’t I be strong with you?”

				Anaïs took Annika’s face and looked into her eyes. “I love caring for you. I love protecting you. It makes me so happy.”

				“I don’t understand it. I feel like something is wrong with me. I don’t deserve it,” said Annika.

				“You deserve to be happy. You deserve to be cared for. You deserve to be loved.”

				Annika sniffed. “I miss fucking Kleenex.”

				Anaïs walked to the bathroom and grabbed a towel. Annika took it and snorted into it.

				“Thanks,” she said, handing the snotted towel to Anaïs.

				“That’s OK, you hold on to that,” said Anaïs with a wink.

				“Sorry,” said Annika. 

				“So, who’s the father?” 

				Anaïs looked at the floor.

				“Annika

				…I will tell you, but I beg you not to make me tell you now.”

				“I don’t understand,” Annika said. “What difference does it make if you tell me now or later?”

				“Please,” Anaïs pleaded. “It happened before I came here. I don’t love him. We were only together once. My whole life, I’ve only loved one person. You’re the only person I’ve ever loved. Please, Annika. I swear I will tell you everything.”

				Annika looked into Anaïs’ eyes. She nodded.

				“OK,” Annika said. “So I guess this means we’re having a baby.”

				Anaïs flashed a bright smile. “Yes, doll. We’re having a baby.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Lakotawood

				Deadwood, SD

				June 1, 1906

				14:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika rode Pegasus bareback into Lakotawood. She slid off the horse’s back near White Bull’s tipi and draped the horse’s reins over his back, allowing him to graze. She walked to the tipi. 

				“May I speak with you, Tatanka Ska,” asked Annika in Lakota.

				The tipi flap opened and White Bull appeared, bare-chested, wearing fringed dear skin pants. His long hair hung in braids. 

				“You may,” the 57-year-old White Bull replied. “I am pleased that you still remember how to speak our language. I wondered if the reason you had not spoken with me earlier was because you had forgotten how.”

				“I am very sorry,” said Annika. “I should have come to you before now. 

				I was afraid.”

				“You, afraid?” replied White Bull. “That surprises me. You seem fearless.”

				Annika shook her head. “I’m fearful all the time. Somehow, I break through my fear.”

				White Bull nodded. “Many confuse bravery with fearlessness. Only a fool is fearless. True bravery is acting in the face of fear. 

				Why are you afraid to speak with me?”

				“Because I’m the reason Tatanka is dead.”

				White Bull nodded. “Tatanka loved you and you loved Tatanka. He loved you like his blood children—perhaps more. 

				He died with honor protecting that which was most important to him. I don’t believe he could have imagined a better way to die.”

				Tears streamed down Annika’s cheeks. 

				“I miss him terribly,” said Annika.

				“We all do,” said White Bull. “He was a father to our people. He held our people together. I fear what will happen to us now that he’s gone.”

				“What do you mean?” asked Annika.

				“Council is fracturing,” said White Bull. “I worry about my brother, One Bull. He wants to step into the shadow left by Tatanka. He wants to lead the people.

				“My brother is a great warrior, but he is not a wise leader. He lusts after power for power’s sake. He puts his own welfare ahead of the people.

				“There are many strangers coming onto our land. The Orientals. Women. It makes many Lakota people uncomfortable. Our land is our land. No permission has been given for these people to settle here.”

				“I’m sorry, Tatanka Ska,” said Annika. “I should have come to you.”

				“One Bull is exploiting the invasion of outsiders. There are Lakota who listen to him. Some of our people have short memories. They forget what our lives were like before the messiah. Before you.”

				“The whites are coming,” said Annika. “A massive army.”

				White Bull nodded. “The whites are relentless. They will not stop until they take back our land. 

				Do you know how to stop them?” 

				“I believe so, though I can’t do it without the help of the Lakota people.”

				“Why don’t you use your medicine again?” asked White Bull. “You destroyed the whites’ great city.”

				Annika was silent.

				“You have a secret,” observed White Bull.

				“I trust that you want what is best for our people,” said White Bull. “I trust that you are willing to offer your life to defend us. 

				You must trust me as well. What are you not telling me?”

				“I don’t think you would believe me if I told you.”

				“Perhaps not. There is only one way to know.”

				“I didn’t destroy the city,” said Annika. 

				White Bull looked confused.

			

			
				“I don’t understand,” he said. “The whites say their city was annihilated.”

				“I knew an earthquake would destroy the city. I knew the precise day and time the earth would shake.”

				“You claim you can foretell the future?”

				“No. I knew when the city would be destroyed because I studied the past,” said Annika. 

				“I come from the future. 

				The year 2008. One hundred years from now.” 

				“Were the messiah and Red Star from the future as well?”

				“Yes.”

				“Did they return to the future?”

				“They did.”

				“Why did you not return with them?”

				“Red Star hid the device that enables me to return. Takoda knew where it was hidden. That knowledge died with him. I’m trapped in the past, forever.”

				“Is Anaïs also from the future?”

				“She is.”

				“Are there others?”

				“No,” said Annika. “At least none that I know of.”

				“Did Tatanka know your secret?”

				“Yes.”

				“If you knew about the earthquake, then you know the outcome of the next battle with the whites,” said White Bull.

				“That battle never happened in my time,” said Annika. “In my time, the Lakota people never took back the Black Hills. They lived and died on Standing Rock reservation. Tatanka died in 1890 when he was shot by reservation police.

				“We are making a new future,” continued Annika. “One that I don’t know.”

				White Bull nodded. 

				“What you want is in the best interests of my people,” said White Bull. “My voice at council is still heard. I will help you.

				“I will tell the others that we are forming a war council for the battle that is coming. I will be on the council, along with you, Chief Flying Hawk, and his brother, Chief Kicking Bear. You should invite others you trust. It will be wise for us to use this crisis to bring our people together.”
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				Western Union Telegraph Office

				Deadwood, SD

				June 1, 1906

				09:01 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Albert Winfield, Deadwood’s Western Union agent, sat down at his desk facing the large storefront window of the Western Union office. Winfield looked onto Deadwood’s Main Street. He took a sip of coffee steaming from a tin cup, set it on his wooden desk and switched on his telegraph equipment. Instantly, the telegraph began clacking away Morse code. 

				Winfield was one of hundreds enticed to return to Deadwood by Annika’s generous offers of gold. Sixteen years after being unceremoniously run out of town by an army of Lakota warriors, he now shared the town with them. 

				The door swung open with a jingling bell. Anaïs walked in, wearing her usual blue dress and a smile.

				“Miss Anaïs!” exclaimed Winfield. “Why, you look as pretty as a picture!”

				“Thank you, Mr. Winfield,” Anaïs said, nodding. “May I trouble you to please send a telegram for me?”

				“Yes ma’am! That’s what I’m here for!”

				Anaïs handed Winfield a paper with a hand-scrawled note.

				“Berlin!” Winfield said. “My goodness! I’ll need to look up the station code for that office.”

				The telegraph key clacked constantly. 

				“Do you need to tend to that message?” asked Anaïs.

				“No ma’am,” replied Winfield. “That message is not for this office.”

				“How do you know?”

				“I can tell by the station code,” said Winfield. “All the messages travel over the same wire. Every message begins with the code of the destination office. When I hear my code, I perk right up and start writing.”

				“So, you can eavesdrop on other messages?”

				“No ma’am. That would be a violation of company rules and my professional oath.”

				“But you know what they’re saying,” Anaïs persisted.

				“Well, yes, most of the time,” conceded Winfield. “Except for one.”

				“What do you mean?”

				“There’s one message that comes through once a day that I can’t understand. Just plain gibberish. It’s the darndest thing. It comes through every day at three o’clock. Just like clockwork. You can set your watch to it.”

				“That’s odd,” said Anaïs.

				“Yes ma’am. Very odd.”

				“What’s the destination office?”

				“That’s the other odd thing,” replied Winfield. “The station code is ‘xxx’. There is no station ‘xxx’.”
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				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				June 2, 1906

				17:11 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The newly assembled Deadwood War Council stood around the map table: Annika and Anaïs; the Lakota chiefs, White Bull, Flying Hawk, and Kicking Bear; Wong Ching Foo, Ida Wells, Edith Garrud, and Chatan. 

				Anaïs placed a Western Union telegraph on the table on top of the map, directly beneath the shade of an electric lamp hanging from the ceiling. Albert Winfield’s typed message spelled out a jumble of letters organized into meaningless words.
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				“It’s encrypted,” said Annika.

				“Yes,” said Anaïs. “Someone is sending coded messages. But that’s all we know. Because these messages travel on a telegraph party line thousands of miles long, we don’t know if the messages are about us. We don’t know if these are government messages or business.”

				The group stared at the paper. At that moment, the door swung open and Edith Clarke entered.

				“Oh, pardon me!” Edith said. “I’m interrupting. I just came to get something to eat. I heard they make a delicious croque monsieur here. Is the restaurant closed?”

				“I say, Edith, do come here,” said Edith Garrud. “Your brilliant mind might conjure an idea or two that may be of use.”

				Edith came to the table. Annika pointed at the message.

				“What do you make of this?” asked Annika.

				“It’s a substitution code,” said Edith. “Also known as a Vigenère cipher.”

				“Do you have any idea how to decode it?”

				“Well, why don’t we just build a decoding machine?” asked Edith.

				The others looked at her.

				“Is that possible?” asked Annika.

				“Theoretically, yes,” said Edith. “Assuming this is a substitution code, the challenge is to suss out the length of the cipher key. That can be done mathematically. Once the key length is determined, the ciphertext simply becomes a number of interwoven Caesar Ciphers, all of which can be individually broken. Then the code key is applied to the encoded message in its entirety. Quite simple, actually.”

				Annika and Anaïs looked at each other with dumbfounded expressions. 

				“I have no idea what you just said,” said Annika. “How do you build the machine?”

				“Well, that does become a bit daunting,” said Edith. “We would need electromagnetic relays—several hundred, I would think—as well as a gantry upon which to mount them, wire, soldering irons, and some other odds and ends. I can make a list.”

				“How long to build it?” asked Annika.

				“For one person, I would estimate a year,” said Edith. “However, I can make a blueprint for the device in order for multiple people to work on wiring and soldering relays in subcomponents in tandem. I believe it should be possible to complete it in a month’s time. 

				I would need volunteers to assist me.”

				“I would like to volunteer,” said Chatan, smiling at Edith.

				“That would be lovely,” said Edith, returning Chatan’s smile. 

				“I’ll call the cook,” said Annika. “I think you’ve earned your croque monsieur.”
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				Code Room

				Deadwood, SD

				June 20, 1906

				13:18 Hours

				Timeline 003

				“That’s it,” said Edith. “Now apply the rosin.”

				Chatan dabbed pine tree rosin onto the joint where a wire connected with a relay lead. The relay was an electromagnet and a switch, connected to several electrical leads. Chatan was working on one of hundreds of relays screwed into a series of tall wooden shelves arranged in parallel in a small converted carriage house a block west of Main Street. 

				Yellow overhead incandescent lights augmented natural light streaming through small windows on the sides of the carriage house. The smell of lead solder filled the air. Smoke haze congregated against the ceiling of the small building. 

				“Now hold the soldering iron beneath the joint and touch the solder to the opposite side of the joint.”

				Chatan held the soldering iron, then applied the solder. In a few seconds, a shiny bead of molten solder formed and flowed along the joint, binding the wire and the relay lead.

				“Excellent!” said Edith. “You have a very nice touch, Chatan!”

				“Thank you, Edith,” said Chatan. “I like your touch too.”

				Edith looked down, blushing. She deflected the awkward moment by shifting her gaze around the carriage house, where a dozen others were soldering relays and pulling cables of dozens of wires connecting the relay shelves.

				“One down. Several hundred to go,” said Edith.

				Chatan touched the mechanical switch on the relay he had just soldered, moving the metal arm up and down to make contact with its counterpart and close the circuit.

				“What do these things do?” asked Chatan.

				“These relays enable us to find truth,” said Edith.

				“Truth?” 

				“Yes,” said Edith. “I’ll show you.”

				Edith walked to the light switch mounted on the carriage house wall and snapped it off. The lights in the room went off.

				“Hey!” called out several workers in the midst of soldering.

				“My apologies, ladies,” said Edith. “This will take just a moment.”

				“These relays are switches that output truths based on their inputs. They all work on binary logic, two states—whether electricity is on or off.”

				Edith switched the lights on.

				“On.”

				Edith switched the lights off.

				“Off.”

				“We can configure the relays into combinations or ‘gates’ that enable us to test many truths simultaneously.”

				Edith grabbed her notebook and a pen from a desk and scribbled a matrix.

				“There are different types of gates for testing different truths. This is what we call a ‘truth table’ for an ‘AND’ gate. There are two inputs for this gate. The AND gate tells us whether or not electricity is on for both of the inputs. In other words, whether electricity is on for inputs A AND B.

				“We express ‘on’ or ‘TRUE as a 1 and ‘off’ or ‘FALSE as a 0.”
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				“So, with our AND table, if electricity is on for both input leads A AND B, the output is 1 or TRUE. Otherwise, the output is FALSE.”

				“Are there other types of gates?” asked Chatan.

				“Oh yes,” said Edith. “Another example is an ‘OR’ gate. Instead of telling us whether current is TRUE in inputs A AND B, an OR table tells us whether current is TRUE in inputs A OR B. What do you think a truth table would look like for an OR gate?”

			

			
				Chatan took Edith’s pen and scribbled a matrix. 
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				“Like this?” asked Chatan. “If electricity is on for either A OR B, the output is TRUE.”

				“Excellent, Chatan!” said Edith. “You really are a natural at this.”

				Chatan beamed a smile.

				“But I don’t understand,” said Chatan. “How does determining the truth of electrical current help us decode the message?”

				“That’s where it gets a bit more complicated,” said Edith. “We assign a binary code to each alphanumeric character. For example, ‘A’ is 01000001. ‘B’ is 01000010, and so on. When we enter letters and numbers into our input mechanism, those are translated into their respective binary codes.

				“Our ultimate goal is to determine the length and content of the key code our spy used to code the message. This is accomplished by examining the frequency with which certain characters and character combinations appear in the message. We know what the most frequently used letters in the English language are, so we can use this as reference to suss out the code key. Once we have the key, we can unlock the message.

				“Humans could do what we do with our machine, but our machine can accomplish in minutes what it would take days or weeks to do by hand.”

				“This is like magic!” said Chatan. “How did you think of this?” 

				“I’m merely standing on the shoulders of giants,” said Edith. “An Englishman named George Boole thought up the logic that we now call Boolean Logic. Another Englishman named Charles Babbage built the mechanical predecessor of this machine. He called it the ‘Analytical Engine.’ His partner was Augusta Ada King, Countess of Lovelace. She was the daughter of Lord and Lady Byron. The countess created the first algorithm, or set of instructions, for a machine to solve a computational problem.”

				“You are brilliant,” said Chatan. “I’ve never known a girl like you before.”

				Edith looked down. Shadows from the shelves blocking the window light crossed her face. 

				“I’ve never known a boy like you before, Chatan.”

				Edith shook her head. “I can’t believe I’m here. I don’t recognize myself. A few weeks ago, I was a prim student at a women’s college. Now, I’m here, in the Wild West, living a fantasy.”

				Chatan put his hand on Edith’s. She clutched it. Chatan leaned in and kissed her on the neck.

				“Oh, Chatan,” Edith said, clutching his head and kissing him.

				“I say,” said one of the solder technicians, “would you be so kind as to please turn the lights back on?”

				“Oh, dear,” said Edith. “Yes, of course. I’m terribly sorry. Carry on.”


				


			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Code Room

				Deadwood, SD

				July 15, 1906

				16:42 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The war council huddled in the code room in front of the decoding machine. The machine was comprised of eight parallel rows of six-foot-tall wooden shelves packed with hundreds of electromechanical relays connected with wires. Wire bundles connecting the shelf subunits hung from the ceiling.

				The machine’s dashboard was a brass panel with dozens of thumbwheels with alphanumeric characters. 

				The summer warmth was amplified in the room by the heat of the hundreds of relays, clacking away like cicadas. 

				Annika noticed Anaïs was sweating, her hands on her belly.

				“Should you sit?” asked Annika. Anaïs shook her head.

				“Can we please open the windows?” asked Annika. 

				The other members of the war council opened all the windows and returned to the machine. 

				“Now what?” Annika asked Edith.

				“Now, we enter the message Mr. Winfield just intercepted,” replied Edith. “Mr. Winfield, if you please.” 

				Winfield held a sheet of Western Union letterhead. He looked 
nervous. 


				“Miss Annika, I feel the need to state once again that this is a violation of Western Union company policy—”

				“Mr. Winfield—” interrupted Annika, exasperated, her hand on her forehead.

				“—as well as my personal oath as a telegraph operating professional—”

				“Mr. Winfield!” Shouted Annika. “We’ve been through this!”

				Anaïs walked to Winfield and placed her hand on his. She smiled at him.

				“Please, Mr. Winfield,” Anaïs said softly. “We need this. Deadwood is counting on you.”

				“I’m counting on you.”

				Anaïs tugged on the paper in Winfield’s hand.

				“Well,” Winfield said, “I suppose this situation would qualify as a bona fide emergency under company rules and regulations, Miss Anaïs.”

				“Thank you, Mr. Winfield,” said Anaïs, smiling as she took the paper from Winfield’s hand and gave it to Edith.
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				Edith began rotating the brass thumbwheels to enter the coded message. The thumbwheels clicked as they moved from character to character. Beneath each input thumbwheel was another paired thumbwheel, driven by an electromechanical solenoid, which would output the corresponding decoded character. 

				“The process is in two steps,” said Edith. “The first step is to determine the code key. The second step is to apply the code key to decode the contents of the message.”
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				Annika nodded.

				Edith pressed a button marked “CODEKEY.”

				The machine’s relays swarmed, crunching to reverse-engineer the code key. One by one, the brass output thumbwheels rotated, clicking to reveal the key.

				CODEKEY:
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				“Now comes the moment of truth,” Edith said. “We will apply this code key to decode the message.”

				Edith pressed a button marked “DECODE.”

				The machine’s relays rapidly clicked again, crunching to reverse-engineer the message. The brass output thumbwheels rotated, clicking to reveal the decoded characters.
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				When the last output thumbwheel clicked into position, the relays fell silent. Edith read the decoded message.

				“The message reads, ‘Paris Black Swan building a machine in DW Stop Purpose unknown Stop’”

				Annika gasped. 

				“‘DW’ must mean ‘Deadwood,’” said Annika. “What does ‘Paris’ mean?”

				“If I may,” said Edith, “I believe ‘Paris’ is the nom de guerre of the message sender. He borrowed it from Greek mythology. Paris is the son of King Priam and Queen Hecuba of Troy. Paris eloped with Helen, queen of Sparta, and started the Trojan War. Paris also fatally wounded Achilles in the heel.” 

				“Clearly, our Paris has a lofty opinion of himself,” said Edith. 

				“So, we have a spy in our midst,” Anaïs said. “Someone in town.”

				The war council members looked at each other.

				“How do we find him…or her?” asked Annika. “It could be anyone. It could be one of us.”

				“The traitor is not a Lakota,” said White Bull. 

				Annika looked at Anaïs. Anaïs shrugged.

				“At least ‘Black Swan’ is a step up from ‘Oriental Annie,’” Anaïs said. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Main Street

				Deadwood, SD

				July 15, 1906

				19:38 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika and Anaïs strolled down Main Street after dinner as the sun set. Annika wore her signature black—a long-sleeve top with matching combat pants and holstered submachine gun. Anaïs wore her favorite blue farmer’s dress, her belly bulging slightly. A black velvet choker tied behind her neck hid her scar. Her gun was slung on her shoulder. The couple held hands. Anaïs smiled and greeted the townspeople they met on their walk. Annika did not smile. She eyed each person with suspicion, wondering which was the spy in their midst.

				Could it be the banker, Mr. Dickinson, or his wife? They greeted the power couple courteously, Dickinson tipping his top hat and smiling.

				“If there is anything I or my bank can do to assist,” Dickinson said, “please do not hesitate to call on me.”

				Anaïs thanked Dickinson. Annika gave up a curt grimace. 

				Could it be the Reverend Mulholland, who stared at Annika and Anaïs’ clasped hands through the entirety of their brief Main Street conversation? Anaïs smiled her beautiful smile and bade the reverend a pleasant evening. Annika merely stared. 

				“Shall I expect to see you at Sunday services?” asked Mulholland.

				“We shall see,” said Anaïs. “Miracles do happen.”

				“The Lord does indeed work in mysterious ways,” responded Mulholland, chuckling.

				Annika looked over her shoulder as Mulholland walked away. 

				“How do you do that?” she asked.

				“Do what, doll?” 

				“How can you be so nice to people who judge us?”

				Anaïs looked down, smiling. “I won’t be here forever, doll. I can’t make room for the darkness.”

				Annika thought for a moment as they continued walking. They passed Chatan and Edith Clarke, holding hands and giggling. 

				“I cling to my darkness,” Annika said. “I hold on tight. You’re a better person than I am.”

				Anaïs kissed Annika on her head. 

				“What am I like in the future?” asked Annika.

				“Old,” Anaïs said.

				“Bitch,” said Annika as Anaïs laughed. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				798 Main Street

				Deadwood, SD

				July 15, 1906

				19:45 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Edith Clarke and Chatan strolled to Edith’s apartment house on Deadwood’s south side. A streetlamp cast light, partially illuminating the yellow wooden Victorian house with white trim. A porch swing for two hung on the front porch, overlooking Main Street.

				The couple held hands. Edith wore a shirtwaist blouse and long skirt. Chatan wore Western dress, a blue dress shirt and black pants. The couple was quiet as they approached the house. When they arrived, Edith turned to Chatan.

				“Thank you for a lovely evening, Chatan,” she said, kissing him. Chatan returned the kiss.

				“Well,” Edith said. “Good night. See you tomorrow.”

				Chatan nodded. “Good night, Edith.”

				Edith saw that Chatan looked disappointed.

				“What’s wrong?” she asked.

				Chatan shook his head. “Nothing.” He turned to leave. Edith took his hand.

				“Tell me,” she said.

				“It’s nothing.”

				“It’s something,” she said, caressing his face with her hand.

				Chatan looked frustrated, searching for words.

				“You want more,” Edith said.

				“Yes.”

				“I understand. 

				I think I do too, but I’m scared,” Edith said. “I’ve never…been with a boy before.”

				“I’ve never been with a girl,” said Chatan.

				Edith took a nervous breath and released it. 

				“Right. So, this will be a first for both of us. 

				Come on,” she said, taking Chatan’s hand and leading him up the steps to the house. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				798 Main Street

				Deadwood, SD

				July 16, 1906

				06:22 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The morning sun streamed into the east-facing window of Edith’s corner apartment. Chatan and Edith lay naked in bed. Chatan placed his hand on Edith’s back. She turned to kiss him.

				“Good morning,” she said, smiling.

				“Good morning,” Chatan beamed back. 

				She cuddled with him, placing her hand on his chest.

				“Did I please you, Chatan?”

				Chatan’s face lit up. “You pleased me very much, Edith. Did I…” Chatan searched for words.

				“Did I do it right?”

				“I have no idea,” said Edith. “I told you. I’ve never done this before.”

				She kissed him again. 

				“All I know is that I am deliriously happy with you...”

				She rolled over on top, straddling him.

				“…and that, whatever it is you did, I would like you to do it again, please.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				798 Main Street

				Deadwood, SD

				July 16, 1906

				07:45 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Edith tip-toed down the stairs from her room, peering around the corner. Seeing no one, she gestured for Chatan to follow her. As they reached the front door, they heard the owner’s voice.

				“Miss Clarke!” bellowed Mrs. Malloy, the owner. “I will have a word with you.”

				Edith dropped her hand from the glass doorknob. She and Chatan turned slowly to face Mrs. Malloy, a round, grey-haired woman with a ruddy complexion and wire-rimmed spectacles. 

				“Yes, Mrs. Malloy,” said Edith.

				“You must be confused about this establishment,” Mrs. Malloy said. “This home is not a brothel. This home is not a bordello. This is a home for proper women.”

				“Yes, Mrs. Malloy,” said Edith.

				“This is a Christian home. This is not a place where loose women fornicate—especially not with the savages! Have you no decency, Miss Clarke?”

				“Savages?” asked Edith. “I beg your pardon, Mrs. Malloy?”

				“You heard me, missy,” bellowed Mrs. Malloy. “You and your redskin companion will need to find another place to practice your whoring ways. I expect you to vacate the premises immediately!”

				Edith flushed with both shame and rage.

				“The only savage here is you, Mrs. Malloy! You bloated, ignorant heap of fragrant horse dung! I love this great man. You’re not good enough to lick the soles of his shoes with that enormous hairy tongue of yours!”

				Mrs. Malloy’s jaw dropped. “How dare you! You hedge-creeping slut! Get out of my home!”

			

			
				•   •   •

				Minutes later, Edith and Chatan were standing in front of the house with Edith’s suitcase.

				Edith stroked Chatan’s face. “I am so sorry you had to witness that, dear. She was horrible to you.”

				“Do you really love me?” Chatan asked.

				“Is that all you heard?”

				“Mostly.”

				“Well, then, it appears you were spared the worst of the encounter.”

				The couple was silent. Chatan waited for an answer.

				“It’s true, Chatan,” Edith said. “I love you. I adore you.”

				“Then, will you marry me, Edith?” he asked.

				Edith gasped. Only a few weeks earlier, she had been living an ordinary life, studying math and astronomy at a women’s college—her relatives’ idea of a fringe life for a young woman. Now she felt as though she had fallen through the looking glass. She had built a computer that was decoding messages from a spy. She was having intercourse—with an Indian man! And that man had just asked her to be his wife.

				“Oh, yes, Chatan,” she said. “I will marry you.”

				The couple embraced, laughed and kissed in front of the house, until they heard banging on the window. They looked. Mrs. Malloy was shouting into the windowpane. Edith raised her hand to her ear. Mrs. Malloy opened the window.

				“Get out of here, you wanton redskin-humping tramp!

				“It will be my great pleasure to vacate your rodent-infested slum premises, you flatulent woman swine!”

				Edith reached for her suitcase.

				“Please, Edith,” said Chatan. “Allow me.”

				“Thank you, dear,” Edith said, giggling. 

				Mrs. Malloy continued bellowing as they walked away. Edith turned and raised her middle finger. Mrs. Malloy gasped and slammed the window shut.

				“I don’t recognize myself anymore,” said Edith. “I’ve become a wild woman. I hope I’m not frightening you away. Please don’t go away.”

				Chatan kissed her. “I’m not going away.”

				“But, where are we going?” Edith asked. “I have no place to live.”

				“You’re welcome to share my tipi in Lakotawood,” said Chatan.

				Edith laughed out loud, then realized from Chatan’s hurt expression that he was serious. She felt a pang of fear from the sudden realization that her reckless behavior had cost her indoor plumbing and electricity. 

			

			
				The couple scanned up and down Main Street. On the south side, they were struck by a strange sight. Hundreds of Chinese in Chinatown were moving gracefully in tandem, mirroring the positions of the man at the lead of the assembly, Wong Ching Foo. Wong held his Mala beads in one hand. His flowing jacket and pants fluttered in the morning breeze. 

				“Is that Miss Annika and Miss Anaïs?” asked Chatan.

				Annika and Anaïs wore black and blue silk Wushu uniforms, respectively, gliding silently through the air as they mirrored Wong’s postures of the energies and elements of Tai Chi.

				Edith and Chatan were mesmerized by the enormous congregation moving gracefully in silence as one.

				“It’s beautiful,” said Edith. “I’ve never seen anything like it.”

				The couple walked closer to watch. After a few minutes, Wong stood erect and turned to the group, bowing. The assembly returned the bow.

				“Before we begin our Kung Fu class, would you care for a spar, Miss Annika?”

				Annika looked at Anaïs.

				“You up for this?” asked Anaïs. “You’re not exactly a spring chicken, doll.”

				“Thank you for your vote of confidence,” replied Annika. “If he kills me, you can have my Victrola.”

				Annika turned to Wong. “I’d love to.”

				Annika held her right fist in the palm of her left hand as she bowed to Wong. The pair assumed fighting stances, crouched, with their right arms raised and the backs of their right wrists touching. Their eyes were locked in contact as they circled each other slowly, each waiting for the other to strike first. The Tai Chi congregation formed a circle around the two combatants to watch.

				Annika waited for Wong to strike first. Finally, Wong punched his extended hand toward Annika’s face. His fist punched air as Annika side-stepped out of the way. They touched wrists again. This time Wong spun into a reverse kick, again missing the target, as Annika ducked beneath his swinging leg. The audience gasped.

				Wong threw a series of punches. All missed. He launched a sidekick. Annika again side-stepped as the kick passed into thin air. Wong spun into another reverse kick. When his head snapped around to see his target, she wasn’t there. Wong looked from side to side, trying to reacquire his target. The crowd laughed. He slowly turned around to find Annika standing behind him. 

				“You win,” said Annika.

				Wong bowed. “I am honored and humbled to be in the presence of a master.”

				Annika returned the bow as the audience clapped. Annika turned to Anaïs, who was clapping with the others.

				“When did you learn how not to throw a punch?” asked Anaïs.

				“Dunno,” Annika said. “But it was the hardest lesson of all.”

				The couple turned to leave. They noticed Edith and Chatan watching them.

				“That was extraordinary!” gushed Edith. “I’ve never seen anything like that before. Where did you learn to do that?”

				“Bruce Lee movies,” replied Annika.

				Edith and Chatan stared back with blank expressions. 

				“Why do you have your suitcase?” asked Annika. “You’re not leaving us, are you?”

				“My landlord evicted me,” said Edith.

				“Why?”

				“She does not care for my choice of fiancés and what I choose to do with him behind closed doors.”

				“Fiancé, as in Chatan?” asked Annika.

				“Yes, Chatan and I are engaged to be married.”

				“I missed the news. When did you get engaged?”

				“Approximately five minutes ago.” 

				“Congratulations!”

				“Thank you,” Edith said. “We’re thrilled!”

				“Anaïs, there’s a spare room at the hotel, right?”

				“Indeed there is.”

				“You’re welcome to stay there, if you like,” said Annika. “You can fuck all you want.”

				Chatan’s and Edith’s eyes went wide. Anaïs slapped Annika on the shoulder.

				“Language,” Anaïs said. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				War Room 

				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				July 18, 1906

				12:05 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika and the war council members sat at a long table, facing an audience of 20 men wearing business suits. 

				“Thank you very much for coming on short notice,” said Annika. “The council and I wanted to share important information regarding our plans to keep the town and its citizens safe.”

				“First, I want to address rumors that the United States Army plans another attack against Deadwood in retaliation for the unfortunate destruction of San Francisco.”

				“The destruction for which you were responsible, Miss Wise,” interrupted Sol Star, co-owner of the Bullock Hotel.

				Annika eyed Star, then proceeded. 

				“Though these rumors are unsubstantiated, we have nonetheless made plans to bolster our defenses. We have made an agreement with allies in Europe. One hundred thousand mercenaries will be joining our forces within the next 60 days. Combined with our existing army and weapons provided from California depots, we are confident that the town is completely defensible in the unlikely event of attack.”

				“Miss Wise, I am confused,” said Star. “If you destroyed San Francisco, why can’t you use your ‘power’ to destroy the Army?”

				“That power is indiscriminate,” said Annika. “If I used it, Deadwood would be destroyed along with the Army.”

				Anaïs glanced at Annika as the men spoke amongst themselves.

				“I understand this is a difficult time,” said Annika. “Though there is nothing to be concerned about, we are nonetheless temporarily doubling your gold stipend to $1,000 per month in consideration for the additional anxiety and inconvenience caused by current events.”

				The men nodded and grunted their approval.

				“Thank you very much for your time, gentlemen. Please accept my apologies; we will need to ask that you leave now in order to make room for the next group of concerned citizens.”

				“Why didn’t you hold this meeting at the theater where there is sufficient seating for all of us?” asked Star.

				“You are absolutely right, Mr. Star. We should have done that. Please accept my apologies, gentlemen.”

				The men grumbled as Anaïs guided them to the door, ushered them out and welcomed in the next of 10 groups. Edith noted the names of the attendees in her notebook. 

				This time, Annika told the attendees that 50,000 mercenaries were on the way from Brazil. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Code Room

				Deadwood, SD

				July 18, 1906

				18:17 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The brass thumbwheels on the decoding machine rotated, clicking into place to reveal the unencrypted version of Paris’ daily intelligence message. 

				“PARIS BLACK SWAN RECRUITED 75000 MERCENARIES FROM CUBA STOP”

				“Which group got that intel?” asked Annika.

				“Group three,” replied Edith. 

				“We’ve narrowed the list of suspects down to 20,” said Annika. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				First National Bank of Deadwood

				Deadwood, SD

				July 19, 1906

				14:46 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika walked in the front door of the First National Bank of Deadwood. The bank had seen a remarkable expansion since Kyle Mason had first entered through the same door 16 years earlier. The bank had more than doubled in size, expanding into the adjacent building and adding twice as many tellers as in Kyle’s time. The tellers serviced their customers from behind barred windows framed by carved walnut. Fans rotated slowly overhead, suspended from a ceiling adorned with bronze-colored floral tin panels. Men in crisp white shirts and vests worked at desks below. Desk lamps with green shades illuminated paperwork and ledgers on burgundy leather blotters. 

				A receptionist looked up from her desk. “Miss Wise!” she exclaimed. “I’ll get Mr. Dickinson right away.”

				The receptionist scurried away into a hallway at the back of the large room. Moments later, the bank’s president, Daniel Dickinson, appeared. He was holding his hat.

				“Miss Wise! What a delightful surprise!” he said. “I’m terribly sorry—I was just leaving to attend a meeting. I wish I had known you were coming. Would it be possible to schedule a meeting later today or tomorrow?”

				“Oh, I’ll only be a minute,” replied Annika. “I have some important news to share.”

				Dickinson glanced at the wall clock. His expression fused impatience and forced graciousness. 

				“Of course,” he said, gesturing Annika to his office.

				Annika walked slowly, observing the bank lobby.

				“It is truly remarkable how the bank has changed over the years!” she exclaimed.

				“Yes, we’ve been quite fortunate,” Dickinson said as he again gestured Annika toward his office.

				Annika stopped and pointed to a machine sitting atop one of the desks. An operator was rapidly punching buttons and pulling a handle on the side.

			

			
				“What is this machine, Mr. Dickinson?” she asked. 

				“Ah, that is one of our new adding machines,” said Dickinson. “It saves tremendous time and virtually eliminates careless mistakes. Perhaps we can give you a demonstration when we have more time.”

				Annika shook her head. “That is truly amazing!”

				Dickinson unlocked the door to his office and ushered Annika in. The two stood in his office.

				“May I sit?” asked Annika.

				Dickinson gestured toward a chair in front of his desk. “Of course.”

				Dickinson sat in his chair behind his large oak desk. He pulled several folders from atop a leather blotter and dropped them into a drawer. He glanced at a clock on his office wall. The time was 2:51. The clock’s brass pendulum ticked off seconds. 

				“You wouldn’t have any coffee, by any chance, would you?” asked Annika. “I just love a cup in the afternoon.”

				“Of course, Miss Wise,” Dickinson said, rising quickly from his desk. He called down the hall for the receptionist to bring coffee.

				“Hurry,” he told her.

				Dickinson returned to his desk chair and sat down. He glanced at the clock again.

				“So, Miss Wise, what news do you bring me today?”

				At that moment, there was a knock on the office door. The receptionist entered, holding a porcelain saucer and cup with steaming coffee. A teaspoon cuddled the cup on the saucer.

				“Here you are, Miss Wise,” said the receptionist.

				“Thank you so much,” said Annika. “May I trouble you for cream?”


				“Of course!” said the receptionist. “I enjoy cream with my coffee as well. I’ll go fetch some.”

				Dickinson looked at the clock again. The time was 2:54. He picked up a fountain pen and began tapping it on his leather desk blotter.

				Annika turned to Dickinson and smiled. Dickinson smiled curtly. 


				The office door opened again. The receptionist entered, holding a porcelain creamer.

				“Here you go, Miss Wise,” she said. “May I?”

				“Please.”

				The receptionist poured cream into Annika’s coffee cup. Annika stirred the coffee and set the teaspoon on the saucer.

				“Will there be anything else, Miss Wise?” asked the receptionist.

				“No, thank you, Miss Evers,” interjected Dickinson. “You may be excused.”

				The receptionist smiled and exited. Dickinson looked at the clock again. The time was 2:56.

				“I am so sorry we don’t have more time to talk right now,” said Dickinson.

				“Ah, yes,” said Annika. “I forgot. I’m keeping you from your meeting.”

			

			
				“It’s quite all right, Miss Wise.”

				“I’ll get right to the point,” Annika said. “I came to share some news that I did not wish to discuss with the larger audience yesterday.” 

				“Of course.”

				“We’ve purchased a weapon from Germany. It will be arriving soon. It will require assembly, which will be challenging, but if all goes as planned, we believe it could make a decisive difference if we do find ourselves in a conflict.”

				“Intriguing,” Dickinson said. He held his fingers in a steeple before his mustached face. 

				“What additional information can you share?” asked Dickinson.

				“Nothing at this time,” said Annika. “If we find ourselves closer to war, I will reveal more.”

				“I understand,” said Dickinson. “I’m honored that you confided in me.”

				“I trust that you will treat this information as confidential,” said Annika.

				“As I treat all of our communications,” said Dickinson. “In the strictest of confidence.”

				Annika rose from her chair and extended her hand. Dickinson clasped it.

				“Thank you very much, Mr. Dickinson.”

				“It is my pleasure, Miss Wise. I’ll show you out.”

				Annika and Dickinson exited the bank. After they said their goodbyes, Dickinson turned and walked briskly down Main Street. Annika remained standing in front of the bank. She looked across the street, where Ida Wells stood in front of a shop. She wore a full-length crimson afternoon frock dress with a matching brimmed hat, cocked on one side. Her hand rested against a parasol. Annika nodded at Ida. She opened the parasol to acknowledge Annika’s signal, then rested the parasol on her shoulder as she followed Dickinson. 

				Dickinson walked rapidly toward the edge of town, then began to trot as he zigged and zagged through a series of alleys. He eventually reached a small two-story wooden building. He climbed a staircase on the side of the building to a door on the second-floor landing. He unlocked the door and entered. Ida looked above the building, noticing the two wires that ascended from the roof and spliced to the town’s telegraph line.

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				102 Child Street

				Deadwood, SD

				July 19, 1906

				15:04 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Dickinson reached for the door to exit the second-floor room. When he opened it, he faced Annika on the stair landing with her gun drawn. When Dickinson tried to slam the door, Annika kicked it open, smacking him in the face. As he turned to flee, Annika kicked the back of his knee, dropping him to the floor. He cried out in pain as Annika cracked the back of his head with her gun. Dickinson turned to face Annika.

				“Hello, Paris,” she said.

				Dickinson gasped. “How did you discover me?”

				Annika gazed around room, bare except for a single wooden desk with a telegraph set, a desk lamp, and a notebook. 

				Anaïs entered the room with her gun drawn. She trained it on Dickinson as Annika moved to the desk and opened the book.

				“Daily code keys,” she said, turning to Dickinson. “Thank you, Mr. Dickinson. This will come in quite handy.”

				“What are you going to do?” asked Dickinson.

				“First, I regret to inform you that there has been a change of senior management at the First National Bank of Deadwood.”

				“You fucking bitch!” spewed Dickinson. “The Army is coming. A hundred thousand men. They will slaughter you and the red savages and the Orientals and your fellow cunts. You have no chance. They’ll kill you all!”

				Annika ignored him. “Second, I have a few questions for you, Mr. Dickinson.

				“You will find that I am very proficient when it comes to asking questions.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Deadwood City Jail

				Deadwood, SD

				July 19, 1906

				16:12 Hours

				Timeline 003

				“Please let me down!” gasped Daniel Dickinson.

				Dickinson hung from the ceiling of a cinderblock prison cell by shackles clasped around his wrists. His feet dangled a few inches above the grey cement floor. Around the hard edges of the iron cuffs, his skin had turned purple with hematoma.

				“Please! I beg you!” Dickinson cried to Edith Garrud and a Lakota warrior named Akecheta. The two stood silently on either side of an iron door.

				Someone pounded the door from outside the cell. Akecheta unlocked the door. Annika entered. She smiled at Dickinson. 

				“Hi, Mr. Dickinson!” she said. “You should know that you are privileged. Very few people have seen this wing of the Deadwood City Jail. I had these cells built into the basement several years ago.”

				Annika pounded the side of her fist against the cinderblock walls.

				“These walls are reinforced concrete. That’s a good thing. 

				Because no one will hear you scream.”

				Annika walked to Dickinson. She patted him on the chest.

				“And you will scream. Trust me.”

				Annika circled the man. “But we have a problem, Mr. Dickinson. You have information that I need to know before you’re missed. Normally, I would let you hang there for a couple days before we became more intimately acquainted.”

				Annika touched Dickinson’s shoulder softly.

				“You feel the pain in your shoulders? Your elbows? Your wrists? You see, after hanging for a day or two, your joints actually dislocate. Then the skin tears as the limbs are pulled apart. It’s fascinating, that such a simple thing can cause so much damage, don’t you think?”


				Annika sighed, patting Dickinson. “Unfortunately, Mr. Dickinson, we don’t have the time for you to have the complete experience. Today, we need twice the sex with half the foreplay.”

				“I don’t understand what you mean,” said Dickinson. 

				“You’re about to find out. Tell me what I want to know, and I won’t hurt you. Refuse and I will torture you until you talk. Either way, you’re going to tell me what I want to know. 

				Which is: who are your co-conspirators?”

				“I don’t know what you mean.”

				“Is that your final answer?”

				Dickinson was silent.

				Annika nodded to Edith and Akecheta. They pulled knives and approached Dickinson. They sliced off his fine clothes, leaving him naked.

				“Stop!” Dickinson cried. “How dare you!”

				Annika batted Dickinson’s penis.

				“Damn!” said Annika. “That’s not what I expected. Woof! What do you think, Edith?”

				“Quite the bushwhacker,” she said.

				“No kidding! He puts the ‘dick’ in ‘Dickinson.’”

				“Stop!” Dickinson cried.

				Annika grabbed Dickinson’s penis and pulled him toward her, then pushed him away, causing him to swing on his shackles.

				“Tell me who your partners are.”

				Dickinson was silent.

				Annika pulled Dickinson toward her and jammed her knee into his testicles. He screamed in pain.

				“Tell me who your partners are.”

				Annika pounded Dickinson’s testicles again, then pulled her knife from its sheath and held the knife’s edge to the base of his penis.


				“I’m going to count to five, then I’m going to feed this bazooka to you,” Annika said. “I hear it tastes like chicken.

				“One…”

				“You wouldn’t dare!” shouted Dickinson. 

			

			
				“…Two…”

				“You’re a monster!” he shouted.

				“…Three…”

				“…Four…”

				Annika squeezed Dickinson’s penis tight and pressed the knife against it. A bead of blood pooled at the knife’s edge.”

				“Stop! I’ll tell you!” Dickinson screamed. “I’ll tell you everything!”


				“That was easy,” said Annika. “Talk.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				3 Shine Street

				Deadwood, SD

				July 20, 1906

				01:12 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Harold Steptoe slept soundly next to his wife, snoring into the cool evening air, when a gag was suddenly jammed into his mouth and tied tightly behind his head. As he tried to roll out of bed, his head was smacked with a gun butt. Before his wife could scream, she felt a woman’s hand on her mouth and a gun barrel against her head. 

				“Make a sound and I’ll kill you. Do you understand?” asked a woman’s voice in the dark, muffled voice through a cloth hood.

				Steptoe’s wife nodded as tears streamed down her cheeks.

				Two other operators bound Steptoe’s wrists and ankles with ropes and dragged him out of the bedroom.

				“Your husband has been a very bad man,” said the woman. 

				“Bad men are punished.”

				The masked woman walked to the bedroom door.

				“Bad women are punished too,” she said. “Your husband is visiting relatives. He’ll be gone a long time. Deviate from that story and you will be punished too. Do you understand?”

				Steptoe’s wife nodded. The masked woman turned and left. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				War room 

				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				July 20, 1906

				02:09 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika turned to the dining room front door as it swung open and a hooded figure dressed in black entered from the night. Anaïs removed her hood and shook her long blond hair.

				“It’s done,” Anaïs said. “Five co-conspirators in solitary confinement.”


				“Is kidnapping permitted after the first trimester?” asked Annika.


				Anaïs laughed and kissed Annika.

				“We needed the exercise, doll,” Anaïs said. “So, what’s the next move?”

				“Paris is going to go right on sending messages,” said Annika. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Deadwood, SD

				September 8, 1906

				15:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				XXX PARIS TROOPS DESERTING DW STOP ESTIMATE FEWER THAN 10000 REMAIN STOP

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Deadwood, SD

				September 9, 1906

				15:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				XXX PARIS INSUFFICIENT TROOPS REMAIN TO DEFEND ALL MOUNTAIN PASSES STOP WHISTLER GULCH UNDEFENDED STOP

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Deadwood, SD

				September 10, 1906

				15:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				XXX PARIS BLACK SWAN ABANDONED DW WITH 2000 TROOPS STOP DESTINATION CANADA STOP EXPECTED TO REACH NORTH DAKOTA BORDER TOMORROW STOP

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Sturgis, SD

				September 10, 1906

				15:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				General Adna Chaffee stood on a hilltop overlooking the town of Sturgis on a sunny fall day. To the north, he gazed at a sea of white tents, where the largest army ever assembled on earth was camped. Dozens of flags representing the divisions and brigades under Chaffee’s command fluttered in the breeze. Snare drums beat marches as tens of thousands of troops drilled. The general’s white Lusitano stallion munched grass nearby. 

				General Chaffee raised a cigar to his lips and gave his navy blue tunic a tug. He felt enormous pride watching his army on the plain below, though his pride was mixed with disappointment. From Paris’ recent coded dispatches, it was clear that Annika Wise’s army had collapsed. The epic battle for which he had prepared would be a pathetic rout. 

				Still, he thought, bringing “Oriental Annie” to justice once and for all would render the victory sufficiently sweet. He savored the vision of Annika Wise in iron shackles, paraded before his victorious army as they marched down Pennsylvania Avenue, in the same way Julius Caesar had driven the vanquished King Vercingetorix before his chariot at the end of the Gallic Wars. 

				Chaffee watched as one of his officers approached on horseback. A cloud of dust erupted in the horse’s wake as he galloped up the hill. Chaffee’s horse wheeled and pinned his ears at the intruder. The officer, a colonel, rapidly dismounted, saluted, and pulled a folded sheet of paper from his trouser pocket. Chaffee returned the salute. 

				“The latest dispatch from Agent Paris,” the colonel reported. 

				Chaffee took the paper and read the message, which told of Annika’s attempt to escape to Canada.

				“Good God!” Chaffee exclaimed. “The witch is getting away!”

				“Sir,” said the colonel. “Orders, sir?”

				“Colonel Andreesen,” said Chaffee, “send word to General Riker that his 10th Cavalry Division is ordered north on the double quick! We must intercept the witch before she finds refuge in Canada.”

				“Begging your pardon, General, but 10,000 mounted cavalry is more than 10 percent of our total compliment.”

				“We still outnumber the savages by more than nine-to-one,” replied Chaffee. “Assuming there are no more desertions from their ranks. It will be a rout. Proceed, Colonel.”

				“Yes sir!” the colonel said, saluting. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Sturgis, SD

				September 10, 1906

				17:05 Hours

				Timeline 003

				General Chaffee and his senior staff stood around a large wooden table in the general’s canvas war room tent. A cool breeze wafted in through the open tent flaps. On the table was a topographic map of Deadwood and its neighboring town of Lead to the south. The relative elevations of the hilltops and ravines were spelled out in concentric ovals that propagated over the map like pond ripples. 

				President Roosevelt stood among the generals and colonels around the table. Unlike the other navy-uniformed officers, he wore his Rough Rider uniform from the Spanish American War, a blue flannel shirt, brown trousers with suspenders, leggings, and boots, with a gold handkerchief knotted loosely around his neck. Under his arm was a brown slouch hat. He adjusted the eyeglasses perched on his nose to get a better look at the map. 

				“Gentlemen,” General Chaffee said, “the assault on Deadwood shall commence at 6:00AM tomorrow morning. Acting on intelligence from our agent, the main thrust of our army, two corps, shall be concentrated here in Whistler Gulch. According to our agent, this pass has been left undefended due to troop losses from desertions.”

				[image: 22.jpg]


				Chaffee pointed to the gulch, a bowl surrounded by hills bordering Deadwood. “Our strategy will be to effect a pincer movement. General Mills will lead with his 1st, 2nd, and 3rd cavalries from Whistler Gulch, followed by the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd infantries. They will ascend the embankment onto Main Street and turn north into Deadwood. 

				“Simultaneously, General Armbruster’s three divisions of mounted cavalry shall advance into the town from the north onto Main Street, proceed south through Chinatown, and then enter Deadwood, where his army shall connect with General Mills’ to create the pincer.”

				“Brilliant strategy, General,” said General Armbruster. “Masterful.”


				“Thank you, General,” said Chaffee.

				“General Jackson, are your gun batteries in place?” asked Chaffee.


				“Yes, General,” Jackson responded, pointing to a hill ridge to the east of Deadwood. 

				“Our gun batteries have been placed on this ridge here. The ridge runs from north to south, roughly parallel with Deadwood and Lead. Depending on the gun battery, the distance varies from 500 yards to 2,000 yards—well within the range of our M1906 field guns.”

				“Very good,” General Chaffee responded. “Though it appears that your excellent preparations may have been for naught.”

				“I understand, General,” replied Jackson.

				“Still, I am comforted to have your big guns backing up our army,” said Chaffee.

				“Yes sir.”

				“Because of its excellent vantage of the battle theater, I will be on the ridge with you tomorrow morning.”

				“It will be an honor, General.”

				“Our corps of engineers has run telegraph lines from our command position on the ridge to our three major positions in Deadwood Gulch and our northern and southern divisions. I will give the order to attack via telegraph.

				“Comments, gentlemen?” Chaffee asked in conclusion.

				“Sir, if I may,” asked Colonel Andreesen. 

				“Proceed.”

				Andreesen pointed to a narrow pass preceding the Whistler Gulch bowl. “Sir, I am concerned about this narrow pass that our soldiers must traverse in order to enter the Whistler Gulch bowl that precedes the final ascent up the bowl wall into the town. It will restrict the number of soldiers that may pass simultaneously. If our troops are forced to retreat, it will create a bottleneck.”

				The generals laughed. 

				“Your caution is prudent, Colonel,” Chaffee replied. “Though it does not appear that this army will be retreating from an enemy in such a decrepit state.”

				“Yes sir,” replied Andreesen. “I beg your pardon, sir.”

				General Chaffee turned to President Roosevelt. “One final important detail. Mr. President, would you and your Rough Riders lead the charge up Whistler Gulch Hill?”

			

			
				Roosevelt flashed a toothy smile and saluted. “It would be our great honor to lead the charge, General Chaffee.”

				General Chaffee returned the salute.

				“Gentlemen, tomorrow we shall avenge our brothers who fell 16 years ago at the Massacre of Grand River,” Chaffee said. “We shall avenge the thousands of innocent men, women, and children who were slaughtered by Annika Wise in San Francisco. Tomorrow, once and for all, we shall exact payment for the suffering Oriental Annie and her band of cutthroat savages have imposed on this great nation. Once and for all, we shall remove this cancerous blight from our day.

				“You and your men get a good night’s rest. Tomorrow, we march to victory.”

				“Huzzah!” the men shouted. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Latitude 44°22’09.9”N, Longitude 103°42’42.7”W

				South Dakota

				September 11, 1906

				06.00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				In the cool early morning, General Chaffee peered through his brass telescope at the town of Deadwood. The sunrise at Chaffee’s back lit up the mountain town. 

				Chaffee spied no activity. 

				“Deadwood appears to be truly dead,” said Chaffee to his staff. The men chuckled.

				Chaffee noticed that several series of telephone poles ran from the town up to the hilltop ridge, then stopped. He peered over the western edge of the ridge, where the telephone poles ended their march. At the final pole in each series, Chaffee noticed that trees had been cut irregularly out of the hillside. The cut trees lay on the ground at the base of the ridge surrounding each telephone pole. Something about the trees and telephone poles struck him as odd.

				He peered through his scope to the south. He could see tens of thousands of troops filling the Deadwood Gulch bowl. A narrow parade of troops marched through the bottleneck opening into the bowl. 

				Chaffee turned to Colonel Andreessen. “Are our troops in position?” he asked.

				“Yes sir,” replied Andreessen.

				“Let the battle commence,” ordered Chaffee.

				“Yes sir.”

				Andreessen turned to the telegraph operator and nodded. 

				


			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Olaf Seim Mine

				Deadwood, SD

				September 11, 1906

				06.00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika watched General Chaffee through her 21st-century binoculars from a watchtower atop the Olaf Seim Mine, 4,678 feet up the side of a hilltop west of Deadwood. She scanned the chopped trees beneath the general and his artillery placements. Though the fallen trees appeared to be a meaningless jumble to the soldiers standing on the ridge, from Annika’s distant vantage, the shaped clearings they left formed numerals on the side of the ridge. 

				Annika had covered her face entirely with blue war paint. A few hours earlier, Anaïs had screamed with laughter when Annika had emerged from their bathroom with her painted face.

				“I was going for Mel Gibson from Braveheart,” she explained as Anaïs doubled over, gasping for breath.

				At the base of the tower, Annika’s guard, two dozen Lakota warriors, sat on horseback. The warriors and their horses wore brilliant war paint and feathers. One of the braves held Pegasus’ reins. Though the old war horse was now 19, Annika was unable to leave him out of a fight, as Pegasus complained incessantly when he was left behind by his fellow herd members. He could still gallop as fast as horses a third his age. He wore Annika’s blue handprints, as well as eagle feathers tied into his mane. 

				As Chaffee’s telegraph operator on the ridge reached for his telegraph key, Annika picked up her phone receiver and dialed “3,” the numeral carved beneath Chaffee’s feet. She heard the relay clicks of the automated switchboard through the receiver, followed by a massive explosion beneath the northern most gun battery. Cannons, men, and ammunition were hurled into the air. 

				At the Whistler Gulch bowl, hundreds of quarter horses planted and snorted at the sound of the explosion. Thousands of soldiers turned toward the blast, though they could not see it from the base of the bowl. Generals Wilcox and Mills looked at each other across a sea of thousands of mounted quarter horses. Packed closely together, the horses sensed trouble and began to panic. Some tried to turn back, fighting their riders, who pulled at their reins to keep the horses aimed toward the bowl wall they were about to ascend. 

				“Has the order to attack been given?” yelled General Mills at a telegraph operator perched on a ridge atop the bottleneck entrance to the bowl.

				“No sir,” yelled the operator.

				“Signal General Chaffee,” ordered Mills. 

				The operator tapped his telegraph key and waited. 

				“Sir, there is no reply.”

				In her watchtower, Annika dialed another number. Explosions erupted on both cliffs bookending the bottleneck at the rear of the gulch, hurling automobile-sized boulders into the gap, blocking the soldiers’ retreat. Horses spooked. Some tossed their riders. 

				General Mills wheeled his horse around, scanning the gulch. At that moment, he heard a mechanical telephone bell ring.

				“What is that?” Mills asked, pivoting his horse.

				The men looked around. They localized the telephone ring to the northern side of the gulch. An infantryman found a camouflaged net. When he removed it, he found an ordinary black rotary phone beneath it, resting on a wooden stool. The phone was still ringing.

				“It’s a telephone, sir!” shouted the soldier.

				General Mills walked his horse to the telephone. He watched it ring.


				“Answer it,” ordered Mills.

				“Yes sir,” the soldier said, picking up the receiver. 

				“Hello?” asked the soldier. He listened for a few moments.

				“The caller is requesting to speak with my commanding officer,” he said.

				“Bring it here,” ordered General Mills. 

				The soldier held up the phone. The general took the receiver.

				“General Albert Mills speaking,” he said.

				“General Mills, this is Annika Wise. General Chaffee is dead.”

				General Mills felt a bolt of fear.

				At that moment, camouflage netting was thrown off machine gun nests and field guns surrounding the perimeter of the bowl. 

				“Your retreat has been blocked. Your troops are trapped. In 30 seconds, we will open fire with machine guns into the gulch. You will not survive. Lay down your weapons now and surrender without conditions and you have my word that the lives of you and your men will be spared and you will be treated well as my prisoners.”


			

			
				General Mills was stunned. Only minutes earlier, he had assumed an easy rout of Deadwood with an army that overwhelmingly outnumbered and outgunned its enemy. 

				“General?” asked Annika. “What is your decision?”

				“Thank you for your offer,” said the general. “Respectfully, I am duty bound to decline.”

				“I understand,” said Annika. “I regret your decision.”

				General Mills heard a click on the phone line. He handed the receiver to the soldier. Moments later, machine gun fire raked the soldiers from multiple angles, dropping hundreds of dead and wounded to the ground in the first few seconds of the engagement. Horses galloped and bucked, crashing into one another, running over fallen soldiers on the ground.

				At the base of the bowl wall, Roosevelt turned to his Rough Riders.


				“Men! We must charge to the ridge!” he shouted to his troops. “It is our only hope.”

				He turned and drove his bay quarter horse up the bowl wall at a full gallop, followed by his troops.

				•   •   •

				Annika calmly dialed three more numbers in rapid sequence corresponding to the numbers carved beneath the three remaining artillery positions: 1, 2, and 5. The resulting explosions destroyed the field guns, instantly killing their operators. Men and machines were blown into the air and tumbled down the western side of the ridge. 

				She hung up and dialed again.

				“Yes, doll?” asked Anaïs.

				“I don’t know if I’m entirely comfortable being addressed as ‘doll’ in the middle of a major military engagement,” Annika replied.

				“Sorry. Would ‘supreme leader’ be more to your liking?”

				“Bitch,” Annika said. 

				“Is your secret weapon going to happen in my natural lifetime?” Annika continued. “I think we’re going to need it at the barricades.”

				“It will happen in 15 minutes. Ten if you stop calling me.”

				“Are you being careful?” asked Annika. 

				“I am if you are.”

				“Deal.”

				“Bye, doll,” said Anaïs, hanging up the phone. 

				Annika picked up her binoculars and scanned the battle theater. As she panned south to Whistler Gulch, she saw a commander on horseback, his horse leaping out of the gulch, followed by dozens of cavalry riders. They turned north on Main Street at a full gallop.

				“How the fuck did you make it out of that alive?” she said. 

				She called to her Lakota guard below. “I’m coming down.”

				She rapidly descended the ladder from the watchtower, jumping the last few feet. She jumped on Pegasus’ bare back with a scissor kick, took the reins, and galloped to intercept the Rough Riders. The warriors yipped and howled as they followed Annika into battle. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Chinatown

				Deadwood, SD

				September 11, 1906

				06.15 Hours

				Timeline 003

				General George Armbruster trotted his bay quarter horse at the lead of a column of 30,000 cavalry soldiers riding south on the main road toward Deadwood’s northern edge. His grey hair was closely cropped beneath his Stetson hat. He wore a precisely trimmed short grey mustache. The 60-year-old general swelled with pride at the head of the procession, commanding the largest army in his long career. 


				The tens of thousands of soldiers in the long column were clad in khaki tunics with matching jodhpur pants, stuffed into boots with leggings buttoned up the sides. Stetson hats with gold cavalry cords completed their uniforms. Brown leather holsters at the sides held their Colt revolver pistols. Henry rifles with shiny brass receivers were held close in saddle sleeves. 

				Armbruster rode in a row of six, flanked by riders carrying the American flag and the flag of the 7th Cavalry division. The flags of other regiments fluttered throughout a column of mounted riders that stretched for over a mile on the winding road to Deadwood. The parade was a moving sea of khaki-clad men and bay horses, punctuated by the colors of fluttering flags. 

				The soldiers had not encountered resistance as they advanced toward Deadwood. Indeed, they had not seen a single person during their ride from Sturgis. 

				As Armbruster approached buildings on the northern outskirts of Deadwood, he held up his gauntleted hand. The horses halted in a wave that extended for miles. 

				“Do you see that?” asked Armbruster.

				“Yes sir,” replied his aide, Colonel McConnell. “It appears to be a man…flying a kite.”

				A kite, shaped like a goldfish with bulging eyes and colored in brilliant orange, floated lazily above Main Street, between the rows of buildings that bordered the street on both sides. The flying goldfish was tethered to a man wearing a long Tang jacket with its padded sleeves turned back. He wore a white changshan shirt and baggy black pants. A black silk cap covered his head. 

			

			
				“Advance,” said Armbruster, pulling his Colt revolver from his 
holster. 

				The soldiers walked their horses to the man. The horses watched the kite warily. Some planted their feet and snorted. 

				Wong Ching Foo beamed an oversized smile and bowed to the general.

				“Ah!” Wong exclaimed. “Big ahhmee! Very big ahhmee! How come you here?”

				“Is Annika Wise here?” asked Armstrong.

				“Ah! Miss Annika!” said Wong. “Miss Annika here! You save us! I takee to Miss Annika! You come!”

				“I was told Annika had vacated Deadwood,” said Armbruster.

				“Huh?” asked Wong. His expression was confused.

				“Annika no here,” rephrased Armbruster, attempting Pidgin English. 


				“No no no!” Wong said, waving his hands, his kite juking with his hand movement. “Miss Annika here! I takee to Miss Annika! You save us! You come!”

				Wong turned and ran north on Main Street, his orange goldfish kite in tow. 

				Armbruster turned to Colonel McConnell, meeting his eyes. He raised an eyebrow and raised his hand to signal for the column to move forward. 

				The troops entered Chinatown, two long parallel rows of buildings lining Main Street to form a gauntlet into which the soldiers walked their horses. 

				The soldiers marveled at the metropolis. The population of Chinatown had exploded since the San Francisco earthquake. More than 30,000 people now called the Chinatown of the Dakotas their home. The soldiers walked their horses past butcher shops with ducks hanging in the front window, grocers with fresh produce, tea houses with Dim Sum, laundries, opium dens, banks. 

				People emerged from their shops and houses, smiling and waving at the soldiers. First dozens, then hundreds, then thousands of people lined the street, waving American flags and cheering the procession of soldiers entering their town. 

				People threw brightly colored confetti from upper-floor windows. Women in silk qipao dresses approached the soldiers, smiling, offering flowers. 


				“Me love you!” the women shouted. “You save us! Xiè xie!

				The soldiers smiled and waved to the cheering crowds. 

				“This is not what I expected,” said General Armbruster. 

				“Nor I,” replied Colonel McConnell. “These people are treating us as liberators.”

				The cavalry approached the southern border of Chinatown, over a mile from where they had entered the village to the north. Suddenly, a giant parade dragon appeared from behind the corner of a building and serpentined toward the column of soldiers. The dragon, held aloft by dozens of men holding wooden poles, was bright yellow with orange and red scales. Brilliant, angry green eyes stared ahead. Its red mouth gaped open, revealing rows of sharp white teeth. A golden beard hung from its lower jaw. Men began pounding drums and cymbals as the dragon undulated wildly. More and more of the dragon’s body emerged from behind the building, eventually reaching hundreds of feet in length. 

				The horses in the front rows planted and snorted at the sight of the giant dragon moving toward them. Some reared and turned to bolt. The officers pulled their Colt revolvers, trying to aim at the dragon as it bobbed and weaved toward the soldiers.

				“Stop!” ordered Armbruster. “You’re spooking our horses!”

				At that moment, the packed crowds on both sides of the street threw hundreds of lit firecracker strings beneath the horses, rapid-fire popping and sparking at the horses’ feet. The horses leapt in the air and bolted in all directions, tossing some riders to the cobblestone street. As the crowd rapidly retreated into their shops and houses and bolted their doors, the upper-floor windows opened as snipers aimed their rifles and fired into the chaotic mess of soldiers. 

				The dragon fled back behind the building from which it emerged. Large wagons pulled by draft horses emerged from behind the building, blocking the street. Once in place, the horses were unhitched and swatted away. Additional wagons were pulled across the southern border to Chinatown, blocking the cavalry’s retreat. 

				The snipers fired at will along the Chinatown gauntlet, wounding thousands of troops. Horses spun and ran back and forth, trampling fallen soldiers as they desperately sought escape. Individual soldiers attempted to mount fragmented defenses, firing their pistols and rifles wildly into upper-floor windows, sometimes firing into and shattering ground-floor shop windows.

				From horseback, General Armbruster shouted orders into the bedlam, without effect. The battle scene was impossible, a cloud of smoke from firearms and firecrackers, into and from which horses galloped, gunshots rang, and wounded soldiers screamed. 

				Suddenly, the shooting stopped. Armbruster looked around the smoky street. Horses trotted and galloped up and down the street, searching for escape. Thousands of his men lay on the cobblestone street, groaning and calling out for help. Hundreds still remained on their horses, scanning the windows. Armstrong pivoted his horse north. Standing in front of the wagon blocking the road was the man who had greeted them, sans goldfish kite. He walked toward the general. Armstrong aimed his revolver at the man.

				“You deceitful yellow bastard,” shouted Armbruster as he cocked the hammer of his revolver.

				“‘Deceitful,’ yes,” said Wong in flawless English. “‘Yellow,’ I suppose so. As for ‘bastard,’ I’ve been called worse by your kind.

			

			
				“I have a more constructive message for you, General. If you surrender now, without conditions, you have the word of Annika Wise that you and your men will be treated well as our prisoners. You will be provided comfortable accommodations, your soldiers will be well fed, and your wounded will receive excellent medical care.

				“However, if you choose not to surrender, we will kill each and every one of you kwai lo, right now.”

				Armbruster pivoted his horse, scanning the street, attempting to reconcile the conjoined horror and absurdity of the sight of his bloodied men lying dead and dying on a street covered with confetti. The rage and humiliation that burned within him from being so easily tricked negotiated with his thinking mind’s acknowledgement that his situation was hopelessly lost. The Chinese had handily bested 10,000 professional soldiers in an engagement that lasted only a few minutes.

				He turned his horse back to face Wong. He holstered his revolver.


				“I cannot, in good conscience, sacrifice the lives of these good men to satisfy my pride,” said Armbruster.

				He dismounted his horse, pulled his battle sword from its scabbard, and held the blade gently with both hands, extending it to Wong.

				“I accept your generous offer. You have my surrender, without condition.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Main Street

				Deadwood, SD

				September 11, 1906

				06.15 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika and her Lakota guard galloped down the western hillside and weaved through narrow side streets on the west side of Deadwood until they emerged onto Main Street in front of the pink sandstone Bullock Hotel in the center of town. As they turned south to meet the Rough Riders, a bullet whizzed by Annika’s ear. At the south end of town, nearly 200 surviving members of the original compliment of 1,000 Rough Riders galloped on the cobblestone thoroughfare, rifles drawn, firing with one hand and holding their reins with the other.

				Annika and her guard let out war cries as they galloped toward the Rough Riders. Annika pulled her MP7 and fired, instantly dropping a dozen riders to the street. The Lakota warriors dropped their reins and fired their rifles two-handed, guiding their horses with their legs and seats. 

				Lakota warriors flanking Annika were knocked from their horses by gunfire. Annika’s MP7 blazed a hail of bullets, felling dozens more Riders onto the cobblestone. Though she was evening the odds, her guard was still badly outnumbered. 

				Annika recognized the man at the lead of the Riders’ charge. “My God!” she exclaimed, hesitating. Roosevelt fired at Annika, missing her and instead hitting Pegasus between the eyes. The horse fell to his knees and collapsed, pitching Annika over his head. She threw her arms over her head nanoseconds before she crashed onto the hard cobblestone, rolling to a stop. Dazed, she opened her eyes to see the remaining Lakota and Rough Riders in a mob of horses and riders, some in hand-to-hand combat, some shooting at point-blank range. 

				Annika heard the clack of a rifle lever. She looked up. President Roosevelt sat astride his bay quarter horse with his Henry rifle trained on her. 

				Annika slowly pulled herself off the street and raised her hands in the air.

				“It is an honor to meet you, Mr. President,” she said.

				“Are you Annika Wise?” asked Roosevelt.

				Annika nodded. “I am.”

				“You’re not what I expected,” he said.

				Annika suddenly felt embarrassment about her face paint.

				“Well, sir, I’m not usually so blue.”

				Annika looked at President Roosevelt on his horse, aware that he had somehow managed to beat her defenses when tens of thousands of soldiers half his age had not.

				“You’re every bit what I expected, Mr. President.”

				They heard a hum ascending from behind the western hills. The hum morphed into a roar. Roosevelt looked to the west while keeping his rifle trained on Annika. 

				The roar became deafening, as the nose of an enormous flying object cleared the western hills. The gargantuan silver object appeared to be a battleship in the sky. The remaining fighters’ horses planted their feet, snorted, and bolted away, with their riders clinging on for dear life. Roosevelt’s horse reared while twisting to turn, throwing his balance and sending him crashing to the ground with the president’s leg beneath him. The horse sprang to his feet and galloped away, with the Roosevelt’s left boot caught in the stirrup. Annika watched, helpless to assist as the president flailed as he was dragged down Main Street behind his horse. 

				A few hundred feet above Main Street, in the gondola of an LZ 3 Zeppelin, Anaïs worked the controls of the colossal airship, nearly one-and-a-half football fields in length. Chatan and Edith Garrud stood behind machine guns mounted behind open doors on the starboard and port sides of the gondola. They fired their guns as the airship flew over Main Street and over the gulches east of town.  

				“We’re flying!” shouted Chatan, laughing.

				“I say, have you ever flown one of these before?” called Edith over the engine noise.

				“Not exactly,” hollered Anaïs as she bounded back and forth between the ship’s rudder wheel and elevator wheel. 

				Anaïs steered the Zeppelin over Deadwood Gulch, where tens of thousands of soldiers were in panicked chaos. Some returned fire against the machine gun nests. Some climbed over the bodies of thousands of dead as they attempted to ascend the gulch walls into Deadwood. Many more climbed another wall of bodies at the eastern bottleneck, attempting to flee. 

				A roar of terror erupted from the gulch as the Zeppelin approached. None of the soldiers had ever seen such an object. As most of the soldiers attempted to escape the death pit, some of the steelier commanders rallied their troops to begin firing at the alien airship. Bullets ricocheted off the gondola.

			

			
				“They’re shooting at us!” shouted Edith.

				“No shit!” yelled Anaïs. “Bombs away!”

				Edith and Chatan pulled bomb shells from a crate, flipped switches to arm them, then dropped them out the door at the throng below. Two explosions ripped through the mass of soldiers, leaving hundreds more lying silent on the gulch floor as the Zeppelin cruised south. Anaïs spun the rudder wheel, turning the airship to port. 

				“We’re making another pass over the gulch and Main Street,” shouted Anaïs.

				Edith and Chatan nodded as the Zeppelin turned gently. As the airship passed over the gulch, they dropped more bombs on the soldiers below, leaving explosions astern as they drifted over buildings bordering Main Street. Edith and Chatan fired their machine guns at the remaining soldiers below as the Zeppelin approached the western hills.

				“I think I’m getting the hang of flying this thing,” shouted Anaïs.

				“I do believe you’re going to collide with that hill!” repeated Edith, pointing to the front of the gondola. 

				“I say, do you see that hill in front of us?” shouted Edith.

				“I see the fucking hill!” screamed Anaïs as she cranked the elevator wheel, pitching the nose of the Zeppelin skyward. It slowly began to ascend.

				“Come on!” said Anaïs.

				The crew heard scraping against the gondola floor and walls as the ship plowed through trees on the hilltop.

				“Careful!” shouted Edith.

				“Shut up!” yelled Anaïs.

				The airship cleared the hilltop and continued to climb as it floated west. 

				“Piece of cake,” said Anaïs, gripping the rudder wheel with white-knuckled hands. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Main Street

				Deadwood, SD

				September 11, 1906

				07.00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika knelt next to President Roosevelt’s broken body as the man lay on his side on Main Street. Annika’s soldiers patrolled the town, rounding up prisoners and tending to the wounded. Occasional gunshots broke the silence. 

				Annika touched Roosevelt on his shoulder. He opened his eyes.

				“Mr. President,” Annika said. “I’ll get you a doctor.”

				“I fear it’s too late for that,” Roosevelt said. 

				“What can I do for you, Mr. President?”

				“I would be most grateful for a sip of water.”

				Annika pulled a water flask from a thigh holster. She cradled the president’s head as she carefully trickled water into his mouth. 

				“Thank you,” Roosevelt said. “Most kind. I did not expect mercy from you.”

				“I’m not the easiest person to understand,” she said, tears welling. “I wish you had not come, Mr. President. I never wanted this for you.”


				“It was my duty,” said Roosevelt. “It was also my privilege. I cannot imagine a better way to die.”

				“I can’t believe how you charged up that hill, Mr. President. You were a sight to behold.”

				Roosevelt smiled. “Just like Kettle Hill in Cuba.”

				“Yes sir,” Annika said, crying. “You were glorious.”

				“I would not have expected to be comforted by my enemy in my final minutes

				…but I am thankful that you are here.”

				Annika took Roosevelt’s hand.

				“It is my privilege, Mr. President.”

				Roosevelt smiled. “Bully,” he said. 

				He closed his eyes and released his final breath. 

				Annika wiped tears from her face. She saw a fallen American flag lying on Main Street, tied to a rider’s flagpole. She picked up the flag, cut it away from its pole with her knife, and draped it over the president’s body. 

				She walked back to Pegasus, lying motionless on Main Street. She knelt next to him, stroking his neck. His eyes were open; his mouth gaped. Annika kissed his head.

				“Thank you, good horse,” she said. 

				Annika walked to his tail, pulled out her combat knife, and cut one foot of white hair. She then cut two lengths of leather straps from Pegasus’ reins. She placed one strap in her teeth and bound the other to one end of the horsehair. She then braided the hair, before binding the opposite end with the other strap. She plucked an eagle feather from the horse’s mane and inserted the quill under one of the straps, laying the feather against the braid. She gave Pegasus one last pat on his hind, then walked away, carrying the braid. 
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				Deadwood, SD

				September 12, 1906

				15:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				XXX BLACK SWAN PRESIDENT ROOSEVELT IS DEAD STOP GENERAL CHAFFEE IS DEAD STOP 60,000 SOLDIERS DEAD STOP 30,000 PRISONERS STOP DON’T COME BACK STOP 
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				President’s Office

				The White House

				Washington, DC

				September 12, 1906

				19:07 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The president’s cabinet stood uncomfortably as they awaited the arrival of the vice president. Supreme Court Chief Justice Melville Fuller spoke in soft tones by the fireplace with Secretary of War William Taft. The 73-year-old judge, often confused for Mark Twain, wore long white hair that fell upon his black robes. A long bushy white mustache bracketed a frowning mouth. 

				The men in the room perked up as they heard footsteps in the hallway. President Roosevelt’s vice president, Charles Warren Fairbanks, walked into the room. The lanky man’s salt-and-pepper hair was tightly combed over the rear half of his head, leaving the front half exposed. A bushy mustache overflowed a van dyke beard, completely obscuring his mouth. He wore black tails, a waistcoat, and a formal white shirt with an upturned coachman’s collar and black and white tied bow tie. 

				William Taft bounded his 300-pound frame across the room to be the first to shake Fairbanks’ hand. 

				The other cabinet members took turns shaking hands with Fairbanks. Their minds were fresh with the triple horror: that their president was dead; that their army had been annihilated; and that this man that Roosevelt had despised and called a “reactionary machine politician” was moments away from becoming the 27th president of the United States. With few responsibilities conferred upon him by the president, Fairbanks had actively fought Roosevelt’s progressive Square Deal of conservation, corporate control, and consumer protection. Most knew they would not only soon be out of a job, but that Roosevelt’s bulwark holding the avarice of the plutocracy in check would be quickly demolished by the new president.


				A middle-aged man holding a bible walked to Fairbanks along with Chief Justice Fuller.

				“Mr. Vice President, are you ready to take the oath of office of the President of the United States?”

				“I am,” replied Fairbanks.

				“Repeat after me. ‘I Charles Warren Fairbanks, do solemnly swear that I will faithfully execute the Office of President of the United States, and will to the best of my Ability, preserve, protect, and defend the Constitution of the United States.’”

				Fairbanks repeated the oath, then kissed the Bible, as was the tradition set by George Washington.

				Chief Justice Fuller extended his hand. “Congratulations, Mr. President.”

				“Thank you, Mr. Chief Justice.”

				Fairbanks turned to Taft. “Mr. Secretary, my first order as president is to order the immediate internment of all Orientals and Indians in this country.

				“Additionally, I order that all women traveling west without the accompaniment of a man are to be arrested and interrogated as to their destination and intentions. Women found to be aiding and abetting Annika Wise shall be imprisoned for an indeterminate period of time.” 

				“Mr. President,” said Chief Justice Fuller, “with all due respect, you do not have the authority to imprison citizens who have not broken laws.”

				“Mr. Chief Justice, am I correct that Article One, Section 9, clause 2, of the United States Constitution allows for the suspension of the writ of habeas corpus when, in cases of rebellion or invasion, public safety may require it?”

				Chief Justice Fuller gasped. “Mr. President, you are correct, though I implore you…such a drastic step would threaten the bedrock of our republic.”

				“Fifty-five thousand of our brave soldiers were slaughtered at Deadwood. Twenty thousand were slaughtered at Standing Rock. Five thousand innocent civilians were slaughtered at San Francisco,” replied Fairbanks. “The bedrock of our republic is threatened. 

				This American carnage stops right here and stops right now.

				“I hereby suspend habeas corpus,” continued Fairbanks. “Mr. Secretary Taft, I order you to assemble our remaining armed forces to impose martial law forthwith.”

				


			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				December 30, 1906

				19:15 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika and Anaïs lay in bed. Anaïs lay on her back, arms at her side, exposed, staring at the ceiling, a satisfied smile on her lips. Annika stroked Anaïs’ swollen belly. 

				“Do you know what you’re going to name the baby?”

				“Yes,” Anaïs replied, the smile vanishing from her face.

				“What if it’s a girl?” asked Annika.

				“Anaïs,” she replied. 

				“Anaïs Junior?” asked Annika.

				“Just Anaïs.”

				“What if it’s a boy?”

				“It’s not going to be a boy,” replied Anaïs. 

				Anaïs suddenly clutched her belly. Her face scrunched in pain as her water broke, flushing onto the bed. 

				“It’s time,” Anaïs gasped.

				“Oh my God! I’ll get Dr. McCoy” shouted Annika, dashing out of the flat.

				“It’s Dr. McKay!” Anaïs shouted after Annika.
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				Martin and Mason Hotel

				Deadwood, SD

				December 31, 1906

				05:45 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Deadwood’s senior primary care physician, Dr. Edward McKay, sat on a chair at the end of the bed, intently looking between Anaïs’ legs, which were bent akimbo. A sheet soaked with Anaïs’ sweat was draped across her chest. She lay on the bed, pillows stuffed behind her back and head. A glint of sunrise pierced the window by the bed. 


				Dr. McKay’s thinning salt-and-pepper hair was combed tightly across his head. He wore thick burnside sideburns bridged to his mustache. A white surgical gown covered his chest up to his Middlesex collar and tie. His shirtsleeves were rolled up to his elbows, arms reaching between Anaïs’ legs. The smell of tobacco from Dr. McKay’s clothing blended with Anaïs’ sweat, further crowding a room already exhausted from a long painful night. 

				Annika sat beside Anaïs, holding her hand. White Deer stood nearby holding towels and a blanket. 

				“Push, Miss Anaïs,” said Dr. McKay, peering over wire-rimmed spectacles.

				Anaïs sat up, gritting her teeth as she strained and grunted. She fell back onto the bed.

				Annika gripped Anaïs’ hand. 

				“You’re doing just fine, Miss Anaïs,” said Dr. McKay. “Just fine. I can see your baby’s head. One more of those oughta do it. Are you ready?”


				Anaïs nodded, panting. “Yes. Yes, I’m ready.”

				“Let’s bring this baby into the world!” said Dr. McKay.

				Anaïs sat up again, grunting as she strained. She roared and then, suddenly, stopped. She sighed, smiling broadly as she lay back on the pillows, feeling her baby born.

				Dr. McKay cut the umbilical cord and tied it, then handed the baby to Anaïs.

				“Congratulations, Miss Anaïs,” said Dr. McKay, smiling. “You are the mother to a healthy baby girl!”

				“Oh my God! Oh my God!” said Annika. “I can’t believe it! You made a baby! You’re amazing!”

				“Thank you, doll,” Anaïs said, kissing Annika. “I don’t think I’m the only woman who can do this.”

				White Deer handed Anaïs a blanket. Anaïs swaddled the baby. 

				Annika and Anaïs looked at the newborn baby, who stared back at the couple. Anaïs touched the baby’s chest. The baby grasped her mother’s finger with her tiny hand.

				“She looks very…what’s the word…contemplative,” said Annika as the baby observed the couple. “She seems like she already knows everything.”

				Anaïs laughed. “How could our baby not know everything?”

				Dr. McKay frowned as he noticed a blood stain spreading rapidly on the sheet beneath Anaïs.

				“Miss Annika, I need to tend to Miss Anaïs,” McKay said. “She’s bleeding more than she should be.”

				“Oh no! What’s wrong?” said Annika. “She’ll be OK, right?”

				“Miss Annika, I need you to leave and let me do my work,” said McKay.

				“No! No!” cried Annika. “I need to be here!”

				“There’s nothing you can do, Dr. McKay,” said Anaïs. “I need you and the others to leave us now.”

				“What do you mean there’s nothing he can do?” cried Annika. “Save her!”

				Anaïs grasped Annika’s arm. “Doll, there’s nothing he can do.” 

				“Please, we don’t have much time.”

				“No! You can’t leave me! You can’t leave us!”

				“Doctor?” Anaïs said to McKay, nodding with her head toward the door.

				“Miss Anaïs, I may be able to help you.”

				Anaïs shook her head. “No.”

				The doctor and White Deer left.

				“No! You can’t die. I can’t live without you!” cried Annika. 

				“You won’t have to,” Anaïs replied. “Bring me my bag, doll. I need to give you something.

				 Hurry.”

				The word ‘hurry’ frightened Annika. She heard the urgency in Anaïs’ voice, ticking down the seconds in her brief remaining life. 

			

			
				Annika brought Anaïs’ bag to the bed.

				“Open it,” Anaïs said. “Take what’s inside.”

				Annika reached in and retrieved two vinyl records in cardboard sleeves. The word “Annika” was printed on one sleeve and “Anaïs” was printed on the other.

				“Play your record now. It explains everything. Give Anaïs’ record to her on her 18th birthday. Please do not listen to Anaïs’ record.”

				“You knew this was going to happen,” said Annika, crying. 

				“Yes, doll.”

				“Why didn’t you tell me?”

				“I only wanted one of us to carry the fear of my passing.”

				“You’re not afraid of anything,” cried Annika.

				“I’m afraid of this, doll.”

				“What can I do for you?”

				“You can kiss me.”

				Annika kissed Anaïs deeply. She felt Anaïs’ warm, full lips press against hers before becoming still. Annika felt Anaïs’ final breath exhale into her mouth. Annika opened her eyes, panicked, knowing she held Anaïs’ final living moment in her body.

				Annika inhaled deeply, holding Anaïs’ breath inside her lungs. The baby on Anaïs’ chest watched Annika with curiosity as Annika held Anaïs’ breath pointlessly. Annika felt the pressure building within her as her body fought for a fresh breath of air. 

				Annika exhaled and burst into tears. She placed her head on Anaïs’ chest, cradling Anaïs’ head and the baby with her arms. The baby reached up and grasped Annika’s ear lobe with her tiny hand. A laugh interrupted Annika’s tears. Annika lifted the baby from her dead mother, cradling her.

				“How did you know I needed that?” she asked the baby.

				Baby Anaïs smiled at Annika. 
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				November 4, 1908

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The headline of the San Francisco Examiner read:

				President Fairbanks is Re-elected President 
of the United States

				President Defeats William Jennings Bryan 
to Win Re-election

				WASHINGTON, November 4—President Fairbanks was re-elected president of the United States in a landslide election against his opponent, lawyer William Jennings Bryan. Bryan conveyed his concession to the president via telephone this morning at 8:00AM Eastern Time. 

				In a campaign marked by acrimony, President Fairbank’s vow to secure the United States from the western rebellion carried the day over concerns raised by Bryan that the president’s authoritarian actions threatened the republic. 

				During the campaign, President Fairbanks promised that certain aspects of martial law would be relaxed in the coming months, permitting some American citizens to regain some liberties lost in the conflict against the western rebels. Detail as to which liberties would be restored were not provided during the campaign. The president noted during the campaign that Chinese residing in the United States would continue to be interred in facilities in Idaho, Utah, Arkansas, Wyoming, Arizona, Colorado, and Arkansas. 

			

			
				President Fairbanks affirmed that women’s suffrage activities remained illegal, including protests. While thousands of women have migrated to Deadwood, South Dakota, via the so-called “Suffrage Railroad,” many leaders of the movement have been imprisoned and subsequently convicted of sedition.
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				March 12, 1917

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The headline of the San Francisco Examiner read:

				President Fairbanks Declares United States 
Will Not Enter World War

				President Says U.S. Armed Forces Must Defeat Annikan Rebels

				WASHINGTON, March 12—Dealing a blow to its European allies fighting the Huns in Europe, President Fairbanks today announced that the United States would not join the European war effort. 


				Explaining his decision, President Fairbanks said, “We have our own war on this side of the Atlantic in our battle against the Annikan rebels in the west. The great war in Europe must be, ultimately, decided by Europeans, not Americans.”

				The San Francisco Examiner is Acquired 
by the de Young Brothers

				SAN FRANCISCO, March 12—The San Francisco Examiner has been purchased by Charles de Young and Michael H. de Young, the owners of the San Francisco Chronicle. The Examiner experienced a sharp drop in readership after the Great Earthquake of 1906, failing to stage a recovery under its former owner, William Randolph Hearst. 

				With the acquisition of the Examiner, the de Young family now owns all three San Francisco area newspapers, the San Francisco Chronicle, the San Francisco Examiner, and The San Francisco Call. 

				William Randolph Hearst Files Bankruptcy

				SAN FRANCISCO, March 12—The former owner of the San Francisco Examiner, William Randolph Hearst, has filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy protection. Hearst’s family suffered a severe financial setback when its Homestake Mine was captured by the Lakota Indians and their leader, Annika Wise. 

				Hearst experienced additional misfortune after readership of his newspaper, the Examiner, plummeted after the Great Earthquake of 1906. Readers complained that Hearst intentionally played down the threat that Wise posed to the city, placing the city and its citizens at peril. 

			

			
				Readership of the San Francisco Chronicle simultaneously skyrocketed. The Chronicle’s owners, the de Young brothers, announced the purchase of the Examiner today. 
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				Airbase Omaha

				Oshoto, WY 

				December 31, 1917

				07:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Captain David McKelvey Peterson climbed into the cockpit of his cadet blue Nieuport 28 biplane on a crisp, crystal clear December morning. The American white-blue-red concentric circle insignias adorned the wings. The “Hat in the Ring” insignia of the 94th Aero Squadron of the United States Army Air Service was painted on the fuselage. After being denied the opportunity to fly in the European battle theater in the World War, the tall 24 year old was champing at the bit for a mission. 

				Peterson turned a crank magneto in the cockpit with his gauntlet-covered hand, sparking the engine’s spark plugs. The engine roared to life. He looked over his shoulder, smiled, and gave a thumbs-up to his two wingmen. They waved in return. 

				Peterson adjusted his leather coat, wrapped his white scarf around his neck, then pulled his goggles from his fur-lined leather cap and placed them over his eyes. He squinted into the bright morning sun from the east as he throttled up his plane and rolled down the runway, gently lifting into the cold air. The headwind was bracing in the biplane’s open cockpit. 

				Peterson circled the clandestine airfield once, ascending to 2,000 meters as he waited for his wingmen to join him. The three aircraft assembled into a “V” formation with Peterson in the lead as the squad flew east. The squad’s top-secret mission was reconnaissance—to use aircraft to gain a bird’s eye vantage of Deadwood and assess Annika Wise’s military capacity.

				Peterson pointed at Devils Tower to the left. The blond-colored laccolith appeared to thrust unnaturally nearly 900 feet from a wooded base. The pilots looked at the butte with its strange vertical scores and flat top. They cruised by the stone tower at 80 miles per hour on their way to Deadwood. 

				Within an hour, Peterson signaled to the other pilots, slicing his hand directly forward through the air. The town was dead ahead. He pitched his plane forward, descending to 1,000 meters. The other two planes followed. The three planes flew directly over Main Street. The pilots scanned the buildings lining the thoroughfare corridor for anything out of the ordinary. 

				Peterson scribbled on a clipboard as its paper flapped in the wind of the open cockpit.

				DEADWOOD MAIN STREET EMPTY. 
NO PEOPLE OBSERVED.

				Peterson looked up from his clipboard. He saw a glint of sunlight reflect off something in the distance dead ahead. A split second later, he could see the object was a single aircraft, approaching rapidly. Before he could move his joystick, the aircraft roared past the squad at incredible speed. The thrust from its engine tossed the fragile biplanes. The sound of the engine, like a rocket ship, was deafening. Peterson signaled for his wingmen to attack. He waited a moment for the other pilots to clear and then banked his plane sharply left. As he turned to the west, his squad was met with a hail of machine cannon fire, shredding the biplanes to bits. The encounter was over in seconds. 

				Through her binoculars, Annika watched the biplane remnants fall to the earth. She stood on Main Street in front of her hotel with her adopted daughter, Anaïs.

				“Three enemy planes down,” crackled a woman’s voice through Annika’s walkie-talkie.

				“Three planes down, acknowledged,” replied Annika.

				“Orders, ma’am?” 

				“Have you got a bearing?”

				“Yes ma’am. West-north-west. Bearing 285.”

				“Take out the airfield and aircraft,” Annika ordered.

				“Take out the airfield and aircraft. Yes ma’am.”

				The MiG-15 jet aircraft buzzed over Main Street, rattling the buildings and townspeople, then rocketed to the west at 600 miles per hour.

				Anaïs watched the flaming remnants of the biplanes as they fell into the green wooded Black Hills west of Deadwood.

				“This isn’t exactly what I had envisioned for my 13th birthday,” said Anaïs.

				“This is nothing,” replied Annika. “Just wait until your quinceañera.”


			

			
				Annika studied her daughter as Anaïs continued to gaze at the smoke trails leading to the flaming wreckage in the forest. Anaïs had grown into a beautiful young woman. Her long blond hair fell down her back, clad in a fur-lined leather coat over a cream-colored buttoned blouse tucked into a long heather-colored skirt with tall leather boots.

				Annika wore her bison coat over her standard black tactical sweater and pants. Her MP7 was holstered and strapped to her thigh. 

				“They didn’t stand a chance,” Anaïs observed. 

				“No one invited them,” replied Annika. “We just want to be left alone. If they leave us alone, they live. If they attack us, they die. It’s that simple. It’s been 28 years and they still haven’t gotten the message.”

				Anaïs considered her adopted mother’s words.

				“But they think you attacked them in San Francisco,” said Anaïs.

				“Well, there is that,” conceded Annika. 

				“Why is the plane called ‘Meg’?”

				“It’s ‘MiG,’” Annika corrected. “It’s an acronym. It stands for ‘Mikoyan-Gurevich,’ the engineers who designed it. They’re Russian.”


				“Why do we have Russian planes? We’re not Russian.”

				“No. We’re not Russian. The MIG-15 is fast, lethal, simple, and reliable. It’s the best plane we can build right now with the manufacturing technology we have. We’ll build better ones later.”

				“So, we’re not Russians. We’re not exactly Americans. What is our country?”

				Annika thought for a moment.

				“Our country is the one we make.”

				“Does it have a name?”

				“Not yet. It probably needs one.”

				Anaïs was silent.

				“When do I get to fly, Mother?”

				“When you can reach the pedals.”

				“I can reach the pedals now.”

				“I meant, ‘when you can reach the pedals and see out the windshield at the same time.’”

				Anaïs turned to face Annika, placed her hand on top of her head, and slid it across an invisible plane to Annika’s head. The blade of Anaïs’ hand touched Annika’s forehead.

				“So, I can fly when I’m taller than you are?” Anaïs said. “That should be sometime next week.”

				“Something tells me you’re not going to live that long,” said Annika, swatting Anaïs on the butt. 

				“Hey! That’s child abuse,” said Anaïs.

				“Call 911,” said Annika. “They’ll help you out.”

				“It’s 1917,” said Anaïs. “There is no 911.”

				“Oh, right,” said Annika as she swatted Anaïs again. 
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				Homestake Mine

				Lead, SD

				December 31, 1917

				09:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika and Anaïs stepped off the train at one of the Homestake Mine platforms marked “Deadwood Advanced Technology Terminus.” The railroad terminus was covered with a high arching corrugated tin roof, shading the platform while allowing the chilled air to waft through the open corridor. Two armed women guards wearing camo fatigues accompanied Annika and her daughter. They shouldered M4 Carbine assault rifles. 

				Other guards flanked a heavy wooden door on the platform. One of the guards opened the door, allowing Annika’s entourage inside. Inside, they stood on a steel mezzanine overlooking an enormous atrium research center 30 feet below that could enclose at least two football fields placed side by side. Desks and conference tables were sprinkled below in the largely open workspace. Blackboards on wheels accessorized most of the workspaces. Domed Mercury vapor lamps and cable trays hung from the cavernous ceiling one hundred feet above. Annika could hear the muted echoes of hundreds of scientists and engineers echoing off the walls and ceiling. 

				The group descended an escalator toward the main floor. As they approached the end of the long escalator, Annika could see two people in lab coats waiting for them. One was Edith Clarke, and the other was Chatan.

				“Welcome, Annika,” said Edith. 

				“Welcome,” echoed Chatan.

				“Thank you. It’s good to be here,” Annika said, shaking their hands.

				“Well, let’s show you our crown jewel,” Edith said, gesturing the way forward.

				The group walked past dozens of desks and conference rooms. Scientists and engineers in lab coats stopped their conversations and looked at Annika as they passed. Annika smiled curtly and nodded.

				“We don’t get royalty here very often,” remarked Edith.

				“Stop it,” said Annika, shaking her head.

				“I have some news,” Annika continued. “We have had our first successful combat test of our new MiG-15 prototype jet aircraft.”

				Edith looked at Annika. 

				“That is wonderful news,” Edith said. “I was not aware that a test had been scheduled. When did it occur?”

				“About 30 minutes ago. 

				Lieutenant Zhào intercepted and shot down three enemy aircraft. Obviously, the test was unscheduled. The timing of the Army’s incursion into our airspace was opportune.”

				“The bloody thing actually works,” Edith said. “Splendid!”

				“Our manufacturing campus is doing remarkable work bringing our blueprints to life.”

				The group approached a large steel cube with a vault door. Two armed guards stood by the door.

				The cube was 20 feet by 20 feet by 20 feet. A metal shaft rose vertically from the cube. 

				Edith nodded to the guards. They nodded in return and keyed in a code on a keypad next to the door, then pulled a latch to open it. Annika, Edith, Anaïs, Chatan, and one of Annika’s guards entered the cube. The vault door was closed behind them.

				A single beam of blue white light from the center of the ceiling illuminated the cube vault’s sole object, a pedestal topped with a locked glass case. Annika, Edith, and Chatan approached. Resting inside the glass case was Kyle Mason’s laptop computer.

				“All roads at this place lead here,” said Edith. “This mine rests on billions of dollars in gold ore, and yet all that treasure pales in comparison to this; a small box that was left on a bar in 1890 and sat in your hotel closet for years.”

				“I had other things on my mind at the time,” said Annika. “Like survival.”

				“Of course,” said Edith.

				“It is quite impossible to find the words that do justice to the utter thrill I and the other scientists and engineers feel as we explore the contents of this little box,” Edith continued. “Though we understand the theory of the technologies and inventions described in detail in its memory, we still never cease to be amazed when we bring one to life. One part of our brain comprehends the science, and yet another is dazzled with its magic. 

				Quite remarkable, wouldn’t you agree, Chatan?”

				Chatan flashed a smile. “My people think of what comes from this place as ‘medicine,’ meaning ‘magic.’ Everything we do here is ‘medicine.’ Though I’ve learned the math and science that powers the medicine, it still seems like magic. It’s incredible.”

			

			
				“And we’ve still only scratched the surface,” said Edith. “There are many more miracles locked away in this box. I only hope we can extract them in time.”

				“In time for what?” asked Annika.

				“Colonel Mason’s computer is 28 years old,” said Edith. “Its lifetime is not infinite.

				“We’ve taken great care to extend its life. Obviously, it is well protected. The climate in this vault is controlled. The electricity that powers it is stable. No surges or interruptions. Users must discharge static electricity before touching the computer. 

				Every time we reboot this fellow, we hold our breaths.

				“We keep the number of boot ups and power downs to an absolute minimum, so computer time is carefully planned and scheduled. When we boot up, we keep the computer powered up for several hours or even days at a time. When we’re not offloading information on how to build weapons systems and related materials and manufacturing processes, most of our computer time is spent downloading information that will enable us to build our own mass storage devices, so we can back up this machine’s contents in its entirety.

				“Our first storage unit is the size of a three-story building and it holds less than one percent of Colonel Mason’s drive.

				“Miniaturization remains a significant challenge for us. We are now fabricating our first central processing unit chips at a 3-micrometer level of miniaturization. That works out to about 30,000 transistors on a chip smaller than a penny. 

				The level of miniaturization in 2008 is normally 2,000 times greater than that—two billion transistors crammed onto something the size of my fingernail.

				“That would be daunting enough to replicate in this time. However, the microcircuitry on Colonel Mason’s computer is actually far beyond the technology of 2008. The circuits are comprised of two layers of graphene—two one-atom-thick sheets of carbon crystals. The layers are rotated by an infinitesimally small degree, making them slightly askew. That misalignment enables the material to somehow superconduct at room temperature.”

				“What does that mean in English?” asked Annika.

				“It means Colonel Mason’s computer is very fast and it stores a lot of data.”

				“How much data?” 

				“One zettabyte,” said Edith. “Anticipating a question, that’s one trillion gigabytes.”

				“This small fellow appears to contain pretty much the sum of the world’s knowledge of 2008. Colonel Mason came prepared. It is quite stunning.”

				“May I give Annika the present?” asked Chatan.

				“Ah, thank you for reminding me, dear. Yes, by all means, please do.”

				Chatan reached into his lab coat pocket and retrieved a small black rectangular object and handed it to Annika.

				“This is for you, Annika,” Chatan said, grinning. “We call it a ‘pocket calculator.’”

				“Thank you very much,” said Annika. “That’s what I call it too.”

				“This little gadget makes an extraordinary difference,” said Edith. “We can’t wait until we make our own computers with spreadsheets.”

				At that moment, the vault occupants heard pounding on the vault door. An intercom next to the door crackled to life. 

				“Ma’am, there is a Lakota brave here who insists on speaking with you.”

				Annika pressed the talk button next to the door. “Ok. We’re coming out.”

				The vault door swung open. A Lakota brave stood at the entrance wearing traditional dress: fringed buckskin pants, bone breastplate, and a single eagle feather in his black hair. The man’s old west appearance seemed bizarrely out of place in the 20th-century research facility.

				The brave attempted to enter the vault. The two guards bookending the door put their hands on the man’s chest in tandem. When he swatted them away, they pointed their weapons at him. He glared at the women guards and swore in Lakota.

				“Language,” Annika said in Lakota. “There are children present.”

				“Mother!” Anaïs protested. 

				“Council has summoned you,” the brave said. “You are required to appear immediately.”

				Annika nodded slowly. “OK. Please inform the counsel I will be there shortly.”

				“I am required to escort you,” said the brave.

				“Thank you,” Annika said. “That will not be necessary.”

				“You will come with me now!” shouted the brave.

				Annika punched the brave in the face, breaking his nose. As the young man instinctively reached for his face, Annika launched a sidekick, doubling him over before leaping into the air and whacking him on the back of the head with a scissor kick, knocking him to the floor. As he rolled over to face the ceiling, Annika grabbed his hair, unsheathed her combat knife, and held the tip to his throat.

				“You’re being very rude,” she said. 

				“I meant no disrespect,” the brave said. “I lose face if I fail an order from council.”

				Annika sighed. “You won’t fail. Wait for me on the train platform,” Annika said, sheathing her knife. “I will join you momentarily.”

				Annika rose to her feet and extended a hand to the brave, pulling him to his feet. He nodded and turned to leave.

				“Not bad for an old lady,” said Anaïs.

				“I think someone’s child is overdue for her daily beating,” replied Annika. Anaïs laughed. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Elders’ Council

				Lakotawood

				December 31, 1917

				10:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika entered the large council tent accompanied by the brave, Anaïs, and the guards.

				Annika scanned the room. Five Lakota chiefs sat on the dirt floor in a half circle, facing Annika. A vertical shaft of light from an opening in the large tent projected a disc of bright sunlight onto the floor. Smoke from burning sage twisted slowly in the light shaft. A mix of reflected light from the disk and shadows scribed the contours of the chiefs’ faces. 

				Annika’s brother by adoption, One Bull, sat at the center of the half-moon facing Annika. His fierce eyes held the same embers Annika had witnessed 28 years earlier, when they had first met. Now 65, his high cheekbones pulled against his leather skin, creating shadowy hollows in his cheeks. 

				“Where are the other council members?” asked Annika, noting that more than half of the chiefs were missing. “Where is your brother, White Bull?”

				“That is not your concern, woman,” replied One Bull coldly.

				Annika raised her eyebrows at the slight.

				“Your guards are not permitted at council,” said One Bull. “Neither is your white child. Remove your weapon before joining council.”

				“Mother, will you be OK?” asked Anaïs.

				“I’ll be fine,” Annika said as she pulled her MP7 submachine gun from its holster, turned, and handed it to one of the guards. She leaned to whisper in the guard’s ear.

				“If anything happens to me, kill them all.”

				The guard nodded and flashed a grand smile to the chiefs before exiting the tent.

				Annika took a seat in the open gap in the council circle. 

				“We have concerns we wish to discuss with you,” said One Bull.

				“I understand,” replied Annika.

				“Forty-one years ago, the whites took these lands away from us when they found gold here,” One Bull began. “The gold you take from the ground today.

				“They passed a law. They called it the ‘Sell or Starve’ Act. They held a gun to our heads. We could either die here, or we could die on the whites’ reservation in Standing Rock.

				“The whites could extort the Lakota people because they had medicine my people did not. They had powerful weapons. Our bows and arrows were no match for the white man’s medicine.

				“We witnessed the battle in the sky this morning. Your medicine has become powerful…and very dangerous.

				“We learned a lesson 41 years ago. We learned that those who control the medicine control the fate of the Lakota people. It was an expensive lesson. We paid for it with our blood.

				“The council has decided that you will give us the medicine. We will control it.”

				Annika was silent for a few moments, considering her response. 

				“This council knows well that I have always fought for the Lakota people,” began Annika. “The messiah and I fought the whites and returned this land to the Lakota. I have fought for the Lakota people ever since. I have the scars that prove my loyalty to the Lakota people.”

				“Your scars are meaningless,” said One Bull. “They are obscenities acquired through a shameful act that sullied our most sacred ritual.”

				“My choices have always been in the people’s best interests.”

				“The Lakota people determine the Lakota people’s best interests,” said One Bull. “The fate of the Lakota people will not drift in the wind at the mercy of strangers. We will determine our own fate.”

				“I am not a stranger,” said Annika. “I am Tatanka’s daughter. I am your sister.”

				“Do not use words you do not understand, woman!” shouted One Bull. “You are not my sister! You do not have a single drop of Lakota blood in your veins! You are a white and oriental mongrel, and you will be treated as such!”

				One Bull shouted at the tent entrance. The tent flaps opened to reveal Anaïs flanked by Annika’s two women bodyguards. Lakota warriors stood behind all three, holding their hair bound tight with one fist and knives at their throats with the other.

				“Do it!” shouted One Bull. 

			

			
				The warriors slit the bodyguards’ throats and released them. They fell to the ground gasping as blood poured from their throats. Anaïs screamed.

				“You motherfucker!” shouted Annika. She instinctively reached for her MP7 machine gun, touching her empty holster. One of the assassins tossed Annika’s gun to One Bull. He pointed it at Annika. 

				“You are alone now, woman,” said One Bull. “You have no medicine. You have no power. We control your fate.

				“You will give us the medicine,” ordered One Bull. “You will give it to us, or we will carve your white daughter’s heart out of her chest while it is still beating. It will be the last thing you see before you die.

				“We go to your medicine lodge now!”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Lakotawood

				December 31, 1917

				10:42 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika and Anaïs exited the council tent, flushed out by the assassins armed with the bodyguards’ assault rifles. Before them stood a war party of one dozen warriors, faces painted and chests bare save for bone breast plates. They carried Henry rifles in their arms and knives in leather sheaths bound to their fringed buckskin pants. One Bull was the last to emerge from the tent. He held Annika’s MP7. He pointed it at Annika.

				“We go to your medicine lodge now,” One Bull said.

				“What should we do, Mother?” asked Anaïs.

				One Bull walked to Anaïs and slapped her face.

				“You do not take orders from her!” One Bull shouted. “I give the orders!”

				As One Bull cocked his arm to strike Anaïs again, Annika grabbed One Bull’s forearm, swung a leg behind his and threw him onto the ground. She punched his nose and wrested her submachine gun from him. As the warriors approached with knives drawn, she fired at them. In seconds, six of the warriors dropped to the ground.

				One Bull grabbed Annika’s wrist. One of the surviving warriors grabbed Anaïs and held his knife to her throat. 

				“Drop the gun, or I will kill her!”

				The other warriors pointed their rifles at Annika.

				“Mother,” Anaïs cried, “they’re going to kill us anyway.”

				Annika scanned the combatants. As she lowered her weapon to the ground, war cries pierced the field of battle. Dozens of warriors bounded from the forest, rushing One Bull’s war party and filling the scene with gunshots and the screams of combatants.

				One Bull kicked Annika onto the ground, then leapt up, grabbed Anaïs, and fled with half a dozen warriors into the woods. As Annika rose to give chase, she was struck on the temple with a club. She hit the ground hard, then turned, dazed, to face her attacker above her. As he raised his club to hit Annika again, his face winced in pain and he flailed uselessly before falling to the ground. Standing over Annika, his knife dripping with blood, was One Bull’s brother, White Bull.

				“Get up,” he said reaching for Annika’s hand. She grasped his hand and was pulled to her feet.

				Disoriented from the blow to her head, Annika touched her temple, wincing in pain. She looked at the blood on her fingertips, then looked at the battle scene. White Bull’s warriors were shooting and stabbing One Bull’s wounded as they lay on the ground.

				Annika recognized several of the older warriors as the chiefs missing from council, Black Elk, Flying Hawk, and Kicking Bear. They joined White Bull and Annika.

				“What happened?” asked Annika.

				“The council has finally divided,” said White Bull. “My brother and I are enemies.”

				“Why?”

				“We disagree about the path forward. Though you are not Lakota, you are still family. Tatanka trusted you. So do we.”

				“Do you know where they are going?” asked White Bull.

				“To the mine,” Annika said. “To the medicine lodge.”

				“Then we must go there too,” White Bull said, turning to leave.

				“Wait,” Annika said. 

				She reached for a walkie-talkie on her belt. 

				“Edith?” she said.

				Annika repeated the call.

				“Yes, Edith speaking. Annika? Is everything all right”

				“No. We’re in trouble. One Bull and his followers have taken Anaïs and are coming to the DAT now.”

				“Oh dear,” Edith said. 

				“You and the others need to evacuate the building immediately.”

				“We can’t,” Edith said. “We need to offload every possible scrap of data we can from Colonel Mason’s laptop in the time remaining.”

				“It’s not worth your lives.”

				“It’s worth our lives if this is what we live for,” replied Edith. “What?”

				“What?” asked Annika.

			

			
				Annika heard a muted conversation over the walkie-talkie. 

				“Just a moment, Annika. Chatan is here. He has a rather clever idea to save the remaining data on the laptop.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Homestake Mine

				December 31, 1917

				11:23 Hours

				Timeline 003

				“Annika?” crackled Edith’s voice through Annika’s walkie-talkie.

				“Yes, Edith.”

				“Annika, I’m afraid the barbarians are at the gate. We locked the door, of course, but they’ll be here in a few minutes.”

				“We’re right behind them,” said Annika. 

				“We have a vault code for you, just in case you need it. Are you ready?”

				“Yes,” replied Annika. 

				“We made it quite easy for you to remember. It’s zero, followed by the square of the first three integers.”

				Annika was silent.

				“Annika, did you hear me?”

				“I heard you. I have earthly no idea what you just said.”

				“I don’t understand, Annika. I said, the number is zero, followed by the square of…”

				“I heard you, Edith. I don’t know what combination zero followed by the square of the first three integers is.”

				“Oh dear,” Edith said.

				“Edith, tell me the fucking code, please.”

				“The code is 0149.”

				“0149.”

				“That’s correct. If we survive this day, may I suggest that we schedule a remedial mathematics class for you.”

				Annika heard crashing sounds over the walkie-talkie, then gunfire.

				Edith gasped. “They’re here. I will leave this on so you can hear. Please mute your transceiver.”

				Annika clicked the mute setting ‘on.’ Gunshots and screams crackled through her walkie-talkie. 
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				Deadwood Advanced Technology Center

				Lead, SD

				December 31, 1917

				13:10 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Edith, Chatan, Anaïs, and a dozen scientists and engineers in lab coats knelt on the floor in front of One Bull and four of his remaining warriors. The braves trained their Henry rifles on their hostages.

				Three other warriors roamed the enormous lab, smashing equipment and furniture.

				“Where is the medicine?” shouted One Bull. Chatan translated. “Where are the weapons?”

				“I don’t understand,” Edith said. “This is a research facility. There are no weapons here.”

				“This is where you make the medicine!” One Bull thundered. “Show me where you hide it!”

				One Bull gestured at one of his warriors and pointed at Edith. The warrior leaned his rifle on a desk and grabbed Edith by her hair. She screamed as he yanked her head down, exposing her neck. He pulled his battle axe from his belt and placed the blade on her neck.

				“No!” shouted Chatan, lunging at the warrior. One Bull smacked Chatan in his abdomen with the butt of his rifle. As Chatan doubled over, One Bull hit him again in the face, knocking him on his back.

				“No!” Edith screamed. “Please stop!”

				One Bull reached down and grabbed Chatan by the hair, pulling him onto his knees, facing Edith.

				“You watch your white woman die,” One Bull said.

				Edith and Chatan looked at each other. Edith cried as she watched blood trickle down Chatan’s face. She reached for his face.

				“I’m so sorry,” she said, crying.

				Annika’s voice crackled over Edith’s walkie-talkie. “Hello, Brother.”


				“What is that?” One Bull asked. 

				“It’s your sister, you piece of shit,” responded Annika’s voice. 

				One Bull scanned the scientists for the source of the disembodied voice.

				“Where is she?” shouted One Bull. “Tell me, or this woman dies!”


				“Show him, Edith,” said Annika.

				Edith opened her lab coat, pulled the walkie-talkie from her belt and handed it to One Bull. He snatched it from her hand and shoved her onto her back.

				“You’re surrounded,” Annika said. “We have 300 warriors. More are coming. Your rebel chiefs are dead. Your followers are dead. Your revolt is over. Surrender now and your death will be swift and merciful, albeit shameful.”

				“The revolt is just beginning!” One Bull shouted into the walkie-talkie. 

				One Bull threw Chatan to the floor and grabbed Anaïs by the hair, holding her face to the walkie-talkie. 

				“You will show me where the medicine is, or I will take your daughter’s head!”

				“Don’t do it, Mother!” Anaïs cried.

				One Bull tossed the walkie-talkie to a warrior, pulled his knife from its sheath and held it against Anaïs’ throat. The scientists gasped as One Bull drew the knife against Anaïs’ throat, drawing blood. One Bull drew the knife again, widening the cut. Anaïs cried as blood ran down her neck and into her blouse.

				“One more cut and you die,” One Bull said. “Say goodbye to your mongrel mother.”

				“Stop!” said Annika. “I will show you where the medicine is. I’m coming in now.”

				Moments later, the heavy metal door to the facility swung open. Two of One Bull’s warriors guarding the door escorted Annika to the escalator at gunpoint. They stopped as she stepped onto the escalator. One of the warriors gestured for the other to go onto the escalator first. The other looked at the moving stairs and shook his head, gesturing for the other to go. The first warrior shoved the second onto the escalator. Annika hopped onto the handrail as the warrior tumbled past her, head over heels. She stepped over his unconscious body at the base of the stairs, then walked to the congregate of warriors and scientists. One Bull continued to hold the knife blade at Anaïs’ neck.

			

			
				“Release her,” said Annika.

				“Show me the medicine,” said One Bull.

				“Follow me,” Annika said. 

				One Bull gestured for his warriors to follow. He pointed to one of his warriors to guard Annika. 

				Annika navigated a maze of smashed desks, labs, and conference rooms to the steel vault housing Kyle’s computer. She gestured to it.

				“This is where we keep our most powerful medicine,” she said.

				One Bull gestured to one of the warriors to open the vault. He pulled the door handle, then beat the door with the butt of his assault rifle, without success. One Bull shoved Anaïs to the warrior and grabbed his automatic rifle. He fired at the vault door, showering the facility with sparking ricocheted bullets. 

				“Open it!” One Bull ordered Annika.

				Annika was silent.

				One Bull threw the rifle back to the warrior, then grabbed Annika by her hair and held his knife to her throat.

				“Open it!” he shouted. “Or I will kill you!”

				“Go fuck yourself!” Annika shouted.

				One Bull handed his knife to the warrior holding Anaïs. “If this woman does not open the door, take my knife and cut her white daughter’s heart from her chest.”

				The warrior took the knife, then threw Anaïs to the floor on her back. He ripped open her blouse and placed the tip of his knife on her sternum. 

				“No!” cried Annika.

				“Open the door, now!” shouted One Bull.

				“Don’t do it, Mother!” cried Anaïs.

				The warrior hit Anaïs on her forehead with the butt of his knife.

				“You motherfucking piece of shit!” Anaïs yelled at the warrior. Blood trickled from her forehead. He hit her again.

				“Stop!” Annika shouted. “Please stop! I’ll open it. Let me have my baby and I’ll open it!”

				One Bull nodded to the warrior. He released Anaïs. She crawled to Annika. They embraced.

				“Don’t do it,” Anaïs cried.

				“I have no choice,” Annika said, wiping the blood and tears from Anaïs’ face.

				Annika turned to the vault door, punched the access code into the keypad and pulled open the latch, swinging the door open. One Bull shoved her away from the door as he and his braves entered the vault.

				The overhead light in the vault snapped on, casting a cylinder of pale light on Kyle Mason’s laptop under its glass case.

				At that moment, the vault door slammed shut. The men turned and pounded on the vault door.

				Annika’s voice crackled on the vault intercom. “Here’s some fucking medicine for you, brother.”

				Annika punched “0149” into the door keypad. Red LED lights on the laptop strobed in time with a piercing beeping noise moments before the bomb Chatan had planted in Kyle’s laptop case exploded, blowing the ventilation shaft off the vault and knocking Annika and Anaïs off their feet. 

				Anaïs crawled into Annika’s arms. Annika embraced her. 

				“Well played, Mother,” Anaïs said. 

				Annika kissed her daughter’s forehead.   
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				January 15, 1918

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The headline of the San Francisco Examiner read:

				Annika Wise Threatens Americans 
With Deadly New Disease

				President Fairbanks Vows Swift Recourse

				SAN FRANCISCO, January 15—Annika Wise, the self-proclaimed leader of the rebels based in Deadwood, South Dakota, has issued a threat to kill hundreds of thousands of Americans by unleashing a deadly new disease.

				The threat was issued in a letter received by the Examiner purported to be from Miss Wise.

				In the letter, Wise threatens to release the disease in retaliation for the Army Air Corps’ incursion into Deadwood airspace on December 30, 1917.

				In the letter, Wise writes that the disease will originate in Kansas next month, then spread rapidly across the country, ultimately killing over half a million Americans and 50 million people worldwide. Wise said the disease has no cure. 

				Wise foretold the Great San Francisco Earthquake of 1906 to the precise minute of 5:12AM on April 18, when the temblor struck. The American government has attempted many times, without success, to defeat the rebels and bring Wise to justice. 

				Wise wrote, “Regrettably, Americans must face punishment for the actions of their elected officials. President Fairbanks and his administration have continued their reckless policies toward our people, threatening to kill the innocent people of Deadwood. All we ask is to be left alone.”

				Asked for comment, President Fairbanks responded, “Annika Wise and her band of renegade Indians, Orientals, and suffragette women will be punished severely for their attacks on innocent Americans.” 

				The Harbinger of Doom in 1906 
Threatens America Once Again

				SAN FRANCISCO, January 15—Annika Wise, the notorious rebel leader of the Dakotas who foretold the destruction of San Francisco in 1906, has issued another deadly threat, a deadly and incurable disease that will purportedly afflict hundreds of thousands of Americans in the coming months.

				Ridiculed in 1906 for her threat to annihilate the city of San Francisco, no one finds humor in Wise’s latest warning to the country. Having destroyed the city, as well as soundly defeating the world’s mightiest army in 1890 and 1906, Wise seems completely impervious to traditional martial strategy and tactics. How can any traditional army be a match for Wise, whose powers seem supernatural?
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				Camp Funston

				Fort Riley Military Reservation, KS

				March 4, 1918

				06:45 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Albert Gitchell was late for duty in the mess hall. He entered the kitchen, a labyrinthine warehouse of metal tables, gas stoves, and sinks, with dozens of cooks preparing colossal pots of oatmeal and scrambled eggs as well as sides of sausage and hundreds of biscuits. Cooks moved swiftly, banging pots and pans, stirring porridge, and flipping sizzling breakfast meat.

				Camp Funston had been named for Brigadier General Frederick Funston, who ordered the barrage on Chinese civilians during the Great Earthquake of San Francisco on April 18, 1906. When Funston died in 1917, he was memorialized with the Kansas military training camp named for him. The camp commanders trained the camp’s 40,000 Army soldiers for competing contingencies. Their new troops were either destined for Europe and the World War if the United States decided to join the allies, or they would be sent to South Dakota to do battle with “Oriental Annie” and her rebel band of Indians, Chinese, and women suffragettes. 

				The blond-haired, blue-eyed Gitchell grabbed an apron from a wall hangar. He wiped sweat from his forehead and pulled the apron over his head, then tied it behind his waist.

				“Gitchell,” Sergeant Schultz called to him. “You OK?”

				“I dunno, Sarge,” Gitchell replied. “I think maybe I’m comin’ down with somethin’. I got chills somethin’ fierce.”

				“Report to the infirmary after your shift,” replied the sergeant.

				“Yes sir,” replied Gitchell.

				By the time Gitchell’s shift ended, a fever burned throughout his body. Aches spread like tentacles through every joint. The infirmary doctor ordered him into his bunk bed, one of 150 in his dormitory. The living space was cramped by design, stuffed with an entire infantry company to acclimate the new soldiers to the tight living conditions they would experience in wartime, whether it be on a transport ship or train.
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				November 1, 1918

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The headline of the San Francisco Examiner read:

				President Charles Warren Fairbanks Dies 
from Annikan Flu

				Vice President William Howard Taft Sworn 
in as Nation’s 28th President

				WASHINGTON, November 1—President Charles Warren Fairbanks, the nation’s 27th president, succumbed to effects of the deadly Annikan Flu yesterday. He was 66 years old. At the time of his death, the first lady, Cornelia Cole Fairbanks, was at the president’s bedside. 

				President Fairbanks ascended to the presidency after the death of President Theodore Roosevelt at the ill-fated 1906 Battle of Deadwood at the hands of the rebel leader, Annika Wise. Once sworn in, President Fairbanks suspended habeas corpus and declared martial law, interning Chinese residing in America and imprisoning women’s suffrage leaders. 

				President Fairbanks, the nation’s most notable member of the “Anti-Mask League,” rejected masks as a defense against the deadly flu, despite the advice of medical professionals. 

				William Howard Taft has been sworn in as the nation’s 28th president. He vowed to end the rebellion in the west. President Taft was quoted as saying, “The scourge of Annika Wise and her band of cutthroats must be brought to an end, once and for all.”

				195,000 Americans Die from Annikan Flu in October

				WASHINGTON, November 1—The deadly Annikan Flu claimed the lives of 195,000 Americans in the month of October, including the nation’s 27th president, Charles Warren Fairbanks.

				The deadly disease, claimed to be foisted upon the country by renegade leader Annika Wise in March of this year, shows no signs of abating. As America enters the winter season, medical experts warn that the disease’s spread is likely to progress dramatically in the coming months, claiming the lives of hundreds of thousands more Americans.
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				November 11, 1919

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The headline of the San Francisco Examiner read:

				ARMISTICE!

				War Ends as France and Belgium 
Are Annexed by Germany

				BERLIN, Germany, November 11—England, France, and Belgium today signed the Treaty of Berlin, ending the Great War in Europe. The treaty cedes France and Belgium to the German Empire. Per the agreement, the French Third Republic has been officially dissolved. A new French State has been formed, granting dictatorial powers to French Marshall Philippe Pétain. Administration of the French State is viewed as ministerial, under the control of the German Empire. 

				GERMAN VICTORY A HOLLOW ONE

				Ravages of War Leave a Country Destitute

			

			
				Berlin, Germany, November 11—Although Germany reaps the spoils of war with the annexation of France and Belgium, it also harvests the bitter dregs, facing economic ruin, runaway inflation, and starvation. Unstable conditions in the empire are said to threaten the rule of Kaiser Wilhelm II.

				With its new territories acquired in France and Belgium, Germany also inherits the responsibility of healing these countries’ savage wounds, both physical and economic. 

				WAR CLAIMS THE LIVES OF 20 MILLION

				Europe Left in Ruins

				PARIS, France, November 11—The guns are finally silent. Today’s armistice leaves destruction and loss of life previously unimaginable. Scorched earth stretches thousands of miles across western and eastern Europe, a landscape of nothing but shattered buildings and dead bodies. More than one in twenty people in Europe perished in the conflict.


				It is difficult to know who is better off: the dead, many of whom are still awaiting proper burials, or the survivors of the war, who must now fight for survival in a land destitute of the most basic necessities, including food and shelter. 
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				Bürgerbräukeller Beer Hall

				Munich, Germany

				November 8, 1923

				19:01 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Three thousand people stood facing the stage in the cavernous beer hall. Crimson red banners hung against the walls. The blood red on each banner was interrupted in the center with a bright white circle with an emblazoned black swastika. Cigarette smoke rose to the ceiling into a heavy layer, oppressing the light from colossal hanging glass fixtures. The crowd murmured in anticipation of the speaker’s arrival. 

				A man stepped onto the stage. He wore a crumpled beige trench coat, opened to reveal a double-breasted grey suit, a white shirt with a tab collar, and a cranberry tie. His dark hair was closely cropped on the sides, longer on top and combed tightly across his forehead. Angry greyish-blue eyes presided over a full nose and a toothbrush mustache.

				The audience exploded into applause as Adolf Hitler stood before them. He glared at the audience with his hands stuffed in his coat pockets. Hitler waited to speak as the audience roared its adoration. The applause continued for over a minute as Hitler waited. 

				Finally, the ovation died down. Hitler stood in silence for several moments, then raised a hand from his coat pocket and began to speak. 

				“There are two things which can unite men: common ideals and common criminality. We have inscribed upon our banner the great Germanic ideal and for that ideal we will fight to the last drop of our blood.

				“We National Socialists have realized that from the international cesspool of infamy, from the Berlin of today, nothing can come to save the Fatherland. We know that two things alone will save us: first, the end of internal corruption, the cleansing out of all those who owe their existence simply to the protection of their party comrades. The body of German officials must once more become what once it was.

				“But the second and the most important point is that the day must come when a German government shall summon up the courage to declare to the world: The Treaty of Berlin was founded upon a monstrous lie! A lie that has made slaves of the once proud German Volk, a superior race that has been subjugated by the greed and corruption of bankers and money lenders and corporate leaders that feed on the carcass of the Germans. They told the German people that we could fight no more. They told the German people that France was enough, that the British Isles were beyond their reach. They told us that our brave soldiers were finished, that they were unable to go further. Those traitors claiming to be Germans stabbed their own German soldiers in the back. They stabbed their own German people in the back! Dolchstoßlegende!

				“Those traitors have the guile, the audacity to claim themselves to be of pure blood! The blood of those subhuman creatures that profit from the misfortune they themselves imposed on the German Volk is not pure! It is tainted! It must be purged!”

				The crowd roared its approval.

				“Today, we reject the criminals of November who feed at the trough, draining the life blood of the German people! Did you traitors truly believe you could turn seventy million Germans into serfs and slaves?”

				As the crowd roared, hundreds of men marched into the hall, wearing uniforms with brown shirts and ties, Jodhpur pants, tall boots, and Sam Browne dark leather belts strapped against their chests. Leather holsters with Luger pistols were at their sides. The men wore crimson Nazi bands on their left arms. The men at the front of the column carried Nazi flags bordered with gold fringe. The audience, in a feverish frenzy, parted in the center to allow the soldiers to enter. 

				Hitler pulled a Luger P08 pistol from his trench coat pocket. He held it aloft, aimed at the beer hall ceiling, and fired a shot.

				“All that motivates us is a burning desire to join the battle in this grave eleventh hour for our German Fatherland. Either the German revolution begins tonight, or we will all be dead by dawn!”

				The brownshirts and the crowd raised their arms in the Nazi salute and shouted in unison:

				“Sieg Heil! Sieg Heil! Sieg Heil!”
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				November 9, 1923

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The headline of the San Francisco Examiner read:

				REBELS IN COUP SEIZE BAVARIAN RULE,
BEGIN ARMED MARCH AGAINST BERLIN

				MUNICH, Germany, November 9—Adolf Hitler, Chairman of the National Socialist German Workers’ Party (NSDAP), has staged a coup d’état, successfully overthrowing the government of Bavarian Prime Minister Eugen von Knilling. Hitler has declared himself prime minister of Bavaria. Von Knilling has been arrested on charges of treason. Von Knilling’s second in command, State Commissioner Gustav von Kahr, was shot by firing squad in the dawn hours. 

				Hitler declared the beginning of a “Third Reich,” or third German empire, and announced a march on Berlin to assume leadership of the entire German state. 
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				The San Francisco Examiner Building

				5 3rd Street

				San Francisco, CA

				March 8, 1930

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The headline of the San Francisco Examiner read:

				President Taft Dies in Office

				General Douglas MacArthur Assumes Office 
of the President

				Army Occupies Nation’s Capital

				WASHINGTON, March 8—President William Howard Taft, the nation’s 28th president, died in his sleep in the early hours of the morning. He was 72 years old. President Taft served as president for 12 years, having cancelled presidential elections in the years 1920, 1924, and 1928 under martial law. 

				Army Chief of Staff Douglass MacArthur assumed the office of president of the United States after troops and armored vehicles from the Third Army occupied the nation’s capital. MacArthur’s first action as president was to disband congress.

				“Our country’s elected officials have repeatedly failed this great nation,” said President MacArthur. “The Annikan rebels have not been brought to heel due to the ineptitude and bureaucratic wastefulness of civilian leadership. A mighty military leadership will show the Annikan insurgents no quarter. Their time has ended.”
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				Deadwood Advanced Technology Center

				Lead, SD

				December 31, 1930

				13:10 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika knocked on the black painted wooden office door. The nameplate on the door read:

				Marie Curie

				“Enter,” came a woman’s voice from within.

				Annika opened the door. Marie Curie sat behind a small wooden desk. A computer sat on a return table projecting from the desk at a right angle. A small vile of glowing green Radium salts sat next to the computer. 

				On the credenza behind Marie sat the framed diplomas of her 1903 Nobel Prize in Physics and her 1911 Nobel Prize in Chemistry. A framed photograph of her deceased husband, Pierre Curie, sat in front of her 1903 Nobel diploma. In the photograph, Pierre looked directly at the camera, his goateed chin resting on his hand.
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				“Ah, Annika,” said Marie. “Come in, please.”

				“You wanted to see me?” asked Annika.

				“Yes, please. Take a seat.”

				“Is that a picture of your husband?” asked Annika.

				“Ah, yes,” said Marie, picking up the portrait from the credenza. “This is my favorite photograph of him. The way he looks at the camera. His eyes speak to me.”

				Marie wiped away a tear as she returned the portrait to the credenza.


				“Thank you for coming,” Marie said. “I have some news I need to share. 

				The first is: I’m dying.”

				Annika sighed. 

				“A condition called ‘aplastic anemia.’ Apparently, the result of my years of work with radioactive substances.

				“I think this does not come as a surprise to you,” continued Marie. “There was a reason you never shared our biographies stored on Colonel Mason’s computer.”

				“That future was not this future,” said Annika. “I had hoped this outcome would be different.”

				“The doctors say I have a year left. Maybe two. That takes me to the second item I wished to discuss with you, which is, what I wish to do with the rest of my life.”

				Marie picked up a clipping from a Parisian newspaper and handed it to Annika. It was an obituary from 1888. The headline read:

				“Le Marchand de la Mort est Mort”

				“It translates, ‘The Merchant of Death is Dead,’” said Marie. “It’s an obituary of Alfred Nobel, the inventor of dynamite.

				“However, Alfred Nobel was very much alive in 1888,” continued Marie. “The newspaper confused Alfred Nobel with his brother Ludwig.

				“Alfred was horrified when he read the obituary. He did not want to be remembered as ‘the merchant of death.’ That is how the Nobel Prize came to be. Alfred rewrote his will, dedicating 94 percent of his wealth to the creation of the Nobel Prize, which is awarded to those who are deemed to have conferred the greatest benefit to humankind.

				“Alfred Nobel lived for another eight years. The premature news of his death changed the course of his life and legacy.

				“Back in 1888, a few hundred sticks of dynamite could earn one the title of ‘Merchant of Death.’”

				Marie slid a paper across the desk. It was the schematic of a device.


			

			
				“This is a schematic of a hydrogen fusion bomb,” said Marie. “Downloaded from Colonel Mason’s computer.

				“The destructive yield of this weapon is measured in tons of TNT, or Trinitrotoluene. TNT is not the same substance as dynamite—it is less powerful than dynamite—though it will serve as a proxy for the purpose of this conversation.

				“In Alfred Nobel’s time, one ton of dynamite would produce an inconceivably destructive yield.”

				Marie tapped the schematic. “This weapon with which you have tasked us with recreating has a yield of 4.5 megatons—4.5 million tons of TNT.

				“When I discovered radioactivity, I had no idea that it could be applied in such an unconscionable way. There are no words that can adequately convey the horror and remorse I feel. If several tons of dynamite were sufficient to drive Alfred Nobel to change his life, then perhaps you might gain a sense of how four-and-a-half million tons has changed mine.

				“And so, this brings me to the point of how I want to spend my remaining months. I understand why you are building these weapons and why you believe you need them. I can’t begin to imagine a rational justification to use a weapon like this on human beings. I hope you never find such a reason. I hope the existence of these weapons and the horrific consequences of their use will be sufficient to prevent them from ever being used.

				‘I wish to spend my remaining time with my girls, and to attempt to find constructive applications for radioactivity. I need to try to find an offset to this. I need to balance the equation of my life.


				“And so,” Marie said, “I can’t help you with this. There are others who can, including your new ‘recruits’ like Oppenheimer and Teller. They don’t seem to suffer from the ethical impediments with which I am afflicted.”
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				Paramount Theater

				Brooklyn, NY

				October 12, 1933

				15:00 Hours 

				Timeline 003

				The lights dimmed in the Paramount movie theater, beneath its cavernous bronze Rococo ceiling. Hundreds munched on popcorn and candy as the velvet curtains parted before them, revealing the giant movie screen.

				The audience had come to see a double feature of Frankenstein and Dracula, two re-runs of movies made one year earlier, in 1931, the last year Hollywood had released new movies to the eastern United States. 

				The screen flashed to life, with a black and white Movietone newsreel. The Movietone march played as images of soldiers appeared with the opening credits.
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				The first Movietone headline appeared, accompanied by urgent telegraph-style xylophones as the musical score.
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				Lowell Thomas’ mid-Atlantic accented voice narrated scenes of Army soldiers shooting rifles and machine guns. Grainy images of artillery explosions erupted from distant hills. 

				“Fighting continues in the western United States between soldiers of the Third Army and members of the treasonous insurgent Annikan cult. 

				The Army is using all the weapons at its disposal to put down the insurgent renegades that threaten the peace and tranquility of these great United States.”

				The view cut to images of planes flying against a cloudy sky.

				“The Army is even using its most advanced aircraft weaponry to annihilate the traitors. President for Life MacArthur had this to say about how the fight is proceeding.”

				The view cut to an image of President MacArthur, in military khakis with a star-spangled silk “Presidential” sash and aviator sunglasses. He held his trademark corncob pipe as he spoke to the camera.

				“The Army is advancing on rebel positions and is expected to quash the rebellion and establish normalcy in the coming months.”

				The next Movietone segment title flashed on the big screen:
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				The music shifted from urgent to somber. Lowell Thomas continued:

				“Former New York Governor Franklin Delano Roosevelt has been found guilty of sedition by a military tribunal. Roosevelt ran afoul of authorities when he spoke out against the imposition of martial law, declaring President MacArthur’s ascension to the presidency a “coup d’état.”

				“Though the tribunal sentenced the former governor to death by shooting squad, in an act of extraordinary mercy, the sentence was commuted to life in prison by President MacArthur, who had the following to say.”

				An image of MacArthur appeared, wearing an Army field marshal’s uniform with a star-spangled silk banner.

				“‘It is indeed a very sad day in America when a public servant chooses to turn traitor to his own country. Let this be a lesson to those misguided souls who would aid and abet the Annikan Rebels in their evil pursuits. You will be discovered. You will be punished.’”

				Lowell Thomas continued: “Citizens are reminded to remain vigilant. Always be on the lookout for suspicious activity, whether it be from a friend or neighbor.”

				The music pivoted from urgency to a brassy show tune as the next segment title appeared on the screen:
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				An image appeared of a marquee sign, “Liberty Pictures,” being hoisted to the top of a Manhattan building. 

				“Because battles with the western insurgency have disrupted the distribution of moving pictures to the eastern United States,” Lowell Thomas continued, “Liberty Pictures has become the first major motion picture studio to set up shop in New York City’s West Side. The Big Apple’s first movie studio is expected to release its first feature films, the patriotic Liberty’s Finest Hour and the inspirational The Douglas MacArthur Story, next year.”

				The image changed to men shaking hands inside an office. 

				“The chairman of Liberty Pictures shook hands with New York Mayor John P. O’Brien. Mayor O’Brien had this to say:

				“Try as they might, the rebels can’t stop Americans from enjoying one of their favorite pastimes. The city of New York is delighted to welcome Liberty Pictures to the Big Apple.”
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				Chez Josephine

				40 Rue Pierre Fontaine

				Paris, Vichy France

				October 13, 1933

				01:32 Hours

				Timeline 003 

				A handsome young man with slicked-back brown hair and a cleft chin placed his hands on the keyboard of a grand piano parked next to the cabaret’s stage. The man wore a brown vested wool suit and a thoughtful expression as he began to play Beethoven’s “Moonlight Sonata.” The cabaret’s eponymous headline performer, Josephine Baker, had finished her act hours earlier. 

				Two young women eyed the handsome pianist longingly, their elbows on the piano, propping their chins in their hands as they watched the young man play. The man poured himself into the keyboard, evoking sounds from the instrument that stirred the women. They felt the vibrations of the hammers as they struck the piano wires. The tremors moved through their bodies with the chords.

				The man played under an artificial starlight sky projected onto an arched ceiling. Candlelight from dozens of white-clothed tables added a warm glow to the room. A handful of couples remained at the nightclub in the early morning hours, gazing into each other’s eyes with blends of lust and drunken weariness. Four drunken brownshirts with red swastika armbands roared with laughter as they guzzled beer from tall glass mugs at their table. 

				Half of the pianist’s two-woman audience was in her twenties, with blond hair in side-parted finger waves, porcelain skin, and green eyes. Luscious, full, smiling lips were painted with shiny red lipstick. A black Doeuillet-Doucet Ramona dress with a V-neckline, long sleeves, and pleated hem flowed down her body. A black felt hat draped across her blond hair.

				The other woman was brunette, with a short bob and dark brown eyes. She wore a dark green crepe dress with a matching hat with a bow in back. 

				Champagne bubbled in the women’s Marie Antoinette coupe glasses, which rested on the piano astride a bottle of Perrier-Jouët in a gleaming silver ice bucket. The neck of the painted bottle was wrapped in white linen. Condensation beaded on the side of the bucket, streaming down the sides, pooling on the piano’s black lacquer lid.

				“Moonlight Sonata” wound to a close. The final note echoed off the cavernous starlit ceiling as the pianist’s gaze lingered on the keyboard in feigned somberness, appearing deeply moved by the music. His serious expression did not betray his evening’s agenda of sleeping with both women. As he lifted his head from the keyboard, the two women clapped.

				“Danke schön,” the man replied to the applause.

				“You play beautifully, Wernher,” said the blond woman. 

				“You are very kind, Fräulein Bachmann.”

				“Petra, please,” she said. “Do you play with Miss Baker’s orchestra?”

				“Oh, no,” replied the young man. “I don’t play professionally.”

				“What is your profession?”

				“I am working on my doctorate at Friedrich-Wilhelm University.”

				“Ah! What do you study?” asked Ruth, the brunette. 

				“I study rocketry,” Wernher said. “I want to build rockets.”

				The women giggled. “So, Wernher, where do you want to go in your rocket ships?” asked Petra.

				Wernher glanced up at the artificial starry sky. “To the moon.” 

				The women laughed at the ridiculous idea. 

				“You mean like Le Voyage dans la Lune?” asked Ruth, referring to Georges Méliès’ silent film adaptation of H.G. Wells’ The First Men in the Moon. 

				“Something like that,” Wernher replied. “Though you can’t go to the moon by being shot out of a cannon. 

				It requires a different mode of…propulsion.”

				Petra smiled knowingly at Wernher.

				“Perhaps you would take me with you…” said Ruth, enthralled, “…to the moon.”

				“Perhaps,” Wernher replied. “Perhaps we can all go to the moon tonight.”

				The women looked at each other and burst out laughing at Wernher’s beguiling audacity.

				The brownshirts got up from their table and walked toward the trio. Two of the young men weaved as they walked. Wernher watched the Nazis warily as they approached.

			

			
				“Herr Pianoman!” One of the brownshirts called out. “Do you take requests?”

				“I don’t work here,” replied Wernher. “I am entertaining my friends.”

				“But we are your friends too!” called out another brownshirt as they reached the piano. They flanked Petra and Ruth, crowding them. One of the brownshirts approached Wernher.

				“I am Herr Schmidt, though you may call me Otto. My colleagues are Herr Müller, Herr Schwarz, and Herr Neumann, though you may call them Johann, Ekhard, and Arno.”

				Otto put his hand on Wernher’s shoulder. “You see? Now we are all friends. Now you can play for us too. 

				Do you know ‘The Song of the Germans’? Play ‘The Song of the Germans.’”

				Wernher knew “The Song of the Germans.” Every German knew the national anthem, with its refrain “Deutschland über alles.”

				Wernher’s wary eyes met Petra’s and Ruth’s.

				“Actually, we were just leaving,” said Wernher, rising from the piano bench.

				“Nonsense!” said Otto, pushing Wernher back on the bench. “That would be rude, to leave your friends.”

				Arno, a strapping young man with a blond crew cut, blue eyes, and chiseled cheekbones, examined Ruth’s face closely. 

				“And what is your name?”

				“Fräulein Mendl.”

				“Fräulein Mendl! You are Jewish, yes?”

				Ruth looked down at the piano.

				“I did not realize this establishment served Jews! Otto, did you know the Chez Josephine served Jews?”

				“Oh yes,” Otto replied. “Guests are permitted to bring their pets.”

				The four brownshirts roared with laughter.

				Arno spied an errant rubber banana lying on the stage, ejected from Miss Baker’s skirt during her performance. He grabbed it and held it to Ruth’s face.”

				“Look!” said Arno. “They even feed pets here!”

				“I haven’t yet introduced myself,” said Wernher. He grasped Otto’s hand, pulled it away from his shoulder, then stood up to face him. Wernher, a stocky 6’1” tall, towered over Otto.

				“My name is Braun. Wernher Von Braun,” he said, invoking the preposition of a German nobleman. 

				“It is you who are being rude to my guests. You may apologize to them at once for your swinish behavior, or I will summon the Deutsche gendarmes and you may spend the evening in jail. Which do you prefer?”

				Otto’s eyes met Von Braun’s for a tense moment. He turned to Petra and Ruth. 

				“Fräulein,” Otto began, “I am very sorry if we have offended you. I very much hope you will accept our apologies.”

				He made a curt bow with his head, clicked his boot heels, then turned to leave followed by his friends, laughing in his wake. Petra put her arm around Ruth’s shoulders. Ruth’s hands were shaking.

				“Please, I want to go home,” she said.

				“Of course. I’ll get you a taxi,” said Von Braun. 

				Outside the bar, Von Braun watched the taxi drive away with Petra and Ruth. His lips were tight with frustration. The Nazis had wrecked his glorious evening.

				He turned to walk down the Rue Pierre Fontaine toward his Paris hotel. He glanced at his watch.

				2:15

				The dark street was empty. The only sounds were the footsteps of his leather-soled shoes on the pavement.

				The sounds of other footsteps joined his.

				Von Braun stopped. The other footsteps stopped as well. Von Braun looked around. 

				Nothing. 

				He began walking again. The other footsteps joined his. It sounded like multiple people were following him.

				Von Braun walked faster. The shadow footsteps accelerated with his. He began to run. The footsteps kept apace. 

				As he reached an intersection, a white Mercedes panel van swung around the corner. A panel door slid open and a masked person pointed a pistol with a silencer at Von Braun.

				“Get in,” a woman’s voice instructed in German.

				Von Braun turned to run away. The woman fired, hitting him in the leg. Wernher fell to the ground, screaming in pain.

				The van’s other doors opened, and four masked figures jumped out. One gagged Von Braun and threw a black bag over his head while the others bound his hands and feet. They picked him up and threw him in the back of the van, then sped off in the dark. 

				•   •   •

				After two hours on the highway, Von Braun felt the van slow, then turn off onto a series of roads. He eventually heard the crunch of gravel against the truck’s tires before the vehicle stopped and the engine cut off. Von Braun heard the van door open before he was grabbed by his legs and underarms and pulled from the van. He cried with pain from his gunshot wound.

			

			
				Von Braun could hear the sound of water lapping against a shore before being placed in a small wooden boat. His abductors piled in, the engine was started, and they shoved off. Suddenly, his mask was pulled from his head. He was looking at a beautiful blond woman, in her mid-twenties, with blond hair pulled tightly back into a bun. Like her fellow abductors, she wore a black ribbed commando sweater with reinforced shoulders and elbows, black pants, and a bulletproof vest.

				Von Braun looked at his other abductors. He was surprised to see that all four were young women. 

				One of the women cut away his gag. 

				Von Braun looked around the boat at the dark open water. A faint glint of light in the east hinted at coming daylight. The boat bobbed over choppy waves as it drove out onto a chilly sea. 

				“Where are we?” Von Braun asked.

				“English Channel,” replied the blond woman in German.

				“You’re taking me to England?” asked Von Braun.

				“No.”

				The boat plunged into an unusually deep wave trough, splashing cold saltwater onto Von Braun’s expensive suit. He eyed the ruined suit mournfully. 

				“Who are you?” asked Von Braun. “Are you Americans?”

				“Not exactly,” replied the woman.

				She raised her fingers to her neck, tapping a black band throat microphone.

				“Madre, this is Rosewood, acknowledge.”

				“Rosewood, this is Madre,” replied a woman’s voice. “Do you have the package?”

				“Roger that,” replied the woman. “Package in hand. Damaged in transit. We’re going to need a winch and a bosun’s chair.”

				“Winch and a bosun’s chair. Roger that.”

				The boat came to a stop, bobbing gently on the water.

				“What are we doing?” asked Von Braun.

				The woman didn’t answer. She gazed at the sea. 

				A hundred feet dead ahead of the boat, the seawater swelled. The conning tower of a submarine pierced the surface, followed by its enormous hull. In the dim morning light, Von Braun gasped at its size, estimating it to be twice the length of a soccer field. Werner was astonished that something so large could move so silently. The only sound was the wash of the seawater around the vessel.

				“Gott in Himmel!” exclaimed Von Braun.

				A hatch opened on the deck behind the conning tower. Several people emerged. A rope ladder was tossed down the side of the ship. The crewmembers erected a winch and lowered a bosun’s chair harness. The boat motored toward the ship. 

				“Please tell me what is happening!” cried Von Braun.

				“You’re being kidnapped,” replied the woman. “That’s what’s happening.”

				Beside the submarine, the women helped Von Braun into the bosun’s chair, then scrambled up the rope ladder as Von Braun was winched up to the deck. He watched the wooden boat drift away in the dawn light.

				Von Braun was lowered through a cargo hatch into the ship. Women wearing white uniforms embroidered with a red cross on one breast and a red hourglass on the other helped Von Braun out of the harness and onto a stretcher. They carried him down a charcoal grey hallway illuminated by clusters of tiny bulbs that cast a strange, brilliant blue-white light.

				The litter bearers turned into the ship’s infirmary, a room with three hospital beds, each accompanied with equipment that Von Braun did not recognize. The women lifted him onto one of the beds, then proceeded to undress him, pulling off his suit coat, then cutting off his shirt and pants with sharp scissors.

				“Is that really necessary?” asked Von Braun in German. 

				The women didn’t reply. In moments, Von Braun was wearing only grey knee-length flannel drawers. One woman wrapped a blood pressure cuff around Von Braun’s arm, while another applied sticky sensors to his chest. In moments, Von Braun saw the screens on the bedside instruments come to life, flashing numbers and the ventricular depolarization and contraction of his heartbeat.

				One of the women examined Von Braun’s bloody calf. “We’re going to need to roll him over.”

				“Roll over, please,” asked one of the women in English, pantomiming the motion with her hands. Von Braun looked at them with confusion.


				“Bitte umdrehen,” said a woman’s voice. The women tending to Von Braun turned. Von Braun recognized the beautiful tall blond woman who had abducted him standing in the infirmary doorway. She was still wearing her black commando uniform, complete with a sidearm on her thigh. 

				Von Braun dutifully turned over. The doctor examined the leg wound.

				“Jeez, Anaïs, you did a number on this guy,” said the doctor. 

				“That’s Colonel Anaïs to you, Doc,” replied Anaïs. “Will he live?”

				“Yes ma’am,” replied the doctor, cleaning the wound. “You managed to miss any major blood vessels. Lucky.”

				“Skill,” replied Anaïs with a wink, smiling. 

			

			
				“When can I have him back?” 

				“I’ll have the bullet out and the wound sutured within the hour,” said Dr. Jett. “You can have him for 30 minutes after that. Then he needs to rest.”
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				Atlantic Ocean

				Latitude 48°38’49.2”N, Longitude 8°26’06.0”W

				October 13, 1933

				8:15 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Anaïs reappeared in the infirmary doorway, wearing her officer’s uniform, black slacks, and a matching long-sleeved tunic, with a vertical row of silver buttons up the left side and a red hourglass insignia embroidered on the left shoulder and left breast. Three small gleaming silver disks on her left epaulet signaled her rank of colonel. Varied colorful service ribbons adorned the left breast of her uniform. She wore her long blond hair in a French twist. A black ribbon choker was tied around her neck. 

				Von Braun lay on the bed, wearing charcoal overalls. 

				“Herr Von Braun,” said Anaïs, “would you like a tour of the boat before you turn in?”

				Though weary from the long night and the trauma of being shot and abducted, Von Braun couldn’t suppress his curiosity about the strange ship and its crew of Amazons.

				“I would like that very much,” Von Braun replied, holding up a cane. “The ladies gave me a walking stick to help me get around.”

				“Excellent,” said Anaïs. “Follow me, please.”

				Von Braun followed Anaïs down the hallway. He noticed how clean, orderly, and spacious the ship appeared compared with German World War  submarines. It had none of the crude plumbing or exposed wiring of those cramped ships. The air was fresh, without the stench of diesel fuel. 

				He noticed another one of the odd lights in the hallway.

				“Excuse me,” Von Braun said. “What kind of lighting device is this?”

				“Those are LED’s—light-emitting diodes,” replied Anaïs.

				“Diodes that emit light? Fantastic!”

				“It gets better,” said Anaïs. 

				“Please tell me about this ship,” said Von Braun. “There is nothing like it in the German navy. The hull—it does not appear to be constructed of metal.”

				“It’s carbon,” replied Anaïs.

				“Carbon!” echoed Von Braun. “Mein Gott! What is the ship’s maximum depth?”

				“Crush depth is 1,000 meters.”

				Von Braun was stunned. He knew that, at that depth, the weight of water pressing on the ship’s hull was well over 1,000 pounds per square inch.

				“I can’t believe it!” Von Braun exclaimed. “That’s over 10 times the maximum depth of German U-Boats.”

				“It gets even better,” said Anaïs. “Trust me.”

				“What is the power source?” asked Von Braun.

				“Atomic fission, driving steam turbines.”

				“Impossible!” said Von Braun. “Controlled atomic chain reactions are purely theoretical. We’re decades away from practical nuclear power.”

				“That’s nothing,” said Anaïs. “Wait ’til you see the power plant back home.”

				The pair passed two women crewmates in the hallway. They saluted to Anaïs. She returned the salute.

				“Are there men on this vessel?” asked Von Braun.

				“There are now,” replied Anaïs, smiling. 

				“Actually, most of the crew are women, though there are a number of male Chinese, Caucasian, and Lakota warriors that serve aboard.”

				“What is a Lakota?”

				At that moment, the pair turned a corner and bumped into a Lakota man in his late thirties. 

				“This is a Lakota,” said Anaïs. “This is Major Akecheta.”

				Akecheta’s officer’s uniform couldn’t hide his athletic physique, broad shoulders, and arms bulging from beneath his shirt sleeves. He wore his long black hair in a ponytail. In addition to his military service ribbons, he wore a miniature dreamcatcher medallion on his tunic, a wheel with three tiny hanging feathers. His brown eyes stared directly into Von Braun’s. 

				“Ma’am,” said Akecheta.

				“Major,” replied Anaïs.

			

			
				Anaïs and Von Braun proceeded down the hall.

				“Major Akecheta is very popular around here,” Anaïs said with a wink. 

				“I don’t doubt it.”

				The pair entered a circular room 50 feet in diameter. Von Braun gasped. Large flat full color displays presented information around the perimeter of a mezzanine level several feet above the sunken center, where a commander’s chair was placed. Two consoles were placed several feet before the command chair. One was crewed by a female officer, the other by a Lakota man. Women sat at stations around the mezzanine.

				The commander’s chair swiveled to face the pair. Von Braun watched as a tiny woman with grey hair worn in bangs and a ponytail hopped out of the chair. She extended her hand.

				“Herr Von Braun, I’m Annika Wise. It’s a pleasure to meet you.”

				“Mein Gott,” exclaimed Von Braun. He had heard the fantastic stories of Annika Wise—everyone on the planet had. The legends of her supernatural powers had been embellished with each retelling over the years, to the point that Annika had achieved demigod status, complete with worship cults.

				“Madam,” replied Von Braun, flustered, taking Annika’s hand and kissing it. Annika and Anaïs smiled at each other.

				“It is my great honor to meet you, Fräulein Wise.”

				“I’m very sorry for the unceremonious way you were brought aboard,” said Annika. “I understand my daughter treated you horribly.”

				Anaïs said nothing. She stood facing forward with her arms behind her back. To Von Braun, she appeared as a Greek goddess. 

				“This is your daughter?” asked Von Braun, gesturing to Anaïs. 

				“Adopted,” Annika said. “Anaïs’ mother died during childbirth.”

				“I understand she’s a colonel,” said Von Braun. “She seems young for such a senior rank.”

				“She got an early start,” said Annika. “The army ranks must seem confusing on a naval vessel. Speaking of starts, I got mine in the United States Army. I prefer those ranks regardless of whether we’re on land or sea.”

				“This vessel,” Von Braun said. “It is astonishing.”

				“There’s only one like her in the world,” Annika said. “We’re very proud of her.”

				“Will we be travelling underwater?”

				“We already are,” replied Annika. “Lieutenant St. James, what is our present depth, course, and speed?”

				“Our depth is 200 meters, ma’am,” replied the lieutenant. “Course is west-south-west. Speed 40 knots.”

				“Incredible,” replied Von Braun. “The ship is so smooth. I had no idea we were moving. It’s like something from a Jules Verne novel.”


				“Then you already know her name,” replied Annika.

				Von Braun smiled broadly. “The Nautilus!”
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				Atlantic Ocean

				Latitude 39°09’50.4”N, Longitude 37°34’37.2”W

				October 14, 1933

				08:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Von Braun sat on the bed in his cabin, a cramped room with a single bed, a metal chest of drawers pre-stocked with overalls and underwear, a bookcase, and a tiny metal desk with an LED lamp bolted to the desktop. A corner of the cabin was carved out to make room for a compact bathroom.

				The rocket scientist had been awake for hours. After his meeting with Annika, Anaïs had escorted him to his cabin. He had quickly succumbed to the combination of exhaustion and pain-killing drugs, falling into a deep sleep. He dreamt of swimming in the ocean, able to breathe underwater without an apparatus. In his dream, he reached a sandy ocean floor, brilliantly illuminated by sunlight, with fish swimming lazily by and hermit crabs scuttling along the sand. 

				A copy of Twenty Thousand Leagues Under the Sea rested next to him on the bed—part of the library included with this cabin. The 1932 edition depicted an action scene on the cover—men in diving suits and brass helmets on the ocean floor battling a giant shark.

				Von Braun had re-read the book in the early morning hours. Reading Verne’s daring imagination always stirred his own, inspiring him to create the rocket ships of which Verne could have only dreamt. Von Braun would lose himself in Verne’s books, emerging from the adventures with a child’s vision—willing to achieve the impossible, unencumbered by the conventions of duller colleagues. 

				Von Braun picked up the book, studying its cover. He knew “Twenty Thousand Leagues” referred to the distance the Nautilus had travelled under the sea, not the maximum depth it had reached, as 20,000 leagues amounted to nearly twice the Earth’s circumference. According to the book, the Nautilus had reached a depth of only four leagues, a little shy of 14 miles. Von Braun realized that, as marvelous as Annika Wise’s Nautilus was, its maximum depth was still a fraction that of Verne’s submarine. Von Braun found the knowledge comforting: There still existed plenty of space to fill between current reality and the bounds of Jules Verne’s imagination. 

				He heard voices outside the cabin door, followed by a knock and the beeping sound of the door lock keypad. 

				The door opened. Anaïs stood in the doorway.

				“Good morning, Herr Von Braun,” Anaïs said. “How did you sleep?”

				“Remarkably well, thank you.”

				“Please come with me,” Anaïs said. “I’m here to take you to a briefing. It’s time for you to learn why you’re here.”

				“Very well.”

				Von Braun pushed himself off the bed, using his cane to mitigate the weight on his injured leg.

				“Do you require assistance?” asked Anaïs.

				“No, thank you. I can manage.”

				Von Braun followed Anaïs down a narrow hallway to a conference room. As Von Braun entered, he instantly recognized the four men seated around a black table. All four wore the same charcoal jumpsuits as Von Braun. 

				“Wernher!” exclaimed one of the men, seated in a wheelchair, his dark hair an unmanaged chaos. 

				“Gunther! What are you doing here?” 

				“I have no idea,” said Gunther Appel. “This very attractive young woman abducted me on my way home from the university.”

				“She abducted me too!” said Von Braun.

				“She abducted us all,” said one of the other scientists seated at the table, a man with a blond crewcut.

				“What happened to your leg?” asked Gunther.

				“The woman shot me.”

				“Why did she do that?”

				“Because I wouldn’t get in the van when she told me to.”

				“Well, why didn’t you get in the van, Wernher? The rest of us got in the van. Getting shot sounds very unpleasant.”

				The other scientists nodded their heads in agreement. Von Braun’s face scrunched in exasperation.

				“Do you need my wheelchair, Wernher?” asked Gunther.

				“No, thank you,” replied Von Braun, taking a seat. “I can manage.”

				Annika entered the room.

				“Good morning, gentlemen,” she said as all the men, save Gunther, rose from their chairs. 

				Annika walked to the far end of the room and pulled down a projection screen from the ceiling. She and Anaïs bookended the screen. 

			

			
				“Nehm Platz, bitte,” said Anaïs, asking the men to take a seat.

				“Gentlemen, it’s time to tell you why you are here,” said Annika. As she spoke, Anaïs translated. 

				Annika continued. “My name is Annika Wise. You are onboard the Nautilus, a nuclear-powered submarine. We are on a course for our home port on the western coast of what you know as the United States of America.

				“You may have heard rumors of conflict in the United States. The United States government has censored the news. It is not generally known that the government has lost control of the western half of the country.

				“My army controls everything west of the Missouri River.”

				The men looked at each other in amazement. Wernher had seen newsreels of rebels in the American west, though he had no idea the government had lost control of half the country.

				“As to why you are here,” Annika continued, “you will become the world’s preeminent rocket scientists of your time. We require assistance perfecting our missile and satellite technology.”

				“Satellite?” asked Von Braun. “Do you mean ‘artificial’ satellites?”

				“That’s right,” said Annika. “We need satellites for communications, global positioning, missile tracking and targeting, and weather monitoring.

				“We have blueprints, though our big rocket engines keep blowing up. Our engineers say it’s combustion instability—something they call the ‘racetrack effect.’ They tell me there are some subtle fine tunes to the design that came from trial and error that aren’t captured in the plans.

				“That’s why you’re here,” Annika said. “We need you to make our big rockets fly.”

				The scientists looked at each other in astonishment. The world’s first artificial satellite, a metal ball two-feet in diameter with a primitive radio transmitter, was not scheduled to launch for another quarter century. The concept of satellites being used for the kinds of applications Annika had rattled off were light years beyond the scientists’ most audacious imaginings. 

				Annika clicked a remote on the table. A video of a Saturn V rocket sitting on its launch pad flashed on the screen. Wernher looked at the projector suspended from the conference room ceiling. The projector made no sound and had no film.

				Flames erupted from the base of the colossal rocket. It slowly ascended from the launch pad, gathering speed as it gained altitude. 

				Annika flashed a laser pointer at the screen. “This is a Saturn V rocket. It’s the largest rocket ever—”

				The men pointed at the screen in tandem. Gunther interrupted Annika.

				“Excuse me, madam,” Gunther said in heavily accented English. “What is the device you are holding, please?”

				Annika looked at the laser pointer in her hand. “This?”

				“Yes, madam. What is it, please?”

				“It’s a fucking laser pointer.”

				“Ah! A fucking laser pointer,” Gunther said. “May I see it, please?”

				Annika handed the laser pointer to Gunther. The four scientists examined it, enthralled. 

				“Es ist ein ‘fucking laser pointer,’ nicht wahr?” said Gunther, scribbling the brilliant red laser pinpoint on the tabletop.

				“Oh for Chrissakes!” shouted Annika. “This is a cat toy in the future!”

				The four men looked up, startled. Anaïs raised her hand to her mouth, suppressing a laugh. 

				“Are you from the future?” asked Gunther.

				“She is. I’m not,” replied Anaïs.

				“What do dogs play with in the future?” asked Gunther. 

				Annika looked at Anaïs with exasperation as her presentation devolved into absurdity. 

				The video switched to scenes of outer space—first the Earth from the orbit, then the moon, then Apollo astronauts bouncing in low gravity on the moon’s surface near the Lunar Excursion Module, sunlight gleaming off its orange foil-wrapped descent stage. The scientists stared at the screen, mesmerized. 

				“How did you make this film?” asked Von Braun? “I’ve never seen anything like this before. It looks…real.”

				“She told you, Wernher. She’s from the future,” said Gunther.

				“No, she’s not,” snapped Von Braun. “Time travel is an impossibility.”

				“Frankly, Herr Von Braun, I don’t care if you believe I’m from the future or not,” said Annika. “I need you to build rockets and satellites for me. I have the blueprints. If you build those rockets for me, you may build moon rockets. You can even go to the moon if you like. If you refuse, we will surface this submarine, you will be shot, and your body will be dumped overboard. Now which do you prefer?”

				“I think going to the moon is better than being shot again, Wernher,” said Gunther.

				Von Braun thought for a moment.

				“I prefer to go to the moon.”
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				Bryanston Court

				133 George Street

				London, United Kingdom

				December 10, 1936

				10:15 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The buzzer to the apartment door sounded. A thin woman walked briskly to open it. Her dark hair was parted precisely in the center and pulled down tightly on either side, strictly hugging her head. She wore a pale blue wrap dress printed with simple geometric shapes, cap sleeves, and a sash belt bound tightly around her waist. Black heels with a faux silver clasp completed her ensemble. She opened the door. 

				A doorman with grey hair and a mustache stood before her, wearing a burgundy uniform jacket and matching brimmed cap. He held a vase with seventeen red carnations, plus one white one. 

				“Flowers for you, ma’am,” the doorman said. 

				Wallis Simpson pulled her thin lips into a smile. She plucked the card from the arrangement, opened the envelope and read it as the doorman held the vase. She laughed, then reached for the vase.

				“Thank you, John,” she said. “Would you please have a car ready for me in 10 minutes?”

				The doorman touched his white gloved hand to the brim of his hat. “Yes ma’am.”

				Wallis set the vase on a table in her entry room. The card lying next to the vase was from Joachim von Ribbentrop, German ambassador to the Court of St. James’s. The card read:

				One red carnation for every night together. J.

				The calm voice of a BBC radio news anchor sounded on a Philco wooden radio set as Wallis walked into her bedroom to freshen up.

				“Cabinet is meeting today at Number 10 Downing Street to discuss the growing numbers of German troops and military vehicles stationed on the coast of France at Calais and Dunkirk,” said BBC news announcer Alvar Lidell. “Cabinet is presently deadlocked between continuing its policy of appeasement as opposed to a more aggressive stance toward the Nazi regime.”

				A few minutes later, Wallis strode toward the door, adding a full-length sable fur coat and navy pillbox hat to her outfit. She clicked off the radio, then plucked the solitary white carnation from the vase on her way out.
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				Windsor Castle

				Windsor, United Kingdom

				December 10, 1936

				11:35 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Wallis’ car drove up the driveway to Windsor Castle. As the car pulled to the entrance, a red-coated footman opened her door.

				“I’m here to see the king,” said Wallis.

				“Yes ma’am,” said the footman.

				As Wallis emerged from the car, she saw the king’s assistant private secretary, Sir Alan Frederick “Tommy” Lascelles, standing before her. He wore a dark suit, a mustache, and a frown.

				“Good day, Mrs. Simpson. Do you have an appointment with His Majesty?”

				“No,” Wallis said, giving Lascelles a sharp look as she walked 
past him.


				•   •   •

				Minutes later, the door to the Crimson Drawing Room opened. The king’s equerry, Edward “Fruity” Metcalfe, entered, wearing a black uniform coat with a gold braided aiguillette cord on the right shoulder and a burgundy sash around his waist.

				“Mrs. Wallis Simpson, Your Majesty,” Metcalfe said.

				Wallis Simpson walked smartly past the equerry. She carried a purse on her arm and the single white carnation in her hand. In the center of the grand room stood King Edward VIII, wearing a grey plaid suit with white shirt, cranberry tie, and matching pocket square. He beamed as he saw Wallis. 

				“Thank you, Fruity,” said Edward. Metcalfe nodded and exited.

				Wallis looked at the king across a 100-foot-long and 30-foot-wide room. Brilliant white walls were partially covered with giant rectangles of ruby red damask silk framed with gilded molding. Giant state portraits in gold frames hung over the red silk. On Wallis’ left, a bank of floor-to-ceiling windows overlooked the East Terrace Garden. The windows were partially obscured by heavy red velvet curtains with gold trim and bookended by standing gilded lamps so large they could have stood guard for a grand merry-go-round in an amusement park. In front of the windows, gilded mahogany sofas with red damask silk upholstery rested on either side of a blue porcelain Chinese cistern sitting atop a gold stand. Thirty feet over Wallis’ head, a colossal cut-glass chandelier hung from a white ceiling with crisp molding that looked like gilded merengue. 

				Wallis smiled as she approached the king. She slid her coat off her shoulders, letting it drop onto the floor. The couple embraced, kissing.

				“Oh, darling, I’ve so missed you,” gasped Edward.

				“I can’t bear time away from you,” said Wallis.

				The couple paused between kisses. Wallis pulled Edward’s pocket square from his suitcoat and wiped red lipstick from the king’s face.

				“There,” she said. “That’s better.”

				“I so love this room,” Wallis continued. “It’s like being inside a giant confection. It makes me want to lick the crown moldings.”

				“The crown moldings would not be my first choice of things I would have you lick,” replied Edward.

				Wallis gave him a knowing smile, then turned her attention to a piece of out-of-place furniture, a desk in the center of the room with a red light and a very large microphone, encased in a large projectile-shaped metal case hung from a metal boom mounted on the floor.

				“What’s this?” she asked. “Is that a microphone? It looks like an ostrich egg.”

				“It is indeed a microphone. Who would have expected that ostrich eggs would be the very latest in wireless microphone technology? What a remarkable modern age it is in which we live.

				That is where I am to read my speech to the country, tomorrow evening.”

				“What speech?”

				“My abdication speech.”

				“What?”

				“I’ve spoken once again with the prime minister, and it seems opposition to our marriage from the old guard is insurmountable. I have but two choices. I may marry you, or I may remain king. However, I may not marry you and remain king.”

			

			
				“Doesn’t the prime minister have more pressing things to attend to?” asked Wallis.

				“One might think that Hitler’s armies in Calais and Dunkirk would be a greater threat to Britain than my choice of wives, though it appears our government is convinced you are the clear and present danger.”

				“My goodness,” said Wallis. “I had no idea I was so…formidable.”

				“My Saint George knows well how just how formidable you are,” said Edward. “You haven’t buggered the prime minister, have you?”

				“David,” Wallis admonished. 

				“And so, given the impossible options I’ve been given, I’ve informed the prime minister of my intention to abdicate the throne. I have told him that it is impossible for me to rule without the woman I love.”

				“Dear God!” said Wallis.

				“They wanted me to sign the Instrument of Abdication today, before tomorrow’s speech. They were quite insistent, though I told them I would sign immediately after. 

				A draft of the speech is on the desk. Would you care to read it?”

				Wallis walked to the desk and picked up the speech, typed on a single sheet of paper.

				At long last I am able to say a few words of my own. I have never wanted to withhold anything, but until now it has not been constitutionally possible for me to speak. 

				In a few moments, I will discharge my last duty as King and Emperor, and will be succeeded by my brother, the Duke of York. My first words must be to declare my allegiance to him. This I do with all my heart.

				You all know the reasons which have impelled me to renounce the throne. But I want you to understand that in making up my mind I did not forget the country or the empire, which, as Prince of Wales and lately as King, I have for twenty-five years tried to serve. 

				But you must believe me when I tell you that I have found it impossible to carry the heavy burden of responsibility and to discharge my duties as King as I would wish to do without the help and support of the woman I love.

				And I want you to know that the decision I have made has been mine and mine alone. This was a thing I had to judge entirely for myself. The other person most nearly concerned has tried up to the last to persuade me to take a different course. 

				I have made this, the most serious decision of my life, only upon the single thought of what would, in the end, be best for all.

				This decision has been made less difficult to me by the sure knowledge that my brother, with his long training in the public affairs of this country and with his fine qualities, will be able to take my place forthwith without interruption or injury to the life and progress of the empire. And he has one matchless blessing, enjoyed by so many of you, and not bestowed on me—a happy home with his wife and children. 

				During these hard days I have been comforted by her majesty my mother and by my family. The ministers of the crown, and in particular, Mr. Baldwin, the Prime Minister, have always treated me with full consideration. There has never been any constitutional difference between me and them, and between me and Parliament. Bred in the constitutional tradition by my father, I should never have allowed any such issue to arise. 

				Ever since I was Prince of Wales, and later on when I occupied the throne, I have been treated with the greatest kindness by all classes of the people wherever I have lived or journeyed throughout the empire. For that I am very grateful. 

				I now quit altogether public affairs and I lay down my burden. It may be some time before I return to my native land, but I shall always follow the fortunes of the British race and empire with profound interest, and if at any time in the future I can be found of service to his majesty in a private station, I shall not fail. 

				And now, we all have a new King. I wish him and you, his people, happiness and prosperity with all my heart. God bless you all! God save the King! 

				Wallis’ hand trembled as she read the speech. Her other hand held tightly onto von Ribbentrop’s white carnation.

				“It’s finally come to this,” Wallis said. “Oh darling, I’m frightened.”


				Edward grasped Wallis’ shoulders. “Everything will be fine.”

				He took Wallis’ hand. “Is this for me?”

				“Oh! I forgot,” Wallis said. She broke the carnation stem and placed the flower in Edward’s lapel.

				“This is from our German friend,” she said, patting Edward’s chest. 


				“Yes, I hear you’ve been getting on rather well with our German friend,” said Edward with a tinge of jealousy in his voice.

				“Darling,” Wallis said, adjusting Edward’s tie, “you must know that everything I do is for my king.”

				Wallis continued. “Our friend has spoken to his superiors in Berlin. They sent this as a symbol of their friendship. They want you to know that you can count on their support in this difficult time.”
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				Windsor Castle

				Windsor, United Kingdom

				December 11, 1936

				22:01 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The voice of Sir John Reith, director general of the BBC, sounded over the radio: “This is Windsor Castle. His Royal Highness King Edward.”

				King Edward VIII sat at the desk in the Crimson Drawing Room He wore a navy double-breasted pinstripe suit with a crisp white dress shirt, blue tie, and matching pocket square. He pulled a single sheet of paper from his suitcoat pocket and placed it on the desk. 

				The king’s brother, Prince Albert, Duke of York, stood nearby with his younger brothers, Prince Henry and Prince George. All three wore dark double-breasted suits. Albert held a red leather folder containing a one-page document, the official Instrument of Abdication, to be signed by all four brothers.

				A red light lit up on the king’s desk, signaling that he was on the air.


				“At long last I am able to say a few words of my own,” the king began. “I have never wanted to withhold anything, but until now it has not been possible for me to speak.”

				In London, at 10 Downing Street, Prime Minister Stanley Baldwin raised his eyebrows in surprise, noting that the king had scrubbed a key word from the carefully polished abdication speech text, deleting “constitutionally” from “constitutionally possible.”

				The king continued. “In recent days and weeks, I have been faced with growing concerns regarding the way in which the government has discharged its duties. I find that it is no longer possible for me, in good conscience, to remain silent regarding these matters.

				“Tonight, it is my duty to inform you that a plot, headed by Prime Minister Stanley Baldwin, to force the abdication of the king, has been uncovered, and—with thanks to God, in his infinite wisdom—thwarted.”

				The three princes looked at each other with astonishment. They turned toward the room’s southern door. As they did, the door opened and four red-jacketed King’s Guards, wearing bearskin hats, entered, holding their rifles. They pointed their guns at the princes.

				Edward continued. “Because it remains unknown at present the extent to which this conspiracy pervades government, I have decided to enact a number of steps which are considered prudent to safeguard the kingdom and its subjects.

				“I hereby declare, by the powers vested in me as sovereign per the Emergency Powers Act, that parliament is dissolved. Prime Minister Stanley Baldwin and his cabinet are ordered to be arrested, to stand trial for acts against the Crown.”

				Over London, the skies were filled with the droning of airplanes flying overhead. The planes trailed hundreds of static lines, releasing parachutes. Hundreds, then thousands of armed paratroopers floated to the ground. 

				Eighty miles southeast of London, amphibious carriers launched from Dunkirk landed at Dover, unloading thousands of German stormtroopers and armored vehicles. 

				“In this dark hour, I have enlisted the aid of our cousins, the German people, to maintain law and order. As I speak, the armies of the Third Reich are on British soil. These soldiers are here for your protection and safety. Please do as they say.

				“As commander-in-chief of the British army, I am announcing that General Erwin Rommel shall be replacing Field Marshal Deverell as chief of the general staff, effective immediately.

				“In order to properly reflect the Crown’s German roots, I have decided that the name of the House of Windsor will revert to its former title, that of the House of Saxe-Coburg and Gotha. I know you will share my sense of joy that our people are reuniting with our Fatherland.

				“I realize this may seem a stressful time for you. I hope you will take heart in the knowledge that I take these steps for the welfare of my subjects. I have faith that you will see the wisdom in these acts and know that they are in my people’s best interests, which are my only concern.

				“I wish you, my people, happiness and prosperity with all my heart.

				“God bless you all.”

				The red light on the desk went dark. 

				Edward got up from the desk and walked to Prince Albert.

				“That went rather well, wouldn’t you say, Bertie?”

				“You must be mad,” replied Albert. “This is treason!”

				“I’m afraid you’ve got the wrong end of the stick,” said Edward.

				“I’m terribly sorry,” Edward continued, snatching the red folder from Albert’s hand. “It appears that you don’t get to be king after all.”

			

			
				“You know I never wanted to b-b-b…”

				“Buh buh buh be king?” mocked Edward. “Not to worry, brother. You’ll never be k-k-k-king.”

				Edward motioned to the guards. “Take them away.”

				Wallis Simpson entered the room, smiling deliciously at the princes as they were led away. 

				She wrapped her arms around Edward’s neck and kissed him.

				“I am so very proud of you, darling!” she said. “I was so nervous!”

				“Thank you, darling,” replied Edward. “It seems everyone got what they wanted…or, rather, almost everyone. I get to be king. Adolf gets England without firing a shot…”

				He pulled Wallis close by her waist.

				“…And I get the girl.”

				“And do I get what I want? Besides you, of course, darling,” replied Wallis.

				“Ah, of course,” said Edward. “I shall now create you Queen…Wallis? Oh, that sounds rather dreadful, doesn’t it? I suppose we’ll have to think of something clever, won’t we?”

				“Splendid,” said Wallis. “In the meantime, let’s have a drink.” 

				Wallis walked to the sideboard and poured whiskey from a cut crystal decanter into two crystal rock glasses. She handed one to Edward.

				“You know, darling, something occurs to me,” said Edward.

				“And what is that?”

				“Did you know that they euthanized my father, King George V, on his deathbed?”

				“What? That’s horrible!”

				“Oh yes, it’s dreadful, isn’t it?” Edward said. “The doctor thought he was doing the right thing. Papa was suffering. So, the night of January 20th of this year, the doctor ordered the nurse to inject the king with nearly one grain of morphine, followed by a grain of cocaine.”

				“My goodness, morphine with a cocaine chaser!” said Wallis.

				 “Indeed,” said Edward. “The king’s last words were ‘God damn you.’ 

				That was it. He was gone. I was king.

				“Then when the cortège carried His Majesty’s casket to lie in state, the bloody crown fell off and landed in the gutter.

				“And so, my father, King George V, was euthanized, making me king. The dead king’s crown landed in a gutter, and I sent my brothers off to the Tower in order to marry you and make you queen. It’s all so Shakespearian, don’t you think? 

				I think it may be a good thing the Bard isn’t alive to write King Edward VIII, don’t you, darling?”

				“I do indeed, darling. Uneasy lies the head that wears the crown.”

				The couple laughed and clinked their glasses.
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				President’s Office

				White House

				Washington, DC

				May 5, 1937

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				The life-sized Gilbert Stuart portrait of George Washington watched over President Douglas MacArthur as he slammed his fist on the same walnut conference table that Theodore Roosevelt had gathered his generals around over thirty years earlier. Though the faces around the conference table had changed, the subject of the president’s ire had not.

				“Gentlemen!” thundered MacArthur. “The abject failure of this country’s armed forces is utterly unacceptable! Unacceptable!”

				MacArthur hammered his fist again, bouncing his gold-rimmed porcelain coffee cup into the air, spilling coffee into its saucer. A white-tunicked African American waiter swooped in to swap coffee cups.

				“When I assumed the presidency, I told the American people we would defeat Annika Wise and her band of rebels. It’s been seven years. How on Earth can a Chinawoman and a bunch of redskins and Chinese and suffragettes continue to defeat the world’s mightiest army?” shouted MacArthur.

				“This is deplorable! It’s humiliating! It’s an em-bar-ass-ment!” MacArthur shouted, pounding the table on each syllable. 

				MacArthur picked up his oversized corncob pipe from an ashtray, tamped down tobacco flakes with his thumb, and flicked open a steel Zippo lighter to light it. He snapped the lighter shut, shoving it back in his pocket. He drew on the pipe, burning orange embers in its bowl before exhaling smoke into the cramped air in the room. He wore an olive dress uniform with the star-spangled blue silk presidential sash—his newlywed second wife’s design. His dark hair was tightly combed over the top of his head. 

				“I expect that you have more encouraging news for me today. What is our current situation?”

				A grandfather clock ticked away the time as the generals looked at each other, each waiting for the other to speak first. 

				“Sir,” began Hugh Aloysius Drum, general of the First United States Army, “the enemy controls all territory west of the Missouri River. There is no intelligence from that part of the country. When the rebels annex territory, we lose all contact with that part of the country.

				“The enemy’s weaponry is superior to ours. Their artillery has much greater range and destructive force. Our infantry is unable to get close enough to engage the enemy’s forces. The rebels simply stand off and pound our positions to dust from a long distance.

				“For the relative few brave men who have gotten close enough to engage their counterparts and lived to tell the tale, they report that the enemy is armed with handheld machine guns. We have never before heard of weapons like the ones they describe.”

				“What about our Air Corps?” asked MacArthur.

				“The enemy has some kind of rocket plane,” replied Oscar Westover, chief of the Army Air Corps. “Though we have made advancements in our airplane designs, most notably in mono wing design, our fastest aircraft will reach speeds of only 390 miles per hour.

				“The maximum verified speed of the enemy’s fastest aircraft has been clocked from the ground at 1,400 miles per hour—approximately twice the speed of sound at altitude, and over three times faster than our planes.

				“Additionally, the enemy’s aircraft can attain much greater altitude than ours. Our fighters can reach altitudes of a little over 30,000 feet. The enemy’s are double that.

				“When the enemy engages in a traditional dogfight, they simply dive on our aircraft from a high altitude and fire on them with their cannons. Enemy fighters have also been spotted with some kind of rockets affixed to their wings, though there is no need to use them. Their cannons are sufficient to destroy our planes.

				“With the enemy fighters’ speed, altitude, and weaponry advantages, their engagements with our fighters and bombers are turkey shoots. The odds that our pilots will return from an aerial engagement with the enemy are zero.

				“We have lost considerable ability to design and manufacture more advanced aircraft, as the rebels have captured the Boeing, Lockheed, and Martin corporations in California and Washington state. We still have Bell, Grumman, and others on the east coast.”

				“Can the Navy offer our country any hope?” asked MacArthur.

				“Our ships that have attempted to approach the western coast have been attacked and sunk by their aircraft. We cannot approach closer than 100 nautical miles from the coast without risking our ships and sailors’ lives.

				“Additionally, there have been sightings of an advanced submarine. Those who have spotted it claim it is 200 yards in length. Though there have been visual sightings of the enemy submarine, our ships have been unable to spot it using sonar. There is speculation that the ship is constructed from a material that absorbs the sonar pings.

				“We are attempting to use our own submarines to gather intelligence from offshore. As of this time, there is nothing of note to report.”

			

			
				“Where is the enemy obtaining this advanced weaponry?” asked MacArthur.

				“A complete mystery,” said General Drum. “We tapped our agents in Europe and the Orient to investigate whether the rebels might be acquiring advanced technology from either the Third Reich or the Japanese Empire. We found that neither have weaponry remotely approaching that of the rebels. Indeed, it appears both the Germans and the Japs are trying to get their hands on Annikan rebel weaponry.”

				“It seems as though what you gentlemen are telling me is that our situation is hopeless,” said MacArthur. “Should we simply cede the United States to Annika Wise and her band of renegade cutthroats?”

				The men were silent. Finally, George Moseley, commander of the Third Army spoke. “We’ve discussed the situation at length. We only see one possibility, and it’s a longshot. 

				Mr. President, are you familiar with the concept of an ‘atomic bomb’?”

				“No. Explain.”

				“Our agents in Germany and Japan have secreted out information about next-generation bombs in development in both regimes that use conventional explosives to force Uranium atoms to split in an uncontrolled chain reaction. The yield from the resulting explosion is measured in kilotons—thousands of times greater than our current munitions.

				“Our own government had begun work on such atomic weapons, though the scientists and engineers involved in the work vanished, mysteriously.”

				“Where did they go?” asked MacArthur. 

				“No one knows,” said Moseley. “Perhaps they ended up in Germany or Japan. Perhaps they are in league with the rebels.

				“What we do know is that the United States is behind Germany and Japan in development of these modern weapons. The Annikan rebels aren’t our only enemy. America faces threats on multiple fronts. It’s only a matter of time before the Krauts or the Japs use these weapons on us.

				“The intelligence our agents have successfully smuggled out of Germany and Japan include blueprints of prototype atomic fission bombs. Our plan is to build hundreds of these bombs and load them aboard every plane capable of carrying them, flying them in a simultaneous strike on Deadwood. The strategy is to overwhelm the enemy’s air defenses. We believe at least one of our planes will survive and deliver its payload to the target. Even if the planes are not precisely on target, if they are within a few miles, the bomb yield is great enough to cause extensive destruction to the enemy.

				“There are a number of challenges, including the production of enriched uranium in sufficient quantities to fuel the number of bombs we need to make. We need 33 pounds per bomb. 

				With a crash program, we believe we can launch this offensive in a year’s time.”

				“But our bombers are slow moving. Aren’t they easy targets?” asked MacArthur. 

				The generals looked at each other.

				“We won’t be sending bombers,” said Moseley. “The plan is to send modified fighters. The devices will be integrated into the planes’ fuselages. In effect, the fighters will be flying atomic bombs. It’s another engineering challenge. We need to reduce the bombs’ weight from 9,000 pounds to under 3,000 so our boys can take off. 

				The objective is to swarm the enemy with hundreds of small, fast-moving targets.”

				“So, these are suicide missions,” said MacArthur.

				“Yes, Mr. President.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Deadwood Park

				Deadwood, SD

				July 17, 1937

				18:12 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Hundreds of Deadwood’s citizens wearing cardboard 3D glasses reclined in folding beach sling chairs on the grass in Deadwood’s sole park. A canopy of stars twinkled overhead on the warm summer evening. 

				The audience gasped as the creature from the Black Lagoon appeared on the big screen, swimming several feet beneath actress Julie Adams, mirroring her as she freestyled on the surface of the lagoon in a tight-fitting white latex bathing suit. The gasps morphed to screams as the creature grasped at the actress’ ankles with large webbed claws as she treaded water.

				In reality, at the time of the park screening, Julie Adams was only 11 years old and 3D movies had not yet been invented.

				“Genius, mother,” said Anaïs as she munched on buttered popcorn from a red and white striped cardboard box printed with the words “Fresh Popcorn. Nutritious. Delicious.”

				“You think this crowd is ready for Rocky Horror Picture Show?” replied Annika, reaching for the popcorn.

				“I think ‘Time Warp’ may be a stretch.”

				“As soon as Wernher finishes setting up our satellite entertainment network, we’ll be streaming movies, television, and propaganda…I mean ‘news,’ to 70 million people in every home and business this side of the Missouri,” said Annika. “TV is the true opiate of the masses.”

				“Sure, who cares about protesting the loss of civil liberties in an authoritarian regime when you’ve got Gilligan’s Island?” said Anaïs.

				“Precisely.”

				“So, how many movies did Kyle bring with him from the future?” asked Anaïs.

				“All of them.”

				“All of them, as in all of them?”

				“Every movie, every TV show, every song, every book, everything,” said Annika. “We’ve got content for decades.”

				“Isn’t this going to be a little confusing for the people who star in these flicks that never made them?”

				“I haven’t entirely thought that through yet, but yes,” said Annika. “Maybe royalties will take the edge off their bewilderment.”

				“Easy money,” said Anaïs.

				“SSSHHH!” said Edith Clarke from the row behind Annika and Anaïs as the creature carried Julie Adams into his cave. 

				“Sorry,” said Annika. “Enjoy the show.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Chanute Air Force Base

				Rantoul, IL 

				December 24, 1938

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Four rows of 100 Army pilots in khaki uniforms stood at ease in a large Army Air Corps hangar. They faced a modest podium. Rising from the podium was a wooden lectern emblazoned with the seal of the president of the United States. 

				“Ten-hut!” shouted the commanding officer. The soldiers snapped to attention.

				President MacArthur entered the hangar with generals Westover, Moseley, and Drum. The men climbed the podium steps. MacArthur stepped to the lectern. 

				“Gentlemen,” MacArthur began. “I’m not one for long speeches, so I won’t bore you today with words of wisdom from this old war horse.

				“There are no words that are adequate to the task of expressing the debt of gratitude this great country owes you brave warriors for the sacrifice you are making. I will merely offer my heartfelt thanks on behalf of a grateful nation. When you climb into the cockpits of your planes tomorrow, know that you will not be alone. The hopes and prayers of this country will be flying with you. You men, quite literally, are this country’s last hope.”

				MacArthur and the generals stepped down from the podium and walked to the first soldier in the first row of 100. Two lieutenants joined the president and generals, wheeling two large wooden crates on dollies. One of the lieutenants reached into the crate to retrieve a small wooden box with a brass nameplate engraved with the soldier’s name, “Lt. Louis Townsend.” The box was opened and a medal with a five-pointed star, hanging from a blue neck ribbon, was handed to MacArthur. The gold star was surrounded by a green laurel wreath and suspended from a gold bar inscribed VALOR, surmounted by an eagle. In the center of the star was the head of Minerva, the Roman goddess of wisdom and strategic warfare. 

				MacArthur draped the Medal of Honor, the Army’s most prestigious decoration, around Lieutenant Townsend’s neck. He saluted, then shook the soldier’s hand. 

				“On behalf of a grateful nation,” said MacArthur. “Thank you, son.”

				“Sir.” replied Townsend.

				The ceremony was repeated for each soldier. 

				Something about the 100th soldier caught MacArthur’s eye. He glanced at the engraving on the medal box:

				Lieutenant Levi Masterson

				The handsome young man had black hair and ice blue eyes. 

				“Masterson,” said MacArthur. “Any relation to Bat Masterson?”

				“Yes sir. He’s my grandfather, sir.” 

				“Then I know I can expect great things from you, soldier.”

				“Yes sir. You can sir. I won’t let you or our great country down.”

				“Thank you, Lieutenant Masterson.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Annikan Empire Command Center

				Black Hills, SD

				December 25, 1938

				09:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Anaïs climbed the steps up a steep hill to the entrance of the former Olaf Seim Mine. Snowflakes floated down silently from a grey sky, landing on her long black cashmere coat and black Kepi military hat. She stuffed her black leather–gloved hands into her coat pockets. 

				Two armed guards bracketing a large steel door saluted Anaïs as she reached the entrance of the mine by placing their right hands on the left sides of their chests. She returned the salute. One of the guards entered a code into a keypad next to the door. The door slid open, revealing a lobby hewn out of the granite hill. The rock walls, floor, and ceiling had been polished smooth. A bank of three freight elevators stood against the far wall, crowned with brass half dials indicating the elevators’ floor positions from the basement to the fifth floor, where the lobby was located. Anaïs entered into one and pressed the button for the basement. She moved her jaw to adjust her eardrums to the growing pressure as the car descended deep into the rock hill. 

				The elevator doors opened into a darkened command center. Anaïs stood at the center of two banks of manned workstations formed into concentric half circles. Facing Anaïs at the far end of the room was a giant flat-panel display on the wall. The screen displayed a tactical map of the western two-thirds of the country, stretching from the Mississippi River in the east to the Pacific coast in the west. With the exception of a handful of men, mostly female officers gazed at dozens of flat-panel workstation displays. 

				Anaïs removed her hat and brushed snowflakes off her coat. She pulled her gloves from her hands and stuffed them into her coat pockets.

				“May I take these, ma’am?” asked a young woman, reaching for Anaïs’ coat and hat. She wore a black uniform, a long-sleeved tunic with silver buttons running up the left side. A red hourglass insignia decorated the left breast. A single silver disk on her shoulder epaulet signaled her rank of lieutenant. Knee-high black leather boots completed the ensemble.

				“Thank you,” replied Anaïs. Her uniform matched the lieutenant’s, with the exception of the four silver disks on her shoulder epaulet that signaled her rank. The 32-year-old general wore her long blond hair in a crisp French twist. A black velvet choker was tied around her neck.

				Anaïs approached a woman at the workstation directly in front of her. The woman was in her twenties, attractive, with brown hair pulled into a bun. 

				“How are we looking this beautiful December morning, Major LeVaux?” asked Anaïs.

				“All clear, ma’am,” replied LeVaux. “No enemy aircraft, ships, or troops on the radar.”

				At that moment, dozens of red triangles appeared, originating south of Chicago.

				“Correction, General,” said LeVaux. “The U.S. has launched aircraft. Heading our way. Currently tracking 100 targets inbound.”

				The number of red triangles increased rapidly.

				“Stand by,” said LeVaux. 

				“Make that 400 targets.”

				“Bombers?” asked Anaïs.

				LeVaux shook her head. “No ma’am. They appear to be fighters.”

				“What are they doing?” asked Anaïs. “They won’t have enough fuel to return to base.”

				“No ma’am,” said LeVaux. “They’d need to carry extra fuel just to reach Deadwood.”

				“Sound red alert,” ordered Anaïs.

				A klaxon horn sounded as rotating red lights flashed inside the command center. 

				Anaïs reached for a phone handset on her console and pressed a button. 

				“Good morning. We’ve got a situation. You’d better get up here,” Anaïs said.

				Anaïs hung up. Multiple operators around the room began calling out information on the inbound fighters from their consoles.

				“Major, warn off those fighters,” ordered Anaïs.

				“United States Air Corps aircraft, you are approaching Annikan Empire airspace,” said Major LeVaux into her headset. “If you enter our airspace, you will be fired upon.”

				Major LeVaux looked at Anaïs. “Nothing, General.”

				“What’s their ETA to Deadwood, present course and speed?” asked Anaïs.

				“Two hours, forty minutes,” said LeVaux. “Putting a timer up on the board.”

			

			
				In the lower left corner of the giant screen, a timer appeared counting down the enemy aircraft’s ETA to Deadwood. 

				“When can our fighters intercept?” asked Anaïs.

				“Doing the math,” replied LeVaux. “Standby.”

				LeVaux typed on her keyboard.

				“Our F16 fighters have a 400-mile range,” said LeVaux. “Assuming the bandits maintain their course toward Deadwood, we can intercept at 180 miles out. We can pick off the bandits as they lead us back to base, but…”


				“But what?” asked Anaïs.

				LeVaux shook her head. “The Vulcan cannons on our F16s only carry 511 rounds of ammo. We have 24 fighters. That works out to 30 rounds per enemy aircraft. 

				They’ve never thrown so many incoming at us at once before. It looks like they’re trying to overwhelm our defenses. I don’t know if we can stop them all.”

				A steel door to the command center opened and Annika entered. She wore the same black hourglass tunic uniform as Anaïs, with five disks on her shoulder epaulet signaling her superior rank. Her bangs and ponytail were white. 

				Annika looked at the big screen. Hundreds of red triangles moved west from Illinois. 

				“What are we looking at?” asked Annika.

				“Four hundred fighters inbound from an airbase south of Chicago,” replied Anaïs.

				“Fighters?”

				“Yes ma’am,” said Anaïs. “I know. It doesn’t make any sense.”

				“They’re swarming our defenses,” Anaïs said. 

				“Suicide runs?” posited Annika.

				“Maybe, but why?” asked Anaïs. “If they’re going kamikaze, what’s the payload? Bioweapon? Poison gas?”

				Annika looked worried.

				Anaïs leaned in to whisper. “Mother, something is wrong.”

				Annika nodded in agreement. “Uh huh.”

				“We should get everyone inside the mountain,” said Anaïs.

				“Yup.”

				“Major LeVaux,” said Anaïs. “Order all personnel into the mountain.”

				“Yes ma’am,” said LeVaux.

				An alarm sounded over loudspeakers in Deadwood and Lakotawood, followed by Major LeVaux’s voice.

				“Attention. This is an emergency. This is not a drill. Enemy aircraft are approaching. ETA to Deadwood is two hours. Please evacuate to the Seim Mine now. This is an emergency. This is not a drill.”


				LeVaux repeated the evacuation warning in Lakota and Mandarin. 

				Hundreds, then thousands, of Deadwood and Lakotawood citizens began massing toward the mountain. Uniformed soldiers guided the evacuees into shelters in the mountain’s lower levels. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Annikan Empire Command Center

				Black Hills, SD

				December 25, 1938

				11:35 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Annika and Anaïs watched the red triangles advance toward Deadwood on the giant screen. Two dozen turquoise triangles representing intercepting Annikan Empire fighter planes approached the red triangles. 

				“Enemy fighters will be within our fighter range in five minutes,” said Major LeVaux.

				East of Deadwood, two dozen F16 fighter jets streaked toward the enemy planes. The pilots lit their afterburners as they roared past the enemy planes to intimidate the enemy pilots. 

				The F16s then turned and took up positions directly behind the enemy planes.

				“Starbuck to Deadwood HQ,” radioed squadron leader Lieutenant Juliet “Starbuck” Thrace. “My squadron has taken up position directly behind the bandits.”

				“Starbuck, this is General Wise. What do you see?”

				“General, these look like garden variety P-40 Flying Tigers. Single-engine propeller planes. The only thing out of the ordinary are the external fuel tanks on the wings.”

				“Are they engaging your squadron?” asked Anaïs.

				At that moment, the Flying Tigers began to fly evasively. They spread out, expanding the battle theater. The fighters began to move erratically, pitching and rolling.

				“No ma’am,” replied Starbuck. “Though they’re making evasive moves. They’re obviously expecting to be fired on.”

				Anaïs glanced at Annika. Annika nodded.

				“Understood, Starbuck,” said Anaïs. “Let’s not disappoint them. Down the bandits. We’ve done the math. You’ve got 30 rounds per bandit. Make every shot count.”

				“Roger that,” replied Starbuck.

				“Starbuck to squadron, engage and destroy enemy fighter planes. Conserve ammo. We’ve got 30 rounds per bandit. Make ’em count.”

				Starbuck heard “roger” and “tallyho” from her squadron pilots as they began to fire on the enemy planes. The pilots squeezed their triggers in short bursts, tightly rationing their 6,000 round-per-minute Vulcan cannons. Dozens of Flying Tigers burst into flames, breaking into pieces as they fell to Earth.

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Annikan Empire Command Center

				Black Hills, SD

				December 25, 1938

				11:56 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Inside the command center, Annika and Anaïs watched the red triangles advance toward Deadwood on the giant screen, masking their anxiety as some red triangles disappeared and others moved closer. 


				“We’ve downed 327 bandits,” said LeVaux. “Seventy-three remain and they’re within 50 miles of Deadwood. Ten minutes away.”

				“Are they close enough for video eyes-on?” asked Anaïs.

				“I believe so, yes,” said LeVaux.

				The giant screen split, half for video of the engagement, half for the map. 

				•   •   •

				Inside her cockpit, Starbuck watched a Tiger Shark explode in front of her. She banked to acquire her next target. 

				She lined up a shot on the enemy plane through the head’s up display on her windshield. The plane banked sharply as she squeezed her cannon trigger, causing the shot to miss the fuselage and hit the wing, knocking it off. The plane began to spin toward the ground.

				Inside the damaged plane, the young pilot yanked his joystick. His plane did not respond to the controls. He glanced up at the cockpit window, seeing the alternating green of the approaching Earth and the blue sky whipping by as the plane cartwheeled down. He reached for a black and white picture of his girlfriend, a young woman with dark hair, sparkling eyes, and full painted smiling lips. He tugged the picture off the dashboard, pulling away the chewing gum affixed on the back. He kissed the picture, then reached for a small metal hood on the dashboard. He flipped it open, revealing a red button marked “A.”


				“This is for you, Margaret,” he said as he pushed the button. 

				The plane exploded into a blinding white light. A mushroom cloud erupted into the sky.

				Annika and Anaïs watched the blast onscreen.

				“Jesus!” shouted Anaïs. “They’ve got the bomb!”

				Annika and Anaïs looked at each other.

				“That looks like 15 kilotons,” said Anaïs. “Same yield as Hiroshima.”

				“Major LeVaux, call DC. Get MacArthur on the phone,” ordered Annika. “Prep SLBMs. Target is Washington, DC.”

				“Yes ma’am.”

				“Ma’am, I’m being told that President MacArthur isn’t in DC. He’s monitoring the operation from Chanute Air Base south of Chicago where the bandits launched. They’re connecting me.” 

				At that moment, they felt the command center shudder as the shock wave of the atomic blast reached the mountain.

				“Fifty-two bandits remaining. Thirty miles out. Six minutes away,” said LeVaux.

				“I now have President MacArthur on the phone. SLBM ready for launch.”

				Annika paused for a moment.

				“Ma’am?” asked LeVaux. “I have President…”

				“Yes, I heard you,” interrupted Annika.

				“Belay the order to target DC. The target is Chicago.”

				Annika exchanged glances with Anaïs.

				“Target Chicago, yes ma’am. Awaiting your launch order.” 

				“Major LeVaux, release of nuclear weapons authorized,” said Annika. “Code epsilon, epsilon, omega, eight, nine, four, alpha, baker, whiskey. Launch SLBM.”

				Major LeVaux took a key from around her neck and inserted it into her console. She turned it and entered the launch code on her keypad. A red button on her console labeled “launch” lit up. She pressed it.


				At that moment, in San Francisco Bay, a Trident missile fired from the Nautilus, piercing the waves and rocketing skyward, arcing to the east.

				“Missile away,” said LeVaux. “Time to target is on the board. Six minutes, 13 seconds, and counting.”

			

			
				Annika picked up a headset. “President MacArthur, this is Annika Wise.”


				“Miss Wise,” acknowledged MacArthur.

				“Mr. President, we don’t have much time, so I’ll make this quick. We know your planes are carrying atomic bombs. We’re estimating their yield to be 15 kilotons.”

				“Go on,” said MacArthur.

				“I’ve just given the order to launch a missile targeting Chicago. It’s carrying a thermonuclear bomb with a 4.5 megaton yield. That’s 300 times greater than what your fighters are carrying. You’ll have a great view to the blast from your location.

				“If you don’t turn your fighters around now, I will destroy Chicago. After I destroy Chicago, I will destroy Washington DC. 

				I can disarm the weapon. Turn your fighters back, now.”

				There was silence on the phone.

				“Mr. President?” asked Annika.

				“I’m here,” said MacArthur. “I believe you’re bluffing, Miss Wise.”


				“Five minutes to target, Mr. President.”

				“I don’t believe anything you have to say, Miss Wise,” said MacArthur. “This is an act of desperation.”

				“Forty bandits remaining. Twenty miles out. Four minutes away,” said LeVaux.

				“Three minutes, Mr. President,” said Annika. 

				“You’re wasting your breath, Miss Wise. You’re about to die. I believe I’m going to enjoy that very much.”

				“Thirty-three bandits remaining. Fifteen miles out. Three minutes away,” said LeVaux.

				“One minute,” said Annika

				“Twenty-five bandits remaining. Ten miles out. two minutes away,” said LeVaux.

				“Now, Mr. President.”

				Annika heard gasps on the phone. 

				“God almighty!” MacArthur shouted. 

				Moments later, Annika heard a loud “bang.” The line clicked and went dead. She hung up. 

				“Deadwood HQ, this is Starbuck. We’re out of ammo,” radioed Starbuck.

				Annika and Anaïs looked at the giant screen. Twenty-five triangles remained. Annika and Anaïs looked at each other.

				“Starbuck, this is Annika. Those bandits can’t be allowed to reach Deadwood.”

				There was a pause on the radio.

				“Starbuck, do you read?” asked Annika.

				“Message received and understood,” said Starbuck. “We’ll get the job done, Ma’am.”

			

			
				•   •   •

				Starbuck opened her helmet visor, looking at the blue sky and clouds surrounding her plane. She turned her vision back to her heads-up display. The remaining P-40 fighters danced before her. 

				How silly they look, thought Starbuck.

				Starbuck radioed her squadron. “Pilots, we can’t allow those bandits to strike Deadwood. We’re the last line of defense. We’re out of ammo. We’re down to one choice. I can’t order you. It’s your decision.


				“It feels like this situation calls for a heroic speech. I haven’t got one,” Starbuck continued. “All I can tell you is that it has been my great honor to fly with you.”

				Responses came in from the squadron pilots. 

				“The honor has been mine,” said Lieutenant Robinette. 

				“Today is a good day to die,” said Major Akecheta. 

				Starbuck closed her visor and lit her F16’s afterburner. The jet engine roared, lurching the plane forward and pushing Starbuck deep into her seat. Multiple booms sounded as the F16s broke the sound barrier, closing on their targets at supersonic speed. 

				The F16s crashed into their target aircrafts, exploding into fireballs that fell from the sky.

				•   •   •

				Annika and Anaïs looked at the screen. Twenty-four of the red triangles and their turquoise counterparts disappeared. One red triangle remained, two miles from Deadwood. Anaïs reached for Annika’s hand. Annika grasped it hard.

				Inside his P-40 Flying Tiger, Lieutenant Levi Masterson cleared the hills east of Deadwood and pitched his plane into a dive toward Main Street. 

				“God bless America!” he shouted as he pressed the “A” button on his dashboard.

				A blinding light burst on Main Street. A shock and heat wave instantly vaporized Deadwood’s buildings and houses. An enormous mushroom cloud rose from the cauldron of hills that surrounded Deadwood.

				The operators inside the mountain command center were thrown violently sideways, crashing into their equipment. Lights went out as workstations and furniture were tossed.

				There was silence in the total darkness. The groans and cries of the wounded began to fill the eerie stillness.

				“Mother?” called Anaïs, sprawled on the floor. “Mother, are you there? 


				Mother!”

				“I’m here.”

				“Where are you?” asked Anaïs. “Keep talking.”

				“I’m here. Follow my voice.”

				Anaïs crawled on the dark floor, feeling her way. She felt Annika’s hand. Annika clutched it.

				“Are you OK?” asked Anaïs. 

				Annika felt a thunderbolt of pain from her left hip as she sat up and hugged her daughter. She squelched a gasp. “I’m OK. Are you?”

				“Yes, mother,” Anaïs said, crying. “Oh mother!”

				Anaïs sobbed into Annika’s shoulder. Annika stroked her daughter’s back.

				“It’s OK, sweetheart. It’s OK.”

				“I’m sorry, mother,” Anaïs said, crying. “After everything we’ve been through, I don’t know why this should rattle me.”

				“You know, Anaïs, if it takes an atomic bomb to push your button, then I say you’ve got a pretty high threshold for pain, right?”

				 Anaïs laughed through her tears. “I guess so.”

				“I know so,” said Annika, holding her daughter close. 

				“We have to take care of the others,” Annika said softly. “Can you help me do that?”

				“Yes,” Anaïs said, wiping her face. “I’m sorry, mother. I’m being a pathetic general.”

				Annika kissed Anaïs’ forehead. “You are the bravest and most heroic person I know.”

				Anaïs sobbed again, clutching her mother’s tunic.

				“I couldn’t be more proud of my daughter.”

				“If you’re trying to make me cry, you’re doing a great job,” said Anaïs, sniffing.

				Emergency lights flickered on in the command center. Annika and Anaïs looked at each other. Anaïs’ normally strict hair was tousled and she had a bulging red and white bruise on her cheek. Annika’s forehead was cut. Blood trickled into her left eye. 

				Annika kissed Anaïs on the cheek. “Let’s get to work, OK?”

				Anaïs wiped her face and nodded, rising to her feet.

				They looked around the room. The others were sitting or lying on the floor. Some knelt with the severely injured, offering first aid.

				Annika tried to stand. She fell.

			

			
				“Shit!” she said.

				“Mother!” Anaïs said, reaching to help Annika up.

				“I think my hip is broken,” said Annika. “I fucking never wanted to be one of those little old ladies who fell and broke their hips. Here I am.”

				“You have a pretty good excuse,” said Anaïs. 

				“Yeah,” said Annika. “Most of those gals don’t get knocked on their asses by atomic bombs. 

				Help me get into a chair.”

				Anaïs turned a fallen chair upright, then reached for Annika.

				“Put your arms around my neck, mother.”

				Anaïs pulled Annika into the chair.

				“Is that good?” asked Anaïs.

				“Perfect.”

				Annika scanned the room. She helped Major LeVaux off the floor and into her chair, then knelt beside her, clutching her hand.

				“How are you, Eva?”

				LeVaux nodded. “I’m OK.”

				Some workstation screens flicked on as systems that were still operational rebooted. Others remained dark or flashed intermittently with static noise. 

				Anaïs pointed to two women lying unconscious on the floor. “Wapasha, Beecham, Zhang, Webb, are you able to take Dawson and Crawford to the infirmary?”

				“Yes ma’am.”

				“On your way back, check on the evacuees. Find out how badly we’re hurt.”

				The soldiers nodded as they carried the injured out the vault door. 

				“I’m checking our systems,” said LeVaux. “I’ll have an initial damage report in a few minutes.”

				A button light flashed on LeVaux’s console. She picked up her headset, pressed the button, and spoke into the headset. 

				“This is Deadwood HQ,” said LeVaux. She listened for a few moments.

				“Stand by,” she said. She turned to Anaïs.

				“Ma’am, we still have contact with the Nautilus. Our remote fire control from Deadwood has been knocked out, but they can still target and launch. They’re asking for orders.”

				Anaïs turned to Annika. “Orders, mother?”

				Annika sat quiet for several moments.

				“All we wanted was to be left alone,” she said. 

				“All the Lakota people wanted was to keep the land they were kicked off of. 

				They kept at us. Year after year. They were relentless. They killed our people. They kidnapped me. They killed my father.

				“In all that time, how many peace overtures did they make? How many envoys did they send? 

				None. Not one. It’s been nearly 50 years. 

				In all that time, they made non-aggression pacts with the Nazis and the Empire of Japan.

				“Not us. We didn’t even need a new treaty. All they had to do was honor their agreement with the Lakota. The one that gave them the Black Hills. That’s it. That would have saved over 100,000 lives. 

				The thought of getting beat by redskins and a renegade ‘Chinawoman’ was just too much for them to bear.

				“They will never stop. Never. They’ve given us a choice: us or them. 


				I choose us.

				“They’ve given me their best shot,” Annika concluded, nodding. 

				“Now they get mine.”

				Annika rose from her chair, pushing herself up with her remaining good leg while balancing with her hands planted on the console in front of her. 

				“Orders?” asked Annika. “Your orders are to kill every last one of those motherfuckers. Release of nuclear weapons is authorized. Target Washington DC.”

				“After that, I want you to set up a conference call with every governor and mayor of every major city still standing in the eastern states. I will give them the option to either surrender without condition or be destroyed.

				“This land is our land.”

			

			
				



			

	


 —
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				Sea Lion Cafe

				Pier 39

				San Francisco, CA

				March 28, 1949

				08:30 Hours

				Timeline 003 

				The doorbell jingled, announcing Robert Serber’s entrance at the Sea Lion Café at the tip of Pier 39. Grey light penetrating the morning bay fog shone in through large windows, illuminating the diner’s bright white walls. Framed placards displaying the restaurant’s specials in script letters wrapped the wall crown hugging the diner’s ceiling. 

				Serber was 40, thin, with wavy red hair combed back into lumps that resisted the pomade used to hold it in place. 

				He wore glasses with transparent rose rims. His high cheekbones seemed to pull his lips into an unnatural smile. He wore a brown double breasted gabardine suit with a peaked lapel jacket and pleated pants. A narrow crimson tie was tightly wound into an eggshell dress shirt. He removed his brown fedora hat. His other hand held a large brown leather briefcase. 

				At the end of a row of booths, flush against the windows, a man in a grey suit waved. Serber looked around the diner, then walked to the booth, hung his hat on a brass coat hook, and slid into the vinyl burgundy booth seat across from the man in grey.

				Serber estimated that the man sitting across from him was in his early forties. His hair was dark and combed to the side. He was handsome, with dark eyebrows, green eyes, and a cleft chin. Smoke rose from a cigarette in a tin ashtray. He picked it up, tapped ashes onto the tray, and inhaled.

				“Dr. Serber,” the man said, “I’m glad you could join me for a bite this morning.”

				Before Serber could respond, a waitress with brown hair wearing a white dress and apron appeared.

				“Good morning,” she said. “Are you gents having coffee?”

				“Uh, yes,” replied Serber.

				“Yes please, darling,” replied the man in grey.

				The waitress upended white ceramic coffee cups resting upside down on saucers in front of the two men and poured coffee from a glass globe coffee pot.

				“Cream and sugar on the table,” said the waitress. “You gents know what you’re having to eat?”

				“A minute, please,” said Serber.

			

			
				“I’ll be right back,” said the waitress.

				The man in grey smiled and motioned to one of the placards lining the metal grill exhaust cover.

				“The chicken fried steak and eggs here are delicious,” said the man. “A bargain at 35 cents.”

				“I’m not sure I can eat,” said Serber.

				“You should eat,” said the man. “You’ve got a long trip ahead of you.”

				“How are you so calm?” whispered Serber, leaning across the table. “If we’re caught—”

				“You gents ready?” asked the waitress.

				“We’ll both have the chicken fried steak and eggs,” said the man. “I’d like my eggs scrambled. How about you, Rich?”

				“Over easy, please.”

				“Coming up in a jiffy,” replied the waitress, winking at the man.

				“Thank you, darling,” he replied.

				The man turned to Serber. “I’m calm because there’s nothing to worry about, Doc. Everything’s been taken care of. You’ve got a first-class ticket out of the empire and back to your wife and family. They’re waiting for you in Tokyo.”

				“I still don’t understand how this is possible,” said Serber. “The empire has eyes everywhere. They have radar on the Pacific!”

				“The empire radar only sees ships. It doesn’t see small boats. You and I are going fishing today.”

				The man motioned out the window at the bay, where barking sea lions lay on the pier. 

				“We’re taking a fishing boat to Japan?”

				The man laughed. “No, Doc. We’re meeting a bigger boat at sea.”

				“Did you bring the paperwork we agreed on?” 

				Serber patted his briefcase. “Detailed plans.”

				“That’s swell, Doc,” the man said, smiling. “Just swell.”

				The man reached into his coat pocket and retrieved an envelope, sliding it across the table.

				“This is your identification,” he said. “You’re Richard Allen. You’re visiting from Portland, where you live with your wife, Judy. No kids. Put the ID in your pocket now.”

				Serber pulled a passport from the envelope and stuck it in his coat pocket. The man in grey took the envelope and put it back in his pocket. He took a drag on his cigarette and exhaled as the waitress arrived with breakfast, setting the smooth white ceramic plates on the table.

				“That’s two chicken fried steaks and eggs,” she said. “Scrambled and over easy. You gents enjoy.”

				“Thank you, darling,” said the man in grey with a big smile.

				The doorbell jingled again. A young Caucasian woman in a black Annikan Empire uniform entered the diner. She wore her blond hair in a tight bun behind her black kepi cap. A submachine gun was in a holster on her thigh. The soldier walked slowly, examining the restaurant, its workers, and patrons. She walked to one end of the counter and tapped a switched-off flat-panel display with two fingers of her black leather–gloved hand. She raised her eyebrows to the waitress, who scurried to the TV to switch it on.

				“Oh, I’m so sorry, dear!” the waitress said as she turned the flatscreen on. The guard’s gaze lingered on the waitress for a moment.

				The flat-panel display from the future looked out of place in the 1940s diner, like something from The Twilight Zone. The black satellite dish with a red hourglass logo perched on the roof of the diner, facing the southern sky. The hourglass satellite dishes were now standard features on all houses, apartment buildings, and office buildings.

				The TV flashed to life, with an image of two women and a man sitting on a curved sofa. One of the women was Asian, wearing red slacks and a black jacket, mimicking the colors of the empire. The other woman was African, wearing a beige suit with a cream-colored blouse. Both women wore their hair pulled back. The white man wore a tan suit and blue tie. All three wore black lapel pins with the red Annikan hourglass. Three black coffee mugs with red hourglasses sat on the coffee table in front of the trio. Behind the sofa was a bright yellow wall with an orange plastic sunrise and one large orange plastic word spelling out:

				Today

				“Good morning to all our viewers!” said the Asian woman. “We’re so glad you could join us on this beautiful Monday morning. How was your weekend, Sarah?”

				“It was lovely!” replied Sarah Davis. “My family and I spent time at the park and enjoyed this beautiful spring weather, then I helped my daughter with her intern exam preparations.”

				“Ah, your daughter is going to take the Annikan Advanced Technology Intern Exams?”

				“That’s right,” said Sarah. “As you know, they only take 1,000 interns each year. My daughter needs to be at the very top of her game to get a spot.

				“Otherwise, she’ll end up hosting a morning TV show,” Sarah said, mugging the camera.

				The trio laughed. 

				“How about you, John? What did you do?” asked Joan. 

			

			
				“Well, I went shopping,” said John Chamberlain, grinning. 

				“Did you? What did you buy?”

				“I bought something called a ‘Radarange’ at Sears Roebuck.”

				“My goodness!” said Joan. “What on Earth is a Radarange?”

				“It’s a small oven made by Amana that uses the very latest Annikan technology. Get this: It can cook a hot dog in 30 seconds!”

				“Thirty seconds! That’s incredible!” said Joan. “We’ll have to get your Radarange on the show!”

				“I beat you to it!” said John. “I brought mine in to show our viewers during the cooking segment of this morning’s show.”

				“Well, aren’t you clever?” said Joan. “The new home appliance developments coming out of Annikan Advanced Technology are just amazing, aren’t they? First, satellite TV, and now Radaranges!”

				The Annikan guard turned and walked slowly toward the booth where Serber and the man sat. 

				“Nice and easy, Richard,” said the man.

				“What?” said Serber, unable to see the woman approaching. She stopped at the booth, looking at the two men for several seconds before speaking.

				“Papers, please,” said the woman.

				Serber knocked over his coffee as he reached for his passport.

				“Oh no!” he said.

				The woman looked closely at Serber as he threw his napkin on the spilled coffee and tried to mop it up. The waitress arrived with a towel. The soldier stepped to the side, allowing the waitress to reach in to clean up.

				“I’m so sorry,” said Serber. “I’m so clumsy!”

				“That is all right, dear,” said the waitress. “There. Good as new. I’ll bring you a fresh cup.”

				The man in grey handed his passport to the soldier. She glanced at it, handed it back to him, and held out her hand for Serber’s document. He reached into his pocket and handed his passport to the soldier. She opened it.

				“What is your name?” she asked.

				“Richard Allen,” Serber replied.

				“What is your business in San Francisco?” she asked.

				“I’m visiting,” he stammered. “From Portland.”

				“I can see you’re visiting,” said the soldier. “I asked you what your business was in San Francisco.”

				“I…I’m visiting a friend,” Serber said, looking at the man in grey.

				“We’re going fishing,” said the man. “Striped Bass.”

				The soldier kept her eyes on Serber.

				“You seem nervous, Mr. Allen. Why is that?”

				The man in grey began to speak. The soldier lifted a black gloved hand to silence him.

				“Mr. Allen?”

				“I…I’m sorry,” he said. “I’m very shy. I’ve always been nervous around people in positions of authority. I don’t understand why. I know you’re doing your job to protect us and that you mean us no harm.”

				The soldier held Serber’s passport in one hand, tapping it on the fingers of her other. She handed it back to Serber.

				“Enjoy your fishing,” said the soldier as she turned and left.

				“Thank you, ma’am,” replied both men as the woman exited the diner. Serber closed his eyes and breathed a heavy sigh.

				“You did great!” said the man. 

				Serber shook his head. “I’ve never been so afraid in my life.”

				The waitress set a fresh cup of coffee on the table. “Here you go, dear! Just made a fresh pot.”

				“Eat up, Doc,” said the man. “We’ve got a boat to catch.”
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				Gulf Freeway

				Houston, TX

				January 7, 1967

				02:15 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Lois Freeman gripped the leather-sheathed wheel of her red 1966 Ford Mustang as she sped south on the Gulf Freeway out of Houston toward Galveston. She glanced at the rear-view mirror. Blinding light from a tailgating pickup truck’s high beams splashed her eyes. She squinted and hit the accelerator, speeding away on an elevated section of freeway.

				Lois was anxious. Cars bobbed and weaved at high speed on the post-bar-closing-time Houston freeway. An inexperienced driver, she wasn’t accustomed to the daredevil traffic. The fact that she seemed to be the only black woman in a high-speed sea of southern white men jacked her anxiety further.

				The voice of Conway Twitty twanged on KIKK on the pushbutton dashboard AM radio. The station choice was arbitrary. Lois hated country music, though it did drown out some of the road noise.

				She wiped sweat from her forehead and clutched the wheel. She glanced at the rear-view mirror again. That pickup was tailgating again. It was too close.

				Lois felt an impact on her left as a weaving Cutlass changed lanes blindly hitting her car. Her Mustang was thrown to the right, hurdling toward the freeway guardrail. In a microsecond, her car crashed through the rail into the air above a feeder road below. She shrieked as the Mustang pitched down toward the feeder road, crashing into the concrete and flipping onto its back, crushing its roof.

				Lois was trapped in the compacted wreck, twisted sideways on the seat. Her screams of pain and terror were scarcely masked by the crashes of the multicar pileup on the elevated freeway 30 feet above her. Her left arm was shattered from the Cutlass’ impact. Her legs were broken. There was no shoulder harness to stop her head from smacking the steering wheel. Blood streamed from her cracked forehead.

				Lois reached for the lap belt and unbuckled it with her relatively uninjured right hand. She reached in the dark for her purse, feeling the crumbled ceiling of her Mustang. She touched the strap of her bag. She grabbed it and pulled it closer.

				Smoke from the engine compartment poured into the car. From the crevasses between the car’s body and its crushed roof, she could see glints of fire from the engine compartment.

				Lois reached into her purse, tossing out its contents with her good hand. She found a metal box the size of a pack of cigarettes. She gripped one end in her teeth and pulled it open with her good hand. It revealed a button and an LED display. She pressed the button. The display read:

				ARMED

				Lois heard sirens approaching. The engine fire erupted, engulfing the Mustang. Lois pressed the button again. 

				ACTIVE

				“C’mon c’mon c’mon!” she screamed.

				She felt a low hum. A blue-white light washed out the Mustang’s fireball as Lois disappeared. 
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				Brig Cell 9

				Time Tunnel Complex

				October 5, 2008

				09:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Kyle Mason sat on the narrow bed in his cinderblock brig cell, his back shoved against the wall. His arms rested on his knees, pulled to his chest. His sullen eyes stared forward at the opposing two-tone grey and olive wall. He wore a bright orange prison jumpsuit and slip-on boat shoes.

				To his right was a steel sink and a toilet. To his left was an olive-colored steel door with a sliding panel. A camera under a smoked plastic dome surveilled the prisoner from the ceiling. 

				Kyle’s beard had grown out in the weeks he had been confined to the cell. He worried about Padma. He had not been permitted to communicate with her, or anyone else, since his confinement. His meals were served on a tray, slid through a slot in the wall.

				He looked up at the camera for a moment, then raised his right hand with middle finger extended. 

				The sliding panel in the door snapped open. A guard peered through. The door unlocked and opened. A guard, a corporal wearing fatigues, pointed an M-16 rifle at Kyle.

				“Mason, on your feet,” shouted the guard.

				“That’s ‘Colonel Mason’ to you,” replied Kyle.

				“Not anymore,” said the corporal with a smirk. “The general dumped your rank.”

				Kyle nodded, crunching his lips.

				“So,” Kyle said, “this is what it feels like to be a civilian.”

				“On your feet,” ordered the corporal.

				Kyle extended his legs to the floor and rose slowly from his bed, facing the guard.

				“Where are we going?” asked Kyle.

				“Mission Control,” replied the guard, motioning toward the door with his rifle. “Get moving.”

				“Yes sir,” replied Kyle as he walked past the guard.

				Kyle walked down the hallway of the detention center, followed by the guard. 

				“Where you from, soldier?” asked Kyle.

				“Minnesota.”

				“Minneapolis?”

				“Mankato.”

				“Mankato! You eat lutefisk?” asked Kyle.

				As a laugh began to escape the guard’s mouth, Kyle wheeled and smacked him in the nose. As the guard staggered, Kyle planted a sidekick on his face. The guard fell to the floor. Kyle punched his nose again, then picked up his rifle.

				“Get up,” Kyle ordered, motioning with the guard’s M-16.

				The guard rose slowly to his feet, holding his bleeding nose with his hands.

				“Motherfucker,” groaned the guard.

				“Can’t believe you dropped your guard for lutefisk,” said Kyle. “That’s pretty sad.”

				“Don’t tell the general,” the guard pleaded.

				“Where’s my wife?” asked Kyle.

				The guard hesitated.

				“Seriously?” asked Kyle, pointing the barrel of the M-16 at the guard’s right kneecap. 

				“She’s in your townhouse.”

				“Ok, let’s go,” said Kyle. “You first.”

				The guard staggered past Kyle down the hallway.

				The two men walked along the mezzanine toward the elevator. The time tunnel’s larger-than-life temponaut pointing a rifle at the bloody guard drew stares from the complex’s denizens. They passed two soldiers en route. The soldiers looked at each other, surprised, then started to reach for their pistols. Kyle raised a finger at them and wagged it, shaking his head. The men stood down and watched Kyle and his captive as the elevator doors closed behind them.

				When they reached Kyle’s townhouse, Kyle ordered the guard to open the door.

			

			
				“Honey, I’m home,” Kyle called through the doorway before pushing the guard through.

				Hoover ran to the door, barking. He growled and gnashed his teeth at the guard.

				“Kyle!” Padma ran to greet him. She paused when she saw the bloodied guard standing next to him.

				“Oh no,” she said. “What did you do?”

				“Nothin’ honey,” he replied, then pointed the gun at the guard. “On your knees, hands on your head, fingers interlocked.”

				The guard obeyed. Hoover stood inches away from the guard’s face, growling and barking. 

				Padma threw her arms around Kyle and began kissing him. Their kisses heated up. Padma sighed. Kyle slipped his hand down the back of her jeans.

				“What are you doing?” Padma asked, regaining awareness of the guard watching them.

				“I haven’t had sex in weeks,” Kyle replied.

				“I should hope not,” Padma said. 

				“Call me old fashioned, but I’m not really comfortable with…” She glanced at the guard.

				“I could shoot him,” said Kyle.

				The guard’s eyes went wide.

				“Kidding…I’m kidding,” Kyle said. “Sorry. Bad joke. I’m a little punchy.”

				Kyle sighed. “Ok, I guess this isn’t going to work. I’m late for a meeting anyway.”

				“Come back later?” asked Padma.

				“As long as the general grants a conjugal visit.”

				“Next time, don’t bring company,” advised Padma.

				•   •   •

				As Kyle and the guard reached the Mission Control anteroom vault door, Kyle handed the rifle back to the guard.

				“Here,” Kyle said. “You can do the honors.”

				The guard attempted a smile beneath his bloodied nose.

				“Thanks,” the guard said, taking the rifle.

				General Craig watched as the two men descended the steps of the Mission Control amphitheater to the conference table. He noticed the guard’s bloody nose.

				“Have a seat,” said the general, gesturing to an empty seat directly across the table from him. 

				Kyle sat down. The guard backed away a few steps, keeping an eye on Kyle. 

				“We have a situation,” said General Craig.

				“Roger, please brief Mr. Mason,” said the general.

				“Mr.” Mason stung Kyle, stripped of his rank.

				“As you know, you and Colonel Wise somehow managed to kill 5,000 Army troops in 1890. The timeline continues to deviate dramatically after your and Padma’s departure.

				“The capture of Deadwood deprived the Hearst family of their most valuable asset, the Homestake Mine. It’s the source of the majority of the family’s wealth. Without it, George Hearst’s son, William Randolph Hearst, is unable to expand his newspaper empire into the east. He uses his only newspaper, the San Francisco Examiner, to begin a propaganda war against the Lakota people inhabiting Deadwood and the mine.”

				As Roger talked, Kyle glanced at the guard, who reached for his holster. He found it empty. A panicked look crossed his face. The guard looked around his feet for his missing pistol.

				“Hey Mankato,” shouted Kyle. “Looking for this?”

				Kyle pulled the guard’s Glock pistol from his prison overalls pants pocket and tossed it to him. The guard dropped his rifle as he caught and bobbled the pistol, before dropping it on the floor. The general shook his head.

				“Corporal, you may be excused,” said the general.

				“General…” the guard pleaded.

				“You’re dismissed,” ordered the general.

				The guard picked up his weapons and ascended the steps with his head hung low.

				The general turned to face Kyle. “You’re an asshole. Roger, continue.”

				“As you know, in our timeline, Hearst uses fake news to gin up anti-Spanish public sentiment, goading the government into invading Cuba and setting off the Spanish American war. His ‘Yellow Kid’ cartoons give rise to the term ‘Yellow Journalism.’

				“In the new timeline, Hearst uses the same fake news techniques to whip up public sentiment, first against the Lakota people, then against Colonel Wise. The Army engages in a full-fledged war against the Lakota.

				“Colonel Wise gains artillery and weapons she needs in the short term by extorting the city of San Francisco.”

				“What?” Kyle asked, incredulous. “How did she extort a city?”

			

			
				“She threatened to destroy the city in 1906 if San Francisco didn’t turn over its cache of weapons stored at the Presidio. The city ignored her first threat, though the Great Earthquake got their attention. When she threatened a second time, the good citizens of San Francisco raided the Presidio and sent the contents of the armory to Deadwood.”

				Kyle burst out laughing. 

				The general glared at Kyle.

				“You have to admit, that’s pretty clever,” said Kyle.

				“I am very sorry if we don’t share in your amusement,” replied the general. “Continue, Roger.”

				“After that, the timeline goes off the rails,” said Roger. “Key people begin disappearing long before they gained fame in our timeline.”

				“What people?”

				“People instrumental in weapons and technology development—Von Braun, Curie, Teller, Oppenheimer…many others. 

				They disappear and are never heard from again, though it’s clear that they were not assassinated. We see plain evidence of their work.”

				Roger clicked his remote. An image of the devastated remains of Chicago appeared on the giant screen.

				“This is Chicago, 1938, the site of the first atomic bomb ever used in battle.

				“Only one thing,” Roger continued. “It’s not a fission bomb like the one dropped on Hiroshima in our timeline. 

				This was a hydrogen fusion bomb—an H-bomb.”

				Kyle gasped.

				“A hydrogen bomb in 1938?” Kyle asked. “That’s impossible!”

				Roger nodded. “It should have been, even with a collection of history’s greatest nuclear scientists. It should have been impossible. She could not have done it without a blueprint.”

				“Mr. Mason,” the general said, “exactly what did you bring with you to the year 1890?”

				Kyle thought for a moment. He looked at the ceiling and closed his eyes, scrunching his face.

				“Fuck.” he said.

				“A laptop?” asked the general.

				Kyle nodded. “It was part of our escape plan in the other time tunnel. The plan was to land in the Sixties and use that intel to rebuild our nest egg. I think I left my backpack on the bar before you pulled us out.”

				“You think you left it on the bar,” the general echoed. 

				“Hey! If I had known I was going to be shanghaied, I never would have taken it off! I didn’t ask you to bring me back!”

				“You pathetic excuse for a soldier!” thundered the general. “I oughta lock you up forever!”

				“You do whatever you need to do, sir,” said Kyle.

				“Roger!” the general bellowed. “Keep going!”

				Roger took a sip of water from a glass. “Colonel Wise didn’t stop at Chicago. She nuked DC next. After that, what was left of the federal government capitulated, as did the governors and mayors of the states and major cities that weren’t already under Annikan Empire control. The empire expanded rapidly and overran the rest of North and Central America, including the Panama Canal.

				“Territories under the empire’s control went completely dark soon after. There is almost no historical information that comes out…with one critical exception.

				“We found a Japanese interrogation log from 1949. It seems a physicist named Robert Serber somehow managed to escape the empire. His escape seems to have been facilitated by the Japanese. The Japanese Empire and the Third Reich badly coveted the Annikan Empire’s advanced weaponry. It appears spies somehow managed to infiltrate, enabling them to get Serber out. The log we uncovered was from an Imperial Japanese war department archive from a debriefing in Tokyo.

				“In our timeline, Serber was a key member of the Manhattan Project, which resulted in the development of the first atomic bomb. He developed a series of lectures for incoming scientists that explained the basic principles of fission bombs. The lectures were compiled and printed as The Los Alamos Primer.

				“It appears that Serber smuggled out detailed information on Annika’s bomb development in return for his escape from the empire, and to be reunited with his wife and family in Japan.

				“There’s one more thing,” Roger added. 

				“The log indicates that Serber claimed that the Annikan Empire had captured an alien craft at Roswell, New Mexico, and was reverse-engineering the technology to build a time machine.”

				Kyle was dumbstruck. 

				“Holy shit.”

				General Craig nodded. “Shit indeed.”

				Roger continued. “As of the time of the interrogation, Serber claimed the Empire was perhaps five years away from completing the time machine. 

				In their report, the Japanese dismissed Serber’s story as lunacy. We have no record of him after this time.”

				“We’re evaluating options,” said the general. “We have bad and worse from which to choose.”

				“Options for what?” asked Kyle.

				“Options for how to fix this perfect shit storm,” replied the general. 

			

			
				“According to the report, Annika would have finished building her time tunnel over 60 years ago,” said Kyle. “She could have used it already.”

				Roger paused and took a deep breath. “She did use it. 

				As you know, we have records of all historical timelines here. We have our original history, in which the twin towers were destroyed on 9/11. We have the first alternative history, in which you prevented 9/11 and remained in the past with Padma. 

				We have the second alternative history that began in 1890 that resulted in the Annikan Empire

				…And we have now detected a third timeline.”

				Kyle was stunned.

				“It’s a slight variance,” said Roger. “Almost undetectable. On January 7, 1967, a woman was involved in a traffic accident in Houston, Texas. It was a fatality.”

				“So what?” asked Kyle. “I’m sure there was more than one traffic accident in Houston on January 7, 1967.”

				“There were,” said Roger. “In one timeline, there were three accidents, with one fatality...

				In another, there were four accidents, with two fatalities.

				“The ripple effects from the second accident were relatively minor—the death of the driver, impact on the family and work. An emergency team dispatched to the scene that wasn’t otherwise. A new accident report. News reports. Other minor ripples. Nothing major.

				“It looks like a mistake,” Roger said. “Someone was in their near future, trying to keep a low profile. The accident was probably just that—an accident.

				“But the variance was enough to set off our TVA alarm. There is no question: Colonel Wise completed a fully operational Time Tunnel, probably sometime around 1954.”

				Kyle was stunned.

				“Which brings us back to options,” said the general. “Colonel Wise must be prevented from building a Time Tunnel. Once that has been triaged, we can figure out how to undo the mess you made in 1890.

				“We have no military options. We can only send back small numbers of soldiers with light weapons—no match for Colonel Wise’s army.

				“That’s why you’re going back,” said General Craig. “You’re going back before she completes construction of her time tunnel, and you’re going to stop her from completing it.”

				“What?” asked Kyle, surprised. “What can I do?”

				“You’re one of the few people who has a shot at getting close to her. When you do, you improvise.”

				Kyle raised his eyebrows. “‘Improvise’—as in what, exactly?”

				“Improvise, as in do whatever you need to do to stop Colonel Wise from building a Time Tunnel.”

				“I’m not going to kill her,” Kyle said.

				“If you can accomplish your mission without a body count, that is acceptable,” said General Craig. “Otherwise…

				“For the mission, your rank of colonel will be reinstated. If you succeed, all charges against you will be dropped. You and Padma may live freely in the Time Tunnel with all your former privileges.”
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				Townhouse Q99

				Time Tunnel Complex

				October 5, 2008

				23:17 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Kyle sat in the dark at the downstairs kitchen table in his townhouse. The light of his laptop computer display illuminated his face and bare chest in the dark. He read a classified advertisement from a July 3, 1891, issue of the Chicago Tribune. 

				Dearest Kyle, 

				You told me that if I placed an advertisement in the newspaper that you would see it. I told you I believed that you would. I am writing to the heavens in hopes that you will read this and know that I am well, on account of the miracle with which you blessed me. I owe my life to you. It is a debt I can never repay, though I pray you will give me the chance, someday, to attempt to do so. Though you told me we would never see each other again, I pray you are wrong. I so badly long to gaze upon your handsome face again, even if only for one last waltz. 

				You have my heart, always,

				Margaret

				He typed on the keyboard. A 1954 obituary appeared on the screen from The New York Times:

				Margaret Bell

				Star of stage and screen

				Born: January 20, 1865—Died April 21, 1954

				Margaret Bell, grand dame of Broadway and Hollywood, died of natural causes Wednesday evening. Her husband, John Bell, and her three children were at her bedside at the time of her passing.

				Mrs. Bell was a shining star of both stage and screen, starring on Broadway in “No, No Nanette,” “A Connecticut Yankee,” and “Show Boat,” as well as “Shall We Dance” and “Flying Down to Rio,” among others.

				Mrs. Bell was known for her sparkling presence, beautiful soprano voice, and graceful dancing.

				Mrs. Bell often credited her success to a chance encounter with a mysterious stranger in Deadwood, SD, whom she said changed the course of her life.

				Mrs. Bell is survived by her husband of 54 years, John Bell, children Kyle, Katherine, and Sylvia, and eight grandchildren.

				A hand rested gently on Kyle’s shoulder. He turned, startled. Padma stood above him, smiling, wearing a cobalt blue silk robe. 

				“I’m sorry,” said Padma. “I didn’t think it was possible to sneak up on you.”

				“You were in stealth mode,” Kyle said. 

				“Whatcha doin’?” asked Padma.

				“I couldn’t sleep. I didn’t want to wake you.”

				Kyle was silent for a moment, staring at the screen.

				“I kissed a girl,” he said. 

				Padma nodded. “Did you like it?” 

				“She’s dead now.”

			

			
				“That’ll teach her.”

				Kyle swiveled his chair to face Padma. She pulled a chair and sat down.

				“I got naked with Takoda,” she confessed.

				Kyle looked confused. “But I thought…”

				“We didn’t,” Padma said. “I wanted to, but he…

				His honor got in the way.”

				Padma closed her eyes and shook her head, attempting to dismiss the madness of her life and the wounds they had both carried from a broken past into a synthetic present.

				Padma reached for Kyle’s hands. He took hers.

				“Please don’t go,” Padma said. “There is only pain and death in the past.”

				“It’s the only way we can be together.”

				Padma looked into Kyle’s eyes.

				“We can’t be together if she kills you.”

				“If I don’t go, I go back in the brig.”

				“He’ll let you out someday. What difference does it make whether or not you stop Annika from making a time tunnel? That time is already fucked. It’s not going to get unfucked. The general thinks he can fix everything with the time tunnel and all it does is make everything worse.”

				“I don’t believe I’m going to die,” Kyle said.

				“One of my Kyles has already died. I only have one left. 

				What’s the plan, anyway? What’s the plan to stop Annika?”

				Kyle was silent. It wasn’t necessary to say what they both knew: For the first time in Kyle’s career, there was no plan. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Time Tunnel Complex

				Mission Control

				October 6, 2008

				08:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Kyle Mason sat at the Mission Control conference table with the senior time tunnel staff: General Craig, Lara Meredith, Strangelove, Zhang Li, Gus Ferrer, Aysha Voong, and Roger Summit. 

				General Craig surveyed the somber faces at the table before speaking. 

				“The purpose of this meeting is mission prep,” said General Craig. “Roger, please begin.”

				“As discussed in our previous session, based on the intelligence gleaned from the 1949 Japanese interrogation log of Robert Serber, we believe that Colonel Wise will complete development on her time tunnel sometime in 1954. We would want to select a time prior to that to send Colonel Mason.”

				“But when?” asked Lara. “Should he go back to 1890 and retrieve Annika?

				“The arrival of the Greys’ craft in Roswell in 1947 concerns me,” said Gus. “I think we need to tie that off.”

				“You’re worried about what happens if someone else finds the wreck?” asked General Craig.

				“Correct.”

				“So, are we talking about mission creep?” asked General Craig. 

				“I think we are,” said Gus. “We need to destroy the remains of the Greys’ time machine.”

				“That is impossible,” said Strangelove. “Colonel Mason will have no means by which to destroy it. Perhaps, if Colonel Wise is storing the craft underground, the best that Colonel Mason could do would be to bury it.”

				“Kill Annika and bury the Greys’ time machine,” said Kyle. “No problem. Is there anything else you’d like me to do while I’m in the past? Maybe take out Hitler?”

				“Not a bad idea,” said Strangelove.

				“Let’s focus on the primary mission, which is Colonel Wise,” said General Craig. “If Colonel Mason is successful, we can plan follow-up missions to deal with the craft.”

				“Which brings us back to ‘when,’” said General Craig.

				“I recommend sometime after Roswell and before the time tunnel becomes operational in 1954,” said Gus. “The craft will be in some secret lair somewhere.”

				“The operative word being ‘secret,’” said Kyle. “We don’t know where it is, do we?”

				“No,” said Roger. “From the Japanese interrogation log, the best we have is that it’s somewhere near Deadwood. Maybe the Black Hills.”

				“So, the plan is that I just beam into Deadwood and hike around 8,000 square miles of rugged terrain until I find the secret lair?” asked Kyle.

				“Colonel Mason,” said General Craig, “since you helped get us into this hot mess, perhaps you could be a little more constructive and help us get out of it.”


				All eyes turned to Kyle. He was silent for a few moments.

				“I have a feeling I just need to let Annika know I’m in town,” Kyle said. “I’m pretty sure she’ll find me.”
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				Time Tunnel Complex

				Bio Lab

				October 7, 2008

				08:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Kyle Mason entered the Bio Lab on Level 2. Dozens of scientists wearing lab coats tended to apparatuses on benches. 

				“Kyle!” 

				Lara Meredith waved at Kyle from the back of the room. She gestured for him to come.

				“You’re right on time, time traveler,” she said. “Come with me.”

				Kyle followed Lara as she weaved between lab benches and workers to a door with a nameplate:

				Lara Meredith

				Lara punched in a code on a keypad to unlock the door.

				“Close it behind you,” she said.

				Lara’s office was much larger than her Columbian predecessor, 40 feet by 30 feet, with a desk, conference table with chairs, and lab bench with a computer workstation. 

				“Why am I here?” asked Kyle.

				“Insurance,” replied Lara. “Take off your shirt.”

				“You could at least buy me dinner first,” said Kyle, unbuttoning his shirt.

				Lara laughed. She picked up a metal cylinder with a nozzle and a grip with a trigger. 

				“Is that for me?” Kyle asked.

				“Yup.”

				“I was afraid of that.”

				“We’re implanting a subcutaneous temporal transponder,” said Lara. “It was the general’s idea. Just in case you lose the other one, or something prevents you from using it.”

				“Something like ‘insubordination’?”

				“Precisely.”

				Lara put on blue latex gloves, then moistened a cotton swab with alcohol from a dispenser on the lab bench.

				“Turn around,” Lara said.

				She swapped an area in the center of Kyle’s back to the right of his spine. Kyle felt the cool of the evaporating alcohol.

				“We’re putting it in that impossible-to-scratch place,” she said. 

				“You managed to keep your godlike physique in the brig, Kyle. Impressive.”

				“You noticed.”

				“Even scientists have imagination.”

				Lara pulled a bolt handle on the transponder gun. It made a “clack” sound as it latched into place.

				“OK, we’re just about ready,” Lara said. “Put your hands on the lab bench. This may smart just a bit. Try to find something to distract yourself.”

				Kyle shook his head and braced himself on the edge of the bench. He noticed a small green Sinclair dinosaur standing on a file cabinet next to the lab bench.

				“What’s that?” he asked, pointing.

				“Oh, that’s a little Apatosaurus Gunther gave me,” said Lara. “I like dinosaurs. His name is Guy.”

				“A dinosaur named Guy,” said Kyle.

				“Yup. I keep asking the general to send you to the Jurassic period to bring back some eggs for me. He says you can go, but you can’t come back.”

				“Maybe if Raquel Welch is there, it wouldn’t be so bad,” said Kyle.


				“That’s one million years B.C.,” said Lara. “Apatosaurs are 150 million years. Sorry.”

				Lara pulled the trigger. The gun made a loud “clunk” sound as it injected the transponder beneath the skin.

				“Jesus!” shouted Kyle.

				Lara swabbed the injection point, a swollen cut seeping blood. She then took a Band-Aid from the bench, unpeeled it and stuck it on Kyle’s back.

			

			
				“Ok, that’s it,” said Lara. “That wasn’t so bad, was it?”

				Kyle gave Lara a look as he put his shirt on. He turned to leave.

				“Oh, I almost forgot,” said Lara. 

				Kyle turned around. Lara was holding a grape lollypop. Kyle snatched it and left. 
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				Deadwood, SD

				March 27, 1949

				12:00 Hours

				Timeline 003

				A low hum sounded on Main Street. The pavement vibrated and a blinding light pierced the downtown landscape. When the light faded, Kyle Mason stood in the center of what was once Deadwood. He wore black utility pants with a long-sleeve black pullover shirt and a matching backpack. A holster with his MP7 submachine gun was affixed to his hip. 

				He looked around. With the exception of the cobblestone street he stood on, almost nothing remained of Deadwood. The concrete foundations of some buildings lined the street. Here and there, fragments of structures, frames, and bricks rose from the foundations.

				“What happened?” he asked.

				He walked toward the center of town. A metal sign was posted on the side of the street, a yellow triangle enclosing a circle with three black blades set apart by 60 degrees—the international ionizing radiation trefoil symbol.

				[image: 34.jpg]


				“Ah,” Kyle said. “That’s what happened.”

				A breeze wafted through the ghost town. The hillsides surrounding the town were lush and verdant, with green trees and blooming spring flowers.

				Kyle continued his walk. He spotted something and gasped, stopping in his tracks. Sitting in front of the remnants of Mr. Richard’s general store was the rocking chair in which Grandma Annie had sat nearly 60 years earlier. Kyle knew there was no possible way the rocker could have survived the nuclear devastation that had laid waste to the town. The chair had been placed there. 

				Is this for me? he wondered.

				He walked to the chair and pushed back on it gently. It rocked forward, then back. He took off his backpack and set it on the concrete foundation next to the chair, then sat down, rocking the chair back and forth.

				She’s expecting me, he thought.

				Kyle felt a pang of dread. He knew his weapons would be useless. Annika commanded the mightiest army on Earth. Even if he opted to attempt to escape the town, there was no place he could hide. 

				Kyle pulled his transponder from his pocket, his only voluntary means of escape and return to Padma. He stared it for a moment, then shoved it back into his pocket, rocked the chair, and waited. 

			

			
				



			

	


 —

				Main Street

				Deadwood, SD

				March 27, 1949

				13:30 Hours

				Timeline 003

				Kyle glanced at his chronograph:

				1:30

				He heard something from the south. It was the sound of tires against the pavement. He looked to his right. In the distance, he saw a black limousine driving up Main Street. As it grew closer, he could see that the car was a 1949 Cadillac Series 75 Fleetwood limousine. He noticed that, aside from the sound of the tires against the pavement, the car was completely silent. 

				The limo stopped in the street in front of Kyle. The doors opened and three women emerged. All three were wearing charcoal uniforms with tunics with shiny silver buttons up the left side. Two of the women carried submachine guns. The third opened the rear suicide door and gestured for Kyle to enter.

				“Colonel Mason,” the woman said, “would you please come with us?”


				Kyle smiled, then rose from the rocking chair. 

				“It would be my pleasure.”

				He picked up his backpack and approached the limo. The two armed guards trained their weapons on Kyle. The woman holding the door raised her hand.

				“Before we go, would you mind if we take your weapons for safe keeping?” she asked. “We wouldn’t want any accidents during our ride.”

				“And if I refuse?”

				“Then we shoot you and your dead body rides in the trunk with your weapons.”

				“In that case, I would greatly appreciate it if you would look after these,” Kyle said, unholstering his submachine gun and handing it to the woman.

				“Thank you very much, Colonel,” she said. “And the backpack, please.”

				“Ah,” Kyle said. “Of course.”

				Kyle handed it to the woman, then climbed in the backseat. The woman placed Kyle’s gun and backpack in the trunk and the soldiers climbed in the car.

				“Would you mind sliding over, Colonel?” the woman asked, motioning Kyle to not sit behind the driver.

				“Happy to,” replied Kyle.

				The soldier in the front passenger’s seat trained the rear-view mirror to watch Kyle.

				The limo turned around then sped south out of town.

				“I’m Colonel LeVaux,” said the woman next to Kyle. “It’s a pleasure to meet you, Colonel. We’ve been expecting you.”

				“It is my pleasure, Colonel. Where are we going?”

				“We’re taking you to a reunion,” LeVaux replied. “The empress is very much looking forward to seeing you again. I understand it’s been a very long time.”

				“Funny. It seems like almost yesterday for me.”

				“Yes, time does seem relative, doesn’t it?” said LeVaux. 

				Kyle looked out the windows at the tree-covered Black Hills.

				“This car is very quiet,” Kyle observed. He glanced at the rear-view mirror, meeting the eye of the passenger-side front guard. 

				“It’s electric,” said LeVaux. “Cadillac makes them for the empire. Internal combustion engines are being phased out.”

				“I can’t help but wonder why the empress was expecting me. Has she been waiting long?”

				“No, Colonel. You were scheduled to arrive today,” LeVaux said. She watched Kyle for a reaction.

				“I see,” Kyle said. His poker face masked the bolt of terror that fired through him. LeVaux smiled. 

				“How far do we have to go?” asked Kyle.

				“About 30 minutes.”

				“I’m curious about the empire,” said Kyle. “We don’t have much intelligence on it where I come from.”

				“I wouldn’t expect that the Time Tunnel would know much about it,” said LeVaux. “We don’t release much information to the world.”

			

			
				“How much of the world does the empire control?”

				“All of North and Central America,” replied LeVaux. “We have designs on the rest of the hemisphere.”

				“Why?”

				“Part natural resources. Mostly to keep information from leaking out of the empire. The Third Reich and the Empire of Japan are keenly interested in learning about our technology.”

				“What happens when they get the bomb?” asked Kyle. “Won’t that be a problem for the empire?”

				“Both the Nazis and the Japanese have fission bombs,” said LeVaux. “Though they don’t have ICBMs to deliver the payload. We raided Germany’s rocket scientists years ago. I believe you know one of them.”

				“Strangelove,” Kyle said.

				LeVaux laughed. “We know him as Gunther. He’s been enormously helpful to us.”

				“I’ll bet he has.”

				“The Third Reich and the Japanese are rattling their sabers at one another,” LeVaux said. “Though, at the moment, their attention is focused on carving up Russia. It’s only a matter of time before one of them drops a bomb on the other. We’re content to watch them destroy themselves from a distance.

				“Anyway, none of it matters. If we really wanted to blow things up, we’d use antimatter.”

				LeVaux glanced at Kyle, as though searching for a reaction. Kyle’s poker face remained intact.

				The limo navigated a winding road that gradually climbed toward a series of rock formations on a granite bluff carved by wind and rain. 

				“This looks familiar,” said Kyle. He could almost see faces in the irregular stone shapes. 

				“The Lakota call this ‘The Six Grandfathers,’” said LeVaux. “The Lakota medicine man Black Elk had a vision about the mountain many years ago. He said the shapes represent grandfathers of six directions—north, south, east, west, up, and down. The directions were prophesized to represent kindness and love, full of years and wisdom. Like human grandfathers. 

				In your time, you know it as ‘Mount Rushmore.’” 

				“Ah,” Kyle said. It looks better like this.”

				“We think so too.”

				“Where are the Lakota now?” asked Kyle.

				“Many are still here. Some have moved on.”

				The car approached a steel door at the base of the mountain. Two halves of the door slid apart to allow the car to enter, then closed in its wake. They drove 100 meters through a tunnel cut into the granite mountain before emerging into a parking garage. The limo came to a stop.

				“Time to see the empress,” said LeVaux. 

				Kyle and the soldiers got out of the car. LeVaux and Kyle walked toward another steel door, trailed by the two armed soldiers who kept their machine guns trained on Kyle.

				As they approached the door, two guards flanking the door saluted by putting their right hands on the left half of their chests. LeVaux returned the salute. The heavy steel door swung open. 

				Kyle gasped at what he saw inside. The facility was virtually identical to the Time Tunnel complex. They were standing on the edge of a polished 40-foot-wide mezzanine, which curved gradually to close a donut circle approximately 300 meters in diameter. The ceiling was some 20 feet above them. The mezzanine floor was a cream color. Kyle walked to the railed edge of the mezzanine. In the center was an enormous atrium, nearly 300 meters across, with a depth of nearly 100 feet. Kyle could see two floors beneath them, each with subtly different pastel color schemes. At the base of the atrium was a park, with a forest, ponds, and streams with bridge crossings. At the center of the atrium ceiling, a waterfall poured into a pond 100 feet below. The ceiling appeared to be a glass skylight, but the bright sunlight pouring into the complex from the ceiling was artificially generated.

				Kyle noticed an insignia on the wall—two red triangles forming an hourglass against a black circular background—the sign of the Annikan Empire.  

				LeVaux led Kyle and the guards to an elevator. Once inside, she pressed her thumb to a sensor on the elevator console and looked into a panel that scanned her retina. 

				“Eva LeVaux, code 288, alpha, epsilon, Charlie, 833, confirm,”

				A light on the panel flashed green and the elevator began to descend.

				The elevator doors slid open on Level 6, revealing a steel vault door and an armed woman guarding the entrance to the Mission Control amphitheater. LeVaux turned left and walked down a hallway to an unmarked steel door guarded by another woman. LeVaux pressed an intercom button. 

				“Ma’am? We’re here.”

				The heavy door lock clacked and LeVaux pushed it open.

				The foursome entered into an enormous dimly lit room. Kyle smelled burnt firewood from a colossal fireplace that burned against the opposing wall, some 70 feet away. The walls of the room were rough-hewn cream-colored Tuffeau limestone from the Loire Valley. Timber beams held the ceiling, suspended 20 feet above a distressed wood floor, partially covered by a giant cranberry, amber, and indigo Persian rug. The walls were adorned with a mix of impressionist originals and native Lakota art. A quad-colored Lakota medicine wheel with two eagle feathers attached to its center hung from the ceiling. 

			

			
				A formal wooden dinner table had been set in the center of the room. Two candles on the table illuminated a burgundy runner that led to two place settings—gold chargers upon which rested Bernardaud Limoges porcelain plates, circumnavigated with mauve daisies against a gold halo. Hammered gold cuffs with burgundy napkins rested atop the salad plate. Saint Louis crystal wine and water glasses with gold rims sparkled in the candlelight. 

				Kyle saw the silhouette of a tiny woman enter the room. She walked swiftly, using a cane in her left hand. 

				As the woman approached, Kyle could make out her features. She was in her nineties and wore the same charcoal grey tunic as the others. Five gleaming silver discs on her left shoulder distinguished her superior rank. Her white hair was worn in bangs, with a ponytail down her back. The three guards bowed their heads and saluted with their hands on their hearts.

				“Well, Kyle, if you’re here to kill me, you’re almost too late!”

				Annika Wise beamed a broad smile as she reached for Kyle’s hands.

				“Kyle! It is so good to see you again,” she said, clutching Kyle’s hand with her free hand. “You haven’t aged a day!”

				“Technically, I’ve aged 28 days,” replied Kyle. 

				“I thought you would have killed me for leaving you behind.” 

				“I’ve got you scheduled for a firing squad after dinner,” Annika said. “This is sort of a last meal.”

				Kyle’s eyebrows rose.

				An awkward moment passed before Annika burst out laughing. “I got you, didn’t I?” She slapped Kyle hard on his arm with her free hand. 

				“I’m not going to kill you. That was all explained to me years ago.”

				“Explained to you? How?”

				“My daughter, Anaïs. You’ll meet her later. She’s quite something. I think you’re going to like her.

				“You and I have 59 years of catching up to do,” Annika continued. “I’ve had a feast prepared for us I hope you’re hungry! But first, I want you to see something. You’ve arrived on an auspicious day. This is very exciting!”

				Annika gestured toward an anteroom with a crimson sofa and wooden coffee table facing a large flat screen TV. She sat on the sofa.

				“Come, sit here next to me, Kyle,” said Annika, patting the cushion next to her.

				Kyle sat next to Annika on the sofa. The guards watched him closely. 

				“Keep your hands where we can see them, if you don’t mind, Colonel,” said LeVaux.

				“They worry too much about me,” said Annika. “They think I’m too old to take care of myself.”

				Kyle placed his hands carefully on his thighs. Annika picked up a remote from the wooden coffee table and clicked it.

				On the screen, an astronaut wearing a bulky white suit and large life support backpack descended down the ladder on the leg of a lunar excursion model resting on the moon’s surface. The astronaut reached the base of the ladder, then stepped out onto the moon’s surface. He skipped a few steps on the moon, carrying a small pole as a second astronaut climbed down the ladder to join him. The first astronaut hammered the pole into the moon’s crust, then unfurled a flag. The flag was black, with the red hourglass of the Annikan Empire.

				The two astronauts faced the flag and raised their right hands to the left side of their chests.

				“We from Earth claim the moon on behalf of the Annikan Empire!” crackled the voice of Wernher Von Braun through the radio. Long live the empress!”

				The guards in the room placed their right hands on the left side of their chests and bowed their heads. 

				“Amen to the ‘long live the empress part,’” said Annika, turning to wink at Kyle. 

				“It’s thrilling, isn’t it?” said Annika. “We just annexed the moon. We’re running out of stuff to conquer.”

				“It is amazing,” Kyle replied. “But I think I’ve landed in the wrong time. Remind me, what year is this?”

				“It’s March 27, 1949,” said Annika. “You arrived exactly on time.”

				“How did you know I was coming?”

				“My daughter, Anaïs. Like I said, you’ll meet her later. There’s so much to tell you, but first, let’s eat! I’m famished.”

				Annika leaned on her walking stick to rise off the sofa. Kyle instinctively reached to assist her. The guards stepped forward.

				“Don’t touch her!” shouted LeVaux. 

				Annika looked at Kyle. “Like I said, they worry about me.”

				She turned to the guards. “But the empress is still tough! She can still defend herself!”

				Annika made her way to one of the chairs bookending the dinner table. Kyle attempted to pull it out for her. The guards advanced. Annika dismissed them all with a wave of her hand.

				“Kyle, I appreciate the thought, but that won’t be necessary. Ladies, stand down. You’re getting on my nerves.”

				Kyle and Annika were seated. 

				“Eva, you may remain. You two, you’re dismissed.”

				LeVaux stood at attention in a corner, out of earshot.

				A chef in a white tunic approached the couple from another room. A sommelier joined him, wearing a navy blazer, beige slacks, a crisp white shirt with French cuffs, and a robin’s-egg blue tie.

			

			
				The young chef approached the couple. The sommelier remained a few paces behind him. 

				The chef had dark eyebrows over recessed eyes with heavy lids. A large nose presided over a wide mouth that attempted a smile at its corners.

				Kyle noticed the name embroidered in blue on the chef’s white tunic:

				Paul Bocuse

				A waiter appeared, wearing a white dress shirt, black tie, and black apron. He carried a silver platter with a plate of apéritifs.

				“Empress. Colonel Mason. Welcome,” said Chef Bocuse in a heavy French accent as the waiter placed the apéritif plate in the center of the table. “This is our apéritif maison: crevettes au beurre, pâté de champignons, palmiers salés, as well as salami from local wild boar, a little cheese and olives.

				“For this evening, I’ve prepared a roast squash bisque, followed by our entrée, a venison tenderloin, encrusted with juniper berries and served with a red wine sauce, roasted endives, and carrots. After a cheese course, our desert this evening will be a chocolate nougatine with clotted cream.”

				“It sounds delicious,” said Kyle.

				“This is Henri,” said Chef Bocuse, gesturing to the sommelier. “He will assist you with your wine choices.”

				“Thank you, Paul,” said Annika as Chef Bocuse withdrew to the kitchen. Henri stepped up to the table.

				“Good evening, Empress. Colonel Mason,” said Henri, a man in his forties with close-cropped tan hair and pronounced cheekbones over concave cheeks. He held a brown bottle with a white label depicting a wooden ship with two masts. “May I suggest a Bodegas Poniente Amontillado pairing with your apéritif course?”

				“That sounds lovely,” replied Annika.

				“Please,” said Kyle.

				Henri poured the deep brown brandy into apéritif glasses.

				“Bon appétit,” Henri said, bowing his head slightly before withdrawing.

				Annika hoisted her glass. “Welcome, Kyle. To our reunion.”

				“To our reunion,” Kyle said, raising his glass and clinking it with Annika’s.

				“So, Annika, how have you been?” asked Kyle.

				Annika laughed. “Busy. Turns out being empress is a full-time job. 

				Please,” Annika urged, “eat.” 

				Kyle reached for a crevette and took a bite.

				“Oh,” he said. “That is good.”

				“I’m so glad you like it,” Annika said. “Paul is the best.”

				Kyle took a sip of the Amontillado. He sighed. 

				“If this is my last meal, it’s worth dying for.”

				“Why do you think this is your last meal?”

				“I told you,” Kyle said.

				“And I told you,” Annika said. “That was explained to me years ago.”

				“How?”

				“It’s kinda complicated,” Annika said. 

				“My head is spinning,” Kyle said. “This is not what I expected.”

				“What did you expect?” 

				“I think it’s what I didn’t expect,” Kyle said. “I didn’t expect a time tunnel facility with a French chateau. I didn’t expect a Michelin three-star dinner. 

				I didn’t expect to be expected. How did you know I was coming?”

				“It was Anaïs. Like I said, you’ll meet her later. 

				Let’s talk about something else,” Annika said.

				•   •   •

				The waiter emerged. “Are you finished, Empress? Colonel?”

				Annika nodded. 

				“Thank you, yes,” replied Kyle.

				The waiter removed the plates. Moments later, he returned with covered plates with venison tenderloin. As he removed the covers, Henri reappeared, gently carrying a cabernet wine bottle.

				“May I suggest an 1869 Chateau Lafite-Rothschild with your 
venison?”


			

			
				“Wow!” Kyle said. “I don’t think I’m worthy.”

				Annika winked at Henri and nodded for him to decant the wine. Henri opened the bottle, then poured it into a crystal decanter.

				“We’ll want to give that a little time to settle down,” Henri said. 

				“The château was occupied by the Germans in the First World War, which turned out to be the only world war,” said Annika. “Production stopped after 1915. It’s a shame.”

				“That’s right. In this timeline, there was no Second World War,” said Kyle.

				Annika nodded. “The U.S. was busy fighting the Annikan Empire and couldn’t enter the war. Now the Third Reich occupies all of Western Europe, North Africa, the Middle East. The Japanese own Asia. Germany grabbed the western Siberian oilfields. The two sides are carving up what’s left of Russia. 

				This hemisphere is pretty much ours.”

				“So, Annika,” Kyle said. “How did you choose this particular occupation?”

				“The short answer is that I became empress in order to survive, Kyle. 

				After you beamed out, I was left to defend Deadwood against a country that wanted to see every single Lakota dead.”

				“You could have run away,” Kyle said.

				“I think you know me better than that,” Annika said.

				Kyle nodded. “I do.”

				“One battle led to another,” continued Annika. “Every time I won, the stakes got higher, the bounty on my head went up. More people wanted me dead. Even if I had wanted to hide, there were fewer places on the planet to hide. 

				Eventually, there were none.

				“Anyway, I never wanted to spend my life looking over my shoulder. If I’m going to die, I prefer to see it straight on.”

				“You haven’t changed,” Kyle observed.

				“I think maybe I’ve changed a bit.”

				“How so?”

				“My former self was always focused on the next battle—how to escape from an Iraqi platoon in the desert, or how to beat the U.S. Army in 1890 or 1906 or 1937, or how to win promotions and privilege in a man’s army. I never smelled the roses, or if I did, I took them for granted.

				“And then they were gone.

				“And before, I never wanted children. Then I met Anaïs. Now, I can’t imagine life without her.”

				Annika gestured at the grand room. “So, as you can see, I’ve allowed myself to enjoy a few nice things. I’ve also learned to live in the moment. Appreciate what I have.”

				“Which is half the world.”

				“Not quite,” Annika said, smiling. “But soon, yes.”

				“Is half the world enough?”

				“That will not be for me to decide,” Annika said. “I simply want to leave the empire on a solid foundation for my successor.”

				“Who is?”

				“Not sure,” Annika said, taking a bite of venison. “I had hoped it might be Anaïs, but she has a different calling.”

				“Anaïs sounds very special,” Kyle said.

				“More than you can know.”

				The couple was quiet for a few moments. Kyle looked at Annika’s face, aged nearly 60 years since he had last seen it. Alternating yellow/orange light and shadows from the candle and fireplace flames moved across her face.

				“It’s good to see you again, Kyle. 

				Though I wish I were younger. This version of me and you were never together. I wish that we could have been. Now it’s too late.

				“I’m curious,” Annika continued. “What was I like?”

				“What do you mean?”

				“The Annika who was with you. In the other timeline. What was I like? What were we like?”

				Kyle thought, looking at his wine glass. 

				“We were wounded,” Kyle said. “We somehow managed to heal each other. It wasn’t easy.”

				“Because you’re so difficult?” Annika asked.

				Kyle’s head snapped up. His eyebrows were raised.

				“Not exactly,” Kyle said.

				Annika tossed her head back, laughing. 

				“I’m messing with you,” Annika said. “I know I was the difficult 
one.”


				“We were still a good couple.”

				“I can’t imagine a better man. Anyone would be privileged to have you. Padma is a very lucky woman.”

			

			
				“Thank you, Annika. That is very kind of you to say,” Kyle said, his eyes welling with tears.

				“How is Padma?”

				“Worried. She didn’t want me to come.”

				Annika nodded. “That’s understandable.

				“And General Craig sent you here to kill me,” she said.

				Kyle sighed, looking down.

				“Look at me, Kyle.”

				Kyle looked up, meeting Annika’s eyes.

				“Do you still think you can kill me, Kyle?”

				Kyle was silent.

				Annika threw her napkin on the table. “Colonel!” she shouted to LeVaux. “Leave us!”

				“Ma’am?” LeVaux replied. “No!”

				Annika turned to LeVaux. “Disobey another one of my orders and I’ll have you shot, is that understood?”

				“You’ve saved my life more than once, Empress,” said LeVaux. “I’m happy to sacrifice my life to protect yours. This man is here to kill you!”

				Annika sighed. 

				“Eva,” she said, “come here.”

				LeVaux knelt beside Annika. Annika reached out her hand. LeVaux took it.

				“Eva, you move me beyond words,” Annika said. “But I need you to leave us now.”

				LeVaux began to cry. Annika grasped her face.

				“It’s OK,” Annika said nodding. “You need to trust me.” She kissed LeVaux on her forehead. 

				“Yes ma’am,” LeVaux said, rising to her feet. She turned and left the room.

				Annika turned to face Kyle. “So, Kyle, do you think you can kill me? I’m defenseless. You think I didn’t notice that your steak knife is missing? Cut my throat. Complete your mission, soldier!”

				Kyle sighed and shook his head. He lifted the knife he was holding in his lap under his napkin and tossed it on the table.

				“No,” Kyle said. “I can’t kill you.”

				“This is the second time you’ve disobeyed the general.”

				Kyle nodded. “Yes. It seems I’m a pretty poor excuse for a soldier.”

				Annika nodded. “Well, the general has given you some tough missions.”

				Kyle picked up the crystal decanter of Louis XIII cognac.

				“You want more?” he asked.

				Annika slid her snifter toward Kyle. He poured the caramel-colored liqueur and slid the glass back to Annika. She lifted it and sipped. The two sat quietly.

				Kyle swirled his glass, noticing the cognac tears streaming down the side of the glass, backlit by candlelight. He took a sip, closing his eyes as he felt the heat of the cognac on the back of his throat. He tried to parse the confluence of flavors, which did not seem as though they all belonged together but somehow harmonized.

				“What are you thinking?” asked Annika.

				Kyle opened his eyes. 

				Annika was staring at him. Her glass was set in front of her on the table. Both of her small hands cupped the base of the glass.

				“I was thinking about the fact that we’re drinking a century in a glass,” Kyle said. “There seems something ironic about time travelers drinking a century in a glass.”

				Annika smiled.

				“There does indeed seem to be some irony in there somewhere,” Annika said. 

				“That said, I confess that I’m a bit buzzed,” Kyle said. “I don’t know if I’m in the best condition to wax philosophic.”

				“In my experience, there is no better time than when you’re high,” said Annika.

				Kyle laughed and took another sip.

				“Kyle, I’m going to ask that we call it a night,” Annika said. “As you can see, I’m an old woman now and I need my rest. I’ve prepared guest quarters for you. We can talk again in the morning. Join me for breakfast?”

				“Of course.”

				Annika pulled a remote from her pants pocket and pressed a button. The double doors swung open, spilling harsh white light into the cozy orange flame-lit room. LeVaux and the guards entered. Kyle and Annika rose from their chairs. 

				“Is it OK to hug the empress?” asked Kyle.

				“Hugging the empress is encouraged,” replied Annika, motioning for the guards to stand down.

				Kyle wrapped his arms around Annika and drew her close. He drew his hand down her back, contrasting the feel of her body with when he had held it last, the night before their mission to 2001. He felt her chest expand and close with her breath.

				Annika reached up, pulled Kyle’s face to hers, kissed him on the cheek.

			

			
				“Thank you for not killing me,” she said. “Goodnight, Kyle.”

				Annika turned, picked up her cane, and walked away. Kyle watched her exit.

				“Colonel Mason?” LeVaux asked. “Would you come with me, please?” 

				She gestured toward the door. 

				LeVaux and the two guards escorted Kyle down the hallway to his quarters, on the same level as Annika’s. LeVaux stopped at the door, facing Kyle.

				“You made a good choice not to harm the empress,” LeVaux said. “If you had, you would not have left this place alive.”

				“The risk to my life was not the reason I didn’t harm her.”

				LeVaux opened the door and gestured for Kyle to enter. She pressed a light dimmer on the wall, white frosted rectangular sconce light fixtures with concentric bevel edges cast light on the room. 


				“Everything you should need is here,” said LeVaux. “If you need anything, use the intercom. We’ll be back to collect you for breakfast with the empress at 8:00. In the meantime, please don’t try to leave. The door will be locked. I hope you understand.”

				“Of course,” replied Kyle.

				“Goodnight, Colonel,” said LeVaux.

				“Night.”

				The guards said nothing as they exited. They closed the door behind Kyle. He heard the door lock.

				Kyle scanned the room. A queen bed with ironwork head and footboards faced him in the center of the far wall. The sheets were crisp white with a taupe duvet. A Persian rug lay in front of the bed. Two craftsman dark wooden end tables bookended the bed with matching lamps with gold glass panes. He glimpsed the lit bathroom through an open side door.

				Kyle opened a walk-in closet. Several pants, jeans, and dress shirts hung neatly. Underwear and socks were folded in the chest of drawers.

				Kyle peeled down to his boxer shorts and climbed into bed. He reached for the lamp and switched it off. 

				Lying in bed, Kyle’s thoughts swirled with the alcohol. His strange dinner with an Annika who had aged nearly 60 years in 28 days. Another time travel mission. Another failed time travel mission. 

				His mind began to drift to the twilight zone on the fringe of sleep. He thought of Padma. She was saying something to him. 

				She rode a painted Mustang on the grassy Dakota plains. She wore her Lakota doeskin wedding dress. She rode ahead of him, turning her head to smile over her shoulder at Kyle, who was riding Pegasus behind her.

				On the prairie, he saw someone in the distance. Kyle pointed to the person and called to Padma, but she rode away. Kyle rode to the person. It was Annika, young again. She smiled at Kyle. He reached for her, hoisting her up onto Pegasus. She wrapped her arms around Kyle’s waist as Kyle scanned the prairie for Padma. He didn’t see her. Kyle felt worried.

				Annika whispered in Kyle’s ear. “I have to tell you something.

				“We can’t go back.” 

				Kyle felt something on his wrist. He tried to move it—his wrist was frozen.

				His eyes opened. Dark figures moved around the bed. He tried to leap from the bed—his ankles were bound together and chained to the ironwork footboard. His right wrist was also bound and chained to the headboard.

				Kyle tested his left wrist—it was still free. He swung at the figures. Two of them grabbed his arm while a third clasped a leather cuff on his wrist and chained it to the headboard, spreading his arms. 

				The dark figures turned and left the room.

				As Kyle tested the strength of his bindings, the door opened. A woman turned up the sconce lights to a warm glow. She approached the bed. She wore a gold silk rope from China. Kyle instantly recognized it.

				“That’s Padma’s robe!” 

				“Yes,” the woman replied. “The messiah’s robe. You left it behind in your backpack. My mother gave it to me many years ago. It’s one of my most loved possessions.”

				The woman walked slowly toward the bed, examining Kyle. He was naked, save for his boxer shorts. Kyle noticed a combat knife in the woman’s hand. 

				“Except it doesn’t really belong to me, does it?” she said. “Much of what I have belongs to someone else. Even my life doesn’t really belong to me. It was promised to someone else before I was even born.”

				“My entire life, I’ve been happy and proud about that. I’ve been happy to have a purpose—an essential purpose.”

				She sat on the bed next to Kyle, placing the knife on the nightstand. 


				“But now, as I near the end, I am afraid, Kyle.

				“I’m afraid,” she repeated, nodding.

				“I don’t understand,” said Kyle.

				“I think someday you may understand. I hope that you do. 

				My name is Anaïs.”

				“Annika’s daughter,” Kyle said. 

				“Not exactly.”

			

			
				Anaïs picked up the knife from the nightstand and held the hilt loosely between her thumb and middle finger, dangling the knife blade over Kyle’s sternum. She touched the blade tip to his chest, then applied gentle pressure on the knife with her forefinger. The blade tip pierced Kyle’s skin, drawing a tiny bead of blood.

				“Is this supposed to be torture?”

				“No,” Anaïs replied. “It’s supposed to be foreplay.” 

				She took the knife and ran it along Kyle’s thigh, slitting his boxers on one side, then the other before ripping them off.

				She then stood up and dropped the knife on the floor. She opened her robe and let it fall off her shoulders, standing naked, save for her black velvet choker. She reached behind her head and released her updo, allowing her long blond hair to fall on her shoulders. She shook her head.

				She stood beside Kyle. Kyle found her breathtakingly beautiful. Anaïs’ skin was fair; her breasts were full. Her round hips descended into long, toned, graceful legs. 

				She sat next to Kyle on the bed and placed a hand on his chest. She smeared the blood droplet in a tiny circle on his chest with her forefinger.

				“I’ve never been with a man before,” she said.

				“I have trouble believing this is the only way you can get one,” said Kyle.

				Anaïs smiled. “It’s not that I don’t find men attractive—I do. It’s that men aren’t trusted in our culture. We’re cautious. We assume men are dangerous. They are not permitted where they might pose a risk. Being with a man is not prohibited, though those relationships are scrutinized. There’s a hassle and stigma that many would rather just avoid. So, many of us who want men just make do with another woman instead.

				“So, I confess that, being with you here tonight, I’m a little nervous,” Anaïs said as she moved her hand down his abdomen. 

				“Why do you need the hardware?” asked Kyle, yanking his chains. 


				“Like I said, men are dangerous.”

				Anaïs began stroking Kyle. He responded.

				“Please,” Kyle said, “don’t.”

				“Don’t you want me, doll?” asked Anaïs. 

				“That’s not the point,” Kyle said as Anaïs took him in her hand. 

				Anaïs straddled Kyle, placing him inside her.

				“You have no idea what the point is,” Anaïs said as she began thrusting her hips. 

				Kyle didn’t want to feel pleasure from Anaïs. He didn’t want to betray his wife by feeling pleasure. He didn’t want to acknowledge pleasure from the gorgeous woman who was raping him. 

				Yet resisting his senses was hopeless. The beautiful siren grinding against his body was irresistible. It was impossible not to succumb. 

				Anaïs stared ahead as she lunged onto Kyle, avoiding eye contact. She felt Kyle build and shake beneath her. Suddenly, Kyle heaved his chains, rattling the iron bed and driving the gorged veins in his arms and chest to surface. As Kyle climaxed, Anaïs could not suppress her own body’s crescendo. She scrunched her face, releasing a bitter grunt.

				Anaïs sat astride Kyle for a few moments, catching her breath. She closed her eyes, squeezing tears down her cheeks. She climbed off of Kyle, then grabbed a towel from the nightstand and tossed it on Kyle’s lap. She threw on her robe, unshackled one of Kyle’s wrists and tossed him the key. Kyle caught it with his free hand. He sat up in bed as Anaïs picked the knife off the floor and left the room without saying a word.

				Kyle unshackled himself. His conflicted mind raced, attempting to reconcile his body’s momentary pleasure with the hollow experience, the cheating, rape, the void of intimacy. 

				Moments later, the door opened again. Annika entered, walking with her cane. 

				“Get dressed,” she said. “I need to show you something.”

				“You know what just happened?” Kyle asked.

				“Yes.”

				“What the fuck is wrong with you people?”


				“I’m about to show you.”

				Annika watched as Kyle pulled on his pants, shirts, and shoes. He walked calmly to Annika, then grabbed her by the throat and slammed her against the wall. Annika glared at him.

				“I may just accomplish my mission after all,” Kyle said.

				“I really think you’re going to want to see this, Kyle,” Annika said, forcing hoarse words through her choked windpipe.

				“Trust me,” she said. “Getting fucked by a beautiful woman is nothing compared to being stranded in time.” 

				Kyle released her. Annika opened the door. Kyle followed her. They walked along the curved hallway to a reinforced door flanked by two armed guards. The guards saluted.

				“Open it,” Annika ordered.

				One of the guards pressed her thumb on the sensor, looked into the retinal scan panel, and recited her voice recognition code. The door opened into an anteroom with a second vault door. The guard unlocked it. Kyle followed Annika into an amphitheater identical to the Mission Control of his own Time Tunnel. Rows of operators worked at their workstations. On the wall was a 30-foot-tall high-resolution display. Blocks of the display read out Time Tunnel vital statistics, with the lions’ share of the display reserved for live video feed of the Time Tunnel chamber. Technicians wearing white clean suits, with hats, gloves, and booties milled around the chamber room. The glass sphere chamber itself was empty.

			

			
				“Your Time Tunnel is operational?” asked Kyle. 

				“It is,” replied Annika. 

				“Your Strangelove didn’t give my Strangelove enough credit,” said Annika. “Your laptop contained all the information we needed to build a Time Tunnel. We never needed the Greys’ ship. We just tucked it away for safe keeping.”

				“Then our intelligence…” Kyle began. 

				“…was flawed,” finished Annika.

				“It was Anaïs’ idea,” Annika continued. “She took care of everything…fed Robert Serber bad intel, arranged his escape, facilitated his capture by the Japanese—all so the Japanese interrogation report would light up on Roger Summit’s TVA radar.”

				Kyle was stunned.

				“Anaïs took care of everything,” Annika repeated. “Anaïs always took care of everything. 

				And she always will take care of everything—forever.

				“You thought your mission was to stop me from making a Time Tunnel,” said Annika. “That was never your mission. Your mission was to enable Anaïs to complete her mission. That has always been your mission, and it always will be.

				“I never believed in destiny,” Annika said. “I hated the notion of destiny, that our lives are preset. We want to think our choices enable infinite possible outcomes, when all of our combined choices really only enable one.

				“All of your choices and all of my choices lead to only one place—this place.”

				Annika walked to a console and reached into her tunic, retrieving a red anodized rectangular metal key hanging from a lanyard around her neck. An hourglass was cut out of the metal. She inserted the key into the console and turned it. 

				A large red indicator lamp flashed “Armed” on the console. A red “Armed” indicator flashed on all monitor displays in Mission Control and throughout the Time Tunnel complex. A klaxon alarm sounded. A large button on Annika’s console marked “Commit” flashed on.

				Annika typed in the temporal coordinates on the console keyboard. 

				[image: 35.jpg]


				On her console screen and the big screen, the latitude and longitude for Deadwood, South Dakota, was displayed. She entered a time and a date:

				Date: April 19, 1906

				Time: 05:00 hours

				On the big screen, a woman wearing a blue dress, carrying a gold carpetbag was being helped by technicians up the steps into the glass Time Tunnel sphere. She wore a pearl necklace choker. The technicians sealed the chamber door behind the woman and removed the steps. The woman stood alone in the chamber, staring into the camera. 

				“Anaïs is beginning her revolution…again…” said Annika.

				“…and she’s taking your daughter with her.”

				Annika looked at the video feed. Anaïs looked directly at the camera. Her full lips opened into a loving smile—the same smile she had given Annika when she first served her coffee at the Martin and Mason Hotel dining room 42 years earlier.

				“Goodbye, my love,” Annika said, tears running down her cheeks. “I will see you again soon.”

				Annika pressed the “COMMIT” button. A brilliant light from the Time Tunnel chamber blinded the camera. When the light receded, Anaïs was gone. 
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“Oriental Annie” Conjures Herself Berserk

Annika “Oriental Annie” Wise and her band of Sioux Indians warming up for her
threatened annihilation of San Francisco on April 18 at 5:12 in the morning

Her Indian companions appear confused by their leader’s pronouncements of
destruction. Has the Chinawoman taken leave of her senses?
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“Oriental Annie” Gives Uncle Sam the Boot!

Annika “Oriental Annie” Wise and her Sioux Indians give Uncle Sam a swift boot
out of Deadwood.

Once again, United Staes armed forces are routed by the Chinawoman and her
cult of Indian follovers.
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“Oriental Annie” and her Sioux Indian Worshippers

Annika “Oriental Annie” Wise is bathed in the adoration of her Sioux Indian cult
worshippers as they enjoy their illgotten gains in the United States town of
Deadwood.
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